Public Document Pack

AGENDA
MAYOR AND CABINET
Date:

WEDNESDAY, 6 OCTOBER 2021 at 6.00 pm

Council Chamber
Civic Suite
Lewisham Town Hall
London SE6 4RU
Enquiries to:
Telephone:
Email:

Kevin Flaherty 0208 3149327
0208 314 9327 (direct line)
kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk

MEMBERS
Damien Egan
Councillor Brenda Dacres
Councillor Chris Barnham
Councillor Paul Bell
Councillor Chris Best
Councillor Kevin Bonavia
Councillor Andre Bourne
Councillor Patrick Codd
Councillor Kim Powell
Councillor Amanda De Ryk

Mayor
Deputy Mayor and Safer Communities
Children's Services and School
Performance
Housing and Planning
Health and Adult Social Care
Democracy, Refugees & Accountability
Culture
Environment & Transport
Business & Community Wealth Building
Finance and Resources

Members are summoned to attend this meeting
Kim Wright
Chief Executive
Lewisham Town Hall
Catford
London SE6 4RU
Date: Wednesday, 06 October 2021

The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however occasionally committees may have to consider some
business in private. Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request.

L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L
L

ORDER OF BUSINESS – PART 1 AGENDA
Item
No

Page
No.s

1.

Declaration of Interests

1-4

2.

Minutes

5 - 11

3.

Matters Raised by Scrutiny and other Constitutional Bodies

12 - 32

4.

Domestic Abuse and Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy 202126

33 - 75

5.

Borough-Wide Selective Licensing of the private rented sector - approval
to consult

76 - 97

6.

Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2021-22

98 - 134

7.

Financial Monitoring 2021-22

135 - 176

8.

Approval of a new Housing Allocations Scheme

177 - 282

9.

Small Sites Supplementary Planning Document

283 - 298

10.

Broadway Theatre Works delegated approval

299 - 305

11.

A21 Development Framework

306 - 322

12.

Deptford Neighbourhood Action (DNA) Neighbourhood Forum redesignation decision

323 - 381

13.

Exclusion of Press and Public

14.

Broadway Theatre Works delegated authority (Part 2)

383 - 386

15.

Appendices 2 -Deptford Neighbourhood Action (DNA) Neighbourhood
Forum re-designation decision

387 - 428

382

The public are welcome to attend our Committee meetings, however, occasionally,
committees may have to consider some business in private. Copies of reports can be
made available in additional formats on request.

RECORDING AND USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA

You are welcome to record any part of any Council meeting that is open to the public.
The Council cannot guarantee that anyone present at a meeting will not be filmed or
recorded by anyone who may then use your image or sound recording.
If you are intending to audio record or film this meeting, you must:


tell the clerk to the meeting before the meeting starts;

 only focus cameras/recordings on councillors, Council officers, and those members
of the public who are participating in the conduct of the meeting and avoid other
areas of the room, particularly where non-participating members of the public may
be sitting; and
 ensure that you never leave your recording equipment unattended in the meeting
room.
If recording causes a disturbance or undermines the proper conduct of the meeting, then
the Chair of the meeting may decide to stop the recording. In such circumstances, the
decision of the Chair shall be final.

Agenda Item 1
MAYOR & CABINET
Report Title

Declarations of Interests

Key Decision

No

Ward

n/a

Contributors

Chief Executive

Class

Part 1

Item No. 1

Date: 6 October 2021

Declaration of interests
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on
the agenda.
1

Personal interests
There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member
Code of Conduct :(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests
(2) Other registerable interests
(3) Non-registerable interests

2

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:-

(a)

Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or
gain

(b)

Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than
by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial
benefit from a Trade Union).

(c)

Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they
are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods,
services or works.

(d)

Beneficial interests in land in the borough.
d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\0\8\ai00030806\$pn14mbnu.doc

Page 1

(e)

Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f)

Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the
Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of
which they have a beneficial interest.

(g)

Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:(a)

that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land
in the borough; and

(b)

either
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued
share capital of that class.

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.
(3)

Other registerable interests
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register
the following interests:-

(4)

(a)

Membership or position of control or management in a body to which
you were appointed or nominated by the Council

(b)

Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to
charitable purposes , or whose principal purposes include the influence
of public opinion or policy, including any political party

(c)

Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £25

Non registerable interests
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be
likely to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close
associate more than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area
generally, but which is not required to be registered in the Register of
Members’ Interests (for example a matter concerning the closure of a school
at which a Member’s child attends).

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\0\8\ai00030806\$pn14mbnu.doc

Page 2

(5)

(6)

Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation
(a)

Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded
in the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary
interest the member must take not part in consideration of the matter
and withdraw from the room before it is considered. They must not
seek improperly to influence the decision in any way. Failure to
declare such an interest which has not already been entered in the
Register of Members’ Interests, or participation where such an
interest exists, is liable to prosecution and on conviction carries a
fine of up to £5000

(b)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event
before the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room,
participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless
paragraph (c) below applies.

(c)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to
influence the outcome improperly.

(d)

If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a
member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would
affect those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to
the declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a
registerable interest.

(e)

Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s
personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek
the advice of the Monitoring Officer.

Sensitive information
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are
interests the disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk
of violence or intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such
interest need not be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to
the Code and advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

(7)

Exempt categories

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\0\8\ai00030806\$pn14mbnu.doc

Page 3

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing
so. These include:(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the
matter relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears
exception)
School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor
unless the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or
of which you are a governor;
Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt
Allowances, payment or indemnity for members
Ceremonial honours for members
Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception)

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\0\8\ai00030806\$pn14mbnu.doc

Page 4

Agenda Item 2
MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title

Minutes

Key Decision

Item No.2

Ward
Contributors

Chief Executive

Class

Part 1

Date: October 6 2021

Recommendation
It is recommended that the minutes of that part of the meeting of the Mayor and Cabinet
which were open to the press and public, held on September 14 2021 (copy attached) be
confirmed and signed as a correct record.

Page 5

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\0\8\ai00030807\$1cnmfwnz.doc

Public Document Pack

MINUTES OF THE MAYOR AND CABINET
Tuesday, 14 September 2021 at 6.00 pm

PRESENT: Damien Egan (Mayor), Councillors Chris Barnham, Paul Bell, Chris Best,
Kevin Bonavia, Andre Bourne, Patrick Codd and Kim Powell.
ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Brenda Dacres (Deputy Mayor and Safer Communities) and
Councillor Amanda De Ryk (Finance and Resources)

525. Declaration of Interests
None were made.
526. Minutes
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on July 14 2021 be
confirmed and signed as a correct record.
527. Matters Raised by Scrutiny and other Constitutional Bodies
Having considered open officer reports, and presentations by the Cabinet
Member for Housing & Planning, Councillor Paul Bell, the Mayor and Cabinet:
RESOLVED that the following responses be approved and reported to the
respective Select Committees:
(a) Response to Sustainable Development Select Committee - railway
children urban national park - environmental protection and neighbourhood
plans;
(b) Response to Housing Select Committee Housing Select Committee on
their review of resident engagement in housing.
528. NCIL ward proposals
Having considered an open officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Housing & Planning, Councillor Paul Bell, the Mayor and Cabinet,
for the reasons set out in the report and by a vote of 8-0:
RESOLVED that:
(1) a top up of the existing ward based funds be made by a further £1,188,483
collected through CIL receipts during the period of April 2018 – March 2020
bringing the available funding through the ward based funds to £2,931,270;
(2) there be the introduction of banded funded categories for each ward with
an allocation of over £50,000;

Page 6

(3) the additional priority addressing projects that aim to assist in Lewisham’s
Covid-19 recovery that will benefit Lewisham’s communities at a local level be
approved;
(4) the removal of the online longlisting phase of the original process and the
extension of the delivery timetable from up to 12 months to up to 24 months
be approved;
(5) support be given to potential bidders in the form of cost breakdowns for
project types suggested through consultation undertaken to date
(6) the delivery of the bespoke package of support for applicants as set out.
529. Main Grants Programme 2022-25
Having considered an open officer report and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Business and Community Wealth Building, Councillor Kim Powell,
the Mayor & Cabinet for the reasons set out in the report and by a vote of 8-0:
RESOLVED that:
(1) the following priorities and processes be approved for the main grants
programme 2022-2025:
(2) the overarching priorities for the programme will be:
a.
iii.
iv.
b.
c.

An economically sound future, specifically:
Advice Services and
Enabling Digital Access for All
A healthy and well future
A future we all have a part in

(3) Four Community Fundraiser posts be funded, hosted by the VCS, with the
following areas of focus:
•
1x FTE Community Fundraiser with a focus on equality and equity
including ethnicity and disabilities as protected characteristics specifically
impacted by Covid, but with an expectation that the hosting organisation
should also look at addressing other protected characteristics as part of the
brief, along with intersectionality
•
1x FTE Community Fundraiser with a focus on geographical cold spots
in the borough/areas of high deprivation that do not have other sources of
income such as NCIL
•
.5 FTE Community Fundraiser with a focus on the arts
•
.5 FTE Community Fundraiser with a focus on sports
(4) the Community Fundraiser funding be let earlier, through an Expression of
Interest/Interview process, and awards granted by late November 2021;
(5) significant partnership grants for advice and social prescribing be retained,

Page2 7

but with a more rigorous outcomes-based approach;
(6) partnership grants of £10,000 be established with clear, measurable and
proportionate partnership outcomes;
(7) the approach to achieving equity in the Main Grants programme will be to
focus grants on projects which benefit:
•
communities most impacted by Covid
•
people with protected characteristics – specifically age, ethnicity,
disability, sexual orientation and gender reassignment, and
•
seldom heard voices
(8) funding Black Asian and Minority Ethnic infrastructure support that is tied
to and works alongside the Community Fundraiser with the focus of the
support being capacity building focused on collaboration, enabling
organisations to identify need, generate ideas for funding, and support to
become sustainable;
(9) a separate grant programme for Arts and Culture organisations be run
aligned to London Borough of Culture with the following strategic themes:
•
A healthy and well future
•
A greener future
•
A future we all have a part in
(10) the art and culture funding programme funds the following activities:
1.
•
•
•
•

Funding a cultural anchor organisation to:
Provide sector leadership
Co-ordinate consortium funding bids
Support emerging artists
Nurture partnerships

2.
Funding for organisations to address barriers to cultural participation
focusing on:
•
Ethnic diversity
•
Disability
•
Economic disadvantage
•
Age (young people and older people)
3.
•
•
•
•

One off funding to deliver projects around key themes:
Increasing participation
Addressing the climate emergency
Celebrating diversity
Promoting equality and fairness of opportunity

4.
•
•
•
•

Address inequalities in the cultural workforce through
Bursary funding for emerging artists
Broadway Theatre associate artists
Employment and training programmes
Support for cultural and creative enterprise growth

Page38

530. Cockpit Arts Deptford Redevelopment (part 1)
Having considered an open and a confidential officer report, and a
presentation by the Cabinet Member for Business and Community Wealth
Building, Councillor Kim Powell, the Mayor and Cabinet for the reasons set
out in the report and by a vote of 8-0:
RESOLVED that the award be made of a grant aid agreement to Cockpit Arts
for £2.3m capital funding for the [Cockpit Arts Deptford Development ]–
subject to the Council entering into grant agreements for the £1.3m Strategic
Investment Pot (SIP) and the £1m Good Growth Fund (GGF) with Lambeth
Council and Greater London Authority respectively.
531. Procurement of Lewisham Advocacy Hub
Having considered an open officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Health and Adult Social Care, Councillor Chris Best, the Mayor
and Cabinet the Mayor and Cabinet for the reasons set out in the report and
by a vote of 8-0:
RESOLVED that agreed that approval be given for the procurement of a new
Lewisham Advocacy Service for a period of 3 years with the option to extend
for up to a period of 2 years at an estimated value of £1,000,000 with an
annual contract cost of £200k per annum.
532. Reginald Road Land Assembly (part 1)
Having considered an open and a confidential officer report, and a
presentation by the Cabinet Member for Housing & Planning, Councillor Paul
Bell, the Mayor and Cabinet for the reasons set out in the report and by a vote
of 8-0:
RESOLVED that:
(1) the serving of Notices of Seeking Possession and taking possession
proceedings, where necessary, in respect of tenants in 2 -30A Reginald Road
be approved, noting the previous approval;
(2) the serving of Initial Demolition Notices on all remaining secure tenants
within 2 – 30A Reginald Road be approved in order to suspend the
requirement for the Council to complete right to buy applications for as long as
the Notices remain in force – noting the previous approval;
(3) the serving of Final Demolition Notices on all remaining secure tenants
within 2 – 30A Reginald Road be approved once the proposed demolition
date is known, in order to render all existing right to buy applications
ineffective and prevent any further right to buy applications being made–
noting the previous approval;
(4) the required increase in the budget required to achieve vacant possession
of 2-30A Reginald Road as set out in the Part 2 report;

Page4 9

(5) the remaining drawdown of the previously agreed Right to Buy contribution
be approved as set out in the closed report;
533. Novation of Stock Transfer for Grove Park between L&Q and Phoenix
Having considered an open officer report, and a presentation by the Cabinet
Member for Housing & Planning, Councillor Paul Bell, the Mayor and Cabinet
for the reasons set out in the report and by a vote of 8-0:
RESOLVED that:
(1) authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Children & Young
People, in consultation with the Executive Member for Housing, to consider
the results of the consultation with residents once this is publicly available and
to decide whether or not the transfer of the properties in the Grove Park Stock
Transfer Agreement between L&Q and Phoenix Community Housing should
proceed;
(2) authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Children & Young
People, in consultation with the Director of Law, Corporate Governance &
Elections, to agree and enter into all legal documentation in connection with
the transfer including any variations to the Transfer Agreement
534. Adult Social Care service-wide review
The report was presented by Councillor Chris Best who made the case for a
major review of adult social care and the proposal to engage Newton Europe
Limited. A written referral from the Healthier Communities Select Committee
was presented by their Chair, Councillor John Muldoon. Councillor Best tabled
an immediate response for reporting to the Select Committee.
Having considered an open officer report, a referral from a Select Committee,
a response to that referral and presentations by the Cabinet Member for
Health and Adult Social Care, Councillor Chris Best, and the Chair of the
Healthier Communities Select Committee, Councillor John Muldoon, the
Mayor and Cabinet for the reasons set out in the report and by a vote of 8-0:
RESOLVED that:
(1) Phase 2 of the modernisation of Adult Social Care, appointing Newton
Europe Limited to help deliver transformational changes, be supported;
(2) the procurement of Phase 2 services (Design and Implementation) via an
award of contract using the CCS Management Consultancy Framework Three
agreement (RM3745, Lot 7) be approved at an estimated value of £4.5m;
(3) the award of contract to Newton Europe Limited be approved;
(4) authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Community Services
(on advice from the Director of Law, Governance and Elections) to take the

Page 10
5

decision about the detailed terms of the award of contract;
(5) the referral from the Healthier Communities Select Committee be received;
and
(6) the response to the referral be reported to the Healthier Communities
Select Committee.
535. Exclusion of the Press and Public
RESOLVED that in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to
Information)(England) Regulations 2012 and under Section 100(A)(4) of the
Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the
meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1
of Schedule 12(A) of the Act, and the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information
12

Cockpit Arts Deptford Redevelopment

13

Reginald Road Land Assembly

536. Cockpit Arts Deptford Redevelopment (part 2)
This report was considered in conjunction with the open report on the same
item.
537. Reginald Road Land Assembly (part 2)
This report was considered in conjunction with the open report on the same
item.

The meeting closed at 6.46pm

Page6 11

Agenda Item 3
MAYOR AND CABINET
Report Title

Report Back On Matters Raised by the Overview And Scrutiny Business
Panel or other Constitutional bodies

Key Decision

No

Item No.

Ward
Contributors

Head of Business & Committee

Class

Open

Date: October 6 2021

Purpose of Report
To report back firstly on any matters raised by the Overview and Scrutiny
Business Panel or on other matters raised by Select Committees or other
Constitutional bodies between September 27 and October 5 2021 and to
consider proposed responses to matters previously raised by Select
Committees:
3.1

Response to Public Accounts Select Committee – Commercialisation
and Culture Change Review

3.2

Response to Sustainable Development Select Committee – Waste
Strategy

3.3

Referral from the Sustainable Development Select Committee on
railway children urban national park - environmental protection and
neighbourhood plans

Page
12
541

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\8\0\8\ai00030808\$tdhylavu.doc

Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
X
Information
Part 1
Part 2
Key Decision
Date of Meeting
Title of Report
Originator of Report

X

6 October 2021
Public Accounts Select Committee:
Commercialisation and culture change review - response
Katharine Nidd
Ext. 46651

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that
the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

X
X
X
X
X
X

Signed:
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources
Date: 7th September 2021
Signed:
Executive Director for Corporate Resources
Date 7th September 2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 13

Date

\\wff01vca000\home\ctownsen\my documents\kathy freeman\m&c reports\sign off sheet - pacs commercialisation and culture change review - response.doc

Mayor and Cabinet

Public Accounts Select Committee:
Commercialisation and culture change review - response
Date: 14 September 2021
Key decision: No
Class: Part 1
Wards affected: All
Contributor: Executive Director for Corporate Resources

Outline and recommendations
The final report and recommendations from the Public Accounts Select Committee’s
(PASC) in-depth review into commercialisation and culture change was presented to PASC
on 24 September 2020 and to Mayor & Cabinet on 7 October 2020. The recommendations
are attached as appendix A.
This paper sets out the Executive Director for Corporate Resources response to the
recommendations.

1

Summary

1.1.

This report responds to the five recommendations made in the in-depth review into
“Commercialisation and Culture Change” (“Review”) made by PASC and
presented to PASC on 24 September 2020 and to Mayor & Cabinet on 7 October
2020.

2. Recommendation
2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to agree the responses to the five
recommendations made by PASC review as set out in section 5 of this report.

3. Policy Context
3.1.

The Council’s Corporate Strategy for 2018-2022 is:
Open Lewisham - Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all, where we celebrate
the diversity that strengthens us.
Tackling the housing crisis - Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.

Page 14

Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has access to an
outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the support they need to keep them
safe, well and able to achieve their full potential.
Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high-quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local economy.
Delivering and defending: health, social care and support - Ensuring everyone receives
the health, mental health, social care and support services they need.
Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces, and benefits from a
healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local environment.
Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here as we
work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.
3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

The Corporate Strategy aligns with the Councils Core Values, namely
-

We put service to the public first

-

We respect all people and all communities

-

We invest in employees

-

We are open, honest and fair in all we do.

As the Council seeks to support the borough and its businesses and residents through
the pandemic and beyond, this recovery is based on the four key themes of Future
Lewisham, these are:
-

A greener Lewisham

-

A healthy and well future

-

An economically sound future

-

A future we have all part in

The in depth review undertaken by PASC on Commercialisation and Culture change
supports all seven of the corproate strategies by seeking to make the Coucnil more
finanically stable and robust. An increased commercial culture within the Council aligns
to our core values and further supports the Future Lewisham themes, particularly that
of an economically sound future.

4. Background
4.1.

Local government has endured more than a decade of unrelenting financial austerity.
Cuts to council services across the country brought about by the Government’s
reduction in councils’ core funding have been unprecedented. The pandemic has
further strained the Councils financial position and introduced uncertainty as to how
much funding Local Government will receive in future years as Government seeks to
fund the cost of the pandemic which is £400bn to date.

4.2.

Discretionary and traded services offer opportunities for unlocking further value, as well
as the wider, but potentially riskier area, of new forms and models for commercial
income generation. The Public Accounts Select Committee (PASC), therefore,
continue to have a keen and focused interest in this area and have published their
recommendations following a review of “Commercialisation and culture Change”.

4.3.

The committee note that ‘Thinking commercially’ is a mindset that prioritises the best
use of resources – whether financial or otherwise. In an organisation such as the
Council, a general mindset becomes an important part of its culture. The
recommendations therefore build on this to seek to further embed and instil a more
commercial culture.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 15
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5. Response of officers to the five recommendations made by PASC in the in-depth
“Review of Commercialisation and Culture Change”
5.1.

Recommendation 1: The Council’s senior leadership should champion a commercial
approach to managing contracts, developing new ideas and building on areas of
success.

5.2.

Response: The Procurement and Commercial Services team have been developing a
single framework for contract management that will be administered (on a tiered basis
to be proportionate to the contract complexity and scale) and supported by the service.
This Framework has been built into the procurement lifecycle and is a natural
evolutionary step for the Procurement service and Council staff to focus upon. This
work begain in the summer of 2020 and an overview of the Contract Management
Framework was presented to PASC on 7 July 2021 (see link in section 10 –
Background Papers). The report addressed the training and support which will be
delivered, the culture change that may be required and the expected benefits. This
framework has now been rolled out across the Council and is being adopted by all
services, with the intention that the contract management dashboard reporting is
available later this year.

5.3.

The OD strategy, being led and owned collectively by the Council’s Executive
Management Team, has two core areas that will support leadership to champion a
commenrcial approach: Leadership, which will ensure our leadshership is value-driven
and committed to helping staff & resident succeed; and Systems & Processes, which
will ensure our internal systems are easy, accessible and fit for purpose and our
processes are effective and add-value.

5.4.

Recommendation 2: Despite the delays and difficulties posed by the pandemic – the
Committee believes that commercialisation and culture change training should be
carried out for Council managers. Now more than ever, it is vital that leaders across the
organisation have sound knowledge of the costs of their services – as well as the
ability to identify opportunities to improve the cost base, increase income and better
manage risk. The Committee would welcome a summary of feedback from any
commercial awareness training sessions being held for staff members - as part of
regular updates on progress.

5.5.

Response: A pilot one day training course co-designed with CIPFA was delivered on 4
March 2020 and introduced by the Chief Executive. The training was one strand of a
wider and ambitious work programme to improve value-for-money, create a
commercial culture and identify new opportunities for generating income within the
Council. Targeted at service managers and finance business partners, the objective of
the pilot programme was to: encourage collaboration between finance and services;
clearly set out the parameters for fees and charges and expectations for how these will
be set; and spark commercial thinking, create awareness of what good looks like and
challenge services to seek new forms of income generation and more efficient service
delivery.Roll-out of the programme was paused because of the pandemic and we will
launch a follow-up event before the end of the current financial year.

5.6.

The Council recognises the value of data to deliver more efficient outcomes. A new
team has been established under the Assistant Chief Executive to unlock value
through improved insight. To provide momentum to this initiative, the Income
Generation team organised two workshops on “Data, insight and analytics to improve
efficiency, effectiveness and fairness” on 9 and 12 April 2021. The content covered
case studies and consideration of the “art-of-the-possible” alongside a focus on GDPR
compliant use of personal data. Attendees included interested Executive Directors,
Service and Finance managers and data specialists. The learning is being taken
forward, initially, through the work being done with the Revenues Service as part of the
delivery of agreed cuts for 2021/22 to improve our collection of debt, including Council

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 16
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Tax and sundry debt. It is anticipated that the learning from this and that the use of
data and insight will pass across to the data and insight team under the Assistant Chief
Executive.
5.7.

As our ability to derive and gather meaninful insight matures, combining this with
Service Design capabilities also part of this new team will support services to best
understand and design delivery models which are based on evidence and data. This in
turn will unlock the possibilites of a more commercial approach for service delivery
based on resident’s needs.

5.8.

The Council provides both statutory and discretionary services. For discretionary
services, the legislation allows for full cost recovery. However, there are
circumstances, where there is a charge to manage demand or incentivise behaviours
e.g. recycling where the Council may choose not to fully recover costs. The Council
has an agreed Charging Policy that provides guidance for budget holders in how to set
fees. The Income Generation team have supported services (e.g. Bereavement, Pest
Control) to model costs and revenues, benchmark Fees & Charges across other
London Councils and understand issues and challenges. The Fees & Charges report
for 2021/22 was presented to PASC alongside the Budget on 2 February 2021 and
incorporates learning from these two services. The Income Generation team will
replicate this approach across other services in 2021/22 and 2022/23 supplemented
with training discussed in paragraph 5.4 above.

5.9.

Recommendation 3: The Committee believes that there should be a full and open
discussion about risk tolerance. It recommends that a workshop for all Councillors be
held – at which the issues of commercialisation, governance and risk are discussed.

5.10.

Response: Officers welcome the opportunity to meet with Councillors and discuss risk.
Risk is best considered within the context and framework of agreeing and setting the
annual budget. This allows Councillors to weigh the risks and benefits of changes or
cuts to services as part of the allocation of financial resources to achieve the Council’s
strategic objectives. It is therefore proposed that once the detailed timetable for setting
the 2022/23 budget is known in early Autumn, that as part of the scrutiny of any
proposed cuts/changes that a workshop be held with Councillors which brings these
together.

5.11.

Recommendation 4: The Committee recognises that the Council’s officers are its
greatest resource of ideas and creativity. The Council should develop an easily
accessible process for continually encouraging and gathering new ideas for service
improvements and commercial projects from Council employees.

5.12.

Response: Since joining Lewisham the Chief Executive has been invested in staff
engagement, and following a Listen to Learn consultation exercise with all staff
established a staff-led improvement programme, Together Lewisham, which is driven
by the organisation’s Change Network, an open forum for all staff interested in and
committed to change and improvement within Lewisham. The Change Network, and all
staff, have regular opportunities to feed into the way the council works and have been
keen to have more of a role in the cuts process where they identified an opportunity for
greater outcomes to be achieved through collaboration with staff at all levels within
services. As a result, the Director of Finance and the Head of Strategic Finance,
Planning and Commercial led a session of the Network on how we set our budget and
our cuts, as part of a staff proposed project to take on the budget challenge with ideas
submitted by staff, supported to develop them, with viable ones co-produced between
idea proposers and the relevant services. This will include ideas for cuts and income
generation, as a project on the Together Lewisham programme, due to be up and
running in the second half of this financial year. The findings from this project will report
as part of the Together Lewisham programme into the Strategic Change Board at EMT.

5.13.

Recommendation 5: Further work should be carried out to determine where there are

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 17
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

opportunities to generate commercial income. Recognising one of our key findings
from London Borough of Waltham Forest, this should build on those areas in which the
Council has acknowledged capability. The restraint on Council finances should not
mean that this work is limited by lack of resources.
5.14.

Response: An update of progress on Income Generation and associated work
programme was pressented at the 18 March 2020 PASC. The work plan had three
strands complementing organisational priorities- efficiency, new income generation and
alternate models and developing commercial capability, The three work strands are not
mutually exclusive, and in fact are complementary and designed to collectively amplify
the impact of each as a stand-alone. “Efficiency” develops the financial rigour of
baselining cost, providing evidence and ensuring transparency for critical challenge,
while “Developing commercial capability” creates the behaviours, knowledge and skills
to drive a more ambitious “Income generation” strategy. It provides staff with the tools
and techniques and confidence to support the Council to be ambitious and bring
forward new ideas. This is consistent with the organic, and reasonably low-risk
commercial journey followed by Councils such as Waltham Forest.

5.15.

The work was paused because of the pandemic as staff were re-deployed. The Income
Generation team will pick up unfinished elements of this work to deliver in 2021-22,
although it is expected that the continuation of the Commercialisation training, the work
on annually setting fees and charges, and the outcomes from the Together Lewisham
work will assist in the identification of areas within the Coucnil with acknowledged
capability which can be leveraged to increase our commercial offering.

6.

Financial implications

6.1.

There are no direct financial implications arising from the implementation of the
responses to the five PASC recommendations in this report. Where any finanancial
implications arise from the detailed work to action all elements of the response then
these will need to be raised with the relevant budget holder and decision maker when
known.

7. Legal implications
7.1.

There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. Where any legal
implications arise from the detailed work to action all elements of the response then
these will be considered in accordance with the Council’s powers and duties, and in
accordance with the Constitution.

8. Equalities implications
8.1.

The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England,
Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing the
separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came into
force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age,
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

8.2.

The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:


eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 18
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

8.3.

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above.
The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for Mayor and Cabinet,
bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. Mayor and Cabinet must
understand the impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected
characteristics who are potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will
necessarily vary from case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in
all the circumstances.

8.4.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has issued Technical Guidance
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance. The Council must have
regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found on the EHRC website.

8.5.

The EHRC has issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the
equality duty. The ‘Essential’ guide provides an overview of the equality duty
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they
apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps
that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents
provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice.

8.6.

There are no equalities implications directly arising from this report.

9. Further implications
9.1.

There are no direct climate change, environmental, crime and disorder or health and
wellbeing implications arising from the implementation of the implementation of the
responses to the five PASC recommendations in this report. Where any implications
arise from the detailed work to action all elements of the response then these will need
to be raised with the relevant budget holder and decision maker when known.

10. Background papers
10.1.

Agenda, reports and decisions of Public Accounts Select Committee 24 September
2020

10.2.

Overview of Draft Contract Management Framework presented to PASC on 7 July
2021

10.3.

Agenda, reports and decisions of Mayor & Cabinet 7 October 2020

10.4.

A full list of background documents and sources is inclued in the Committee’s report.

11. Report author and contact
11.1.

Katharine Nidd, Head of Financial Strategy, Planning and Commercial

11.2.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources, Peter

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 19
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Allery, Group Finance Manager peter.allery@lewisham.gov.uk.
11.3.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law, Governance and HR: Stephanie
Fleck, Principal Lawyer stephanie.fleck@lewisham.gov.uk 0208 314 9968

ANNEX A: Recommendations
Successful culture change requires leadership
1.1. The Committee welcomes the proposal to review commercial issues, income, trading
and contracts as part of the Council’s budgetary response to the impact of Covid-19. The
Council’s senior leadership should champion a commercial approach to managing
contracts, developing new ideas and building on areas of success.
1.2. Despite the delays and difficulties posed by the pandemic – the Committee believes that
commercialisation and culture change training should be carried out for Council
managers. Now more than ever, it is vital that leaders across the organisation have
sound knowledge of the costs of their services – as well as the ability to identify
opportunities to improve the cost base, increase income and better manage risk. The
Committee would welcome a summary of feedback from any commercial awareness
training sessions being held for staff members - as part of regular updates on progress.
1.3. The Committee believes that there should be a full and open discussion about risk
tolerance. It recommends that a workshop for all Councillors be held – at which the
issues of commercialisation, governance and risk are discussed.
Successful commercialisation is about building on strengths
1.4. The Committee recognises that the Council’s officers are its greatest resource of ideas
and creativity. The Council should develop an easily accessible process for continually
encouraging and gathering new ideas for service improvements and commercial projects
from Council employees.
1.5. Further work should be carried out to determine where there are opportunities to
generate commercial income. Recognising one of our key findings from London Borough
of Waltham Forest, this should build on those areas in which the Council has
acknowledged capability. The restraint on Council finances should not mean that this
work is limited by lack of resources.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 20
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1
Part 2
Key Decision

X

Date of Meeting

6th October 2021

Title of Report

Response to recommendations on the Waste strategy by
the Sustainable Development Select Committee arising
from the Committee’s meeting on 30th June 2021

Originator of Report

Nathan Vear

Ext.

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that
the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No







Signed:
Date:

Cllr Patrick Codd, Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport
27 September 2021

Signed:
Date

Zahur Khan, Director of Public Realm
27 September 2021

\\wff01vca000\home\zkhan1\my documents\afiles\asavings\a work streams\0 waste strategy and operation review board\95. waste strategy\01. report\sdsc follow
on\update\sign off report sdsc recommendations.docx

Page 21

Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Date

\\wff01vca000\home\zkhan1\my documents\afiles\asavings\a work streams\0 waste strategy and operation review board\95. waste strategy\01. report\sdsc follow
on\update\sign off report sdsc recommendations.docx

Page 22

Mayor and Cabinet

Response to recommendations on the Waste strategy by the
Sustainable Development Select Committee arising from the
Committee’s meeting on 30th June 2021.
Date: 6th October 2021
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1.
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and the Public Realm

Outline and recommendations
The Sustainable Development Select Committee met on 30th June 2021 to consider its
response to the draft Waste Strategy 2021-2031. This report presents the views of the
Committee to Mayor and Cabinet and offers considered advice from officers.
It is recommended that Mayor and Cabinet note the Committee’s recommendations and
take account of Officer responses when it consider the forthcoming Waste Strategy.

1. Summary
1.1.

This report presents the Sustainable Development Select Committee's response to the
consultation of the draft Waste Strategy 2021-2031. The committee met on 30th June
2021.

2. Recommendations
2.1.

It is recommended that Mayor and Cabinet note the Committee’s recommendations
and take account of Officer responses when it considers the forthcoming Waste
Strategy.

3. Policy Context
3.1

The Council's Corporate Strategy 2018-2022 identifies seven priorities, one of which is
to ensure we contribute to making Lewisham greener so everyone can enjoy our green

Page 23

spaces and benefit from a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our
local environment. Efficiently dealing with recyclable waste will help the Council to deliver
this outcome.
3.2

Lewisham Council declared a climate emergency in February 2019. As a result, the
Council must take appropriate action to achieve its goal of carbon neutrality by 2030 in
all aspects of its work, including waste management.

3.3

The Government's Resources and Waste Strategy, published in 2018, builds on its 25year Environment Plan commitments. The Strategy contains five strategic ambitions
that frame the Council's Waste Strategy:

3.4



to eliminate food waste to landfill;



to double resource productivity;



to ensure all plastic packaging placed on the market is recyclable, reusable or
compostable;



to eliminate avoidable waste;



to eliminate avoidable plastic waste.

The Mayor of London published his London Environment Strategy (LES) in May 2018
and set objectives, targets and policies for the effective management of London's
municipal waste, which accelerates the transition to a circular economy. The
objectives, targets and minimum service levels relevant to Lewisham's waste strategy
include:


Objective 7.1 - drive resource efficiency to reduce food waste and single-use
packaging



Objective 7.2 – maximise recycling rates



Objective 7.3 - reduce the environmental impact of waste (greenhouse gas
emissions and air pollutants)



Objective 7.4 - maximise local waste sites and ensure London has sufficient
infrastructure to manage the waste it produces.

London-wide targets:


To cut food waste and associated packaging waste by 50% per person by 2030



To achieve a 65% municipal waste recycling rate by 2030, including a 50%
recycling rate for local authority collected waste (LACW) by 2025



To send zero biodegradable or recyclable waste to landfill by 2026



To manage net 100% of all waste it produces by 2026

4. Select Committee Recommendations
4.1.

The Sustainable Development Select Committee discussed the draft Waste Strategy
2021-2031 at its meeting on the 30th June 2021. The item's focus was the Council's
overall objective for the sustainable management of waste and how the Strategy
contributes to the Council’s priority to make Lewisham greener by taking better care of
our local environment and the planet.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 24
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

4.2.

The Waste Strategy identifies six policy themes that are needed to deliver the national
and regional policy framework above, meet legal requirements, and deliver the
Council's objectives, namely:

1) Leading the way forward
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
4.3.

Shaping services to follow the Waste Hierarchy
Working together for an improved local environment
Using waste as a resource following the circular economy principles
Reducing carbon emissions, decreasing energy waste and improving air quality
Adding social value

The table captures the Committee’s recommendations and officer’s response for Mayor
and Cabinet to consider:

Theme

Recommendations of the Committee

Officer’s Response

1. Collection of
waste – flats
above shops.

The Committee recommends that –
where residents live above shops or on
high streets and are required to leave
their refuse for collection on the
pavement – consideration should be
given to demarcating these collection
areas to avoid confusion and the
perception of the levels of illegal
dumping.

Flats above shops already receive
‘time banded’ collections to ensure
their rubbish is promptly collected in
a way that minimises the amount of
time waste is left on the pavement
for long periods. Collections from
flats above shops take place in areas
that have a high proportion of flatted
dwellings.
Officers continually review
opportunities to improve
communication and signage in areas
receiving timed collections, provide
relevant information to residents
about collection times, and have
enforcement policies where
collections times are not adhered to.
Officers will consider opportunities to
trial demarcation of collection areas
in light of the Waste Strategy that is
nearing the end of a public
consultation process. Given the
propensity for a minority of residents
to fly-tip bagged household waste on
the public highway, officers are
concerned that this approach will
lead to semi-formalised fly-tipping
points. Furthermore, a number of
pavements in the borough are
narrow, which may lead to the
potential for waste to obstruct the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 25
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Theme

Recommendations of the Committee

Officer’s Response
public highway.
It is proposed that the
recommendation is considered in
light of the Council’s Waste Strategy,
once adopted.

2. Approach to flytipping

The Committee recommends work to
develop a rounded Council-wide
approach to illegal dumping. This should
include options for utilising the full force
of the Council's powers – including
measures such as anti-social behaviour
orders on businesses, section 215
notices and any powers available for
enforcement against landlords in the
private rented sector.

The Council is actively working with
its Parking Enforcement Contractor,
NSL Ltd, to bring additional staff to
its existing environmental
enforcement team.
Fly-tipping costs the Council £1m per
year, and so a key aim of the EnviroCrime Enforcement Team is to tackle
and reduce fly-tipping.
In addition, the team supports the
Cleaner Lewisham programme and
promotes civic pride to make the
borough a greener and cleaner place
for residents, businesses and
visitors. The team also works with
businesses to ensure their waste is
appropriately disposed.
It is proposed that following the
adoption of the Council’s Waste
Strategy, a rounded policy-led
approach to tackling illegal dumping
is developed and applied.

3. Communications

The Committee believes a clear
communications campaign is needed on
the Council's preferred mobile and
online applications and reporting routes.

The draft Waste Strategy highlights
residents’, businesses’, and visitors'
role in waste reduction and recycling.
As a result, the Council must employ
a range of measures to achieve
these aims, and a comprehensive
multi-platform communication
campaign will be needed. Officers
are focused on delivering services
within the financial envelope
determined by the council and will
endeavour to identify funding for
waste communications within
existing budgets.
It is proposed that a waste marketing

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 26
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Theme

Recommendations of the Committee

Officer’s Response
and communications plan is
developed to mobilise the Council’s
Waste Strategy following adoption.

4. Reporting
incidents and
complaints

The Committee recommends that the
methods residents and businesses can
report environmental issues digitally –to
aggregate comments and reports into a
single place – are reviewed

Officers are reviewing the use and
implementation of the Cleaner
Lewisham app, which uses the Love
Clean Streets platform. The review
will ensure sufficient capacity in
place to service the app and
integrate it with existing Council
software. Officers will also review the
variety of channels that the public
can use to report issues to the
Council. To ensure the Council can
operate as effectively and efficiently
as possible, one method is favoured.
A relaunch of the app is anticipated
in the spring of 2022 once the review
has been completed and functionality
improved.

5. Reuse

6. Campaigns

The Committee recommends that an
assertive strategy to find operators for
new second-hand, reuse and resale
markets in the borough is needed. In
addition, the Committee believes
consideration should be given to the
options for licensing commercial
resellers to access the Council's reuse
and recycling centre.

The Council is aware that more
needs to be done on waste
reduction, which includes the reuse
of materials.

The Committee recognises and
welcomes the Cleaner Lewisham
campaign –recommends that Mayor and
Cabinet should consider the options for
a new 'Lewisham in Bloom' campaign
and build incentives for residents and
businesses to take pride in local areas.
Members also believe that this should
include options for community
participation – and may involve the
production of new artwork or local
events – and resident involvement in
clean-up activities, such as the running

The first phase of the Cleaner
Lewisham campaign has been a
success, with over 150 bags of
waste collected during community
clear up campaigns.

To this end, the draft Waste Strategy
contains objectives to create a
sharing and reuse network in
partnership with local enterprises
and businesses.

The campaign has shown itself to be
a promising platform to build on, and
the suggestion of a 'Lewisham in
Bloom' campaign will be explored to
incentivise and encourage people to
take pride in their local
neighbourhood.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 27
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Theme

Recommendations of the Committee

Officer’s Response

of 'community skip' days.

Officers are conscious that running
campaigns concurrently can dilute
core messaging and resources and
considers that the Cleaner Lewisham
campaign, launched in June 2021, is
distinct and broad enough to
encourage public participation and
local pride.
Officers note that Lewisham is the
London Borough of Culture in 2022
and that this should be a focus for
artwork and local events.
It is proposed that the Cleaner
Lewisham campaign remains a focus
for the Council and includes waste
messaging following the adoption of
the Waste Strategy. Furthermore,
any campaigns relating to waste and
recycling should be considered
against (a) the Council’s waste and
recycling objectives to reduce waste
and promote recycling, (b) the likely
cost of such campaigns noting the
Council’s Medium Term Financial
Objectives and (c) the long term
behavioural impact of such
campaigns.

7. The financial
impact of waste

The Committee asks that in future
reports on the Waste Strategy, it receive
clear financial and budgetary
information and future projections and
targets for the delivery of the Strategy.

Officers note that clear financial and
budgetary information needs to
accompany the Strategy. The
Council has established efficiencies
in its Medium-Term Financial Plan
that are to be achieved by adopting
an ambitious, policy-led strategy that
stimulates service transformation.

5. Recommendations
5.1.

It is recommended that Mayor and Cabinet note the Committee’s recommendations
and take account of Officer responses when it considers the forthcoming Waste
Strategy.

6. Financial implications
6.1.

There are no direct financial implications associated with considering this report. Any
proposals or projects arising from this paper will be detailed in future reports and will

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 28
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

include the relevant financial impact.

7. Legal implications
7.1.

The Council's Constitution sets out the procedures relating to the mayor's reports from
a scrutiny committee. The Constitution sets a timescale of two months (not including
recess) for a formal reply from receipt of such reports.

8. Equalities implications
8.1.

There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

9. Climate change and environmental implications
9.1.

Moving waste up the waste hierarchy by ensuring more waste is reused or recycled
rather than sent for incineration or landfill contributes to the Council's efforts to mitigate
the impact of climate change by reducing the carbon footprint of the Council waste
management service.

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1.

There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1.

No direct health and wellbeing implications arise from this report.

12.

Background papers

12.1.

The draft Waste Strategy 2021-2031.

13.

Glossary

Term

Definition
Local Authority Collected Waste

LACW
London Environment Strategy

LES

14.

Report author and contact

14.1.

Nathan Vear, Interim Head of Street Environmental Services,
nathan.vear@lewisham.gov.uk

15.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for
Corporate Resources

15.1.

Shola Ojo, Principle Accountant, shola.ojo@lewisham.gov.uk, 0208 312 7778

16.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law,
Governance and HR

16.1.

Stephanie Fleck, Principal Lawyer, stephanie.fleck@lewisham.gov.uk, 0208 314 9968

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 29
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Mayor and Cabinet
Comments of the Sustainable Development Select Committee on the
railway children urban nation park – environmental protection and
neighbourhood plans
Date: 6 October 2021.
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1.
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributor: Sustainable Development Select Committee

Outline and recommendations
This report informs the Mayor and Cabinet of the comments and views of the
Sustainable Development Select Committee, arising from discussions on the
response from Mayor and Cabinet to the Committee’s referral on the railway
children urban national park environmental protection and neighbourhood plans.
Mayor and Cabinet is asked to consider the Committee’s comments and ask the
relevant officers to provide a response.

1. Summary
1.1.

On Wednesday 15 September 2021, the Sustainable Development Select Committee
considered the response from Mayor and Cabinet to the Committee’s referral on the
railway children urban national park, environmental protection and neighbourhood
plans (link to the agenda for Sustainable Devleopment Select Committee on 15
September 2021) The Committee heard from Councillor Ingleby regarding some new
evidence for submission to Mayor and Cabinet. The Committee agreed to refer its
views to Mayor and Cabinet.

2. Recommendation
2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet is asked to consider the Committee’s comments and ask the
relevant officers to provide a response.

3. Sustainable Development Select Committee views
3.1.

The Committee recommends that Mayor and Cabinet should give consideration to the
additional evidence provided by the Friends of Railway Children Walk – as well as the
comments and suggestions made by Councillor Ingleby - in determining the potential
for the collection of sites of importance for nature conservation within the complex of

Page 30

open spaces situated either side of the Hither Green railway corridor to constitute a
broader site of metropolitan importance for nature conservation (MSINC).

4. Financial implications
4.1.

There are no direct financial implications arising from the implementation of the
recommendations in this report. However, there may be implications arising from them
implementation of the Committee’s recommendations. These will need to be
considered as part of the response.

5. Legal implications
5.1.

The Constitution provides for select committees to refer reports to the Mayor and
Cabinet, who are obliged to consider the report and the proposed response from the
relevant Executive Director; and report back to the Committee within two months (not
including recess).

6. Equalities implications
6.1.

The Equality Act 2010 (The Act) legally protects people from discrimination in the
workplace and in wider society. It replaced the previous anti-discrimination laws with a
single act, making the law easier to understand and strengthen protection in certain
situations. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion
or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

6.2.

The Act also imposes a public sector equality duty. This means that in public bodies, of
which this Council is designated, they must consider all individuals in carrying out their
day-to-day work when shaping policy, in delivering services and in relation to their own
employees. It also requires public bodies to:


Have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination



Advance equality of opportunity



Foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities

6.3.

The Council recognises diversity is one of its strengths and is committed to creating a
more inclusive community. Therefore, having due regard to the Act, is confirmation of
the Council’s commitment to eliminating all forms of discrimination against any group
within the community and to actively promote an equality of opportunity and positive
community partnership.

6.4.

The delivery of the Council’s equalities objectives is to be achieved through the
delivery of all of the Council’s strategies, plans and procedures. As such, all select
committees and other scrutiny bodies, when planning their work and scrutinising items,
bear in mind the delivery of the Council’s equality objectives.

6.5.

Scrutiny tries to make sure that its work reflects the diversity of Lewisham’s
communities and that the views of residents are fairly represented in scrutiny
processes. Any recommendations arising from scrutiny work support the Council’s
corporate strategy and reflect the needs of local residents

6.6.

There may be equalities implications arising from the implementation of the
Committee’s recommendations – these will need to be considered in the response.

7. Climate change and environmental implications
7.1.

There are no direct climate change or environmental implications arising from the
implementation of the recommendation in this report. However, in February 2019
Lewisham Council declared a Climate Emergency and proposed a target to make the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 31
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

borough carbon neutral by 2030. The declaration tasked the Sustainable Development
Committee with scrutinising the Council’s emerging plans. All reports considered by the
Committee should acknowledge this.

8. Crime and disorder implications
8.1.

There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from the implementation of
the recommendations in this report. There may be implications arising from the
implementation of the Committee’s recommendations – these will need to be
considered in the response.

9. Health and wellbeing implications
9.1.

There are no direct health and wellbeing implications arising from the implementation
of the recommendations in this report. There may be implications arising from the
implementation of the Committee’s recommendations – these will need to be
considered in the response.

10.

Report author and contact

10.1.

If you have any questions about this report then please contact: Timothy Andrew
(Scrutiny Manager) timothy.andrew@lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 32
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 4
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for:
Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 x Part 2
Key Decision

X

Date of Meeting
Title of Report

6th October 2021
Domestic Abuse and Violence against Women and Girls
Strategy 2021-26

Originator of Report

Emily Newell – CYP Joint Commissioner

Ext. 49254

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the report
has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

N/A
N/A
x
x
x

Signed:
Cllr Brenda Dacres, Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Safer
Communities
Date: 27 September 2021

Signed:
Pinaki Ghoshal, Executive Director for Children and Young People
Date: 27.09.21

Signed:

Page 33

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\1\8\ai00030815\$msb11g4s.doc

No

N/A
N/A

Tom Brown, Executive Director for Community Services
Date: 27.9.21
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 34

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\1\8\ai00030815\$msb11g4s.doc

Date
x
x

n/a

Mayor and Cabinet
New Domestic Abuse and Violence against Women and Girls Strategy
2021-26
Date: 1 October 2021
Key decision: No
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Emily Newell, CYP Joint Commissioner

Outline and recommendations
The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the new Domestic Abuse and
Violence against Women and Girls Strategy for Lewisham, 2021-26. The report outlines the
engagement work undertaken, the priorities, values and aims of the strategy, improvements
made to the strategy following consultation, and how success of the strategy will be
measured. It is recommended that Mayor and Cabinet approve this new strategy.

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
September 2020: Engagement with survivors of abuse via interview
October – November 2020: Engagement with local professionals via workshops
February 2021: Review of draft strategy via survey with local professionals
24th May – 1st July 2021: Public consultation on draft strategy via survey
16th June and 21st September 2021: Draft strategy presented to Safer Strong Communities
Committee

1. Summary
1.1.

Lewisham Council are launching a new five-year Domestic Abuse and Violence against
Women and Girls (VAWG) Strategy, which sets out our partnership approach to ending
domestic abuse and all forms of VAWG in Lewisham. The strategy aims to ensure that
everyone living and working in Lewisham is able to contribute to making the borough a
safer place for victims of abuse. It builds on our existing partnerships to provide a more
co-ordinated and strategic response to tackling violence and abuse, with clear priorities
that can be embedded into strategic plans across partner agencies.

Page 35

1.2.

The strategy is centred around five strategic priorities:


PREVENT: Preventing violence and abuse through early intervention and
education



PROTECT: Providing support that keeps individuals and their families safe from
harm



RECOVER: Providing longer-term support to enable recovery following abuse



PURSUE: Holding perpetrators to account whilst providing opportunity for change
and support



PARTNERSHIP: Working in partnership across agencies and with the community,
to ensure our response to abuse is integrated, innovative and inclusive

1.3.

As well as working towards the priorities of this new strategy, we will continue to
ensure we provide a safe and effective integrated VAWG service for survivors and their
families in Lewisham.

1.4.

The priorities of the strategy have been developed in partnership with a wider range of
statutory, community and voluntary organisations across Lewisham. Council officers
have undertaken a number of consultation exercises engaging with local survivors of
domestic abuse and professionals working in local services. We have built on our
experience of what works in tackling domestic abuse and VAWG in Lewisham, and will
continue to ensure our work is evidence-based and meaningful.

1.5.

The draft strategy was presented to Safer Stronger Communities Committee on the
16th June and 21st September 2021, during which the committee reviewed the
document and provided feedback.

2. Recommendation
2.1.

For Mayor and Cabinet to note the contents of the report and approve the new
Domestic Abuse and Violence against Women and Girls Strategy for Lewisham, 202126.

3. Policy Context
3.1.

The Domestic Abuse and Violence againt Women and Girls (VAWG) Strategy
contributes towards the ‘Building safer communities’ priority within the Council’s
Corporate Strategy 2018-2022, which includes commitments to: ‘focus on combating
sexual violence and domestic abuse’, ‘support all survivors who are able, and choose
to, flee violence and domestic abuse through our work with the voluntary sector’, and
‘give survivors priority in social housing allocation’.

3.2.

In 2019/20, Lewisham recorded the second highest levels of domestic abuse-related
crime in London, and this figure appears to be increasing year on year. During the 12
months between June 2019 and May 2020, there were over 9,500 incidents and
offences of domestic abuse reported to the Police in Lewisham. We only have a partial
picture of the levels of abuse that residents are experiencing as much will go
unreported, but data suggests that approximately 7.5% of Lewisham adults experience
domestic abuse or other forms of VAWG.

3.3.

The Domestic Abuse Act was enacted into law in April 2021. This Act will for the first

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 36
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

time create a cross-Government statutory definition of domestic abuse, to ensure that
domestic abuse is properly understood, considered unacceptable, and actively
challenged, across statutory agencies and in public attitudes. The measures brought in
by the Act are welcomed in Lewisham, and many align with the work that has already
been underway locally for a number of years. However the Act further increases the
need for co-operation across public services, particularly when it comes to meeting the
new duties placed on the local authority around housing provision. Responding to the
implications of the Domestic Abuse Act is a key part of this strategy, and will be a
priority for the first year of the Strategic Action Plan.

4. Background – Strategy development
4.1.

In April 2020 a new Domestic Abuse and VAWG Partnership Board was established
with membership from officers across Children’s and Adult Social Care, Community
Safety, the Met Police, the CCG, Lewisham housing services and Lewisham Homes.
One of the key aims of this group was the development of a new Domestic Abuse and
Violence against Women and Girls strategy for the borough. The previous Lewisham
VAWG Strategy expired on 31st March 2021.

4.2.

The initial step in developing the strategy was to undertake in-depth interviews with
survivors of domestic abuse in Lewisham. There were a number of common themes
that arose through this process, which set the values and priorities of the strategy.
There were:

4.3.



A lack of understanding within the community and by professionals of coercive
control and emotional abuse, incluiding how this exhibits and the impact that this
can have on victims



A lack of understanding in the community about what abuse looks like, and how to
get support if you are experiencing abuse



A gap in the support available to aid recovery from abuse, for survivors and their
children



The importance of professional curiosity for supporting disclosures



How impactful the relationship with professionals is for survivors

Following this, officers held seven co-production workshops with professionals across
organisations in Lewisham. Each workshop looked in-depth at a different aspect of the
response to domestic abuse and VAWG in Lewisham, namely housing, children’s
social care, adult social care, education, criminal justice, health and voluntary and
community sector. Each of the sessions included real case studies and particular focus
was given to the feedback raised by survivors. 83 different professionals attended
these workshops (a full list of which is available in the Strategy appendices) and there
were a number of areas for improvement that emerged, namely:


A need to build the skills, capacity and understanding of practitioners through
training.



A need to raise awareness at a community level



A need for support to enable multi-agency working



A need to strengthen our response to perpetrators of abuse

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 37
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports



A need to better recognise the long-term impact of abuse

4.4.

A public consultation on the draft strategy was open for responses between the 24th
May and 1st July. This consultation aimed to help us to prioritise the proposed actions
within the strategy; ensure that the language used within the strategy document was
acceptable and appropriate; ensure that we had captured all of the resident and
community groups that require services; and help us to target and deliver promotional
campaigns.

4.5.

The questions within the consultation survey asked respondents to:

4.6.



Rate the importance of the proposed actions under each of the strategc priorities



Suggest any priorities or actions that are missing from the draft strategy



Give feedback on the language used to describe the five priorities – Prevent,
Protect, Repair, Pursue and People



Suggest any particular groups within the community that should be prioritised for
support



Tell us where they would go if they or a friend or family member needed support



Tell us the best way of providing information to the public about services to support
people affected by domestic abuse amd VAWG

A number of changes were made to the draft strategy in reponse to the public
consultation, which are outlined in section 6 below.

5. Strategy outline
5.1.

The strategy document and a one-page summary are available in Appendices A and B.
The sections below set out the key priorities, values and ambitions of the strategy.

5.2.

The new Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategy 2021-26 sets out our partnership
approach to ending domestic abuse and all forms of VAWG in Lewisham. The strategy
aims to ensure that everyone living and working in Lewisham is able to contribute to
making the borough a safer place for victims of abuse, whether this is through
supporting victims and their families, or through empowering victims to seek support
themselves.

5.3.

The strategy builds on our existing partnerships to provide a more co-ordinated and
strategic response to tackling violence and abuse, with clear priorities that can be
embedded into strategic plans across partner agencies.

Strategic priorities
5.4.

The strategy is centred around five strategic priorities:


PREVENT: Preventing violence and abuse through early intervention and
education



PROTECT: Providing support that keeps individuals and their families safe from
harm



RECOVER: Providing longer-term support to enable recovery following abuse



PURSUE: Holding perpetrators to account whilst providing opportunity for change

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 38
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

and support


PARTNERSHIP: Working in partnership across agencies and with the community,
to ensure our response to abuse is integrated, innovative and inclusive

Our values
5.5.

Through our engagement with service users and stakeholders, it was clear that how
professionals and services work in responding to domestic abuse and VAWG is of
critical importance, and that there are key behaviours, values and attitudes that should
be adopted across the partnership, in order to deliver an effective response. These are:


COMPASSION: We will value, respect and be compassionate with every
professional, adult, child and family. We will seek to intervene and support
individuals and families no matter their behaviours, and be trauma-informed in our
approach.



CURIOSITY: We will listen to victims and their families with genuine curiosity to
enable trust to be built. We will have the curiosity to understand the problem, and
the courage and integrity to do all we can to achieve the best solution.



FLEXIBILITY: We will work in a way that is informative, reflective, and adaptive to
the needs of children, adults, whole families and whole communities.



SAFETY: We will be innovative in our approach and interventions, but keep the
wellbeing and safety of victims and children as our priority.

Strategy Action Plan
5.6.

Under each of the five priority areas listed in 5.4, there are a number of outcomes that
we are seeking to achieve though this strategy. The draft strategy document includes a
Strategic Action Plan which sets out the intended outcomes, and the actions that will
be taken to achieve these over the next five years.

Measuring success
5.7.

A new VAWG Partnership Dashboard has been developed, which includes a wide
range of Key Performance Indicators. This will be monitored regularly throughout the
life of the strategy, and used to assess the impact of the Strategic Action Plan on
improving our response to domestic abuse and VAWG in Lewisham.

5.8.

One of the initial aims of the Strategy is to bring together and analyse data from
multiple sources to establish a richer understanding of patterns and profiles of abuse in
Lewisham, helping us to target resources where they will be most impactful. This will
including overlaying data from a wide range of sources across the partnership,
including incorporating data from relevant regional and national provisions.

5.9.

As the core aim of this strategy is to increase awareness and understanding of
domestic abuse and VAWG, we expect reporting, referrals and access to services for
related issues, to increase over years 1-3. We then expect to see these numbers
decrease in years 4-5 as the prevalence of domestic abuse and VAWG decreases, in
response to the actions put in place.

Governance
5.9.

The Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic Board will be responsible for monitoring our

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 39
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

progress against the aims of the strategy and the Strategic Action Plan. As well as this,
the aim of the Board is to continue to secure high-level commitment to the strategy
across multiple agencies, and ensure that domestic abuse and VAWG is included in
wider policy and strategy developments across Lewisham.
5.10

Underneath this, a small number of task and finish groups will be formed to drive
forward change in specific areas of the strategy. These will be short-term and focused
groups of multi-agency professionals, formed to address a particular issue, need or
challenge as it arises. The focus and membership of these groups will be decided by
the Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic Board.

5.11.

We will continue to deliver the successful VAWG Forum. This is an opportunity for
professionals across Lewisham agencies to share best practice and reflect on the
experience of supporting victims and perpetrators.

5.12.

The Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic Board will be accountable to the Safer
Lewisham Partnership. It will also report to the Lewisham Safeguarding Children’s
Partnership and Adults Board.

6. Changes to the strategy following consultation
Feedback from Safer Stronger Communities Committee
6.1.

The draft strategy was presented to Safer Stronger Communities Committee for review
on the 16th June. Feedback from members was that the title of the stategy, in including
‘Domestic Abuse’ alongside ‘Violence against Women and Girls’, acted to dilute the
importance of the disproportionate impact that these crimes have on women and girls,
and there was a concern that the strategy was named so to recognise that men and
boys can also be victims.

6.2.

In response to this concern from the committee, the authors of the strategy would like
to make clear that the rationale for the title was not related to a desire to increase the
recognition of male victims. The title of the strategy was developed in consultation with
a diverse group of agencies as part of the Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic
Board, and a number of discussions were had amongst this group before agreeing on
the wording. The group recognises that women and girls carry by far the highest
burden of these crimes, and also that the accepted definition of ‘VAWG’ includes men
and boys as victims. The membership of the Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic
Board is included in Appendix C for reference.

6.3.

The Strategic Board chose the title based on the following rationale:


Though we recognise that all forms of VAWG are under-reported, Domestic
abuse is by far the most prevalent VAWG crime impacting on Lewisham
residents, and so should be the primary focus of our resources.



Domestic abuse is also the form of abuse that is seen most regularly in
referrals to Children and Adult Social Care. There is an incredibly high
prevalence of domestic abuse within families referred to Children’s Services in
particular, and it has causes and consequences that are very specific and
complex. It was therefore felt that a special focus is needed to develop a
tailored response from these services. We have seen strong and increased
engagement from Children’s Social Care in the development of this Strategy.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 40
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

6.4.



The UK Government will be publishing a new Domestic Abuse Strategy in
2022, to be delivered alongside the national VAWG Strategy. This is the first of
it’s kind and the rationale for this is that, because of the level of harm caused
by this form of abuse, the expected increase during the pandemic, and the
publication of the Domestic Abuse Act, that a separate strategy was needed.
Our hope is that the new Lewisham strategy meets the aims of both of these
national strategies, but we will review this on publication, and continually adapt
our local planning as necessary in response to national drivers.



There were no concerns raised about the title of the strategy during the
consultation with professionals or the public.

We also wish to emphasise that the strategy encompasses all forms of VAWG, and
many of the planned actions, including our awareness-raising campaigns, staff training,
and improved routine enquiry, will improve how we identify and respond to all forms of
VAWG collectively.

Feedback from the public consultation
6.5.

A public consultation on the draft strategy, as detailed in section 4.4 above, was open
for responses between the 24th May and 1st July. There were 91 responses to the
consultation. A number of changes have been made to the strategy in response to this
feedback, set out below.

6.6.

The public consultation asked respondents to identify which of the proposed actions
they felt were most important under each of the strands of the strategy. The most
popular responses are listed, with detail of how we will be working towards these in the
first year of the strategy.


Under PREVENT, respondents said the priority action should be for ‘Children
and young people in Lewisham are educated around safe and healthy
relationships and understand that violence and abuse is not normalised
behaviour’. There are plans in place to develop a ‘best practice toolkit’ for
primary and secondary schools, to strengthen their delivery of healthy
relationships education, including to give staff the confidence and skills to
discuss issues of domestic abuse. The proposal is for a dedicated post be
commissioned by the LBL Education and Public Health Teams, to develop and
disseminate resources during the 2021/22 academic year.



Under PROTECT, respondents said the priority action should be to ‘Provide
safe housing for victims and their families fleeing abuse’. As of June 2021, the
LBL Housing Service have developed new rehousing pathways for victims
fleeing domestic abuse, in order to meet the requirements of the new Domestic
Abuse Act 2021. The Housing Service is also undergoing accreditation by the
Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance (DAHA), which the UK benchmark for how
housing services should respond to domestic abuse, by addressing the needs
of survivors and holding perpetrators to account. Housing and Community
Safety are also in the process of commissioning a full housing needs
assessment, which will be submitted to the MHCLG to inform thair Londonwider commissioning of additional safe accommodation for survivors fleeing
abuse.



Under RECOVER, respondents said the priority action should be to ‘Provide

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 41
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

recovery support to children and survivors of domestic abuse’. Children’s
Services are currently running two grant-funded programmes piloting and
evaluating a range of different interventions for families affected by domestic
abuse. The interventions include the Children Overcoming Domestic Abuse
(CODA) programme, which is a recovery programme for children and mothers,
The Freedom Programme, and specialist one-to-one play therapy for children
affected by domestic abuse. Additionally, in 2021 we have trained a number of
staff, predominantly Children’s Social Workers, in these theraputic interventions
to enable them to deliver support to families directly after the external grant
funding ends. 21 professionals were trained to deliver CODA, 19 to deliver The
Freedom Programme, 14 to deliver in Caring Dads, and 27 were trained in
Trauma Informed and Restorative Practice.


6.7.

6.8.

Under PURSUE, respondents said the priority action should be to ‘Ensure
perpetrators are held accountable for their actions through legal means’. Within
the strategy, the Met Police have committed to review and increase the use of
Domestic Violence Protection Orders, Female Genital Mutiliation Protection
Orders and Forced Marriage Protection Orders. Under Operation Dauntless
there are a number of improvement initiatives in place, such as the use of
‘Clare’s Law’ to inform victims if their new or existing partner has a violent past.

The following changes were made to the language used within the strategy:


Changing the name of priority four from ‘Repair’ to ‘Recover’. A number of
respondents commented that the ‘Repair’ was not appropriate because it
implied that a person was damaged and lacked the supportive tone required. It
was felt that ‘Recover’ was more empathetic, positive and future-facing
language.



Changing the name of priority five from ‘People’ to ‘Partnership’. Respondents
commented that ‘People’ was unclear and it was felt that ‘Partnership’ more
accurately reflected the intention behind this strand of the strategy.

Feedback provided demonstrated that some of the aims and intentions held by the
Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic Board, were not made clear enough in the
strategy wording. Changes were made to the wording to make more explicit our
commitment to:


Ensure the strategy covers all forms of Violence against Women and Girls,
including sexual violence and harmful cultural practices, by more clearly
defining these in the introduction and including relevant data.



Improve the way we measure and analyse data on all forms of VAWG in the
borough, including to bring together and analyse data from multiple sources to
establish a richer understanding of patterns and profiles of abuse in Lewisham,
helping us to target resources where they will be most impactful.



Work in partnership with other London boroughs to develop and deliver
services and share good practice.



Address ‘lower-level’ forms of VAWG including street harassment and sexual
harassment.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 42
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports



Meet the specific needs of survivors who are less likely to access services,
particularly those without English as their first language, but also those that
identify as LGBTQ+, those from different cultural and ethnic backgrounds, and
those or experiencing homelessness and/or multiple disadvantage.



Recognise the ways in which violence in relationships manifests within different
age groups.

7. Equalities implications
7.1.

This strategy recognises that domestic abuse and VAWG can affect anyone, although
women and children carry the highest burden. It highlights that a number of groups
face additional barriers to accessing help, and also may be at increased risk of certain
types of abuse, and takes account of these intersecting needs. This includes older
people, LGBTQ+ people, Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities, refugees, and
adults with care and support needs. We are committed to ensuring that our services
are inclusive and accessible to all.

7.2.

A core outcome within the Strategic Action Plan is to ensure that victims of abuse have
access to integrated VAWG services that fully meet their needs, and provide support to
all victims and their families, regardless of their gender, sexual orientation, race,
religion and care and support needs.

7.3.

Our commissioned community-based specialist VAWG service, Athena, provides
support across all strands of VAWG, to all victims regardless of their gender and
whether or not they have children. We undertake regular monitoring to ensure all
commissioned services are meeting needs of residents from diverse groups, and
delivering an impactful and high quality service.

7.4.

Through the new strategy we will work in partnership across health and community
services to ensure that victims facing additional barriers to accessing help, such as
those identifying as LGBTQ+, are able to get the support they need.

8. Crime and disorder implications
8.1.

The new Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategy aims to prevent and reduce the impact
of crime and violence, and reduce the fear of domestic abuse and other violent crimes
against women and girls, amongst the local community. There are a number of actions
within the strategy which directly relate to the prevention of such crimes and the
protection of victims, which will be delivered in partnership between the Met Police,
Community Safety and other partner organisations.

9. Health and wellbeing implications
9.1.

The new Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategy aims to improve the health and
wellbeing of residents experiencing or at risk of experiencing domestic abuse and
VAWG, and their families. The community VAWG Service if commissioned to deliver a
wide range of health and wellbeing outcomes for service users, and also ensure that
victims are linked with local mental and physcial health services.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 43
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

10.

Glossary

Term

Definition

Domestic abuse

Violence against
women and girls
(VAWG)

Coercive control

An incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive, threatening,
degrading and violent behaviour, including sexual violence, in the majority of
cases by a partner or ex-partner, but also by a family member or carer.
Domestic abuse can include, but is not limited to, coercive control,
psychological and/or emotional abuse, physical or sexual abuse, financial or
economic abuse, harassment and stalking, and online or digital abuse.
Acts of violence or abuse that we know disproportionately affect women and
girls. Crimes and behaviour covered by this term include rape and other
sexual offences, domestic abuse, stalking, ‘honour’-based abuse (including
female genital mutilation forced marriage, and ‘honour’ killings), as well as
many others, including offences committed online. While we use the term
‘violence against women and girls’, throughout the Strategy, this refers to all
victims of any of these offences, including men and boys.
A pattern of intimidation, degradation, isolation and control with the use or
threat of physical or sexual violence.

11.

Report author(s) and contact

11.1.

Emily Newell - CYP Joint Commissioner, emily.newell@lewisham.gov.uk, 07825
456559

12.

Appendices

12.1.

Appendix A – One-page summary of Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategy

12.2.

Appendix B – Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategy

12.3.

Appendix C – Membership of the Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic Board

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 44
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Appendix C – Membership of the Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic Board
As of June 2021:
Pinaki Ghoshal - Executive Director for Children & Young People, LBL (Chair)
Charlene Noel – VAWG Strategic Lead, LBL
Fiona Mitchell – Adult Safeguarding Lead Nurse, SEL CCG
Maureen Gabriel – Children’s Safeguarding Lead Nurse, SEL CCG
Alice Wu – GP Lead, SEL CCG
Fen Beckman – Director of Housing Services, LBL
Dan Byron – Detective Inspector, Safeguarding, SE BCU
Emily Newell – CYP Joint Commissioner, LBL
Martin Crow – Lewisham Safeguarding Adults Board
David Goosey – Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership Independent Scrutineer
Rebecca Hare – Head of Service for Family Support and Safeguarding
Justine Mortelmans – Group Manager for Family Support and Safeguarding
Joanna Georgiades - Strategic Safeguarding Lead, Lewisham Safeguarding Children
Partnership
Iain McDiarmid - Service Group Manager – Prevention, Inclusion and Public Health, LBL
Clare Hopkins – Head of Housing and Communities, Lewisham Homes
David McCollum – CYP Joint Commissioner, LBL
Jannet Hall – Head of Community Safety, LBL
Laura Murray – Initiatives Officer, Strategic Housing, LBL
Karen Kemsley – Data Scientist, LBL
Brian Scouler – Service Manager, Adult Social Care
Catherine Bunten – Service Manager, Early Help and CYP Commissioning
James Lee - Director of Communities, Partnerships and Leisure

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 45
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Domestic Abuse and
Violence against Women
and Girls Strategy
2021 - 2026

Page 46

Contents
Foreword ................................................................................................................................................ 2
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 3
2. Our priorities ...................................................................................................................................... 4
3. Scope of the strategy ......................................................................................................................... 6
4. Local and national context ................................................................................................................. 9
6. Engagement with survivors of abuse .............................................................................................. 12
7. Engagement with stakeholders ....................................................................................................... 14
8. Our values ......................................................................................................................................... 16
9. Strategic Action Plan ........................................................................................................................ 17
Priority 1: PREVENT .......................................................................................................................... 17
Priority 2: PROTECT .......................................................................................................................... 18
Priority 3: RECOVER .......................................................................................................................... 20
Priority 4: PURSUE ............................................................................................................................ 21
Priority 5: PARTNERSHIP .................................................................................................................. 22
10. Measuring success .......................................................................................................................... 23
11. Governance..................................................................................................................................... 24
12. Appendices ..................................................................................................................................... 25
Appendix 1: List of stakeholders...................................................................................................... 25
Appendix 2: VAWG Partnership Dashboard .................................................................................... 26

Page 47

Foreword
To be inserted

Page 48

1. Introduction
This strategy set out our five-year partnership approach to ending domestic abuse and Violence
against Women and Girls (VAWG) in Lewisham. The strategy aims to ensure that everyone living and
working in Lewisham is able to contribute to making the borough a safer place for victims and
survivors of abuse, whether this is through supporting victims and their families, or through
empowering victims to seek support themselves. The strategy builds on our existing partnerships to
provide a more co-ordinated and strategic response to tackling violence and abuse, with clear
priorities that can be embedded into strategic plans across partner agencies.
We recognise that the causes and consequences of domestic abuse and VAWG are complex and
multi-faceted, and can only be tackled through a strong multi-agency response, and in partnership
with the local community. The priorities of the strategy have been developed in partnership with a
wider range of statutory, community and voluntary organisations across Lewisham. We have
undertaken a number of consultation exercises engaging with local survivors of domestic abuse and
professionals working in local services. We have built on our experience of what works in tackling
domestic abuse and VAWG in Lewisham, and will continue to ensure our work is evidence-based and
meaningful.
This strategy recognises that domestic abuse and VAWG can affect anyone, although women and
children carry by far the highest burden. It highlights that a number of groups face additional
barriers to accessing help, and also may be at increased risk of certain types of abuse, and takes
account of these intersecting needs. This includes older people, LGBTQ+ people, Black, Asian and
minority ethnic communities, refugees, and adults with care and support needs. We are committed
to ensuring that our services are inclusive and accessible to all.

Page 49

2. Our priorities
Our strategic priorities for domestic abuse and VAWG for 2021-26 are:

PREVENT

PROTECT

RECOVER

PURSUE

Preventing violence
and abuse through
early intervention
and education

Providing support
that keeps individuals
and their families safe
from harm

Providing longerterm support to
enable recovery
following abuse

Holding perpetrators to
account whilst providing
opportunity for change
and support

PARTNERSHIP
Working in partnership across agencies and with the community, to ensure our response to abuse is
integrated, innovative and inclusive

Priority 1: PREVENT
Preventing violence and abuse through early intervention and education
We want to ensure that everyone living and working in Lewisham knows where to go get help if they
are experiencing violence and abuse, at the earliest opportunity. Our aim is that family, friends and
the wider community are able to recognise abuse in all its forms, and know how to support victims.
This should include a widespread awareness and understanding of coercive control and its impact on
survivors and children.
We are committed to preventing violence and abuse happening in the first place. We recognise the
influence that early relationships and attachment have on the risk of future violence and abuse, and
want to ensure that children and young people in Lewisham are educated around safe and healthy
relationships, and understand that violence and abuse is not normalised behaviour.

Priority 2: PROTECT
Providing support that keeps individuals and their families safe from harm
We will continue to ensure that all victims of violence and abuse have access to a high quality
integrated VAWG service, including safe accommodation. We are committed to improving the coordination of our multi-agency response to victims. This includes agencies working together to
protect those at highest risk, as well as intervening early in cases of violence and abuse to prevent
escalation.
We aim to ensure that all agencies across Lewisham use routine screening and enquiry for VAWG,
and provide an appropriate and safe response following disclosure, ensuring opportunities for
victims to easily access safe help in their day to day lives.

Priority 3: RECOVER
Providing longer-term support to enable recovery following abuse
We recognise the long-term harm caused by VAWG and understand the lasting impacts experienced
by individuals beyond the incident of abuse. We will aim for agencies across Lewisham to be trauma-

Page 50

informed in their response to violence and abuse, particularly for survivors with multiple
vulnerabilities. We will ensure that survivors and their families have access to support to enable
recovery from abuse, to prevent repeat incidents and re-victimisation.

Priority 4: PURSUE
Holding perpetrators to account whilst providing opportunity for change and support
We want to ensure that perpetrators of VAWG, not victims, are held accountable for their actions,
whilst building capacity to change. We will have a zero-tolerance approach to abuse, and are also
committed to being trauma-informed in our response to perpetrators where this is appropriate.
We recognise the challenges that come with working with perpetrators of abuse, and will ensure
that professionals in Lewisham have the confidence, skills and support to safely respond to
perpetrators of abuse that come into contact with their services. We will support and develop
aspirational approaches to masculinity and fatherhood.

Priority 5: PARTNERSHIP
Working in partnership across agencies and with the community, to ensure our response to abuse
is integrated, innovative and inclusive
We will lead a coordinated response to domestic abuse and VAWG, creating opportunities for better
partnership working and support, encouraging continuous learning and innovation and sharing
accountability reducing the impact of violence and abuse. We use our relationships and network to
proactively build consensus and a shared understanding of how and why we work.
We will ensure that the voice of survivors informs all of our decision making, and within this priority
we recognise that many professionals working in Lewisham will be personally affected by domestic
abuse, and so support should be welcoming and accessible to them too.
A more unified response to families affected by domestic abuse
We also wish to address the differences in approach adopted by agencies when working with
families affected by domestic abuse. We know that, whilst all agencies are committed to reducing
the prevalence and impact of abuse, organisational priorities, duties and processes can mean that
there is sometimes conflict between how these issues are approached.
There are a number of circumstances in which these differences can become evident, and this can
ultimately impact on the experience and effectiveness of services for victims and survivors of abuse.
There is no easy solution to this, but there are a number of actions that we will take as part of this
strategy to support multi-agency professionals to work together with greater compassion and
openness, and with shared understanding and accountability.
As an example, we are currently piloting a new multi-agency team of staff that will work within
Children’s Social Care to support families affected by domestic abuse. This team consists of a Social
Worker, Independent Gender Violence Advocate and Father’s Worker, all of whom bring their
different perspectives, but will share their skills and knowledge to best support families.

Page 51

3. Scope of the strategy
This strategy encompasses all forms of Violence against Women and Girls. However we wish to
recognise that, of all forms of VAWG, domestic abuse is the most prevalent crime impacting on
Lewisham residents, and so should be the primary focus of our resources. For this reason we have
taken the decision to develop a ‘Domestic Abuse and Violence against Women and Girls’ strategy for
Lewisham.
The strategy will cover the following types of abuse:


Domestic abuse
The recognised definition of domestic abuse is ‘any incident or pattern of incidents of
controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or
over who are or have been intimate partners or family members, regardless of gender or
sexuality. This can encompass, but is not limited to psychological, physical, sexual, financial
and emotional abuse’1.
Within the definition of domestic abuse, the government specifically define controlling
behaviour as ‘a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or dependent by
isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and capacities for
personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, resistance and
escape and regulating their everyday behaviour’. Coercive behaviour is defined as ‘an act or
a pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used
to harm, punish, or frighten their victim.'2 It is recognised that there is an increasing
prevalence of technology being used to facilitate this abuse.



Sexual violence
Sexual violence can be defined as any behaviour perceived to be of a sexual nature which is
unwanted and takes place without consent or understanding. Rape is defined as ‘when a
person uses their penis without consent to penetrate the vagina, mouth, or anus of another
person. Legally, a person without a penis cannot commit rape, but a female may be guilty of
rape if they assist a male perpetrator in an attack’. Sexual assault is defined as ‘when a
person is coerced or physically forced to engage against their will, or when a person, male or
female, touches another person sexually without their consent.’3



Harmful cultural practices
Harmful cultural practices are forms of violence which have been committed, primarily
against women and girls, in certain communities and societies for so long that they are
considered, or presented by perpetrators, as part of accepted cultural practice. The most
common forms of harmful cultural practice are female genital mutilation, honour-based
violence, and forced marriage, however it can take many other forms. 4

1

UK Home Office (2013)
UK Home Office (2013)
3
Crown Prosecution Service (2021)
2

Page 52

Female genital mutilation (FGM) comprises all procedures that involve partial or total
removal of the external female genitalia, or other injury to the female genital organs for
non-medical reasons. So called ‘honour’ based violence (HBV) is a crime or incident which
has or may have been committed to protect or defend the honour of the family and/or
community members. Women, especially young women, are the most common targets,
often where they have acted outside community boundaries of perceived acceptable
feminine/sexual behaviour. A forced marriage is where one or both people do not (or in
cases of people with learning disabilities or reduced capacity, cannot) consent to the
marriage but they are pressurised, or forced to do so.5


Sexual harassment
Sexual harassment is unwanted behaviour of a sexual nature which has the effect of
violating dignity, creating a hostile or offensive environment, and causing intimidation,
degradation or humiliation. It can take place anywhere, including the workplace, schools,
streets, public transport and social situations. It includes flashing, obscene and threatening
calls, and online harassment.6



Stalking
Stalking is repeated (i.e. on at least two occasions) harassment causing fear, alarm or
distress. It can include threatening phone calls, texts or letters; damaging property; spying
on and following the victim.7



Trafficking
Trafficking involves the recruitment, transportation and exploitation of women and children
for the purposes of prostitution and domestic servitude across international borders and
within countries (‘internal trafficking’).8

Other forms of violence
In developing this strategy we acknowledge that not all violence experienced in relationships is the
same, both in terms of its causes or its intentions. It is important to distinguish between domestic
abuse, as defined by patterns of controlling and coercive behaviour perpetrated by one party onto
another, and violence that occurs in relationships due to conflict caused by a specific situation, such
as a stressful life event. This is commonly known as ‘situational couple violence’.
Given the known prevalence of situational couple violence within households in Lewisham, and the
huge detrimental impact that this has on individuals and their families9, we feel it is important to
also include this within the scope of this strategy. Led by Children’s Services, we will to explore the

5

Mayor of London Tackling Violence against Women and Girls Strategy 2018-2021
Mayor of London Tackling Violence against Women and Girls Strategy 2018-2021
7
Mayor of London Tackling Violence against Women and Girls Strategy 2018-2021
8
Mayor of London Tackling Violence against Women and Girls Strategy 2018-2021
9
‘What works to enhance inter-parental relationships and improve outcomes for children?’, Early Intervention
Foundation (2016) https://www.eif.org.uk/report/what-works-to-enhance-interparental-relationships-andimprove-outcomes-for-children
6

Page 53

evidence base and solutions to situational couple violence, focusing specifically on reducing parental
conflict and promoting healthy relationships.

Page 54

4. Local and national context
The national picture
In developing this strategy we are clear that women and children make up the majority of victims of
domestic abuse and VAWG. However, we wish to recognise that men can also be victims of these
crimes, and that they are likely to be under-represented in statistics and in access to services.
Domestic abuse
Domestic abuse affects millions of people in the UK every year. An estimated 7.3% of women (1.6
million) and 3.6% of men (757,000) experienced domestic abuse in the year April 2019 to March
202010. We expect this to be an underestimate, as domestic abuse and VAWG are often referred to
as ‘hidden crimes’, as they are not always reported to the Police.
Statistics consistently illustrate the gendered nature of domestic abuse; that victims are
disproportionately female and perpetrators are disproportionately male. In the year ending March
2020, the victim was female in 74% of domestic abuse-related crimes11. It is estimated that one in
four women will become a victim of domestic abuse in their lifetime12 and two women in the UK will
be killed each week by an intimate partner13.
Data shows that domestic abuse is most prevalent amongst young women. In the year ending March
2020, women aged 16 to 19 years old were the age group most likely to be victims of domestic
abuse, with 14% being a victim at least once14. Through this prevalence decreases with age, there is
still a significant prevalence within the older age groups. For 60-74 year-olds, 4.4% of women and
1.9% of men had been a victim of domestic abuse. It is accepted that there is likely to be high levels
of under-reporting within the older age group. Within this strategy we wish to recognise that the
experience of domestic abuse can vary massively depending on age, for example data shows that
victims aged 61+ are much more likely to experience abuse from an adult family member than those
aged 60 and under, are less likely to attempt to leave their perpetrator, and are more likely to have a
disability.
Overall, people from a ‘mixed’ ethnic background are more likely to experience domestic abuse. For
the year ending March 2020, those in the ‘mixed’ ethnic group were significantly more likely to
experience domestic abuse (7.6%) than those of White (5.7%), Black (3.7%) or Asian (3.6%)
background15.
There is limited national data on the number of people that identify as LGBTQ+ affected by domestic
abuse. We know that those who identify as LGBTQ+ face additional barriers to accessing support,
and evidence suggests that LGBT+ victims and survivors are not accessing services at the same rate

10

Crime Survey for England and Wales (2020)
Crime Survey for England and Wales (2020)
12
Office for National Statistics (2018)
13
Femicide Census (2017)
14
Crime Survey for England and Wales (2020)
15
Crime Survey for England and Wales (2020)
11

Page 55

as others in the population16. It is likely therefore that many LGBT+ victims and survivors remain
hidden from services.
Domestic abuse costs the UK economy £66 billion annually, making the cost for a single victim of
abuse, £34,015. These figures illustrate the extent of domestic abuse and the impact and cost felt
across society.
Sexual violence
For the year ending March 2020, the Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) showed that an
estimated 773,000 adults aged 16 to 74 years experienced sexual assault (including attempts) in the
last year. This equates to a prevalence rate of approximately 2 in 100 adults. In terms of the types of
abuse experienced, unwanted sexual touching was the most common type of sexual assault
experienced by adults (1.4%). Rape or assault by penetration (including attempts) was experienced
by (0.5%) of adults.
Of sexual offences recorded by the police in the year ending March 2020, the victim was female in
84% of cases. In terms of age, both men and women aged 16 to 19 years (2.9% and 12.9%
respectively) and 20 to 24 years (2.6% and 10.5% respectively) were significantly more likely to be
victims of sexual assault in the last year than any other age group.
Data shows that women from Black or Black British and Mixed ethnic backgrounds were significantly
more likely than those in the White, Asian or Other ethnic groups to experience sexual assault.
Additionally, women with a disability were more likely to have experienced sexual assault in the last
year than women without a disability (5.0% and 2.8% respectively).
Harmful cultural practices
Data on harmful cultural practices in the UK is limited, and many of these practice go unreported to
statutory services.
The latest data from health services shows that 5,395 individual women and girls sought medical
help in relation to FGM in the year April 2020 to March 2021.17 This only captures those seen by NHS
services, and is likely to be a significant under-reporting of the prevalence in the UK. FGM Protection
Orders can be applied for through the Family Court. The number of applications and orders made is
very small, and nationally there have been 699 orders made up to end of March 2021, since their
introduction in July 2015.18
On average the government Forced Marriage Unit (FMU) gives advice or support in 1,359 cases
related to a possible forced marriage per year (based on 2011-2019 data). Of the cases that the FMU
provided advice or support to in 2020, 26% involved victims below 18 years of age, 37% involved
victims aged 18-25, and 9% involved victims with mental capacity concerns. 79% involved female
victims and 21% involved male victims.19

16

Strengthening advocacy for LGBT+ survivors of domestic abuse, Safelives (2019)
NHS Digital Female Genital Mutilation Statistics (2021)
18
Ministry of Justice Family Court Statistics (2021)
19
Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office Forced Marriage Statistics (2020)
17

Page 56

In 2019/20, there were 1,810 offences involving so called ‘honour-based’ violence recorded by the
police in England and Wales. Most commonly these offences included assault with or without injury,
threats to kill and kidnapping.
The Lewisham picture
There are challenges in capturing an accurate picture of the levels of VAWG in Lewisham due to
under-reporting by victims, inconsistencies in approach to data collection across services, the hidden
nature of this type of abuse and the associated stigma.
In 2019-20, Lewisham recorded the second highest levels of domestic abuse related crime in
London, and this appears to be increasing. During the 12 months between June 2019 and May 2020,
there were over 9,500 incidents and offences of domestic abuse reported to the Police in Lewisham.
Data from the National Domestic Abuse Helpline shows that in 2020-21, there were 1730 calls from
Lewisham residents, 79% of which were from residents currently experiencing abuse. This was the
second highest number of calls across all London boroughs.
Lewisham Council commission the Athena service to provide confidential, non-judgmental support
to those living in Lewisham who are experiencing any form of gender-based violence. The Athena
service, run by Refuge, provides outreach programmes, independent advocacy, group support, a
specialist service for young women, and refuge accommodation.
In 2019/20, the Athena service received 1,448 referrals for Lewisham residents experiencing
domestic abuse or other forms of VAWG. Of these, 702 engaged with and received support from the
service, 583 going on to receive long-term support. 85% of these clients were experiencing violence
from an intimate partner, 8% were experiencing abuse from a family member and 7% were victims
of harmful cultural practices. 97% of these were female victims, and 1% were male. The most
common forms of abuse seen were psychological abuse or coercive control (experienced by 75% of
clients), (experienced by 60% of clients), financial abuse (experienced by 39% of victims), sexual
violence (experienced by 26% of victims) and stalking by an intimate partner (experienced by 15% of
victims). The majority of victims supported were aged between 31-40 years old (38%) followed by
those aged 21-30 (25%) and 41-50 (19%).
The Domestic Abuse Act
The Domestic Abuse Act received Royal Assent in April 2021. This Act will for the first time create a
cross-Government statutory definition of domestic abuse, to ensure that domestic abuse is properly
understood, considered unacceptable, and actively challenged, across statutory agencies and in
public attitudes.
In Lewisham we welcome the measures bought in by the Act, many of which align with the work that
has already been underway locally for a number of years. However the Act further increases the
need for co-operation across public services, particularly when it comes to meeting the new duties
placed on the local authority. Responding to the implications of the Domestic Abuse Act is a key part
of this strategy, and will be a priority for the first year of the Strategic Action Plan.

Page 57

6. Engagement with survivors of abuse
In writing this strategy we undertook in-depth interviews with survivors of domestic abuse in
Lewisham. The page below sets out the common themes that arose through this process. We have
used this process to inform the values and priorities of this strategy.

Theme 1: Lack of understanding of coercive control and emotional abuse - how this
exhibits and its impact
All of the survivors felt that overall there was a lack of understanding of the dynamics of coercive
control and psychological abuse, and the impact that this had on them and their families. Though
there were a few good examples of individual professionals identifying and responding to this form
of abuse, coercive control was not given the precedence that physical abuse was, and this caused
issues in all areas of the survivors’ experience, including; them recognising themselves as being
abused, professionals ability to identify this as abuse, and systems and services being set up to
recognise and respond to this form of abuse appropriately.
“Perpetrators never need to punch you… It’s too convenient for everyone to say that it might not
be real, or that it is less serious, if there aren't broken bones”

Theme 2: Lack of understanding in the community about what abuse looks like, and
how to get support
Many of the survivors spoke of not recognising themselves as being victims of abuse, particularly
where this abuse didn’t involve physical violence. When they had reached a point where they were
ready to seek help, it was clear that none of them had a good awareness of the support that exists
for people in their situation. Most survivors commented that better understanding of abuse and
awareness of support, may have helped them to leave their abusive relationships at an earlier stage.
“If there was more information about what abuse really looks like in a relationship, maybe I would
have identified it quicker”
“Because you don't know what support is available you don't know how to ask for it”

Theme 3: A gap in support with recovery from abuse
It was clear from speaking to survivors that recovery from abuse is a long and difficult journey, both
emotionally and practically. Following the initial crisis response, where agencies like the Police, crisis
intervention and social services were involved, the survivors had found very little support available
for them, and some felt that this left them vulnerable when they inevitably experienced setbacks.
They spoke of the need for support to recover from trauma from peers and professionals, and also
practical support to rebuild their lives.
“You need support afterwards, not just in the immediate aftermath of the relationship
breakdown… anything can happen and trigger and then you're in pieces again”

Page 58

“Things got so much worse after left relationship. I kept thinking 'what have I done?’ and ‘why
didn’t I just stay with him?’”

Theme 4: The importance of professional curiosity
On all occasions the survivors found the initial disclosure of the abuse very difficult, because of the
lack of trust, shame, and fear that had been engrained in them by the perpetrators or by previous
negative experience of disclosure. So when a professional identified that something was not right, or
recognised the abuse in the smallest way, this was a huge step forwards for them. In some cases this
was a turning point that led to them disclosing, or even just recognising, the abuse for the first time.
There were some really good examples of this happening, particularly by the Police and in schools,
but also examples of where opportunities for identifying and responding to abuse were missed.
“They looked at the house and looked at me and knew something wasn’t right”
“They opened my eyes to the abuse”

Theme 5: The impact of the relationship with professionals
The attitude of professionals, either positive or negative, was very impactful on the survivors, and
this impact was heightened by the shame, distrust and fear that had been engrained in them
throughout their abuse. Survivors placed most value on empathy, compassion and respect, and it
was clear that these behaviours were valued even when the professional was unable to intervene
any further. The survivors also really valued having a consistent professional working with them that
they could trust, and that reduced the number of times they had to repeat their story, which was
clearly a very traumatic experience for them.
“I always had a fear of being judged by professionals, which made me reluctant to talk”
“She made me feel like a human rather than a tick box”

Page 59

7. Engagement with stakeholders
To help us to develop this strategy we held seven co-production workshops with professionals across
organisations in Lewisham. Each workshop looked in-depth at a different aspect of the response to
VAWG in Lewisham, namely housing, children’s social care, adult social care, education, criminal
justice, health and voluntary and community sector.
The purpose of the workshops was to review the current response to VAWG; to understand what is
working well and where there is a need for improvement, and start to generate a set of solutions to
form the Strategic Action Plan. We also tested the PREVENT-PROTECT-RECOVER-PURSUEPARTNERSHIP strategic framework as a way of describing our collective response to VAWG.
83 different professionals attended across the seven workshops. Professionals in attendance
represented the wide partnership of services responding to VAWG in Lewisham, including the Met
Police, community safety, adult and children’s social care, health services, schools and colleges, and
voluntary and community sector providers. A full list is included in Appendix 1.
There were a number of areas for improvement that emerged through these workshops, which are
highlighted below.

PREVENT

1. A need to build the skills, capacity and understanding of practitioners
through training.

PROTECT

There was concern and lack of confidence from professionals about how to
recognise and respond to abuse, and the risk and responsibility that comes with
supporting residents affected by VAWG.

PARTNER
SHIP

PREVENT

PROTECT
PARTNER
SHIP

PROTECT

PURSUE

Professionals called for a multi-level training programme across Lewisham agencies
to build a shared understanding of what we perceive as VAWG and our local
response to this. This should include basic-level training that is standardised and
delivers our key messages, plus a range of bespoke training programmes that are
tailored to the role of each agency or professional.

2. A need to raise awareness at a community level
There was a feeling that there is still a lack of awareness and understanding of
VAWG within the community, which then impacts on the ability and willingness of
residents to identify and report incidents.
Professionals felt that public awareness raising should focus on understanding of
coercive control, and that community education should be embedded from an early
age. Any public campaigns should use everyday language that is relatable, and be
culturally aware.

3. A need for support to enable multi-agency working
There were a number of ideas put forward about how we establish the structures
and support to facilitate multi-agency working in response to VAWG. Professionals
felt that this was particularly needed at an earlier stage where abuse is first

Page 60

identified, so that there is a timely response for victims, particularly where there is
no further action from statutory services.

PURSUE

4. A need to strengthen our response to perpetrators of abuse
It was clear that there is a lack of confidence amongst professionals in working with
perpetrators of abuse. There was agreement that greater accountability and
responsibility for change should be held by perpetrators, rather than victims and
survivors.
Professionals called for specialist training and support around working with
perpetrators as service users. Professionals called for a suite of options for
perpetrators, which includes the approach and intervention from support staff,
programmes that they can be referred to, and the criminal justice response from the
police. Police colleagues emphasised their ambition to increase the use of
enforcement and other powers to hold perpetrators to account and limit their space
for action.

RECOVER

5. A recognition of the long-term impact of abuse
Professionals were unsure of the support available for survivors of abuse following
the initial crisis response. There was agreement that agencies should aim to provide
step-down support through advice, guidance and signposting, and that there is a
need for more capacity in existing therapeutic and recovery interventions.

Page 61

8. Our values
Through our engagement with service users and stakeholders, it was clear that how we work
responding to domestic abuse and VAWG is of critical importance, and that there are key
behaviours, values and attitudes that we need to adopt as a partnership, in order to deliver an
effective response.
From this we have developed a set of values and guiding principles that set out how we will work
over the next five years:

COMPASSION

CURIOSITY

We will value, respect and be
compassionate with every
professional, adult, child and
family. We will seek to intervene
and support individuals and
families no matter their
behaviours, and be traumainformed in our approach.

We will listen to survivors and
their families with genuine
curiosity to enable trust to be
built. We will have the curiosity
to understand the problem, and
the courage and integrity to do
all we can to achieve the best
solution.

FLEXIBILITY

SAFETY

We will work in a way that is
informative, reflective, and
adaptive to the needs of
children, adults, whole families
and whole communities.

We will be innovative in our
approach and interventions, but
keep the wellbeing and safety of
victims, survivors and children as
our priority.

Page 62

9. Strategic Action Plan
Under each of the five priority areas, there are a number of outcomes that we are seeking to achieve
though this strategy. The Strategic Action Plan below sets out these outcomes, and the actions that
we will take to achieve these over the next five years.

Priority 1: PREVENT
Preventing violence and abuse through early intervention and education

Outcomes

Actions

Lewisham residents know where to go to get help if
they are experiencing violence and abuse, at the earliest
opportunity

1.1 Deliver a programme of public-facing campaigns
and culturally-relevant communications, which raise
awareness of abuse in all its forms and educate on
how to get support from local and national services.
Ensure this is driven by data to focus on specific
locations and populations. This should prioritise
posters in public spaces and online content, as
survivors told us this is the most effective way of
sharing such information.

Family, friends and the wider community are able to
recognise abuse in all its forms, and know how to
support victims

There is a widespread awareness and understanding of
coercive control and its impact on survivors and
children, amongst people living and working in
Lewisham

1.2 Deliver a specific campaign focused on coercive
control, designed in partnership with survivors, that
highlights our zero-tolerance approach to this form
of abuse

Children and young people in Lewisham are educated
around safe and healthy relationships and understand
that violence and abuse is not normalised behaviour

1.3 Develop a toolkit for primary and secondary schools
to strengthen their delivery of healthy relationships
education as part of the RSE curriculum, including
to give them the confidence and skills to discuss
issues of VAWG and domestic abuse.

Practitioners working in services across Lewisham are
able to identify the signs of abuse, and have the
confidence and skills to respond safely. This includes
recognising abuse in colleagues as well as service users

1.4 Design and deliver a package of VAWG awareness
training with bespoke programmes tailored to
individual services, enabling professionals to spot
the signs of abuse and respond safely, regardless of
their working environment.
1.5 Ensure that a consistent approach to VAWG training
is introduced and rolled out across the entire
council, including via induction processes. This
should be corporately funded and supported so as
to ensure it reaches all the services that need this.
1.6 Work in partnership with community organisations
and representatives to design training that

Page 63

All training around VAWG recognises cultural
differences and the implications this has for identifying
and responding to abuse

recognises cultural differences in how VAWG
presents and how professionals should respond
1.7 Continue to work with local and national
organisations to deliver training on culturally
harmful practice, including Female Genital
Mutilation, Honor-Based Violence and Forced
Marriage

We have a deeper understanding of the prevalence and
impact of situational couple violence and parental
conflict in Lewisham, and how best to respond to this

1.8 Explore the evidence base and solutions to
situational couple violence, focusing on parental
conflict at key life stages. Consider delivery of
programmes of couple and relationship education
at key life stages, such as pregnancy and early
parenthood.

Priority 2: PROTECT
Providing support that keeps individuals and their families safe from harm

Outcomes

Actions

Victims have access to integrated VAWG services that
fully meet their needs, and provide support to all
victims of VAWG and their families, regardless of their
gender, sexual orientation, race, religion and care and
support needs.

2.1

Continue to commission a community-based
specialist VAWG service. Support will be provided
across all strands of VAWG, to all victims regardless
of their gender and whether or not they have
children

2.2

Continue to commission refuge provision for
victims of VAWG and their families

2.3

Undertake monitoring to ensure all commissioned
services are meeting needs of residents from
diverse groups, and delivering an impactful and
high quality service

2.4

Work in partnership across health and community
services to ensure that survivors facing additional
barriers to accessing help, such as those identifying
as LGBTQ+, are able to get the support they need

2.4

Continue to co-ordinate and deliver a gold standard
Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference process

Agencies work together to protect those at highest risk
and prevent repeat incidents

Page 64

2.5

Evaluate the impact of the PREVENT-PROTECTREPAIR programme on Children's Social Care
capacity and outcomes, and consider longer-term
implementation

2.6

Enact the changes within the Domestic Abuse Act,
ensuring that eligible homeless victims of domestic
abuse automatically have priority need for
homelessness assistance, and are provided with
support when living in safe accommodation.

2.7

Work with the Children’s and Adult MASH, to
establish a process for multi-agency reviews of
cases that do not reach MARAC thresholds

2.8

Ensure that domestic abuse is a priority area of
focus for the new Family Thrive Targeted Family
Support Team, including identifying Domestic
Abuse Champions within each neighbourhood unit
and training staff to directly deliver support

Professionals working in agencies across Lewisham
have a shared understanding of thresholds, provision
and processes in relation to VAWG

2.8

Create and regularly update a handbook for
professionals which sets out service offers,
including eligibility and exclusion criteria,
limitations and other points to consider when
making onwards referrals

Services are accessible and welcoming to victims and
respond in a timely manner to reports of VAWG

2.10 Ensure implementation of Domestic Abuse Housing
Alliance (DAHA) Accreditation within Lewisham
Housing and Lewisham Homes

Data and evaluation is used intelligently to identify
trends, needs and gaps across services, and inform
service commissioning and delivery

2.11 Use the multi-agency VAWG dashboard to measure
impact of the strategy on a quarterly basis

Intervene early in cases of violence and abuse to
prevent escalation

2.12 Fully evaluate the impact of existing services and
programmes, to inform future commissioning
Agencies across Lewisham use routine screening and
enquiry for VAWG, and provide an appropriate and safe
response following disclosure, ensuring opportunities
for victims and survivors to easily access safe help in
their day to day lives

2.13 Develop an auditing framework, in partnership
with service users, to assess the use of routine
enquiry into VAWG and effectiveness of response
to disclosures, and support agencies across
Lewisham to deliver this annually

Page 65

2.14 Create a template for a school VAWG policy, which
details how they will respond to children, parents
and staff affected by VAWG, and ensure every
school in Lewisham implements this

Priority 3: RECOVER
Providing longer-term support to enable recovery following abuse

Outcomes

Actions

Professionals in Lewisham recognise the long-term harm
caused by VAWG and understand the lasting impacts
experienced by individuals beyond the incident of
abuse. Trauma-informed approaches are embedded
across agencies in Lewisham working with individuals
and families affected by abuse.

3.1 Deliver and evaluate the impact of traumainformed training to professionals across the
partnership as part of the PREVENT-PROTECTREPAIR programme

Survivors have access to evidence-based programmes to
support recovery following abuse, including for children
who witness or are victims of VAWG. This includes
survivors with multiple vulnerabilities having access to
the right therapeutic and recovery support, to help
address the vulnerabilities that lead to re-victimisation.

3.3 Maintain provision of evidence-based recovery
programmes for children and their families

3.2 Identify lead staff within each partner agency that
will facilitate support forums for professionals,
providing a space for peer supervision and
reflection, and enabling them to embed learning
within their practice

3.4 Ensure that enquiry into previous experience of
abuse is included in assessments determining
access to psychological interventions
3.5 Ensure that staff working in services for vulnerable
adults (such as substance misuse and homelessness
services) have the skills and understanding to
support survivors of VAWG.
3.6 Evaluate the effectiveness of existing short-term
initiatives focused on children, including the
Children Affected by Domestic Abuse and PREVENTPROTECT-REPAIR programmes.

Services supporting victims and their families in a crisis
provide step-down support ahead of case closure to
create stability and provide additional safeguarding.

3.7 Develop a practical tool to be used by agencies
when ending their involvement with survivors of
abuse, to enable access to follow-up support and
safeguarding

Page 66

Survivors recovering from abuse are provided with
opportunities to build strong peer networks

3.8 Work with the specialist VAWG service to facilitate
the development of survivor peer support networks

Priority 4: PURSUE
Holding perpetrators to account whilst providing opportunity for change and support

Outcomes

Actions

Perpetrators of VAWG, not victims, are held
accountable for their actions and responsible for
making changes, by all Lewisham agencies, using
whatever measures are available

4.1

Where appropriate and safe to do so, continue the
use of tenancy enforcement tools, such as
injunctions, breaches and orders, to remove the
perpetrator from the victim's home, and create
safety using the Sanctuary Scheme

4.2

Where appropriate and safe to do so, ensure
perpetrators of intimate partner violence who are
parents, are considered within child safeguarding
processes and decision-making

4.3

Review and increase the use of protection orders,
including Domestic Violence Protection Orders,
FGM Protection Orders and Forced Marriage
Protection Orders, as an effective tool for limiting a
perpetrators space for action

4.4

Continue to monitor Operation Dauntless

4.5

Use intelligence to cross reference domestic abuse
offences with other violent offences, to increase
prosecution of VAWG perpetrators

4.6

Establish an advisory hub for staff to discuss their
cases with specialist practitioners to provide them
with the skills and confidence to work with
perpetrators

4.7

Develop a toolkit for non-specialist staff focusing
on engaging and working with fathers and
partners, including in substance misuse and
homelessness services

4.8

Work in partnership with CRC and Probation to
support their work with perpetrators of abuse,
based on the principles of rehabilitation

Professionals in Lewisham have the confidence and
skills to safely respond to perpetrators of abuse that
come into contact with their services

Perpetrators are offered help to address their
behaviour at the earliest opportunity, to prevent
ongoing violence

Page 67

4.9

Victims and partner agencies have confidence in the
criminal justice system in responding to VAWG

Seek external funding to commission holistic
support programmes for perpetrators of abuse in
Lewisham

4.10 Develop a practical tool to be used by agencies
when ending their involvement, to enable access to
following up support and safeguarding, including
by the Police where there is no further criminal
justice action

Priority 5: PARTNERSHIP
Working in partnership across agencies and with the community, to ensure our response to abuse
is integrated, innovative and inclusive

Outcomes

Actions

Multi-agency professionals work together with
openness and compassion, sharing accountability for
protecting victims of abuse and their families, whilst
recognising service limitations

5.1 Review governance and communication across the
VAWG partnership, establishing focused multiagency task and finish groups to make
improvements in areas where this is most needed

There are regular opportunities for professionals to
share good practice, encourage innovation and learning,
and reflect on their experiences of supporting victims
and perpetrators

5.2 Review membership of the VAWG Forum, and
ensure this is a space for professionals to share best
practice tools and techniques and reflect on the
experience of supporting victims and perpetrators
Seek opportunities to work in partnership with
neighbouring boroughs to share learning and
deliver services.

Non-specialist staff are able to access advice and
expertise from specialist professionals as needed, to
support their own capacity to respond to VAWG

5.3 Evaluate the impact of the Domestic Abuse
Advisory Hub pilot within Children’s Social Care,
and aim for long-term delivery

The voice and experience of victims, survivors and their
families will inform our commissioning and service
delivery

5.4

Establish a Survivor Advisory Group responsible for
providing scrutiny of the strategy, feedback on
services, and co-production of campaigns, training
and tools

5.5

Routinely collect feedback from service users on
programmes and service delivery, and act on any
concerns in a timely manner

5.6

Ensure that we use tools and processes to capture
the voice of children and young people affected by
VAWG when evaluating services and programmes.

Page 68

There is a commitment to reducing VAWG from senior
leadership across the partnership of services in
Lewisham

It is recognised that many professionals working in
Lewisham will be personally affected by VAWG, and
appropriate support is provided

5.6

Ensure that the multi-agency Domestic Abuse and
VAWG Strategic Board continues to have good
representation from across agencies, and meets the
requirements of the Domestic Abuse Act.

5.7

Ensure that recommendations from Domestic
Homicide Reviews (DHR), Child Safeguarding
Practice Reviews (CSPR) and Safeguarding Adults
Reviews (SAR), are routinely considered by senior
leaders as part of the Domestic Abuse and VAWG
Strategic Board, so they can be used as an evidence
base to inform service delivery

5.8

Ensure that Lewisham Council and other key
partner agencies have a Domestic Abuse Policy for
staff that outlines how managers will raise
concerns, respond to disclosures and provide
onwards support

10. Measuring success
We are committed to improving the way we measure and analyse data on all forms of VAWG in the
borough. One of our initial aims is to bring together and analyse data from multiple sources to
establish a richer understanding of patterns and profiles of abuse in Lewisham, helping us to target
resources where they will be most impactful.
The Key Performance Indicators in Appendix 2 will form a new VAWG Partnership Dashboard. This
will be monitored regularly throughout the life of the strategy, and used to assess the impact of the
Strategic Action Plan on improving our response to domestic abuse and VAWG in Lewisham. This will
overlay data from a wide range of sources across the partnership, including incorporating data from
relevant regional and national provisions.
The Key Performance Indicators under Priority 1: ‘Prevent’, are separated into years 1-3 and 4-5. As
the core aim of this strategy is to increase awareness and understanding of domestic abuse and
VAWG, we expect reporting, referrals and access to services for related issues to increase over years
1-3. We then expect to see these numbers decrease in years 4-5 as the prevalence of domestic
abuse and VAWG decreases, in response to the actions put in place through this strategy.

Page 69

11. Governance
The Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic Board will be responsible for monitoring our progress
against the Strategic Action Plan. As well as this, the aim of the Board is to continue to secure highlevel commitment to the strategy across multiple agencies, and ensure that domestic abuse and
VAWG is included in wider policy and strategy developments across Lewisham.
Underneath this, we will form a small number of task and finish groups to drive forward change in
specific areas of the strategy. These will be short-term and focused groups of multi-agency
professionals, formed to address a particular issue, need or challenge as it arises. The focus and
membership of these groups will be decided by the Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic Board.
We will establish a Service User Advisory Group that will be responsible for providing scrutiny of the
strategy, feedback on services, and co-production of campaigns, training and tools.
We will continue to deliver the successful VAWG Forum. This is an opportunity for professionals
across Lewisham agencies to share best practice and reflect on the experience of supporting victims,
survivors and perpetrators.
The Domestic Abuse and VAWG Strategic Board will be accountable to the Safer Lewisham
Partnership. It will also report to the Lewisham Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and Adults
Board.

Lewisham
Safeguarding
Children’s
Partnership

Safer Lewisham Partnership

Lewisham
Safeguarding
Adults Board

Domestic Abuse and VAWG
Strategic Board

Service User
Advisory
Group

Issue-led
task and
finish groups

Page 70

VAWG
Forum

12. Appendices
Appendix 1: List of stakeholders
Thank you to the following organisations and services that took part in the coproduction workshops
to develop this strategy.
Athena Gender-Based Violence Service, Refuge
Lewisham Housing Services
Lewisham No Recourse to Public Funds Team
Lewisham Homes
L&Q Housing
Phoenix Housing
Lewisham Primary Care Recovery Service, Humankind
Citizens Advice Lewisham
St. Mungos Supported Housing
Age UK Lewisham
Iranian and Kurdish Women’s Rights Organisation
Lewisham Local
Voluntary Services Lewisham
Africa Advocacy Foundation
Lewisham Refugee and Migrants Network
Latin American Women’s Rights Service
Change Grow Live
Lewisham MASH
Met Police
National Probation Service
Solace Women’s Aid
Lewisham Family Support and Safeguarding Service
Lewisham Referral and Assessment Service
Future Men
Family Nurse Partnership, Lewisham and Greenwich Trust
The Positive Parenting Company
Corporate Safeguarding, Lewisham and Greenwich Trust
Health Visiting Service, Lewisham and Greenwich Trust
Maternity Service, Lewisham and Greenwich Trust
South East London Clinical Commissioning Group
Amersham Vale GP Practice
South London and Maudsley NHS Trust
Watergate School
Kennington Park School
Elfrida School
Lewisham College
Addey and Stanhope School
Lewisham Safeguarding Children Partnership
Kender School
Lewisham Adult Social Care
Lewisham Adult Safeguarding Board

Page 71

Appendix 2: VAWG Partnership Dashboard
Priority 1: PREVENT
1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5

1.6
1.7
1.8

Short-term indicators (years 1-3)
Increase in number of self-referrals or referrals from family and friends to
the integrated VAWG service
Increase in number of domestic abuse incidents reported to the Police
Increase in number of referrals to MARAC
Increase in number of MARAC referrals where coercive control or
psychological abuse is identified
Increase in number of domestic abuse incidents reported to the Police
where coercive control is identified
Increase in number of referrals to Athena where coercive control or
psychological abuse is the primary concern
Increase in the number of primary and secondary schools delivering
healthy relationships education
Increase in number of referrals to integrated VAWG service from
professionals
Increase in number of professionals attending training culturally harmful
practices

Long term indicators (years 4-5)
Due a lower prevalence of VAWG
in Lewisham:
Reduction in number of incidents
of domestic abuse crime
responded to by the Police
Reduction in the number of
MARAC referrals reaching 'high
risk' threshold
Reduction in the number of
homeless victims of abuse
presenting to Lewisham Housing
Options
Reduction in the number of
Strategy Discussions and Child and
Family Assessments completed
where domestic abuse is a concern
Reduction in the number of Adult
Safeguarding Concerns being
submitted to, and Section 42
Enquiries being concluded by the
Local Authority, where domestic
abuse is the source of the Concern

Priority 2: PROTECT
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5

2.6
2.7
2.8

Increase in the percentage of VAWG service users reporting an end to all
types of abuse and controlling behaviours
Increase in positive safety, health, economic and social outcomes after
accessing community VAWG or refuge services.
Increase in the percentage of referrals to the integrated VAWG service
for victims of familial abuse
Increase in the percentage of VAWG service users reporting they feel
safer, less frightened, have improved quality of life and ability access help
Increase in the percentage of referrals to the integrated VAWG service
for victims that are male, LGBTQ+, from a BAME background, are aged
60+, and/or have a long term health condition (including substance
misuse), and/or a physical, mental, sensory, learning or cognitive illness
or disability.
Increase in number of MARAC referrals where familial abuse is identified
Decrease in number of repeat cases discussed at MARAC
Decrease in number of repeat victims (Police data)

Page 72

2.9

2.10
2.11
2.12
2.13
2.14
2.15
2.16
2.17
2.18
2.19
2.20
2.21
2.22
2.23
2.24

Increase in percentage of referrals to MARAC for victims that are male,
LGBTQ+, from a BAME background, are aged 60+, and/or have a long
term health condition (including substance misuse), and/or a physical,
mental, sensory, learning or cognitive illness or disability.
Decrease in the number of CIN and CP reviews where domestic abuse is a
concern
Decrease in the number of LAC reviews where domestic abuse is a
concern
Increase in the number of children referred for domestic abuse support
following presentation at A&E
Decrease in the number of presentations at A&E with injuries related to
domestic abuse
Number of households prevented or relieved where the reason for
homelessness was fleeing domestic abuse
Number of households accepted as emergency housing move on cases by
EHP where domestic abuse is the reason for their referral
Number of victims of domestic that are fleeing a social tenancy to access
alternative social accommodation on the same basis
Increase in the number of notifications to schools as part of Operation
Encompass
Decrease in repeat presentations to Lewisham Housing for victims of
domestic abuse
Increase in the number of Strategy Discussions and Child and Family
Assessments completed where domestic abuse is a concern
Increase in the number of Adult Safeguarding Concerns being submitted
to the Local Authority where domestic abuse is the source of concern
Increase in the number of Section 42 Enquiries concluded by the Local
Authority where domestic abuse is the source of the concern
Decrease in repeat referrals to CSC and ASC of individuals where
domestic abuse is a concern
Increase in the number of families referred to and supported by the
Family Thrive Team, where domestic abuse is a concern
Increase in the number of agencies using routine screening and enquiry
into VAWG

Priority 3: RECOVER
3.1
3.2

Increase in number of survivors and children attending recovery
programmes for domestic abuse
Increase in number of survivors accessing peer support

Priority 4: PURSUE
4.1
4.2
4.3

Increase in use of Domestic Violence Protection Orders, FGM Protection
Orders and Forced Marriage Protection Orders
Decrease in number of repeat offences of domestic abuse, including
decrease in offences by Persistent Prolific Offenders
Increase in the percentage of domestic abuse incidents where the
perpetrator is charged

Page 73

4.4
4.5

Increase in the number of perpetrators discussed as part of an 'advisory
hub'
Decrease in percentage of domestic abuse allegations withdrawn

Page 74

Lewisham Domestic Abuse and Violence against Women and Girls
Strategy 2021-26
Summary
Our five priorities for tackling domestic abuse and
violence against women and girls (VAWG) are:

PREVENT

PROTECT

Preventing violence and
abuse through early
intervention and education

Providing support that keeps
individuals and their families
safe from harm

RECOVER
Providing longer-term
support to enable recovery
following abuse

Survivors of abuse in
Lewisham told us that:


PURSUE



Holding perpetrators to
account whilst providing
opportunity for change and
support




PARTNERSHIP
Working in partnership across agencies and with the community,
to ensure our response to abuse is integrated, innovative and
inclusive



There isn’t enough understanding of coercive
control amongst professional and in the
community, including what this looks like and the
huge impact it can have
There is a lack of awareness in the community
about how to get support for victims
There is not enough support to help survivors
and children to recover from abuse
It is really important for professionals to have the
courage to ask difficult questions and genuinely
understand the problem
Empathy, compassion and respect are valuable
qualities for professionals to hold when working
with victims and their families

Our action plan for the next five years is:
Priority 1: PREVENT

Priority 2: PROTECT

We will:

We will:

 Deliver public campaigns which raise awareness of abuse and how to get
support
 Produce a specific campaign focused on coercive control highlighting our
zero-tolerance approach
 Develop a toolkit for primary and secondary schools to strengthen their
delivery of healthy relationships education
 Deliver training to staff working in Lewisham on spotting the signs of
abuse and responding safely
 Work with community organisations to deliver training that recognises
cultural difference in identifying and responding to VAWG

 Continue to commission a community-based specialist VAWG service, including refuge
provision for victims feeling abuse
 Continue to deliver gold-standard Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences for high-risk
victims
 Enact the changes within the Domestic Abuse Bill
 Ensure that domestic abuse is a priority for our new Early Help Service – Family Thrive
 Ensure implementation of Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance Accreditation within
Lewisham Housing
 Ensure services across Lewisham use routine screening for domestic abuse, and develop a
process for auditing this, in partnership with survivors

Priority 3: RECOVER

Priority 4: PURSUE

We will:

We will:

 Ensure all services respond in a trauma-informed way when supporting
victims of abuse, to prevent repeat victimisation
 Maintain provision of evidence-based recovery programmes for victims
and their children
 Create forums for professionals to enable peer supervision and reflection
 Develop a practical tool to be used by agencies when ending their
involvement with victims, to enable access to follow-up support
 Work with the specialist VAWG service to facilitate the development of
survivor peer support networks

 Continue the use of tenancy enforcement tools and Sanctuary Schemes, to create safety
for victims within their homes
 Increase the use of protection orders, including Domestic Violence Protection Orders,
FGM Protection Orders and Forced Marriage Protection Orders
 Establish an advisory hub for professionals to provide them the skills and confidence to
work with perpetrators
 Seek external funding to commission holistic support programmes for perpetrators of
abuse
 Develop a toolkit for non-specialist staff focusing on working with fathers and partners
that are perpetrators of abuse

Priority 5: PARTNERSHIP
We will:
 Establish a Survivor Advisory Group responsible for providing scrutiny of the strategy, feedback on services, and co-production of campaigns, training and tools
 Create a space for professionals to share best practice tools and techniques and reflect on the experience of supporting victims and perpetrators
 Evaluate the impact of the Domestic Abuse Advisory Hub pilot within Children’s Social Care, and aim for long-term delivery
 Use tools and processes to capture the voices of children and young people affected by domestic abuse, when evaluating services and programmes
 Ensure that Lewisham Council and other key partner agencies have a Domestic Abuse Policy for staff affected by domestic abuse

Page 75

Agenda
Item 5
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1
Part 2
Key Decision
X

X

X

Date of Meeting

6th October 2021

Title of Report

Private Sector Housing - Consultation for introducing
selective licensing scheme.

Originator of Report

Fenella Beckman

Ext. 48632

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

X
X
X
X
X
X

Signed:
Councillor Paul Bell
Date:
28.9.21
Signed : Fen Beckman
Fenella Beckman Director for Housing
Date: 28.9.21
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 76

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\1\8\ai00030819\$1dovj10k.doc

Date

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet
Private Sector Housing - Consultation for introducing selective
licensing scheme.
Date: 6 October 2021
Key decision: Yes.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Director of Law and Governance
Director of Financial Services

Outline and recommendations
The purpose of this report is to seek permission to consult the public on the
introduction of the selective licensing scheme. This report:


Summarises the data analysis completed which will form the evidence base
for the consultation;



Outlines the proposals for public consultation;



Provides the timetable for the delivery.

The Mayor and Cabinet are asked to agree on the following recommendations in
respect to the proposed consultation for a Selective Licensing scheme.
1.1.

agree that officers undertake a public consultation on the proposal for a Selective
Licensing scheme as per section 6 of this report;

1.2.

delegate authority to the Executive Director for Housing, Environment and
Regeneration to finalise the consultation documents;

1.3.

note that the consultation responses will be presented to the Mayor and Cabinet as
part of any proposals to progress with the Selective Licensing scheme.

Page 77

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
27 Feb 2019

Lewisham corporate strategy published with tackling the housing crisis
stated as a key priority with a commitment to implement a full boroughwide licence scheme to crack down on rogue landlords.

06 Mar 2019

Housing Select Committee expressed its strong support for the
submission to the Secretary of State for approval to implement such a
scheme

24 Apr 2019

The Mayor and Cabinet agreed that:


officers undertake a public consultation on the proposal for a new
additional licensing scheme and for a selective licensing scheme
(as split via the designations) which will require approval from the
Secretary of State, and



if the new additional licensing scheme and the selective licensing
schemes are agreed, the council will incur costs of up to
£400,000 to introduce the schemes, which will be wholly
recoverable from licencing fees

28 May 2019
–
21 Aug 2019

Public Consultation for revised additional licensing scheme and the new
selective licensing scheme

11 Mar 2020

Mayor and Cabinet agrees to introduce an Additional Licensing Scheme
and delegate authority to the Executive Director for Housing,
Environment and Regeneration to finalise the application for a Selective
Licensing scheme and submit to the Secretary of State.

17 Mar 2020

The decision was made to cancel all non-statutory Council and
committee meetings following the Covid-19 pandemic.

19 Mar 2020

Licensing Supplementary Committee meeting is cancelled due to Covid19 pandemic. This means the fees for the Licensing Schemes have not
been formally set.

15 May 2020

Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm
considered the decision to revise implementation timetable for the
Additional Licensing Scheme.

27 May 2020

Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm decision
on the revised implementation timetable for the Additional Licensing
Scheme comes into force.

11 Aug 2020

Licensing Supplementary Committee met to formally set fees for the
Additional and Selective licensing schemes.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 78
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

1.

Summary

1.1.

On 11 March 2020, Mayor and Cabinet considered a report, "Borough-wide Licensing:
Consultation responses and proposals to introduce new licensing schemes". The
report's recommendations included delegating authority to the Executive Director for
Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm to finalise the application for a Selective
Licensing scheme and submit it to the Secretary of State was approved.

1.2.

On 12 March 2020, Covid-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health
Organisation. On 23 March 2020, the Prime Minister placed the UK under lockdown
with fines handed out to anyone who leaves their home for anything other than to go to
work, to buy food and medicine or to exercise. This significantly impacted the council's
ability to progress the activities needed to launch the new Additional Licensing
schemes and to work on the application for the Selective Licensing scheme. as the
service’s priority and focus was on supporting our residents and businesses, ie,
tenants, managing agents and landlords, as well as our homeless, rough sleepers,
those vulnerable in shared accommodation to tackle the challenges of Covid-19. As a
result, activity on the Selective Licensing application was paused.

1.3.

The Government published emergency legislation to protect tenants during this time
and reinforced that where possible landlords should ensure that tenants continue to be
100% safe and secure in their homes. On Monday 19 July 2021, England moved to
Stage 4 of the Government's Roadmap which meant that most COVID-19 restrictions
were lifted. The eviction ban was lifted on 31 May 2021 and the notice periods will
return to pre-pandemic levels after 31 October 2021.

1.4.

This report notifies that Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public
Realm has confirmed that officers should restart all activities relating to applying to the
Secretary of State, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
(MHCLG), for approval of a Selective Licensing Scheme.

1.5.

The service consulted MHCLG on the validity of the data that was used during the
original consultation in the summer of 2019. MHCLG advised the service that to be
relevant the application data must include updates from 2019-2021, and must take into
account the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.

1.6.

As the evidence base for selective licensing has changed and will have an impact on
the designations, legal has advised the service will need to re-consult the public
regarding selective licensing using the new evidence base. The purpose of this report
is to seek permission to consult the public on the selective licensing scheme.

1.7.

To assist the Mayor and Cabinet in making their decision, this report:

2.



Summarises the data analysis completed which will form the evidence base for
the consultation;



Outlines the proposals for public consultation;



Provides the timetable for the delivery of this project.

Recommendations
The Mayor and Cabinet are asked to agree on the following recommendations in
respect to the revised Selective Licensing scheme.

2.1.

agree that officers undertake a public consultation on the proposal for a Selective
Licensing scheme as per section 6 of this report;

2.2.

delegate authority to the Executive Director for Housing, Environment and
Regeneration to finalise the consultation documents;

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 79
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

2.3.

agree that the submission of the Selective Licensing application to the MHCLG will be
paused pending the outcome of the consultation.

3.

Policy Context

3.1.

Lewisham Council Corporate Strategy: - The implementation of the Limited
Selective licencing schemes directly supports a number of our corporate strategies and
policies. A summary of how the selective licensing schemes support our key strategies
is set out below:-

3.1.1. The Corporate Strategy 2018-2022: Tackling the housing crisis so that everyone has a
decent home that is secure and affordable; Improved standards across all housing
sectors; Building safer communities so that every resident feels safe and secure living
here as we work together towards a borough free from crime
3.1.2. The Housing Strategies (both 2015-20 and draft 2020-26 currently out for public
consultation): Greater security and quality for private renters (current Housing
Strategy); Promoting health and wellbeing by improving our residents' homes (current
Housing Strategy); Improving the quality, standard and safety of housing (draft 2020-26
strategy);
3.1.3. Safer Lewisham Plan: reduction in harm and vulnerability is identified as a critical as
part of an overall prevention, intervention and enforcement approach.
3.1.4. MOPAC Police and Crime Plan 2017-21: The safer Lewisham Partnership has
committed to working to the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) Police and
Crime Plan. This advocates a multi-disciplinary and problem-solving approach between
the council and the police, using all the powers and resources at our disposal to tackle
and prevent antisocial behaviour (ASB).
3.2.

The Coronavirus Act 2020: - This Act received royal assent and became law in the
UK on 25th March 2020. The Act grants the Government emergency powers to
manage the Coronavirus Pandemic and provides the legal basis for the 'lockdown' of
citizens and businesses. The Act allows the government the discretionary power to
limit or suspend public gatherings, to detain individuals suspected to be infected by
Covid-19, and to intervene or relax regulations in a range of sectors to limit
transmission of the disease, ease the burden on public health services, and assist
healthcare workers and those financially affected.
Its scope ranges from the food supply chain to the management of the deceased, to
technical amendments needed to loosen up requirements and obligations around
issues such as authorisations, vetting, and homeschooling. There are various
measures to facilitate boosting staff numbers for healthcare and social services;
provisions in relation to workers' rights and entitlements; powers to enforce social
distancing, powers to facilitate remote operation of the court system, provisions in
relation to the emergency financial support measures, provisions in relation to local
authorities and in relation to business and residential tenancies. All of the provisions in
the Act are time-limited for two years and not all the provisions came into force
immediately. Measures can also be suspended and reactivated later. It will also be
possible to extend or end the provisions of the Act, depending on the scientific
evidence.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 80
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

4.

Background
Housing and The Private Rented Sector
England1

4.1.

The House of Commons report on the housing conditions in the private rented sector
states there have been significant changes in the extent and role of the private rented
sector (PRS). The sector has grown; 4.4 million households rented their home from a
private landlord in 2019/20, representing 19% of all households in England. A more
diverse range of households, including families with children, are now living in the
sector. For many, it is providing long-term rather than short-term accommodation.
Younger households are more likely to rent privately than older households; in 2017
those in the 25 to 34 years age group represented the largest group (35%).
The English Housing Survey (EHS) estimates that in 2019 23% of PRS homes did not
meet the Decent Home Standard – around 1.1 million homes. This compares with 18%
of owner-occupied homes and 12% of social-rented homes. PRS homes were more
likely to have at least one Category 1 hazard under the Housing Health and Safety
Rating System (HHSRS).

4.2.

The report summarises the legal frameworks governing housing standards. Statutory
provisions govern private landlords’ repairing and maintenance obligations in addition
to other specific requirements, for example, in relation to gas and electrical safety.
Enforcement of standards in private rented housing is primarily through the HHSRS, a
risk-assessment based regulatory model used by local authority environmental health
officers.
The Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) Act 2018 requires private sector landlords
in England to ensure their properties are fit for human habitation at the beginning of the
tenancy and throughout. The Act provides tenants with the means to take legal action
against their landlord.

4.3.

1

The report also highlights some of the issues identified with the legal framework
governing housing standards in the PRS:


Calls to reform the HHSRS which is criticised for being overly complex, difficult
for landlords and tenants to understand and out of date. A review of the HHSRS
is underway.



Inconsistent and low levels of enforcement of housing standards by local
authorities, which is thought to be a result of: insufficient local authority
resources; the complexity of the legislation; and a lack of political will to address
low standards in the sector.



The power imbalance between tenants and landlords, which puts tenants at risk
of retaliatory eviction or rent rises when they seek repairs and maintenance of
their homes. Tenants may fail to seek redress because of the cost, time and
complexities involved.



Some commentators have called for a fundamental reform of the PRS
regulatory framework. The complex and piecemeal nature of the framework is
said to be leaving landlords confused about what their obligations are and
tenants uncertain about who is responsible for resolving problems.

Housing conditions in the private rented sector (England), 2021

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 81
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

London Borough of Lewisham
4.4.

The Private Rented Sector (PRS) is an important part of Lewisham's housing market,
accounting for approximately 40,000 properties within the borough. It is estimated that
in 2021, 30% of households in Lewisham rent from a private landlord, with growth in
this tenure expected to continue.

4.5.

Looking ahead into the future, the private rented sector will be the sector in which our
residents build their lives and for many it will be from cradle to grave the only sector
that they will spend their lives, providing a home for them as young adults starting out,
providing a home for them to raise their families in and providing a home for them after
their families have grown up and left home. This shift in the type of households that are
living in the PRS within Lewisham borough has happened over the last decade and
now more households aged 25-34 now rent in the PRS (44%) rather than owning their
own home, up from 28% in 2007-08.

Current PRS Licensing in Lewisham
4.6.

The Council currently operates the following licensing schemes:

4.6.1. Mandatory scheme, operational since 2006, relating to all Houses of Multiple
Occupation (HMO) where five people across two or more households (families) live in
the same property and share facilities such as a kitchen or bathroom. This is a national
scheme. Since its introduction, the council's licensing and enforcement capabilities
have developed considerably, with significant issues being addressed through the
licensing process.
4.6.2. Additional licensing, operational since February 2017, relating to HMOs above
commercial premises where at least three people are living in two or more households,
or poorly converted privately rented self-contained flats. This Lewisham specific
scheme was implemented as data gathered during the implementation of the
mandatory scheme highlighted poor standards, conditions and hazards found in shared
accommodation and particularly within flats over commercial properties.
4.6.3. The Mayor and Cabinet have approved the implementation of a new borough-wide
additional licensing scheme that will replace the existing additional licensing scheme.
The new scheme had been paused due to the Covid-19 pandemic and will now be
launched in April 2022.
4.6.4. The Mayor and Cabinet have delegated authority to the Executive Director for Housing,
Regeneration and Public Realm to apply to the Secretary of State of MHCLG for a
borough-wide selective licensing scheme. The work on this application was paused
due to the Covid-19 pandemic. This report outline the plans to restart the work on the
applications.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 82
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5.

Rationale for re-consulting the selective licensing scheme

5.1.

The Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm has confirmed
that officers can restart all activities relating to applying to the Secretary of State,
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), for approval to
launch the Selective Licensing Scheme.

5.2.

As the original consultation was held in the summer of 2019, the service determined
that the housing stock data needed to be refreshed and re-assessed. As the evidence
base for selective licensing has changed and will have an impact on the designations,
the service determined that the public will need to be reconsulted with this new
evidence base.

5.3.

After discussions with MHCLG and the legal department at Lewisham, the service
determined that the application for Selective Licensing will be paused pending a public
consultation with the new evidence base.

6.

Proposed Selective Licensing Scheme
Summary of Evidence Base

6.1.

In the summer of 2021, the council conducted a housing conditions assessment for
purposes of consultation. A detailed report will be produced as part of the consultation.
A summary of the finding is provided in this report.

6.1.1. The survey used council data including council tax, housing benefits, tenancy deposits
registrations, notices, complaints and prosecutions. The results of the survey were
found to be consistent with police crime data as well as data from the indicies for
deprivation. The results of the survey were also consistent with boroughs within
London.
6.1.2. The survey shows that the size of the PRS sector in Lewisham has grown by 31%
since the original consultation in 2019.


It is estimated there are, excluding known HMOs, 39,674 PRS properties in the
borough. This accounts for 31% of the total dwellings in Lewisham.



The proportion of PRS properties as a percentage of dwellings in Lewisham is
consistently above 20% with Downham having the loweat proportion, an estimated
23.40% properties in the PRS after excluding known HMOs.

Figure 1Number of PRS properties per ward

Figure 2 PRS as % of dwellings per ward

6.1.3. The table shows a summary of the analysis conducted as part of the housing stock
survey (Summer 2021)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 83
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Dwellings

3056

37.90%

10688

4398

41.10%

717

16.3

267

100

483

85

222

Rushey Green

7271

2863

39.40%

736

25.7

261

81

513

95

242

983

2827

1





New Cross

8176

2905

35.50%

515

17.7

204

90

352

55

153

7232

1623

1





Catford South

5872

1744

29.70%

611

35

174

57

451

80

231

674

1280

1







Perry Vale

6849

1936

28.30%

462

23.9

121

18

354

66

200

770

1004

1







Evelyn

9273

2761

29.80%

390

14.1

167

94

283

33

85

1067

1228

2





Ladywell

5796

1761

30.40%

459

26.1

116

39

318

50

154

1644

882

2





Lee Green

6296

1868

29.70%

457

24.5

104

36

278

45

120

1175

873

2





Sydenham

7099

1851

26.10%

771

41.7

126

59

263

46

125

656

1218

2





Crofton Park

6356

2049

32.20%

493

24.1

178

51

322

49

127

2285

1105

2



Bellingham

6656

1717

25.80%

424

24.7

120

16

343

66

170

922

2082

3



Downham

6271

1492

23.80%

404

27.1

97

35

309

49

122

1613

1256

3



Forest Hill

6834

1899

27.80%

394

20.7

64

11

217

34

88

808

690

3



Grove Park

6368

1702

26.70%

407

23.9

88

14

292

43

114

3104

1156

3



Whitefoot

6009

1769

29.40%

482

27.2

120

25

315

45

116

1126

2168

3



Telegraph Hill

6816

1907

28.00%

419

22

141

42

224

32

90

7690

1005

Blackheath

6944

1996

28.70%

366

18.3

77

39

187

32

86

2203

489

128065

39674

30.98%

8995

22.7

2602

857

5948

972

2695

37726

24322

Page 84

Grand Total

PRS dwellings
with at least 1
Cat 1 (rates
per 100) 5

PRS
complaint
s recorded

16

177

50

444

67

250

1756

1150

1







2018

2286

1








2

Predicted numbers
Predicted numbers
Predicted numbers
5
Predicted numbers
6
Incidents related to repeat ASB PRS properties
3
4

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Dep

8059

Lewisham Central

PRS
notices
served

Indicators Met

PRS
dwellings
with at
least 1 Cat
1 hazard 4
488

Brockley

% PRS
(minus
known
HMOs) 3

Deprivation (Dep)
Indicator
Tenancy HB
Deposit
claims
Scheme
2016-21
Register

PPC

PRS2

High Repeat Antisocial Behaviour
(ASB) Indicator
Recorded
No. PRS
No.
ASB
with
repeat
incidents
repeat
ASB
(2016-21)
ASB
incidents6

ASB

Total
dwelling
s

Poor Property Conditions (PPC) Indicators

Designations

Ward

Designation Areas and Proposed Conditions
6.2.

Designation Area 1 covers the current wards of Rushey Green, Brockley, New Cross,
Catford South, Lewisham Central and Perry Vale. These wards show a significant and
persistent Antisocial Behaviour (ASB) linked to PRS properties. Our analysis also
shows a high prediction of properties in poor condition in these areas.

6.2.1. Significant and persistent ASB occurring within the curtilage of the property or its
immediate vicinity are to be considered as a reason for making a designation. This
includes intimidation or harassment, noise, rowdy and nuisance behaviour, animal and
vehicle-related nuisance, antisocial drinking, drug-taking or dealing, graffiti and fly
posting, and litter and waste. The housing stock assessment shows a clear link
between high and repeat ASB and the private rented sector properties.

Figure 3 ASB incidents linked to PRS per ward



The wards in the darker shades of orange showed a high number of recorded
incidents of ASB.



These wards also showed a very high rate of repeat ASB (> 40%) linked to the
same properties.

6.2.2. Poor housing conditions is a basis for a designation to tackle significant numbers of
properties in the private rented sector that are in poor condition, adversely affecting the
character of the area and/or the health and safety of occupants. The housing
conditions report assessed properties in the private rented sector that are likely to need
an inspection to determine whether any of those properties contain category 1 hazards.
This also takes into account properties where the council has received PRS
complaints.


The wards of Rushey Green, Brockley, New Cross, Catford South, Lewisham
Central and Perry Vale showed significant indicators of poor property conditions.



These areas showed a high number of predicted PRS properties with Cat1 hazards
wards or a significant number of PRS complaints.



These are also displayed a low proportion (less than 1 in 3) of complaints to
predicted cat 1 hazards or a high proportion of notices issued (more than 1 in 3) for
PRS complaints received. The former indicates residents are less likely to make
complaints in these areas. The latter indicates that landlords are less likely to act
on a complaint without notices being served.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 85
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Figure 4 PRS complaints recorded

Figure 5 PRS notices issued

6.2.3. We propose to enforce the standard set of conditions for properties under this
designation. In addition to the standard conditions, we propose the following mandatory
conditions for this designation:

6.3.



To empower landlords to take up reference before renting, issue an ASB policy as
part of the tenant information pack (a model policy is available to the landlord on
Lewisham website). The licence holder will be asked to demonstrate what
measures they have taken to address ASB in/around their property within 7 days of
request



To make failing to comply a breach of licence conditions for which they can be
either fined or prosecuted. Serious or repeated breaches of licencing conditions
could result in the licence being revoked. Multiple civil penalty notices (CPNs) or a
conviction will make the licence holder no longer fit and proper to hold a licence to
rent in England and Wales.



All repair work must be carried out within a reasonable timescale with due regard to
the severity of the issue.



The Licence holder must ensure that any repairs, improvement works or treatments
are carried out by a competent person(s). Copies of receipts and/or invoices for any
such works must be provided to the Authority within 28 days upon demand.

Designation Area 2 covers the current wards of Evelyn, Ladywell, Lee Green, Crofton
Park and Sydenham. The data shows that have reported poor housing conditions.

6.3.1. Poor housing conditions is a basis for a designation to tackle significant numbers of
properties in the private rented sector that are in poor condition, adversely affecting the
character of the area and/or the health and safety of occupants. The housing
conditions report assessed properties in the private rented sector that are likely to
need an inspection to determine whether any of those properties contain category 1
hazards. This also takes into account properties where the council has received PRS
complaints.


The wards of Evelyn, Ladywell, Lee Green, Sydenham and Crofton Park showed
significant indicators of poor property conditions.



These areas showed a high number of predicted PRS properties with Cat1 hazards
wards or a significant number of PRS complaints.



These are also displayed a low proportion (less than 1 in 3) of complaints to
predicted cat 1 hazards or a high proportion of notices issued (more than 1 in 3) for
PRS complaints received. The former indicates residents are less likely to make
complaints in these areas. The latter indicates that landlords are less likely to act

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 86
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

on a complaint without notices being served.

Figure 6 Predicted PRS with Cat 1 Hazards per ward

Figure 7 % of PRS with Cat 1 per ward

Figure 8 No of PRS complaints per ward

Figure 9 No of notices issued per ward

6.3.2. We propose to enforce the standard set of conditions for properties under this
designation. In addition to the standard conditions, we propose the following mandatory
conditions for this designation:

6.4.



All repair work must be carried out within a reasonable timescale with due
regard to the severity of the issue.



The Licence holder must ensure that any repairs, improvement works or
treatments are carried out by a competent person(s). Copies of receipts and/or
invoices for any such works must be provided to the Authority within 28 days
upon demand.

Designation Area 3 covers the current wards of Downham, Bellingham, Whitefoot,
Forest Hill and Grove Park. Our evidence has shown a marked increase in rented
properties in these areas. As one of the most deprived areas in England, pockets of
deprivation exist across Lewisham wards.


The assessment is in line with the Government’s Indices of Deprivation where
Lewisham is ranked 12th highest amongst London boroughs. Two-thirds of
wards are within the worst half of the country for property conditions; all wards
are within the worst half of the country for heating, including four wards in the
worst 20% of the country.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 87
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Figure 10 IMD Barriers to Housing by Ward

Figure 11 IMD Living Condition by Ward

Figure 12 Housing Benefit linked to PRS by Ward





6.5.

Of the current 18 wards, 14 have been assessed to have a high ratio of housing
benefits to PRS or a low ratio of tenancy deposits. The former suggests a high
number of PRS properties are rented by tenants on housing benefits. The latter
suggests that
o

the landlord has not followed the law and protected the deposit.

o

the property is not let on an Assured Shorthold Tenancy, so deposit
protection did not apply, eg regulated tenancies which began pre 15th
January 1989, excluded tenancies where the tenant shares facilities
with the landlord or their family and tied properties which are linked to
employment.

o

no deposit was taken that is returnable to the tenant, eg tenants housed
with a local authority incentive payment.

Of the 14 wards identified, 9 have been included in Designations 1 and 2. We
propose Designation 3 to include the remaining five wards - Downham,
Bellingham, Whitefoot, Forest Hill and Grove Park.

The wards of Telegraph Hill and Blackheath are not included in any of the designations
as these wards did not meet the bar set for inclusion. However, with the rapid growth of
PRS in Lewisham, the service will continue to monitor the ASB and property conditions
in these wards and if required, apply for selective licensing at the appropriate time.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 88
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Summary of Designations
Designation 1

Designation 2

Designation 3

ASB and Poor Housing
Conditions

Poor Housing Conditions

Deprivation

Rushey Green, Brockley, New
Cross, Catford South, Lewisham
Central and Perry Vale

Evelyn, Ladywell, Lee Green,
Crofton Park and Sydenham.

Downham, Bellingham, Whitefoot,
Forest Hill and Grove Park.

Figure 13 Map of designation areas

Scheme Objectives
6.6.

We want our citizens to live in homes that are safe and secure, on estates and streets
that are well maintained and presentable, and in thriving communities free from crime
and antisocial behaviour. The Council’s strategy sets a vision for providing our citizens
with the opportunity to live their best life, protecting the individual identities of our
neighbourhoods and making Lewisham a place our citizens love to live in. Better and
safer housing conditions are a key component of this vision and we propose the selective
licensing scheme will aim to:
 Ensure that all licensable properties in the borough conform to Lewisham’s
licensing standards.
 Reduce the number of repeat complaints on housing standards through a
combination of informal and formal actions
 Reduce the number of repeat ASB linked to licensed properties over the life of
the scheme.
 Ensure all vulnerable tenants including those in housing benefits or universal
credit are house in properties that are safe and well-managed.
Achieving the Objectives

6.7.

There will be clear licence conditions relating to the standard and management of
rented properties in the area. The council will use data and analytics to identify higherrisk properties or unlicensed properties. These will be prioritised for inspection by
officers for compliance with licencing conditions. The council will take enforcement
action, where necessary, to improve poor property conditions. Landlords who fail to
license their properties could be prosecuted or could receive a civil penalty for failure to
license.

6.8.

The council will work with Crime Enforcement and Regulation, Planning, Building
Control, Adult and Children’s/young people’s social services, Community Mental
Health, the Fire Brigade and others to identify properties that need improvement. It will
work with local community groups and ward councillors to identify tenants living in poor
conditions and properties that can be improved.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 89
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

6.9.

The council will work with landlords to address poor property conditions, anti-social
behaviour and factors that make deprivation worse, to help them to comply with the
licence conditions in Lewisham.

Fees for Selective Licensing
6.10.

It is proposed that the fee for a selective licence is £640 per property before applying
discounts. This fee has been set to make the scheme cost neutral, taking into account
the cost of inspections and compliance checks, and the discounts available to landlords.

6.11.

The cost of the fees is a valid business expense for tax purposes. VAT is not applied to
licence fees.

6.12.

The fees being proposed have been benchmarked with those charged by other London
boroughs that have Selective licensing schemes.

Local Authority

Selective Fee per property

Croydon
Southwark

£750
£900 (proposed)

Lewisham (proposed)

£640

Waltham Forest

£700

Newham

£750

6.13.

We set our licensing fees with reference to our actual costs in administering and
enforcing the schemes, in compliance with the Housing Act 2004. The primary purpose
of licensing properties is to ensure they are safe to occupy. Lewisham takes this duty
seriously, and the effort we intend to undertake is reflected in the level of the fee.

6.14.

We will inspect and fully assess every licensable property as part of the licensing
process. We will provide the proposed licence holder with a full schedule of works
necessary to tackle any category 1 hazards present and to bring the property up to
licensable standards. We will inspect every licensed property at least once during the
period of the five year licence, as well as attend all properties in the borough where
there are complaints of disrepair and/or dangerous housing conditions.

7.

Revised plan for selective licensing application
Public Consultation

7.1.

Statutory Consultation Period – we propose to run the consultation for eleven weeks
from the 20 October 2021 up to the 5 January 2022. This meets our requirement to run
the consultation for a minimum of ten weeks. We will analyse the consultation
submission and submit a response within two weeks of completion of the statutory
consultation period.

7.2.

For the consultation, we will aim to:
 Create an online webpage to capture feedback for each designation area so we
can break down responses by area.
 Print supporting copies of consultation and make available at libraries (where
open to the public).
 Press release to local newspapers, with follow up calls to key journalists to
encourage coverage
 Use social media posts across Facebook, Instagram, Next Door, Twitter, etc.,

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 90
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

across the life of eleven week consultation. Use targeted social media ads for
specific areas if local responses are low over the life of the consultation.
 Use resident e-newsletter to spread the message (readership 35,000): this may
be used more than once during the life of consultation. Use other e-newsletters,
council blogs to encourage residents, businesses to complete consultation.
 Use staff e-newsletter to engage with council staff who live in the borough.
Create specially adapted e-newsletters focused on and sent to key stakeholders
and groups. Use internal communications to inform councillors directly.
7.3.

Our target audience for this consultation will include:
Landlords

Local businesses

Private tenants

Community groups

Owner-occupiers

Volunteering organisations

Social housing tenants

Charities

People in temporary accommodation

Refugee groups

All other residents

Churches and other religious
centres

LBL staff
Local MPs and Council Members
Neighbouring boroughs

Family and parent groups
Youth clubs

Application to the Secretary of State
7.4.

The Mayor and Cabinet have delegated authority to the Executive Director for Housing,
Environment and Regeneration to finalise the application for a Selective Licensing
scheme and submit it to the Secretary of State (SoS), MHCLG. However, as the
designations have changed, post consultation the service will request the Mayor and
Cabinet’s approval to apply to the Secretary of State. As a result of the consultation,
the service may alter the designations and the fees suggested as part of the
application to the SoS MHCLG.

8.

Financial implications

8.1.

This report seeks Mayor & Cabinet agreement for officers to undertake a public
consultation on the proposal for the introduction of a selective licensing scheme as per
sections 6 & 7 of this report and delegate authority to the Executive Director for
Housing, Environment and Regeneration to finalise the consultation documents.

8.2.

It further notes that the application for permission to apply to the Secretary of State for
approval to introduce a selective licencing scheme will be paused until the results of
the consultation are known. As such there are no direct financial implications arising
from this report.

8.3.

It should be noted that the introduction of a selective licencing scheme, will incur
considerable cost and will require the introduction of a new fee charge to recover the
costs incurred, which will include start-up costs.

8.4.

Scheme Costs will include significant staffing and other operational costs. A
comprehensive financial model has been developed to assess the resourcing
implications of the new selective licencing scheme over the five-year licencing period.
This will be continually reviewed and updated as part of this exercise to confirm the
level of fee required for selective licencing, based on any revised operation of the
scheme. As outlined in section 6.10, current indications are that a fee in the region of

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 91
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

£640 per property would be sufficient to cover costs incurred.
8.5.

Whilst the financial modelling will be robust, it does rely on assumptions of the number
of licensable properties within the borough. There is a risk that the numbers could have
been over/under estimated resulting in additional costs or loss of income.

8.6.

Mitigation against this and other risks are that staffing levels can be flexed to bring the
scheme back into balance. In addition, quarterly reviews of the scheme, its
implementation and resourcing will be undertaken to ensure that operational and
financial performance is within the scope outlined in this report.

9.

Legal implications
HMO Licensing Schemes

9.1.

The Housing Act 2004 provides local authorities with the power to impose different
types of licensing schemes for houses in multiple occupation, (HMO). HMOs governed
by Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004, are generally defined as premises where more than
one household has living accommodation and at least two households share toilet,
bathroom or kitchen facilities. There is a statutory requirement for every HMO to be
licensed by a local authority. This is ‘mandatory’ licensing.

9.2.

Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004, gives local authorities power to introduce licensing
schemes for HMO's that are not covered by mandatory licensing schemes, and / or
which go beyond the national mandatory regime. For each type of different statutory
licensing scheme, the definition of an HMO is modified accordingly.

9.3.

Designations require either 'General Approval' (for 'additional' licensing schemes) or
the approval of the Secretary of State by confirmation (for 'Selective' licensing
schemes). The Housing Act 2004: Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation and
Selection of Other Residential Accommodation (England) General Approval 2015,
revoked the former 2010 General Approval provisions, such that 'General Approval' is
deemed to be granted for additional licensing schemes, subject only to confirmation by
the local authority that it has consulted persons, likely to be affected by them, (s.
56(3)(a) of the 2004 Act,) for not less than 10 weeks. Designations may last no longer
than 5 years from the date on which they come into force.
Selective Licensing Schemes

9.4.

Sections 79- 81 of Part 3 of the 2004 Act, provide local authorities with power to
introduce selective licensing schemes for other houses falling outside of Part 2.
The types of houses to be licensed under a selective licensing scheme are defined
within s. 79 (2) of the 2004 Act. Namely, it applies to a house "if (a) it is in an area that
is for the time being designated under section 80 [for selective licensing], and (b) the
whole of it is occupied either- (i) under a single tenancy or licence that is not an exempt
tenancy …., or (ii) under two or more tenancies or licences of different dwellings
contained in it, none of which is an exempt tenancy or licence…"
Further statutory considerations for a local authority apply under Part 3 of the Housing
Act 2004 for selective licensing schemes, pursuant to section 80 (2)(a) and (b). These
include conditions in relation to housing conditions, deprivation, migration and
conditions in relation to crime.

9.5.

Before making a decision to introduce selective licensing the local authority must:


consult with those who are likely to be affected, including those who live, work
or operate businesses in adjoining local authority areas where they will be
affected



consider whether there are other effective methods of achieving the intended
objective

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 92
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

9.6.

Approval by the Secretary of State is required for selective licensing schemes.
The Secretary of State will take into account when deciding whether to confirm a
Scheme, the robustness of the proposed measures to ensure compliance. In
particular, the Secretary of State will expect to be assured there are systems in place
to monitor compliance and enforcement measures will be in place where there is noncompliance.
Approval of the Secretary of State will be required for a selective Licensing scheme as
the proposed borough-wide scheme will:


cover more than 20% of the authority's area, and / or,



affect more than 20% of privately rented homes in the authority's area.

9.7.

Selective licensing may come into force no earlier than three months after the
designation has been approved (or it falls under the general approval).

9.8.

When fixing fees, the local housing authority may pursuant to s. 87 of the 2004
Housing Act (subject to any regulations made under subsection 5) take into account:

9.9.



all costs incurred by the authority in carrying out their functions under this Part,
and,



all costs incurred by them in carrying out their functions under Chapter 1 of Part
4 in relation to Part 3 houses (so far as they are not recoverable under or by
virtue of any provision of that Chapter)..

On 26th March 2020, the Coronavirus Act 2020 came into force. The Covid -19
(Coronavirus) and the enforcement of standards in rented properties, was published in
March 2020, expressly stated as being non-statutory guidance issued under s.9 of the
Housing Act 2004. ["Guidance".] This Guidance is intended to provide a recommended
approach for Local Authorities taking into account, the Covid -19 outbreack and current
public health guidance. A link to the Guidance is provided within para. 3.2 of this report.
Commitment to Equality

9.10.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

9.11.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:


eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act,



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not,



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

9.12.

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above.

9.13.

The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the
impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are
potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 93
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances.
9.14.

9.15.

9.16.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the
Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled "Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice". The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the
technical guidance can be found at:


Equality Act - Codes of Practice



Equality Act - Technical Guidance

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:


The essential guide to the public sector equality duty



Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making



Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities



Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities



Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required,
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources
are available at:


Public Sector Equality Duty Guidance

10.

Equalities implications

10.1.

With respect to the Council's Comprehensive Equalities Scheme 2016-20, the
proposals described in the Mayor and Cabinet Report make a clear contribution to the
following equality objectives:


Tackling victimisation, discrimination and harassment



Improving access to services



Closing the gap in outcomes between citizens



Increasing mutual understanding and respect within and between communities



Increasing participation and engagement

10.2.

Although socio-economic status is not a characteristic protected under the Equality Act
2010, it is part of the lived experience of all characteristics protected under the Equality
Act. As such, the proposals described in this report will make a specific contribution to
tackling socio-economic inequality; particularly as it affects low-income households,
people with learning disabilities, those who do not speak English as a first language
and others whose circumstances increase their risk of vulnerability to exploitation.

10.3.

As part of the councils Covid-19 reponse, the Housing Needs Division is working
tirelessly to support our most vulnerable residents and respond to the challenges we

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 94
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

face as a result of the current coronavirus outbreak. Officers are focussed on direct
matching of properties for our most vulnerable clients, with a particular focus on
vulnerable households who are currently sharing facilities, urgent safeguarding cases,
rough sleepers and other emergency cases such as hospital discharges.

11.

Climate change and environmental implications

11.1.

The licensing schemes will identify climate and environmental issues not already
known such as energy performance, fly-tipping and waste management issues directly
linked to properties in the PRS.

11.2.

A coordinated approach will be taken to engage with landlords. Inspections will focus
on the eradication of category 1 and 2 hazards on cold and thermal efficiency,
especially for vulnerable residents.

11.3.

Inspections of these properties will be conducted on a risk basis including analysis of
potential poor standards in the stock and will work to address poor standards including
damp and cold.

11.4.

Our officers will be trained to provide advice on potential issues relating to energy
efficiency, root damage, subsidence and light.

11.5.

Undertake targeted work with all landlords and using landlord forums to promote
energy efficiency, including engaging with landlord accreditation schemes that promote
energy efficiency.

11.6.

Support a new PRS renters union across the sector to provide a forum for renters;
allowing us to raise awareness of the Climate Emergency and measures to tackle it
and the union to flag up specific concerns to be addressed

11.7.

The licensing and enforcement team is committed in support Lewisham's climate
change initiative by supporting the climate initiative team in

11.8.



developing a programme to target high-risk streets and neighbourhoods with
tailored advice including the publication and promotion of initiatives,



assessing the actions and investment needed to get all buildings in the PRS to
an average of EPC B and in identifying energy inefficient properties,



exploring the potential to provide a discount on the licence fees based on their
EPC rating

As part of the Covid-19 response, the licensing and enforcement team is committed to
tackling environmental issues should they arise as per the temporary licensing and
enforcement policy published for the Covid-19 emergency.


It specifically advises landlords and their agents to gather evidence of their
attempts to carry out their repair obligations



The policy reminds landlords that while we will be sympathetic, pragmatic and
understanding, the evidential burden of establishing that they have a
reasonable excuse rests with them.



It advises landlords and their agents about the type of evidence they should
collate to establish this developing a programme to target high-risk streets and
neighbourhoods with tailored advice including the publication and promotion of
initiatives.

12.

Crime and disorder implications

12.1.

One of the objectives of the proposed schemes includes tackling ASB and crime. The
scheme will identify crime and disorder issues as a result of inspections and

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 95
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

investigation. This may result in an increase in anti-social behaviour casework, which is
investigated primarily by the Council's Crime, Enforcement & Regulation Service.
12.2.

The Private Sector Housing Agency will tackle ASB and crime through active and
robust enforcement working in partnership with a range of internal and external
agencies including the Crime Enforcement and Regulation Service and Police.

12.3.

The Council must ensure that the selective licensing scheme is consistent with the
authority's overall Housing Strategy and must seek to continue to adopt a coordinated
approach in dealing with Homelessness, ASB and empty properties. The Council in its
Housing Strategy is committed to working in partnership with the landlords and tenants
of the PRS which represent the second-highest tenure in the borough.

12.4.

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, we remain committed to ensuring that tenants
are safe in their homes, and their and others' safety is not compromised by being made
homeless. Our rogue landlord team continue to provide telephone advice and will
intervene in incidents of unlawful eviction and harassment.

13.

Health and wellbeing implications

13.1.

A key component of delivering the scheme outcomes is the promotion of careers in
PRS housing to young people. We will create additional opportunities to promote
careers in housing and environmental health to young people, to create a long-term
pipeline of qualified officers.

13.2.

A poorly managed private rented property detracts from the look and feel of the street
and this will put off residents of all sectors from remaining in the Lewisham, regardless
of tenure. A good quality private rented offer will encourage residents to stay in the
borough, in turn creating sustainable communities.

13.3.

Housing has a huge influence on our mental health and wellbeing. Those who are
vulnerable - elderly or young, isolated, without a support network, and adults with
disabilities - are more likely to be affected. Poor housing conditions have a long-term
impact on health, increasing the risk of severe ill-health or disability by up to 25 per
cent during childhood and early adulthood. Children living in crowded homes are more
likely to be stressed, anxious and depressed, have poorer physical health, and attain
less well at school. An improvement in property conditions is expected to lead to a
general improvement in residents living conditions and their health.

13.4.

As part of the temporary Covid-19 licensing and enforcement policy, we are no longer
carrying out routine licensing inspections. We will continue to inspect high-risk
properties where this is possible without compromising residents' safety. We remain
available to provide telephone and email advice and support to landlords. This includes
posting regular updates on the council's website and circulating emails to landlords.

14.

Background papers

14.1.

Mayor and Cabinet Report 11 March 2020

14.2.

Scheme Fees – Licensing Supplementary Committee 11 August 2020

15.

Glossary

15.1.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 96
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Term

Definition

Coronavirus

Coronavirus” is defined in the Act as meaning severe acute
respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (the virus
itself) and “coronavirus disease” means Covid-19 (the official
designation of the disease which can be caused by
coronavirus).

16.

Report author(s) and contact

16.1.

For further information please contact Sabu Samarnath (Service Improvement
Manager – Private Sector Housing Agency) on sabu.samarnath@lewisham.gov.uk or
0208 314 7378.

17.

Appendices

17.1.

Appendix A – Proposed Standard Conditons for the Selective Scheme

17.2.

Appendix B – Addendum to Standard Conditions

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 97
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 6
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
X
Information
Part 1
Part 2
Key Decision
Date of Meeting
Title of Report

6 October 2021

Originator of Report

Katherine Nidd

X

Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2021/22
Ext. 46651

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that
the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

X
X
X
X
X
X

Signed:
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources
Date: 16 September 2021
Signed:
Executive Director of Corporate Resources
Date 14 September 2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 98

\\wff01vca000\home\ctownsen\my documents\kathy freeman\m&c reports\sign off sheet - treasury management mid-year review 2021-22.doc

Date

Mayor and Cabinet
 Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2021/22
Date: 06/10/2021
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1.
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Director of Finance

Outline:
The purpose of this report is to set out the following:
-

An economic update for the five months of the 2021/22 financial year;
A review of the Treasury Management Strategy;
An update on the Council’s capital expenditure programme and prudential
indicators;
A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2021/22;
A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22; and
A review of compliance with treasury and prudential limits for 2021/22.

Recommendation:
Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:
1. Note the report, in particular the macroeconomic updates, performance of
investments to date, updates on capital expenditure and borrowing in line with the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) prudential
indicators, and compliance with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

Timeline of engagement and decision-making:
3 March 2021 – 2021/22 Budget Report to Council (Section 5.21 onwards: Treasury
Management Strategy)
10 February 2021 – 2021/22 Budget Update Report to Mayor & Cabinet
3 February 2021 – 2021/22 Budget Report to Mayor & Cabinet

Page 99

1.

Executive Summary

1.1.

This report sets out the current economic conditions in which the Council is operating
in respect of its investments and borrowing. It details the Council’s treasury
performance (focused on security, liquidity and return in that order) and forecast capital
position as at 31 August 2021 (or alternative date as stated), and provides updates on
performance against the current Treasury Management Strategy as required by the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice.
The outbreak of coronavirus in March 2020 and the global response in implementing
lockdowns and coordinating economic support packages has created an
unprecedented and prolonged period of economic and fiscal uncertainty, the impact of
which is likely to be felt for years to come. In the UK, there has been a sharp recovery
from February 2021 as a result of the vaccination programme rollout and easing of
restrictions, although there will be risks which will likely persist in both the short and
medium term, including:





1.2.

The pace and scale of any future changes to the UK Bank Rate;
Geopolitical risks in Europe, the Middle East and Asia, which could lead to
increasing safe haven flows;
A resurgence of the Eurozone debt crisis; and
UK/EU trade negotiations causing significant economic disruption and a fresh
major downturn in the rate of growth.

In terms of Council performance, the overall capital expenditure estimate for 2021/22
has increased from £223.1m as per the 3 March 2021 Budget Report to £252.4m as at
30 July 2021, split between general fund (£93.8m) and housing revenue account
(£158.6m). The key changes to the programme include the following:







Brought forward underspends from 2020/21 – £6.1m
Re-profiling of HRA schemes – £5.8m
School minor works – £6.8m
Transport for London – £2.4m
Edward St – £3.6m
Other miscellaneous – £4.7m

1.3.

The Council’s Operational Boundary (being the limit which external debt is not normally
expected to exceed) and Authorised Limit (being the limit beyond which borrowing is
prohibited) have not been breached in the year to date, and no difficulties are
envisaged for the current or future years in complying with the Code’s requirements for
prudential borrowing.

1.4.

Council investments are managed within the agreed parameters and delivered an
annualised average yield for the five months to 31 August 2021 of 0.16% (compared to
0.61% at September 2020). With interest rates continuing to remain low, it is likely that
the final 2021/22 yield will fall short of the 0.53% achieved in 2020/21. However, for the
risk profile inherent in the portfolio, current performance falls below modelled yield and
is below the wider benchmark group of London authorities due to shorter term fixed
deposit investments along with; lack of investment in bonds and credit default swaps,
and longer term investments in pooled funds compared to other boroughs.

1.5.

Due to changes in the Treasury Management Strategy that was presented to Mayor &
Cabinet in February 2021, and approved by Council in March 2021, the minimum
sovereign rating has excluded the UK only in order to place investments with UK
institutions. With 45% of the Council’s treasury portfolio currently invested in UK
institutions, it was agreed to exclude the UK in the event that the sovereign rating fell
below the current AA-. Individual institutions would remain subject to the usual
creditworthiness checks as per Investment Strategy.

Page 100

2.

Recommendations

2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:

2.1.1. Note the report, in particular the macroeconomic updates, performance of investments
to date, updates on capital expenditure and borrowing in line with the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) prudential indicators, and
compliance with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

3.

Policy Context

3.1.

The Council’s 2018 to 2022 Corporate Strategy identifies seven corporate priorities and
four core values which are the driving force behind what we do as an organisation. It
sets out a vision for Lewisham and priority outcomes that organisations, communities
and individuals can work towards to make this vision a reality. Through the work on
Covid recovery these are also supported by the four Future Lewisham themes.

3.2.

In taking action to implement and review the Council’s treasury management function,
with the overriding objective to achieve security, maintain adequate liquidity, and seek
yield in line with the Council’s risk appetite, we will be driven by the Council’s four core
values:

3.3.

 We put service to the public first;
 We respect all people and all communities;
 We invest in employees; and
 We are open, honest and fair in all we do.
These core values align with the Council’s seven corporate priorities, as follows:


3.4.

3.5.

Open Lewisham - Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all where we
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us.
 Tackling the housing crisis - Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.
 Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has
access to an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the support they need
to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential.
 Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local
economy.
 Delivering and defending health, social care and support - Ensuring
everyone receives the health, mental health, social care and support services they
need.
 Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces and benefits
from a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local
environment.
 Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here as
we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.
As the Council seeks to support the borough and its businesses and residents through
the pandemic and beyond, this recovery is based on the four key themes of Future
Lewisham, these are:
 A Greener Lewisham;
 A healthy and well future;
 An economically sound future; and
 A future we all have a part in.
The Treasury Management Strategy will directly support the theme of an economically
sound future for the borough and its residents.

Page 101

4.

Structure of the Report

4.1.

The remainder of this report is structured as follows:
5.

Background and Prior Year Outturn

6.

Economic Update

7.

Annual Investment Strategy

8.

Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)

9.

Investment Portfolio 2021/22

10.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement

11.

Borrowing, Treasury Indicators and Debt Rescheduling

12.

Financial Implications

13.

Legal Implications

14.

Equalities Implications

15.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications

16.

Crime and Disorder Implications

17.

Health and Wellbeing Implications

18.

Background Papers

19.

Report Author and Contacts
Appendix 1 – Interest Rate Forecasts 2021 - 2024
Appendix 2 – Extract from Credit Worthiness Policy
Appendix 3 – Benchmarking Extract
Appendix 4 – Economic Update from Link Asset Services
Appendix 5 – Approved Countries for Investment
Appendix 6 – Requirement of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of
Practice

5.

Background and Prior Year Outturn

5.1.

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means cash
raised during the year will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management
operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being
invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before
considering optimising investment return. The onset of the coronavirus pandemic has
led to unprecedented levels of economic and fiscal uncertainty, making a balanced
budget even more challenging to achieve than in the previous years of austerity.

5.2.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the
Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of
the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can
meet its capital spending operations. This management of longer term cash may
involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses,
and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or
cost objectives.

5.3.

The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is critical, as
the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity and the ability to meet

Page 102

spending commitments as they fall due, either for day-to-day revenue purposes or for
larger capital projects. Treasury operations will see a balance of the interest costs of
debt and the investment income arising from cash deposits affecting the available
budget. Since cash balances generally result from reserves and balances, it is
paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal will
in effect result in a loss to the General Fund.
5.4.

Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, arising usually
from capital expenditure, and are separate from the day to day treasury management
activities.

5.5.

Accordingly, treasury management is defined as “the management of the local
authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.”

5.6.

The Council complies with the requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management
(revised 2017). The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:
a)

Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which
sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management
activities.

b)

Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives.

c)

Receipt by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue
Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report and an Annual
Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the previous year.

d)

Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring
treasury management policies and practices and for the execution and
administration of treasury management decisions.

e)

Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy
and policies to a specific named body. For this Council the delegated body is the
Public Accounts Select Committee.

a)

Capital Strategy

5.7.

The CIPFA 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local
authorities to produce a Capital Strategy, which will provide the following:


5.8.

5.9.

A high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury
management activity contribute to the provision of services;
 An overview of how the associated risk is managed; and
 The implications for future financial stability.
The aim of the strategy is to ensure that all elected Members on full Council fully
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting Capital Strategy
requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite
The Capital Strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy;
non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. This ensures the
separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and yield principles,
and the policy and strategic investments are usually driven by expenditure on an asset.

Page 103

The Capital Strategy shows:

5.10.

 The corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities;
 Any service objectives relating to the investments;
 The expected income, costs and resulting contribution;
 The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs;
 The payback period (MRP policy);
 For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value; and
 The risks associated with each activity.
On 10 February 2021, Mayor & Cabinet agreed that the Capital Strategy would be
presented later in 2021/22 financial year, now expected in December.

b)

2020/21 Treasury Management Outturn

5.11.

The overall treasury management outturn for the year ending 31 March 2021 is set out
in the table below:

Treasury Management
Outturn 2020/21

Fixed Rate Borrowing
Public Works Loan
Board
Market Loans
Subtotal – Fixed Rate
Borrowing
Variable Rate Borrowing
Public Works Loan
Board
Market Loans
Subtotal – Variable
Rate Borrowing
Total Debt

Fixed Rate Investments
Banks and Building
Societies
Local Authorities
Subtotal – Fixed Rate
Investments
Variable Rate Investments
Money Markets
Notice Accounts
Subtotal – Variable
Rate Investments
Total Investments
5.12.

Outstanding
at 31 March
2021

Weighted
Average
Coupon Rate

Outstanding
at 31 March
2020

%

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Duration
Years

£m
92.9
82.5

4.3
4.0

25.3
33.2

96.7
82.5

175.4

4.2

29.0

179.2

0.0
37.6

0.0
2.2

0.0
36.8

0.0
37.8

37.6

2.2

36.8

37.8

213.0

3.8

30.4

217.0

215.0

0.21

85 (days)

175.0

8.0

0.31

160 (days)

13.0

223.0

0.22

93 (days)

188.0

74.2
90.0

0.01
0.25

N/A
162 (days)

114.7
80.0

164.2

0.11

162 (days)

194.7

387.2

0.19

107 (days)

382.7

£m

In respect of the net borrowing requirement for 2020/21 was £2.5m, this being £38.2m
lower than the net borrowing requirement of £40.7m for 2019/20 as set out in the table
below:

Page 104

5.13.

Net Borrowing Requirement

2020/21

2019/20

Capital Investment
Capital Grants
Capital Receipts
Revenue
Net position
MRP
Maturing Debt
Net Borrowing Requirement

£m
73.7
(35.5)
(11.7)
(15.9)
10.6
(4.1)
(4.0)
2.5

£m
73.3
(15.7)
(9.7)
(3.0)
44.9
(4.0)
(0.2)
40.7

As at 31 March 2021, this internal borrowing was estimated to be £74.6m, which is the
difference between the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) and the Council’s actual
borrowing.
Debt and CFR Movement

2020/21
£m
298.1
(223.5)
74.6

Capital Financing Requirement*
External Debt**
Difference – Internal Borrowing

2019/20
£m
291.7
(217.0)
74.7

* Excluding other long term liabilities.
**Excluding Fair Value adjustments.

6.

Economic Update

6.1.

The Economic update is provided by the Council’s treasury advisors Link Assets
Services and is at Appendix 4; this includes commentary on the impact of coronavirus
on global markets.

a)

Interest Rate Forecasts

6.2.

The Council’s treasury adviser, Link Asset Services, has published its latest interest
rate forecasts up to 31 December 2023 as below:
Sep21

Dec21

Mar22

Jun22

Sep22

Dec22

Mar23

Jun23

Sep23

Dec23

Bank Rate View

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.25%

0.25%

0.25%

3 Month average
earnings

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.30%

0.30%

0.30%

6 Month average
earnings

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.10%

0.20%

0.30%

0.40%

0.50%

12 Month average
earnings

0.20%

0.20%

0.20%

0.20%

0.20%

0.30%

0.30%

0.40%

0.50%

0.60%

5yr PWLB Rate

1.20%

1.20%

1.20%

1.30%

1.30%

1.30%

1.40%

1.40%

1.40%

1.50%

10yr PWLB Rate

1.60%

1.60%

1.70%

1.70%

1.80%

1.80%

1.90%

1.90%

1.90%

2.00%

25yr PWLB Rate

1.90%

2.00%

2.10%

2.20%

2.30%

2.30%

2.30%

2.40%

2.40%

2.40%

Page 105

50yr PWLB Rate

1.70%

1.80%

1.90%

2.00%

2.10%

2.10%

2.10%

2.20%

2.20%

2.20%

6.3.

The coronavirus outbreak has caused huge economic damage to the UK and
economies around the world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in
March 2020 to cut the Bank Rate to 0.25%, latterly it cut this further to 0.10% and it has
remained unchanged since August 2020 (as at August 2021 meeting). As shown in the
forecast table above, no increase in the Bank Rate is expected within the forecast
horizon until June 2023 as economic recovery is expected to be gradual and, therefore,
prolonged.

6.4.

Furthermore, gilt yields and PWLB rates have fallen around 40 basis points since the
beginning of June 2021 in the 25 and 50 year periods; and 10 basis points in some 5
and 10 year PWLB rate forecasts in 2021 and 2022. Additionally, LIBOR and LIBID
rates will cease from the end of 2021.

b)

Balance of Risks to the UK

6.5.

The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to the upside though
there are still residual risks from variants – both domestically and their potential effects
worldwide. There is relatively little domestic risk of increases in the Bank Rate
exceeding 0.50% in the next two to three years and, therefore, in shorter-term PWLB
rates.

6.6.

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:


6.7.

Mutations of the virus could render current vaccines ineffective, and tweaked
vaccines may have to be developed to combat these mutations, if these are
delayed this could result in further national lockdowns or sever regional
restrictions;
 UK/EU trade arrangements could be impacted by complications or lack of cooperation in sorting out the significant issues outstanding which would have a
major impact on trade flows and financial services;
 The Bank of England taking action too quickly, or too far, over the next three
years to raise the Bank Rate, causing UK economic growth, and increases in
inflation, to be weaker than currently anticipated;
 A resurgence of the Eurozone debt crisis;
 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, which could be undermined
further depending on the extent of credit losses resultant of the pandemic; and
 Geopolitical risks in Europe, the Middle East and Asia, which could lead to
increasing safe haven flows.
Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include:




Vaccinations have been even more successful than expected and are
eradicating hesitancy around a full return to normal; which will lead to a stronger
than currently expected recovery in the UK and other major developed
economies; and
The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in the
Bank Rate and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly
within the UK economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of
increases in the Bank Rate faster than currently expected.

7.

Annual Investment Strategy

7.1.

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/22 was approved by
Council on 3 March 2021.

Page 106

Investment Policy – Management of Risk
7.2.

The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both
financial and non-financial investments. This report deals predominantly with financial
instruments (as managed by the Strategic Finance – Treasury Team); non-financial
investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are summarised at the
end of Section 7 and covered in detail within the separate Capital Strategy.

7.3.

The Council’s investment policy has regard to MHCLG’s Guidance on Local
Government Investments (“the Guidance”), the CIPFA Treasury Management in Public
Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM
Code”), and CIPFA’s Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018.

7.4.

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, liquidity second, then return.
The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and within the Council’s risk
appetite. In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep
investments short term to cover cash flow needs. However, where appropriate (from an
internal as well as external perspective), the Council will also consider the value
available in periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, as well
as wider range fund options.

7.5.

The Council uses Link Group, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury management
advisor. The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions
remains with the Council at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed
upon our external service providers. All decisions will be undertaken with regards to all
available information including, but not solely, our treasury advisors. It also recognises
that there is value in employing external providers of treasury management services in
order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that
the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed
are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.

7.6.

The Guidance and CIPFA TM Code place a high priority on the management of risk.
The Council has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk
appetite by the following means:
1. Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of
highly creditworthy counterparties which also enables diversification and thus
avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties
are the short term and long term ratings.
2. Other information; ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an
institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector
on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political
environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also take
account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To this end, the
Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing
such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on top of the credit
ratings, as well as information on outlooks and watches. This is fully integrated
into the credit methodology provided by the advisors in producing its colour
codings which show the varying degrees of suggested institution
creditworthiness. This has been set out in more detail at Appendix 2.
3. Other information sources used will include the financial press, share prices
and other such information pertaining to the financial sector in order to establish
the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment
counterparties.
4. The Council has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the
treasury team are authorised to use in the financial year, and these are listed in
Appendix 2 under the categories of “specified” and “non-specified” investments

Page 107



Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and
subject to a maturity limit of one year.



Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may
be for periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex
instruments which require greater consideration by Members and
officers before being authorised for use.

5. Lending limits (amounts and maturity) for each counterparty will be set
through applying the credit criteria provided by advisors, and are set out in
Appendix 2.
6. Interest rate limits are set out in paragraph 11.7 and place restrictions on the
exposure to variable and fixed rate investments.
7. The Council has placed a limit on the amount of its investments which are
invested for longer than 365 days (see paragraph 11.9).
8. Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a
specified minimum sovereign rating (see Appendix 5).
9. All investments will be denominated in sterling.
10. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2018/19 under IFRS 9,
the Council will, on an ongoing basis, consider the implications of investment
instruments which could result in an adverse movement in the value of the
amount invested and resultant changes at the end of the year to the General
Fund. The MHCLG enacted a statutory override in 2018/19 for a five year
period over the requirement for any unrealised capital gains or losses on
marketable pooled funds to be chargeable in year, giving local authorities time
to initiate an orderly withdrawal of funds if required. The Council does not at
present have any pooled investments, though has scope to do so as per the
creditworthiness policy in Appendix 2.
7.7.

Investments will be made with reference to the core balances and cash flow
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up
to 12 months). In order to maintain sufficient liquidity, the Council will seek to utilise its
notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits (overnight to three
months. The remainder of its investments will be placed in fixed term deposits of up to
24 months to generate improved returns, depending on prevailing market conditions.
Creditworthiness Policy

7.8.

The Council’s Treasury Team applies the creditworthiness service provided by its
advisors Link Group. This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising
credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard
& Poor’s. The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with the following
overlays:




7.9.

Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
CDS spreads that may give early warning of changes in credit ratings; and
Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy
countries.
This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in
a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for
which the end product is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative
creditworthiness of counterparties. These colour codes are used by the Council to
determine the suggested duration for investments:

Page 108









Yellow
Purple
Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No colour

5 years*
2 years
1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)
1 year
6 months
100 days
Not to be used**

*for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, Constant Net Asset Value (CNAV) money
market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt.
**except for those building societies rated BBB- or higher as set out in the policy.
7.10.

The Council’s creditworthiness policy has been set out at Appendix 2.
Country limits

7.11.

The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from the UK
and from other countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch. The
list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this report are
shown in Appendix 5. This list will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should
country ratings change in accordance with this policy.
Prior Updates to Investment Strategy

7.12.

For the 2021/22 strategy an additional unspecified investment was added to the
creditworthiness policy at Appendix 2, namely the ability to invest in UK building
societies with a minimum credit rating of BBB- from Fitch (or equivalent), specifically
those that are shown on Link Group’s lending list only (but which may be rated ‘No
colour’) for a maximum of three months and limited to £10m per institution.

7.13.

Very few building societies have credit ratings assigned to them due to the lack of large
ticket funding transactions that would warrant a formal credit rating being issued by one
of the three main ratings agencies, and only a select few within the top ten by asset
size have been issued with one. A credit rating of BBB- remains within the ‘investment
grade’ category, subject to moderate credit risk, which is reflected by the monetary and
duration limits as set out above.

7.14.

This addition to the strategy was made as a result of current economic conditions and
the reduced options available for investing at positive yields; in practice it opens up a
limited number of two-three additional counterparties for consideration. Officers will
continue to monitor the rating movements against these counterparties to ensure that
any investments fall within the set criteria.
Prospects for Investment Returns

7.15.

Investment returns are likely to remain exceptionally low during 2021/22 with little
increase in the following two years. The coronavirus outbreak has caused huge
economic damage to the UK and economies around the world. After the Bank of
England took emergency action in March 2020 to cut the Bank Rate to first 0.25%, and
then to 0.10%, it has left the Bank Rate unchanged for over one year.

7.16.

Money market yields have continued to drift lower and some managers have resorted
to trimming fee levels to ensure that net yields for investors remain in positive territory,
or zero, where possible. Investor cash flow uncertainty, and the need to maintain
liquidity in these unprecedented times, has resulted in a surplus of cash swilling around
at the very short end of the market with only marginally positive returns.

7.17.

The Council uses the services of its advisor, Link Group, to formulate a view on interest
rates; their view is that there will be no increase in the Bank Rate in the immediate
short-term up to at least June 2023 as economic recovery is expected to be gradual
and therefore prolonged. Given this uncertainty, suggested investment returns are

Page 109

expected to remain low and money market related instruments will be sub 0.50% for
the foreseeable future.
7.18.

In light of these predictions for low returns the Council continues to assess, with
support from its advisors, the potential risk and return offered by investing for longer
(five or more years) in pooled asset funds. This policy is set with regard to the
Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the risk of a forced sub-optimal early
sale of an investment; any investments entered into will be on the advice of the
Council’s advisors and will continue to meet the objectives of security, liquidity and
return.

7.19.

There is relatively little UK domestic risk of increases or decreases in the Bank Rate
and significant changes in shorter term PWLB rates. The Bank of England has
effectively ruled out the use of negative interest rates in the near term and increases in
the Bank Rate are likely to be some years away given the underlying economic
expectations. However, it is always possible that safe haven flows, due to unexpected
domestic developments and those in other major economies, or a return of investor
confidence in equities, could impact gilt yields (and so PWLB rates) in the UK.

7.20.

A more extensive table of interest rate forecasts for September 2021 onwards,
including Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing rate forecasts, is set out in
Appendix 1.
Non-Treasury Investments

7.21.

Treasury management investments represent the placement of cash in relation to the
S12 Local Government Act 2003 investment powers, i.e. they represent investments
using the residual cash available to the authority from its day to day activities, under
security, liquidity and yield principles.

7.22.

The Council recognises that non-treasury investments in other financial assets and
property primarily for financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes,
requires careful management. Such investments tend to be either:


7.23.

Policy type investments; whereby capital or revenue cash is advanced for a specific
Council objective and will be approved directly through Committee. This may be an
advance to a third party for economic regeneration, investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures, etc.
 Strategic type investments; whereby the objective is primarily to generate capital or
revenue resources to help facilitate Council services.
The Council’s risk appetite for these investments is reviewed on a case-by-case basis
depending on the scale and nature, and strategic fit, of the proposed investment.
Where such non-treasury investments exist, they will be identified and summarised at
high level within this strategy. The detail and rationale for non-treasury investments are
covered in the separate Capital Strategy.
Subsidiary Companies

7.24.

The Council has two wholly owned subsidiary companies, Lewisham Homes Limited
and Catford Regeneration Partnership Limited (CRPL). It has invested in these
subsidiaries as summarised below.
Lewisham Homes Limited

7.25.

Lewisham Homes is an arms-length management organisation (ALMO) set up in 2007
as part of the Council’s initiative to deliver better housing services and achieve the
Decent Homes Standard. The company manages approximately 18,000 homes.

7.26.

The Council has to date agreed two separate loan facilities with Lewisham Homes, the
first on proxy commercial terms financed from internal borrowing and the second on
cost-neutral terms financed through the PWLB. Both loans allow Lewisham Homes to
purchase properties to address temporary accommodation needs in the borough, and
will be repaid on set maturity dates.

Page 110

7.27.

Agreement of the property acquisition programme and relevant loan agreements was
obtained from Mayor and Cabinet. State Aid issues and other risks and mitigations
were considered in the approval of the loan facilities, including for the second loan the
requirement for collateral against the loan in order to obtain MRP exemption.

7.28.

As at 31 August 2021 the Council has advanced £17m of the available £20m
commercial loan facility, and all £20m of the agreed facility financed from PWLB debt.
Catford Regeneration Partnership Limited (CRPL)

7.29.

The CRPL is a property investment company created in January 2010 which owns the
Catford Shopping Centre and several neighbouring properties used to generate income
whilst driving forward a regeneration programme for the town centre and surrounding
area.

7.30.

The Council has existing loan agreements in place with the CRPL, currently on an
interest only basis, with interest being capitalised until 2024/25. As at 31 August 2021
the Council expects the outstanding loan principal to be approximately £15.0m.
Other Non-Treasury Investments
Besson Street Joint Venture

7.31.

The Council is an equal equity partner in a joint venture with Grainger Plc. to bring
forward the development of the currently vacant Besson Street site to provide
properties for the Private Rented Sector on long term tenancies. The Council has
invested land at this stage and will be required to put forward an estimated £22-27m of
cash to make up its share (50%) of the 40% equity, with 60% external long-term
borrowing, to be invested once the scheme is built. This is currently forecast to be in
2026/27.

7.32.

The Council also holds minority stakes in the following:


10% in Lewisham Schools for the Future LEP Limited, a Local Education
Partnership established under the Council’s Building Schools for the Future (BSF)
programme to rebuild and refurbish secondary schools within the borough;



Less than 1% in South-East London Combined Heat and Power Ltd (SELCHP), a
joint venture with the London Borough of Greenwich for the provision of waste
disposal and waste to energy processes; and



A minority share in Newable Ltd (formerly Greater London Enterprise Ltd) which
provides property management and consultancy services.

8.

Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)

8.1.

This section of the report is structured to update on:





The Council’s capital expenditure plans;
How these plans are being financed;
The impact of any changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential
indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and
Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.

a)

Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure

8.2.

The table below shows the original estimates for capital expenditure in 2021/22 as
agreed by Council in March 2021 and the latest revised estimates, with change
recorded:

Page 111

Budget
Revised
(M&C
Budget
Feb 21) Proposed
July 2021
£m
£m

Capital Expenditure

Change

Change

£m

%

General Fund
Schools - School Places
Programme
Schools – Other (Inc. Minor)
Capital Works
Highways & Bridges – LBL
Highways & Bridges – TfL and
Others
Catford Town Centre
Asset Management
Programme
Other AMP Schemes
Broadway Theatre
CCTV Modernisation
Beckenham Place Park ( Inc.
Eastern Part)
Catford Phase 1 – Thomas
Lane Yard/ CCC
Catford Station Improvements
Lewisham Gateway ( Phase
2)
Disabled Facilities Grant
Private Sector/Discretionary
Grants and Loans
Lewisham Homes – Property
Acquisition
Achilles St Development
Edward St. Development
Place Ladywell
Deptford Southern Sites
Regeneration
Temporary Accommodation Mayow Rd
Temporary Accommodation Canonbie Rd
Temporary Accommodation Sydney Arms
Temporary Accommodation Morton House
Temporary AccommodationManor Avenue
Fleet Replacement
Programme
Travellers Site Relocation
Other Schemes

Subtotal
Housing Revenue Account
HRA
Total
8.3.

10.4

11.8

1.4

13%

1.7

9.5

7.8

459%

2.5

2.6

0.1

4%

0.8

2.4

1.6

200%

0.3

1.3

1.0

333%

2.8

3.9

1.1

39%

0.9
4.8
0.5

2.9
5.3
1.1

2.0
0.5
0.6

222%
10%
120%

1.7

1.9

0.2

12%

0.6

0.5

(0.1)

(17%)

0.3

0.4

0.1

33%

3.5

3.5

0.0

0%

2.1

1.3

(0.8)

(38%)

2.1

1.9

(0.2)

(10%)

3.0

3.0

0.0

0%

1.0
8.4
2.7

1.0
12.0
2.6

0.0
3.6
(0.1)

0%
43%
(4%)

0.3

0.3

0.0

0%

6.6

7.0

0.4

6%

1.4

1.8

0.4

29%

3.8

1.0

(2.8)

(74%)

0.1

1.5

1.4

1400%

0.0

1.2

1.2

N/A

0.8

1.6

0.8

100%

3.6
3.6
70.3

3.8
6.7
93.8

0.2
3.1
23.5

6%
86%
33%

152.8
223.1

158.6
252.4

5.8
29.3

4%
13%

The overall capital programme for 2021/22 was agreed as £223.1m in March 2021,
and revised to £252.4m as at 31 July 2021. The General Fund’s revised capital

Page 112

expenditure forecast at July 2021 has increased by £23.5m, or 33%, from the position
reported in the March budget report, with material adjustments to several forecasts
throughout the programme.




Within the overall schools programme the estimated spend on school places
has increased from £10.4m to £11.8m, whilst estimated spend on the schools
minor works programme has increased from £1.7m to £9.5m;
Asset management programmes have also seen the estimated spend increase
from £3.7m to £6.8m.
Edward Street and other schemes have also seen a significant increase, rising
from £8.4m to £12m and £3.6m to £6.7m for the respective projects.

8.4.

The HRA increase of £5.8m is down to re-profiling of the current schemes.

b)

Financing of the Capital Programme

8.5.

The table below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure
plans (above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the
capital programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital
expenditure in 2021/22. The borrowing element of the table increases the underlying
indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR),
although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt (the
Minimum Revenue Provision). If the CFR is positive, the Council may borrow from the
PWLB or the market (external borrowing), or from internal balances on a temporary
basis (internal borrowing). The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally
driven by market conditions

8.6.

This direct borrowing need may also be supplemented by maturing debt and other
treasury requirements. The table below shows an increase of £17.4m in the amount of
prudential borrowing required to meet the revised capital programme; this is the result
of new schemes that have been implemented since the budget report was agreed in
March 2021, along with an increase in HRA schemes and the re-profiling of projects.
Capital Expenditure
Financing
Grants and contributions
Capital Receipts
General reserves / revenue
Subtotal
Borrowing Required
Total

Original
Feb 21
£m
24.5
7.4
19.6
51.5
171.6
223.1

Revised
Jul 21
£m
32.8
7.4
23.2
63.4
189.0
252.4

Change

Change

£m
8.3
0.0
3.6
11.9
17.4
29.3

%
34%
0%
18%
23%
10%
13%

c)

Prudential Indicators

8.7.

Forward projections for borrowing as at 31 March 2021 are summarised in the table
below, which shows the actual external debt from treasury management operations
and other long-term liabilities against the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital
Financing Requirement - CFR) which is simply the total historic outstanding capital
expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It
is essentially a measure of the Council’s indebtedness, and its underlying borrowing
need; any increase to capital expenditure which has not immediately been paid for
through a revenue or capital resource will increase the CFR.

8.8.

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is a
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with

Page 113

each asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they
are used.
8.9.

The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g. PFI liabilities). Whilst these
increase the CFR and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of
scheme include a borrowing facility by the PFI or PPP provider and so the Council is
not required to separately borrow for these schemes.

8.10.

Changes in external debt incorporate upcoming loan maturities and projected
prudential borrowing requirements in both the General Fund and the Housing Revenue
Account (HRA).

8.11.

The table below illustrates over/(under) borrowing relative to the combined CFR for the
General Fund and HRA.
External Debt Projections
2021/22
Forecast
£m

2022/23
Forecast
£m

2023/24
Forecast
£m

2024/25
Forecast
£m

External Debt at 1 April

223.5

332.0

426.5

543.0

Change in External Debt

108.4

94.5

116.5

86.9

Other Long-Term Liabilities

231.3

222.0

211.5

199.7

Gross Debt at 31 March

563.2

648.5

754.5

829.6

CFR - HRA

133.8

225.9

333.3

408.7

CFR – General Fund and
Other Long-Term Liabilities

470.6

475.0

463.7

444.8

Total Capital Financing
Requirement at 31 March*

604.4

700.9

797.0

853.5

Borrowing – over / (under)

(41.2)

(52.4)

(42.5)

(23.9)

*The Capital Financing Requirement includes the prudential borrowing figures shown in Table E2 of
Section 11 - Capital Programme in the 2021/22 Budget Report. The previous year’s forecast prudential
borrowing for capital did not materialise as expected and there is a risk that this recurs. This will be
monitored during the year and reported back. This is a more acute risk given the scale and ambition of
the capital programme, particularly in the HRA. We will ensure that we only borrow as the need arises

8.12.

Within the prudential indicators, there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the
Council operates its activities within well-defined limits. One of these is that the Council
needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total
of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for the
current and following two financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited early
borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or
speculative purposes.

8.13.

The Executive Director for Corporate Resources officer reports that the Council has
complied with this prudential indicator in the current year to date and does not
envisage difficulties for the future. This view takes into account current commitments,
existing plans, and the proposals in this report.

d)

Limits to Borrowing Activity

8.14.

There are two measures of limiting external debt; the ‘operational boundary’ and
‘authorised limit for external debt’, which the Council reports on as part of its prudential

Page 114

indicators. Both are described in further detail in the following paragraphs.
The Operational Boundary for External Debt
8.15.

This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to exceed. In most
cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher depending
on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by other cash
resources. The Council’s operational boundary is set out below:
2021/22
£m

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

Maximum External Debt at 31 March

331.9

426.5

543.0

629.9

Other Long-Term Liabilities

231.3

222.0

211.5

199.7

Operational Boundary for Year

563.2

648.5

754.5

829.6

The Authorised Limit for External Debt
8.16.

This key indicator represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing, and
provides a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited. It reflects the level of external
debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term but is not sustainable
in the longer term.

8.17.

This is a statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act
2003, and needs to be set and revised by full Council. The Government retains an
option to control either the total of all Councils’ plans, or those of a specific Council,
although this power has not yet been exercised.

8.18.

The authorised limits are set out as below:
2021/22
£m

Operational Boundary for Year
Provision for Non Receipt of Expected
Income
Additional 10% Margin
Authorised Limit for Year

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

563.2

648.5

754.5

829.6

56.0

56.0

56.0

56.0

56.32

64.85

75.45

82.96

675.52

769.35

885.95

968.56

9.

Investment Portfolio 2021/22

9.1.

In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of capital and
liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is consistent with the
Council’s risk appetite. In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to
keep investments short term to cover cash flow needs, but also to seek out value
available in periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, using
the Link suggested creditworthiness approach, including a minimum sovereign credit
rating and Credit Default Swap (CDS) overlay information. As set out in Section 6, it is
no longer possible to earn the level of interest rates commonly seen in previous
decades as all investment rates are barely above zero now that the Bank Rate is at
0.10%. Given this risk environment and the fact that increases in the Bank Rate are
unlikely to occur before June 2023, investment returns are expected to remain
extremely low.

Page 115

a)

Negative Interest Rates

9.2.

The Bank of England has indicated it is unlikely to introduce a negative Bank Rate. As
part of the response to the pandemic and lockdown, the Bank and the Government
have provided financial markets and businesses with significant access to credit, either
directly or through commercial banks. In addition, the Government has provided grants
to local authorities to help deal with the coronavirus crisis. This has caused some local
authorities to have sudden large increases in investment balances, some of which was
only very short term until those sums were able to be passed on.

9.3.

Money Market Fund (MMF) yields have continued to drift lower. Some managers have
suggested they might resort to trimming fee levels to ensure that net yields for
investors remain in positive territory where possible and practical. Investor cash flow
uncertainty, and the need to maintain liquidity, has resulted in a glut of money moving
around at the very short end of the market; inter-local authority lending and borrowing
rates have also declined due to the surge in the levels of cash seeking a short-term
home. However, MMFs are still offering a marginally positive return, as are a number of
financial institutions.

b)

Performance as at 31 August 2021

9.4.

The Council held £418m of investments as at 31 August 2021 (£387m at 31 March
2021) and the portfolio annualised yield for the first five months to 31 August 2021 of
0.16% (compared to 0.61% at September 2020). These investments provide some
assurance when matched to the level of debt held, represent the reserves held for
investment, and provide the working balances and cash flow to support the Council’s
service delivery.

9.5.

The Council is a member of a treasury benchmarking group (organised by Link Asset
Services) containing 15 authorities, including 12 other London authorities. An extract
from the latest available benchmarking report is shown in Appendix 3; this shows that
the return on investments as at June 2021 is below the Council’s model weighted
average rate of return provided by the treasury advisors, which is adjusted for the risks
inherent in the portfolio. Portfolio performance is also below the overall benchmarking
group, as well as a wider group of 19 London boroughs.

9.6.

A full list of outstanding investments held as at 31 August 2021 is shown below:
Counterparty

Duration Principal
(Days)
£m
Fixed Rate Investments – Banks and Building Societies
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group
273
15.0
Close Brothers Ltd
183
20.0
DBS Bank Ltd.
184
5.0
DBS Bank Ltd
277
5.0
DBS Bank Ltd
365
15.0
Goldman Sachs International Bank
184
20.0
Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen
273
5.0
Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen
92
5.0
Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen
276
10.0
National Bank of Canada
183
25.0
National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB)
273
10.0
National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB)
276
20.0
National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB)
365
10.0
Norddeutsche Landesbank
92
15.0
SMBC Bank International Plc
153
20.0
Toronto-Dominion Bank
244
20.0

Page 116

Interest
Rate

Interest
£

0.15%
0.25%
0.12%
0.14%
0.15%
0.295%
0.06%
0.09%
0.11%
0.09%
0.05%
0.13%
0.17%
0.16%
0.09%
0.12%

16,829
25,068
3,025
5,312
22,500
29,742
2,244
1,134
8,318
11,281
3,740
19,660
17,000
6,049
7,545
16,044

Counterparty

Duration
(Days)
Toronto-Dominion Bank
365
Fixed Rate Investments – Local Authorities
London Borough of Waltham Forest
364
Variable Rate Investments – Money Markets
Aberdeen Standard
N/A
BlackRock
N/A
Federated Hermes
N/A
Insight
N/A
Variable Rate Investments – Notice Accounts
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group
185
Bank of Scotland Plc (RFB)
175
Barclays Bank Plc (NRFB)
95
Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB)
175
Santander UK Plc
180

Principal
£m
5.0

Interest
Rate
0.12%

Interest
£
6,000

3.0

0.30%

8,975

30.0
30.0
30.0
10.0

0.01%
0.01%
0.01%
0.00%

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

10.0
20.0
20.0
20.0
20.0

0.28%
0.06%
0.15%
0.06%
0.58%

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

9.7.

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources confirms that the approved limits within
the Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during the first five months of
2021/22.

9.8.

The current investment counterparty criteria as set out in the Credit Worthiness Policy
and included at Appendix 2 of this report are meeting the requirements of the treasury
management function, although the current low rate environment and the reluctance of
banks and building societies to accept new deposits reduces the available pool of
counterparties that meet guideline investment rates.

10.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement

10.1.

The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund capital
spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the MRP), although it is also
allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if required (Voluntary Revenue
Provision – VRP). The MRP must be determined by the Council as being a prudent
provision having regard to the MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue
Provision.

10.2.

The MRP is the amount the Council charges to the revenue account and does not
correspond to the actual amount of debt repaid, which is determined by treasury
related issues. Historically the Council has applied a consistent MRP policy which
comprises prudential borrowing being repaid over the useful life of the asset concerned
and previous borrowing being repaid at the rate of 4% (equivalent to 25 years) of the
outstanding balance.

10.3.

In 2016/17, this policy was changed to reflect the useful lives of the specific asset
classes on the Council’s balance sheet. It moved to:


10.4.

10.5.

A straight line MRP of 14% equivalent to seven years for plant and equipment
(such as IT and vehicles); and
 A straight line MRP of 2.5% equivalent to forty years for property (such as land and
buildings).
In 2017/18 a third element was added to the Council’s MRP policy, whereby no MRP
need be charged on capital expenditure where the Council has assessed that sufficient
collateral is held at a current valuation to meet the outstanding CFR liability, and that
should it be determined at any point that insufficient collateral is held to match the
Council’s CFR liability a prudent MRP charge will commence.
In 2019/20 the Council commissioned an independent review of its current MRP policy
to ensure it is fit for current and future spending plans, as well as a review of historic
calculations and a reconciliation to the CFR to identify any potential efficiencies. The

Page 117

review was undertaken by the Council’s treasury advisors, Link Group.
10.6.

The Council implemented one of the recommendations from the report from 2019/20
onwards, specifically to adjust for an historic overcharging of MRP from 2003/04 as a
result of a miscalculation in the ‘Adjustment A’ figure (an accounting adjustment
designed to ensure minimal changes in liability when new capital financing regulations
were introduced in 2003/04). The Prudential Code allows for MRP to be reduced
appropriately, in line with an authority’s own judgement, where Adjustment A reflects
an error that increases the current MRP liability. As such, the Council reduced its
ongoing liability by reducing its MRP charge to account for the higher Adjustment A
figure, whilst additionally offsetting current and future years’ MRP charges to recover
the historic overcharging since 2003/04.

10.7.

The value of the overcharge has been calculated as £10.1m, which will be recovered
from 2019/20 over a 10 year period via an annual reduction to MRP. The outstanding
value of the overcharge to be recovered as at 31 March 2021 is £8.1m.

11.

Borrowing, Treasury Indicators and Debt Rescheduling
Borrowing Strategy

11.1.

The Council’s external debt as at 31 August 2021, gross borrowing plus long term
liabilities, is expected to be £463.1m. The Council’s borrowing strategy is consistent
with last year’s strategy. The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed
position in that the CFR is not fully funded with loan debt, as cash supporting the
Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used as an alternative funding
measure. In the current economic climate, this strategy is considered prudent while
investment returns are low and counterparty risk remains an issue to be considered.

11.2.

The Executive Director for Corporate Resources will continue to monitor interest rates
in the financial markets and adopt a pragmatic and cautious approach to changing
circumstances. For instance, if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall
in long and short term rates then long term borrowing will be postponed and potential
rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short-term borrowing considered. Any such
decisions would be reported to Mayor and Cabinet and subsequently Council, at the
next available opportunity.

11.3.

Alternatively, if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in long
and short term rates than that currently forecast (perhaps arising from an acceleration
in rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world economic
activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks) then the portfolio position will be reappraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower
than they are projected to be in future years. Once again, any such decisions would be
reported to Mayor and Cabinet and subsequently Council, at the next available
opportunity.
Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need

11.4.

Members should note that the Council’s policy is not to borrow more than or in advance
of its needs purely in order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed.
Any decision to borrow in advance will be within the approved forward CFR estimates,
and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated
and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.
Treasury Indicators

11.5.

There are three debt-related treasury activity limits. The purpose of these are to
restrain the activity of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby managing risk
and reducing the impact of any adverse movement in interest rates. These limits need
to be balanced against the requirement for the treasury function to retain some
flexibility to enable it to respond quickly to opportunities to reduce costs and improve
performance.

Page 118

11.6.

The debt related indicators are:


11.7.

Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a maximum limit
for variable interest rates based upon the debt position net of investments;
 Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure. This is similar to the previous
indicator and covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates; and
 Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the
Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing and are
required for upper and lower limits.
The treasury indicators and limits are set out below:

Limits on Interest Rate Exposures

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

Upper

Upper

Upper

Debt only
 Investments only:
When total portfolio >£400m

100%

100%

100%

90%

90%

90%

When total portfolio <£400m

85%

85%

85%

Limits on variable interest rates
 Debt only
 Investments only

15%
75%

15%
75%

15%
75%

Limits on fixed interest rates:


Limits on Maturity Structure of Fixed Interest Rate Borrowing 2021/22
Lower

Upper

Under 12 months

0%

10%

12 months to 2 years

0%

10%

2 years to 5 years

0%

10%

5 years to 10 years

0%

25%

10 years to 20 years

0%

20%

20 years to 30 years

0%

25%

30 years to 40 years

0%

50%

40 years to 50 years

0%

60%

Limits on Maturity Structure of Variable Interest Rate Borrowing 2021/22
Lower

Upper

30 years to 40 years

0%

60%

40 years to 50 years

0%

40%

Long Term Investments Indicator
11.8.

This indicator sets a limit on the total principal funds invested for greater than 365
days. This limit is set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to manage
the risks associated with the possibility of loss which may arise as a result of having to
seek early repayment, or redemption of, principal sums invested.

11.9.

The indicator is set out below. As at 31 August 2021, the Council is not expected to
hold any investments for longer than 365 days.

Page 119

Maximum Principal Sums Invested for Longer than 365 days

Limit on principal sums
invested for longer than 365
days

2021/22
£m

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

50.0

50.0

50.0

Debt Rescheduling
11.10. As short-term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed
interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate efficiencies by switching
from long-term debt to short-term debt. However, these efficiencies will need to be
considered in light of the current treasury position and the size of the cost of debt
repayment (premiums incurred).
11.11. The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:




The generation of cash savings and/or discounted cash flow savings;
Helping to fulfil the Treasury Strategy; and
Enhancing the balance of the portfolio (to amend the maturity profile and/or the
balance of volatility).
11.12. The Council will continue to explore rescheduling opportunities as appropriate in
respect of the financing of its PFIs and external loans.
11.13. The Council has £120m of LOBO loans at nominal value as at 31 August 2021, of
which £47.5m will be in their call period in 2021/22. In the event that the lender
exercises the option to change the rate or terms of the loans within their call period, the
Council will consider the terms being provided and also the option of repayment of the
loan without penalty.
11.14. The Council continuously reviews its debt position to optimise its cash flow. Any
consideration of debt rescheduling will be reported to Mayor and Cabinet and
subsequently to Council at the earliest meeting possible.
11.15. No new external borrowing has been undertaken to date in 2021/22; the increase in
PWLB margins over gilt yields in October 2019 and the subsequent consultation on
these margins by HM Treasury, together with the impact of coronavirus on the capital
programme, has led the Council to make use of internal borrowing where required this
financial year.
11.16. Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic climate
and following the various increases in the margins added to gilt yields which have
impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since October 2010. No debt rescheduling has
therefore been undertaken to date in the current financial year.

12.

Financial Implications

12.1.

There are no additional financial implications besides those mentioned elsewhere in
this report.

13.

Legal Implications

13.1.

Local authorities are required to produce and monitor for the forthcoming year a range
of indicators based on actual figures; these are set out in the report. The CIPFA
Treasury Management Code of Practice says that movement may be made between

Page 120

the various indicators during the year by an Authority’s Chief Finance Officer so long as
the indicators for the total Authorised Limit and the total Operational Boundary for
external debt remain unchanged. Any such changes are to be reported to the next
meeting of the Council.
13.2.

Under Section 5 of the Local Government Act 2003, the prudential indicator for the total
Authorised Limit for external debt is deemed to be increased by an amount of any
unforeseen payment which becomes due to the Authority within the period to which the
limit relates, which would include, for example, additional external funding becoming
available but not taken into account by the Authority when determining the Authorised
Limit. Where Section 5 of the Act is relied upon to borrow above the Authorised Limit,
the Code requires that this fact is reported to the next meeting of the Council.

13.3.

Authority is delegated to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources to make
amendments to the limits on the Council’s counterparty list and to undertake treasury
management in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the Council’s
Treasury Policies.

14.

Equalities Implications

14.1.

There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

15.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications

15.1.

There are no direct climate or environmental implications arising from this report.

16.

Crime and Disorder Implications

16.1.

There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

17.

Health and Wellbeing Implications

17.1.

There are no direct health and wellbeing implications arising from this report.

18.

Background Papers

18.1.

The following papers are appended to this report:







Appendix 1 – Interest Rate Forecasts 2021 – 2024
Appendix 2 – Extract from Credit Worthiness Policy
Appendix 3 – Benchmarking Extract
Appendix 4 – Economic Update from Link Asset Services
Appendix 5 – Approved Countries for Investment
Appendix 6 – Requirement of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of
Practice

19.

Report Author and Contacts

19.1.

For more information please contact Kathy Freeman, Executive Director of Corporate
Resources, 1st Floor Laurence House, 020 8314 9249,
Kathy.Freeman@lewisham.gov.uk.

19.2.

Financial implications: Michael Docherty, Treasury Accountant (Author)

19.3.

Legal implications: Mia Agnew, Contracts Lawyer

Page 121

APPENDIX 1: Interest Rate Forecasts 2021 - 2024
The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of their service is to
assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. The following table provides Link’s
latest central view.

Period

Bank Rate

Sep 2021
Dec 2021
Mar 2022
Jun 2022
Sep 2022
Dec 2022
Mar 2023
Jun 2023
Sep 2023
Dec 2023
Mar 2024

%
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10
0.25
0.25
0.25
0.50

PWLB Borrowing Rates %
(including certainty rate adjustment of 20 basis points)
5 year
1.20
1.20
1.20
1.30
1.30
1.30
1.40
1.40
1.40
1.50
1.50

10 year
1.60
1.60
1.70
1.70
1.80
1.80
1.90
1.90
1.90
2.00
2.00

Page 122

25 year
1.90
2.00
2.10
2.20
2.30
2.30
2.30
2.40
2.40
2.40
2.50

50 year
1.70
1.80
1.90
2.00
2.10
2.10
2.10
2.20
2.20
2.20
2.30

APPENDIX 2: Extract from Credit Worthiness Policy
(Linked to Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and Counterparty Risk
Management)
Annual Investment Strategy:
The key requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the
Public Services and MHCLG’s Investment Guidance are to set an annual investment
strategy, as part of its annual Treasury Management Strategy for the following year, covering
the identification and approval of the following:


The strategy guidelines for choosing and placing investments, particularly non-specified
investments;



The principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds can be
committed;



Specified investments that the Council will use. These are high security (i.e. high credit
rating, although this is defined by the Council, and no guidelines are given), and high
liquidity investments in sterling and with a maturity of no more than a year; and



Non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications, identifying the general
types of investment that may be used and a limit to the overall amount of various
categories that can be held at any time.

Specified investments: These investments are sterling investments of not more than oneyear maturity, or those which could be for a longer period but where the Council has the right
to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes. They also include investments which were
originally classed as being non-specified investments, but which would have been classified
as specified investments apart from originally being for a period longer than 12 months, once
the remaining period to maturity falls to under twelve months. These are considered low risk
assets where the possibility of loss of principal or investment income is small. These would
include sterling investments which would not be defined as capital expenditure with:
1. The UK Government, such as the Debt Management Account Deposit Facility
(DMADF), UK Treasury bills or a gilt with less than one year to maturity;
2. Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration;
3. A local authority, housing association, parish council or community council;
4. Pooled investment vehicles (such as money market funds) that have been awarded a
high credit rating (AAA) by a credit rating agency; and
5. A body that is considered of a high credit quality (such as a bank or building society).
Within these bodies, and in accordance with the Code, the Council has set additional criteria
to define the time and amount of monies which will be invested in these bodies, as shown in
the table further below.
Non-Specified Investments: These are any investments which do not meet the specified
investment criteria, and include certificates of deposit issued by banks or building societies,
fixed deposits with building societies that do not meet the basic secruity requirements of
specified investments, corporate bonds, and property funds. Provision has been made in the
Strategy to invest in a limited number of lower rated building societies within the restrictions
set out, certifcates of deposit with both banks and building societies, and pooled asset funds
(should the relevant opportunity arise). The Council will seek guidance on the status of any

Page 123

pooled fund or collective investment scheme it may consider using, and appropriate due
diligence will also be undertaken before investment of this type is undertaken.
The Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Group. This service
employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit
rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. The credit ratings of
counterparties are supplemented with the following overlays:




Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit
ratings;
Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries.

These factors are weighted and combined with an overlay of CDS spreads. The end product
is a series of ratings (colour coded) to indicate the relative creditworthiness of
counterparties. These ratings are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration
for investments.
The Link Group creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information other than just
primary ratings. Futhermore, by using a risk weighted scoring system, it does not give undue
precedence to just one agency’s ratings.
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are:
Minimum
credit criteria /
colour band

Max % of total
investments/ £
limit per
institution

Max. maturity
period

DMADF – UK
Government

N/A

100%

6 months

UK Government gilts

UK sovereign
rating

£20m

1 year

UK Government
Treasury bills

UK sovereign
rating

£60m

6 months

AAA

£30m

Liquid

AAA

£30m

Liquid

AAA

£30m

Liquid

Local authorities

N/A

£10m

1 year

Term deposits with
banks and building
societies

Yellow*
Purple
Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

£30m
£25m
£40m
£25m
£20m
£15m
Not for use**

Up to 5 years
Up to 2 years
Up to 1 year
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 Months
Up to 100 days
Not for use**

CDs or corporate
bonds with banks and
building societies

Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

£40m
£25m
£20m
£15m
Not for use**

Up to 1 year
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 Months
Up to 100 days
Not for use**

Money Market Funds CNAV
Money Market Funds LVNAV
Money Market Funds VNAV

Page 124

Term deposits or CDs
with building societies
on Link’s counterparty
list rated ‘No colour’

BBB-

£10m

Up to 3 months

Call accounts and
notice accounts

Yellow*
Purple
Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

£30m
£25m
£40m
£25m
£20m
£15m
Not for use

Liquid

£50m

At least 5 years

Pooled asset funds

*for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, Constant Net Asset Value (CNAV) money market
funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt.
**except for those building societies rated BBB- or higher as set out elsewhere in the table.
The monitoring of investment counterparties: The credit rating of counterparties will be
monitored regularly, on at least a weekly basis. The Council receives credit rating
information (changes, rating watches and rating outlooks) from Link Group as and when
ratings change, and the impact of those changes are assessed promptly. On occasion
ratings may be downgraded when an investment has already been made. The criteria used
are such that a minor downgrading should not affect the full receipt of the principal and
interest upon maturity. Any counterparty failing to meet the criteria will be removed from the
lending list immediately, and if required new counterparties which meet the criteria will be
added to the list. Any fixed term investment held at the time of the downgrade will be left to
mature as such investments cannot be broken mid-term.
Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service. In addition, the Council
will make use of market data and information on any external support for banks to help
support its decision-making process.
Accounting treatment of investments: The accounting treatment may differ from the
underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To
ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact which may arise from
these differences, we will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they
are undertaken.

Page 125

APPENDIX 3: Benchmarking Extract
The following three pages present an extract, with glossary, of the Council’s treasury benchmarking report as at 30 June 2021.

Page 126

Page 127

Definitions

Page 128

WARoR

Weighted Average Rate of Return

This is the average annualised rate of return weighted by the principal amount in each
rate.

WAM

Weighted Average Time to Maturity

This is the average time, in days, till the portfolio matures, weighted by principal
amount.

WATT

Weighted Average Total Time

This is the average time, in days, that deposits are lent out for, weighted by principal
amount.

WA Risk

Weighted Average Credit Risk
Number

Each institution is assigned a colour corresponding to a suggested duration using Link
Asset Services' Suggested Credit Methodology 1 = Yellow; 1.25 = Pink 1; 1.5 = Pink 2,
2 = Purple; 3 = Blue; 4 = Orange; 5 = Red; 6 = Green; 7 = No Colour

Model
WARoR

Model Weighted Average Rate of
Return

This is the WARoR that the model produces by taking into account the risks inherent in
the portfolio.

Difference

Difference

This is the difference between the actual WARoR and the model WARoR; Actual
WARoR minus Model WARoR.

APPENDIX 4: Economic Update from Link Asset Services
UK Economy
1.1

On 5th August, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted unanimously to leave
Bank Rate unchanged at 0.10% and made no changes to its programme of
quantitative easing purchases due to finish by the end of this year at a total of
£895bn; only one MPC member voted to stop these purchases now to leave total
purchases at £45bn short of the total target.

1.2

Although MPC decisions have very much unchanged over the last year, there was a
major shift from indicating no expected tightening any time soon to now flagging up
that interest rate increases were on the horizon. There was a disagreement among
MPC members, some of whom felt that the forward guidance that the MPC won’t
tighten policy until inflation “is achieving the 2% inflation target sustainably”, had
already been met. Although other MPC members did not agree with them, they all did
agree that “some modest tightening of monetary policy over the forecast period was
likely to be necessary to be consistent with meeting the inflation target sustainably in
the medium term”.

1.3

The MPC was more upbeat in its new 2-3 year forecasts so whereas they had
expected unemployment to peak at 5.4% in Q3, the MPC now thought that the peak
had already passed. It is noted that the recent spread of the Delta variant has
damaged growth over the last couple of months and has set back recovery to prepandemic level of economic activity until probably October.

1.4

The review of the Bank of England monetary policy has now been completed and it
will start to tighten monetary policy by:


Placing the focus on raising Bank Rate as “the active instrument in most
circumstances”



Raising Bank Rate to 0.50% (1.50% previously), before starting on reducing
its holdings.



Once Bank Rate is at 0.50%, it would stop reinvesting maturing gilts.



Once Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%, it would start selling its holdings.

1.5

The MPC did not give any indication on when it would start raising Bank Rate.
Inflation is currently expected to peak at 4% during 2021. The key issue then is
whether this is going to be transitory inflation or whether it will morph into inflation
which will bust the MPC’s 2% target on an ongoing basis.

1.6

Governor of Bank of England said; “the challenge of avoiding a steep rise in
unemployment has been replaced by that of ensuring a flow of labour into jobs” and
that “the Committee will be monitoring closely the incoming evidence regarding
developments in the labour market, and particularly unemployment, wider measures
of slack, and underlying wage pressures.” In other words, the MPC is worried that
labour shortages will push up wage growth by more than it expected and that, as a
result, CPI inflation will stay above the 2% target for longer.

1.7

This then raises the issue as to whether the million or so workers who left the UK
during the pandemic, will come back to the UK and help to relieve wage inflation
pressures. It is also unknown how trade with the EU will evolve once the pandemic
distortions have dissipated, now that the UK no longer has tariff free access to EU
markets.

Page 129

1.8

At present, the MPC’s forecasts are showing inflation close to, but just below, it’s 2%
target in 2 to 3 years’ time. The initial surge in inflation in 2021 and 2022 is due to a
combination of base effects, one off energy price increases and a release of pent-up
demand hitting supply constraints. However, these effects will gradually subside or
fall out of the calculation of inflation.

1.9

The issue for the MPC will, therefore, turn into a question of when the elimination of
spare capacity in the economy takes over as being the main driver to push inflation
upwards and this could then mean that the MPC will not start tightening policy until
2023. The MPC sets its policy as wanting to see inflation coming in sustainably over
2% to counteract periods when inflation was below 2%. While financial markets have
been pricing in a hike in Bank Rate to 0.25% by mid-2022, and to 0.50% by the end
of 2022, they appear to be getting ahead of themselves. In the view of Link Asset
Services, the first increase to 0.25% will be unlikely to come until Q2 2023 and the
second to 0.50% until Q1 2024. The second increase would then open the way for
the Bank to cease reinvesting maturing bonds sometime during 2024.

USA Economy
1.10

Since the Democrats won the elections in late 2020 and gained control of both
Congress and the Senate, (although power is more limited in the latter), they have
passed a $1.9trn (8.8% of GDP) stimulus package in March 2021 on top of the
$900bn fiscal stimulus deal passed by Congress in late December. These, together
with the vaccine rollout proceeding swiftly to hit the target of giving a first jab to over
half of the population within the President’s first 100 days, will promote a rapid easing
of restrictions and strong economic recovery during 2021. The Democrats have also
recently passed a $1trn fiscal stimulus package aimed at renewing infrastructure over
the next decade. Although this package is longer-term, it would also help economic
recovery in the near-term.

1.11

In the Fed’s June meeting, it stuck to its line that it expects strong economic growth
this year to have only a transitory impact on inflation which is being temporarily
boosted by base effects, spikes in reopening inflation and supply shortages. The big
surprise was the extent of the upward shift in the “dot plot” of interest rate projections:
having previously expected no hikes until 2024 at the earliest, most officials now
anticipate two in 2023, with 7 out of 18 expecting to raise rates next year. This was a
first indication that there was rising concern about the risks around inflationary
pressures building up on a more ongoing basis and is somewhat hard to reconcile to
the words around inflation pressures being only transitory.

Eurozone Economy
1.12

The slow rollout of vaccines initially delayed economic recovery in early 2021 but the
vaccination rate has picked up sharply since then. After a contraction of -0.3% in Q1,
Q2 came in with strong growth of 2% which is likely to continue into Q3, though some
countries more dependent on tourism may struggle. There is little sign that underlying
inflationary pressures are building to cause the European Central Bank any concern.

China Economy
1.13

After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1 2020, economic
recovery was strong in the rest of the year; this enabled China to recover all the initial
contraction. Policy makers both quashed the virus and implemented a programme of
monetary and fiscal support that was particularly effective at stimulating short-term
growth.

Page 130

1.14

China’s economy benefited from the shift towards online spending by consumers in
developed markets. These factors helped to explain its comparative outperformance
compared to western economies during 2021. However, the pace of economic
growth will fall back after this initial surge of recover from the pandemic. China is also
now struggling to contain the spread of the Delta variant through sharp local
lockdowns which will damage economic growth. These are also questions as to how
effective Chinese vaccines are proving.

Japan Economy
1.15

After declaring a second state emergency on 7th January, which depressed growth in
Q1 2021, the economy was expected to make a strong recover to pre-pandemic GDP
levels in the rest of the year as the slow rollout of vaccines eventually gathers
momentum. However, the Delta variant has now raised questions as to whether
lockdowns will be needed to contain it and to protect the health service from being
overwhelmed.

Global Growth Prospects
1.16

World growth was in recession in 2020 but recovered during 2021. Inflation is unlikely
to be a problem for some years due to the creation of excess production capacity and
depressed demand caused by the coronavirus crisis.

Gilt Yields/PWLB Rates
1.17

There was much speculation during the second half of 2019 that bond markets were
in a bubble which was driving bond prices up and yields down to historically very low
levels. The context for that was heightened expectations that the US could have been
heading for a recession in 2020. In addition, there were growing expectations of a
downturn in world economic growth, especially due to fears around the impact of the
trade war between the US and China, together with inflation generally at low levels in
most countries and expected to remain subdued. Combined, these conditions were
conducive to very low bond yields.

1.18

While inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the last
30 years in lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central rates
has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers. This means
that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major impact on
consumer spending, inflation, etc. The consequence of this has been the gradual
lowering of the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial markets.
Over the year prior to the coronavirus crisis, this resulted in many bond yields up to
10 years turning negative in the Eurozone. In addition, there was, at times, an
inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 10 year yields fell below shorter-term
yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a recession.

1.19

Gilt yields had, therefore, already been on a generally falling trend up until the
coronavirus crisis hit western economies during March 2020. After gilt yields initially
spiked upwards in March, yields fell sharply in response to major western central
banks taking rapid policy action to deal with excessive stress in financial markets
during March and starting massive quantitative easing driven purchases of
government bonds: these actions also acted to put downward pressure on
government bond yields at a time when there was a huge and quick expansion of
government expenditure financed by issuing government bonds. Such
unprecedented levels of issuance in “normal” times would have caused bond yields
to rise sharply.

1.20

At the start of 2021, all gilt yields from 1 to 8 years were negative: however, since

Page 131

then all gilt yields have become positive and have risen sharply, especially in medium
and longer-term periods. The main driver of these increases has been investors
becoming progressively more concerned at the way that inflation has risen sharply in
major western economies during 2021, and further increases in inflation are
expected. There is also much investor concern that the US Fed is taking a too laid
back view that this inflation is purely transitory and that it will subside without the
need for the Fed to take any action to tighten monetary policy; this could mean that
rates will need to rise faster and sharper if inflation were to get out of control.
1.21

The current PWLB rates are set as margins over gilt yields as follows:


PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)



PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)



PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)



PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)



Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates, (gilts plus 80bps), above
shows, there is likely to be little upward movement in PWLB rates over the next three
years as the Bank of England is not expected to raise Bank Rate above 0.25% during
that period as inflation is not expected to be sustainably over 2%.

Creditworthiness
1.22

Significant levels of downgrades to Short and Long Term credit ratings have not
materialised since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where they did change, any
alterations were limited to Outlooks. However, as economies are beginning to
reopen, there have been some instances of previous lowering of Outlooks being
reversed.

1.23

Although CDS prices (these are market indicators of credit risk) for banks (including
those from the UK) spiked at the outset of the pandemic in 2020, they have
subsequently returned to near pre-pandemic levels. However, sentiment can easily
shift, so it remains important to undertake continual monitoring of all aspects of risk
and return in the current circumstances.

Debt Rescheduling
1.24

Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic
climate and following the various increases in the margins added to gilt yields which
have impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since October 2010. No debt
rescheduling has therefore been undertaken to date in the current financial year.

Page 132

APPENDIX 5: Approved Countries for Investment

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher (we show
the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also have banks operating in sterling
markets which have credit ratings of green or above in the Link Group creditworthiness
service.
AAA










Australia
Denmark
Germany
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Norway
Singapore
Sweden
Switzerland

AA+




Canada
Finland
USA

AA



Abu Dhabi (UAE)
France

AA




Belgium
Hong Kong
Qatar
U.K.

Page 133

APPENDIX 6: Requirement of the CIPFA Treasury Management
Code of Practice
Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation
(i) Full Council


budget consideration and approval;



approval of annual Treasury Management Strategy;



approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses and treasury
management policy statement.

(ii) Public Accounts Committee


receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and
activities.

The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer
The S151 (responsible) officer has responsibility for:


recommending treasury management policies for approval, reviewing the same
regularly, and monitoring compliance;



submitting regular treasury management policy reports;



submitting budgets and budget variations;



receiving and reviewing management information reports;



reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;



ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;



ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;



approval of the division of responsibilities;



approving the organisation’s treasury management practices;



preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, nonfinancial investments and treasury management, with a long-term timeframe;



ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the
long term and provides value for money;



ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority;



ensuring that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on
non-financial assets and their financing;



ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake
a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of risk compared
to its financial resources;



ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring
and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long term liabilities;



provision to Members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees;



ensuring that Members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures
taken on by an authority; and



ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in-house or externally, to
carry out the above.

Page 134

Agenda Item 7
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
X
Information
Part 1
Part 2
Key Decision
Date of Meeting
Title of Report

6 October 2021
Financial Monitoring 2021/22

Originator of Report

Selwyn Thompson, Director of Financial
Services

X

Ext. 46932

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that
the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

X
X
X
X
X
X
N/A
N/A

Signed:
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources
Date: 28th September 2021
Signed:
Executive Director of Corporate Resources
Date 28th September 2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 135

\\wff01vca000\home\ctownsen\my documents\kathy freeman\m&c reports\financial monitoring 2021-22 - sign off sheet - 061021.doc

Date

Mayor & Cabinet

Financial Monitoring 2021/22
Date: 6 October 2021
Key decision: No
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: None Specific
Contibutors: Executive Director for Corporate Resources

Outline and recommendations

This report presents the financial monitoring position for the 2021/22 financial
year. It sets out the position as at 31 July 2021, noting any exceptional items to
the end of August 2021.
The report covers the position on the Council’s General Fund, Dedicated Schools
Grant, Housing Revenue Account, Collection Fund and Capital Programme. It
provides an update on the work done to assess and monitor the financial
implications of the Covid-19 response.
The Council-wide financial forecast for General Fund activities is an overspend of
£33.2m. The overall position consists of Covid-19 related expenditure of some
£23.9m which is met entirely by currently held Covid-19 government grant income.
This means that the General Fund ‘business as usual’ expenditure is currently
forecast to overspend by £9.3m. This is an early estimate of the Council’s financial
position and officers will continue with plans to reduce this overspend.
Financial monitoring will continue throughout the year, and Executive Directors will
continue to manage down budget pressures within their directorates in a drive to bring
spend back into line with cash-limited budgets.

Page 136

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
16 September 2021 – 2020/21 Progress Update on 2020/21 external audit process to
Audit Panel
23 September 2021 – Period 4 (July) Financial Monitoring 2021/22 to Public Accounts
Select Committee
6 October 2021 – Period 4 (July) Financial Monitoring 2021/22 to Mayor & Cabinet

1. Executive Summary
1.1.

This report sets out the financial forecasts for 2021/22 as at 31 July 2021, noting any
exceptional items to the end of August 2021. The key areas to note are as follows:
i. There is a forecast overspend of £9.3m against the directorates’ net general
fund revenue budget, after the application of additional government funding to
support the local authority’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic. This is set
out in more detail in sections 6 to 10 of this report
ii. The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is currently forecasted to overspend by a
cumulative £8.5m at the end of the financial year. There are 12 schools with
deficits. This is set out in more detail in section 13 of this report.
iii. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is currently projecting a balanced
budget position. This is set out in more detail in section 14 of this report.
iv. As at 31 July 2021, some 34.14% of council tax due and 32.06% of business
rates due had been collected. At this point last year, 33.83% of council tax
due and 46.35% of business rates due had been collected. This is set out in
more detail in section 15 of this report.
v. The Capital Programme spend as at 31 July 2021 is £28.4m, which is 11% of
the 2020/21 proposed revised capital budget of £252.4m. At this point last
year, 10% of the revised budget had been spent, with the final outturn being
70% (£120.1m) of the revised budget of £171.6m. This has been set out in
more detail in section 16 of this report and the appendices 3 to 5.

2. Purpose
2.0

The purpose of this report is to set out the financial forecasts for 2021/22 as at the end
of July 2021, noting any exceptional items to the end of August 2021 and projected to
the year-end, 31 March 2022.

3. Policy Context
3.0

This financial position demonstrates the impact of the very severe financial constraints
which have been imposed on Council services with the cuts made year on year, despite
the increasing demand to deliver services to the borough’s residents.

3.1

The Council's strategy and priorities drive the Budget with changes in resource allocation
determined in accordance with policies and strategy. The Council launched its current
Corporate Strategy in 2019, with seven corporate priorities as stated below:

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 137
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

3.2

3.3

3.4

Corporate Priorities


Open Lewisham - Lewisham will be a place where diversity and cultural heritage is
recognised as a strength and is celebrated.



Tackling the housing crisis - Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.



Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child has access to
an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the support they need to keep
them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential.



Building and inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high-quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local economy.



Delivering and defending health, social care and support - Ensuring everyone
receives the health, mental health, social care and support services they need.



Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces, and benefits from a
healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local environment.



Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here as we
work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime.
Values are critical to the Council’s role as an employer, regulator, and securer of
services and steward of public funds. The Council’s values shape interactions and
behaviours across the organisational hierarchy, between officers, and members,
between the council and partners and between the council and citizens. In delivering our
duties, we are guided by the Council's four core values:
 We put service to the public first
 We respect all people and all communities
 We invest in employees
 We are open, honest, and fair in all we do.
The Council’s strong and resilient framework for prioritising action has served the
organisation well in the face of austerity and on-going cuts to local government
spending. This continues to mean, that even in the face of the most daunting financial
challenges facing the Council and its partners, we continue to work alongside our
communities to achieve more than we could by simply working alone.

3.5

This joint endeavour helps work through complex challenges, such as the pressures
faced by health and social care services, and to secure investment in the borough, for
new homes, school improvements, regenerating town centres, renewed leisure
opportunities and improvement in the wider environment. This work has and continues to
contribute much to improve life chances and life opportunities across the borough
through improved education opportunities, skills development and employment. There is
still much more that can be done to realise our ambitions for the future of the borough;
ranging from our work to support housing supply and business growth, through to our
programmes of care and support to some of our most vulnerable and troubled families.

3.6

Over the course of the last 18 months, the Council’s business, and the day to day lives
of Lewisham’s residents, has been turned on its head. In March 2020, Council activity
simultaneously ground to a halt and ramped up in equal measure. With ‘non-critical’
services wound down almost overnight and a new, urgent focus on ‘critical services’, the
Council’s leadership team, members and vast range of services faced new demands,
challenges, pressures and opportunities.

3.7

The pace, scope and scale of change has been immense: the pandemic has demanded
agility, creativity, pace, leadership, organisational and personal resilience, strong

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 138
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

communications and an unerring focus on the right priorities. Within the Council, the
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is felt acutely across all of our service areas and
throughout the year we have been grappling with real challenges in how we keep
services running for our residents and how we protect the most vulnerable. Across the
borough, residents are looking afresh at our borough, their neighbourhoods, and seeing
where they live through new eyes.
3.8

While we do not yet fully understand what all of the long-term implications of Covid-19
will mean for the borough, there have been many clear and visible impacts of the
pandemic on our residents, Lewisham the place and also the Council. We know that
coronavirus has disproportionately affected certain population groups in Lewisham,
matching patterns that have been identified nationally and internationally: older
residents, residents born in the Americas & the Caribbean, Africa or the Middle East &
Asia, and residents in the most deprived areas of the borough have considerably higher
death rates. We know that more Lewisham residents are claiming unemployment
benefits compared to the beginning of this year and that food insecurity has increased in
the borough.

4. Recommendations
4.0

The Mayor is asked to:

4.1

Note the current financial forecasts for the year ending 31 March 2022 and request that
Executive Directors continue to work in bringing forward action plans to manage down
budget pressures within their directorates.

4.2

Agree that officers submit a bid for up to £3m from the Government’s Social Housing
Decarbonisation Fund as set out in paragraphs 8.8 to 8.10 of this report; and

4.3

Delegate to the Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm the
procurement and delivery of the works in consultation with the Executive Director for
Corporate Resources.

5. Directorate Forecast Outturn
5.0

The Council is reporting a net overspend for general fund activities of £33.2m. This
consists of Covid related spend of £23.9m which is met by Covid-19 government grant
income and a general fund ‘business as usual’ overspend of £9.3m.

5.1

The financial forecast position is predicated on the successful delivery of revenue budget
savings of £7.5m which were not achieved last year, but will now need to be
implemented in 2021/22. It also includes the outcome of delivered agreed savings of
£22.6m for 2021/22, attached at Appendix 1 and agreed overspend reduction measures
for 2021/22 of £5.4m set out in Appendix 2. The overall pressures are alleviated in part
by additional government grant income which is being received to provide some financial
support to councils to undertake additional activities in recognition of the unplanned
costs which have been incurred in responding to Covid-19. The amount received by
Lewisham and available for use in 2021/22 for such purposes, totals £26m. Of this sum
of Covid-19 government grant income, some £23.9m is being applied to the related costs
identified in 2021/22 to date. More detail on these grants have been set out in section 11
of this report.
Table 1 – Overall Directorate Position for 2021/22
Directorate

Net
Forecast Forecast Forecast
budget Outturn Variance Outturn
2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 Covid-19
related
Variance
2021/22

Forecast
Outturn
Non
Covid-19
related
Variance

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 139
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Forecast
Outturn
Non
Covid-19
related
Variance

July
2021/22

Children & Young People
Community Services
Housing, Regeneration and
Public Realm
Corporate Services
Chief Executives
Directorate Totals
Covid-19 Government
Grant Income - Applied
Corporate Items
Net Revenue Budget

£m
58.4
81.1

£m
65.9
99.0

£m
7.5
17.9

21.9
32.5
11.2
205.1

26.7
35.2
11.5
238.3

N/A
38.1
243.2

£m

May
2021/22

£m

4.4
12.3

3.1
5.6

3.1
5.1

4.8
2.7
0.3
33.2

4.8
2.2
0.2
23.9

0.0
0.5
0.1
9.3

0.0
0.7
0.0
8.9

(23.9)

(23.9)

(23.9)

0.0

0.0

38.1
252.5

0.0
9.3

0.0
0.0

0.0
9.3

0.0
8.9

6. Children and Young People directorate
6.0

The Children and Young People Directorate is forecasting a year-end overspend of
£3.1m for general fund services as at end of July and represents no change from the
figure reported in May 2021. This is after the application and achievement of once-off in
year measures of £4.3m, and £4.4m of the currently held grant income the Council
received from central government to fully offset Covid-19 costs incurred by the
directorate.

6.1

It can be seen from Appendices 1 and 2 that a number of risks have been identified to
the achievement of the savings and the cost reduction measures. In addition to this there
are further risks relating to changes in demand due to Covid, demographic changes and
changes to the funding of asylum seekers. Work continues to manage those risks and
find alternative ways of funding any pressures arising from them, including a potential
underspend of £0.6m in the No Recourse to Public Funds budget however this could
face pressure over the next few months depending on the placing of any refugee
numbers in Lewisham.

6.2

The overall Directorate position is shown in the table below.
Table 2 – Children & Young People Directorate
Service Area

Net
budget
2021/22

£m

Forecast
as at
31 July

Forecast
Variance
(Under)/Over
Spend

2021

2021/22

Forecast
Outturn
Covid-19
related
Variance
2021/22

£m

£m

£m

Forecast
Outturn
Non
Covid-19
related
Variance
July
2021/22

Forecast
Outturn
Non
Covid-19
related
Variance
May
2021/22

£m

£m

Children’s Social Care

40.8

47.0

6.2

3.1

3.1

3.1

No Recourse to Public
Funds

2.6

2.6

0.0

0

0

0

11.0

12.3

1.3

1.3

0

0

Education Services

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 140
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Joint Commissioning /
Early Help

6.5

6.5

0.0

0.0

0

0

Schools

(2.5)

(2.5)

0

0

0

0

Total

58.4

65.9

7.5

4.4

3.1

3.1

6.3

The following sections provide a summary of the cost of Covid-19 and the revenue
forecast by division, including a summary of directorate risks and pressures and any
actions being taken by way of mitigation.
Cost of Covid-19

6.4

The overall forecasted impact of Covid-19 on base budgets for expenditure and income
in Children and Young People is £4.4m. The Covid-19 pressures are summarised as
follows:
Table 3 – Covid-19 Pressures for the CYP Directorate
Service

Area

Children’s Social Care

Residential Placements/Care Leavers

1.4

Other Children Social Care Support
Unachieved savings

0.4
1.3

SEND Salaries

0.7

Home to School Transport

0.3

Other

0.3
4.4

Education Services

Total

Forecast
Outturn
As at 31 July
2021
£m

Children Social Care
6.5

The Children Social Care (CSC) division is forecasting an overall overspend of £6.2m.
This includes Covid-19 related costs of £3.1m. The general fund related overspend is
currently forecasted to be £3.1m. This general fund services overspend is expected to
be solely against the placements budget based on the assumption that the delivery of
£0.7m of savings and £2.9m of cost reductions as a part of the CYP recovery plan is fully
met although it should be noted that an apparent change in demand, particularly in the
number of 18 plus care leavers in Staying Put accommodation, presents a risk. Due to a
recent system issue the service is undertaking data validation exercise which may
impact on the forecasted position.

6.6

Progress on this position will be monitored closely throughout the year with a view to
bringing spend more into line with budget. Should the overspend persists, there is an
option to make a call against resources held corporately which have been specifically set
aside for this service area.

6.7

The placements budget in 2021/22 is forecasted to overspend by £3.1m after adjusting
for Covid-19 related costs of £1.4m. This compares to an overspend on placement of
£4.8m at the end of 2020/21. The reduction in the overspend comes as a result of
actions to manage demand and reduce costs as a part of the CSC recovery plan. As
stated above, the forecast reported is pending validation of data and also assumes that

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 141
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

all savings will be met or alternative savings will be presented.
6.8

The total number of Children Looked After (CLAs), i.e. those in residential, foster and
semi-independent placements, at the end of July 2021, is 462, a reduction of 8
compared to the figure reported in May 2021.

6.9

Over the same period the number of care leavers over the age of 18 in Staying Put
accommodation has increased from 64 to 71. The change in demand has dampened the
impact of recovery plan measures intended to reduce the pressures on the placements
budget.

No Recourse to Public Funds
6.10

As at the end of July, some 55 cases being supported compared to 67 cases at the end
of the last reporting period. During the month of July, the latest data available, five new
cases were accepted for support and 12 closed. Based on the current data, there is the
potential for a £0.6m underspend by the end of the financial year, however, potential
increase in demand and risks to the delivery of savings and cost reduction measures
mean than a balanced budget is currently being forecast.

Education Services
6.11

The Education Services division budget is forecasted to end the year with a balanced
budget after taking into account £1.3m of grant funding to cover Covid-19 related costs
and cost reduction measures to the value of £0.3m. The position assumes that savings
to the value of £1.3m are achieved. It should be noted that there is a risk to the savings
proposed in the Special Educational Needs (SEN) transport service of £0.25m, but
measures are being considered to mitigate this. A further risk is the increase in EHPC
numbers which could potentially add pressure on the transport budget. A cross-Council
transport review board has been established to consider the delivery of transport
services, including the savings, mitigation plan and demand pressures.

Joint Commissioning and Early Help
6.12

The Joint Commissioning and Early Help service budget is forecasted to end the year
with a balanced budget after taking into account £0.1m of Covid-19 costs of £0.1m being
covered by the currently held government grant income. This assumes the full delivery of
savings to the value of £0.3m and cost reduction measures as a part of the CYP
recovery plan of £1.1m.

7. Community Services Directorate
7.0

The Community Services Directorate is forecasting a year-end overspend of £5.6m for
general fund services as at the end of July 2021. This is after the application of £12.3m
of government grant income to fully offset Covid-19 costs incurred by the Directorate.
This compares to an overspend of £5.3m overspend at the end of period 3. The overall
Directorate position is shown in the table below.
Table 4 – Community Services Directorate

Service Area

Net
budget
2021/22

Forecast
as at
31-Jul
2021

Forecast
Variance
(Under)/Over
Spend
2021/22

Forecast
Outturn
Covid-19
related
Variance
2021/22

Forecast
Outturn
Non
Covid-19
related
Variance
July
2021/22

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 142
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Forecast
Outturn
Non
Covid-19
related
Variance
May
2021/22

£m
Adults’ Social Care

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

59.8

72.8

13.0

7.1

5.9

5.4

7.7

7.7

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

(0.8)

2

2.8

3.1

(0.3)

(0.3)

Communities, Partnerships
and Leisure

9.9

11.8

1.9

1.9

0.0

0.0

Culture, Learning and
Libraries

3.5

3.7

0.2

0.2

0.0

0.0

Strategy Partnership &
Improvement

1.0

1.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

81.1

99

17.9

12.3

5.6

5.1

Integrated Commissioning
Public Health

Total

7.1

The following sections provide a summary of the cost of Covid-19 and the revenue
forecast by division, including a summary of directorate risks and pressures and any
actions being taken by way of mitigation.
Cost of Covid-19

7.2

The overall forecasted impact of Covid-19 on base budgets for expenditure and income
in Community Services is £12.3m. The Covid-19 pressures are summarised as follows:
Table 5 – Covid-19 Pressures for the Community Services Directorate
Forecast
Outturn
Service

Area

2021/22
£m

Adults’ Social Care

Public Health
Communities,
Partnerships &
Leisure

ASC - workforce pressure

0.1

Infection Control

1.4

Lateral Flow Testing

1.1

Market Support

0.1

Loss of client contributions

1.2

Unachieved Savings

3.2

Test and Trace

2.2

PPE and Infection Control

0.9

Community Centre Income & Parks Events
Income

0.2

Community Centres & Bereavement ServicesInfection Control costs
Leisure Management-GLL contract costs

Culture Learning and
Libraries

0.1
1.2

Bereavement Services-London Wide Mortality
Management Scheme

0.4

Adult Learning-Student Fee Income and
Infection Control costs

0.1

Libraries Income and Infection Control costs

0.1

Total

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 143
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

12.3

Adults’ Social Care Services
7.3

The Adults’ Social Care Services division is forecasting an overspend of £5.9m for
general fund services. This compares to a £5.6m overspend at end of the last reporting
period. The movement from the previous period is due to an uplift that has been applied
and backdated. There is an overall overspend of £13m, where £7.1m of these costs are
attributable to Covid-19 activity and is covered by the government grant income. The
general fund services overspend takes into account £10m savings that are anticipated
on being delivered in full.

7.4

The movement from the close of last year to the beginning of this one, is significant. The
Council is seeing increases in demand for community based services as the service
users are being discharged from hospital which is an apparent trend across London and
nationally. Service users being discharged out of hospital have increased complexity of
care and often requiring step up in package support. Such risks manifest themselves in
higher levels of care, increased use of 24-hour care at home, and increased use of
double-handed care. Furthermore, the number of placements in residential care has
increased and this pattern is expected to continue into 2022/23. These are just a few
cost drivers that the service is seeing increases in. These costs were supported by the
Covid-19 grant as well as the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for discharges.
Members should note, that whilst pressures for 2020/21 were managed, there is a risk
that the Council will face increased costs and demands in 2021/22 without the funding
support it received last year.

7.5

Furthermore, it should be noted that the costs of transitions from childrens’ to adults will
again be prevelant. This on-going pressure last year was in excess of £1m.

Integrated Commissioning
7.6

The Integrated Commissioning division is forecasting a balanced budget position by the
year-end. Last year, the division was underspent by £0.8m on general fund services
which was offset by pressures related to Covid-19 temporary contract stabilisation
payments of £0.2m. These payments were made to Supporting People and Substance
Misuse providers and were fully funded from Covid-19 government grant income.

7.7

The Prevention and Inclusion element of Joint Commissioning covering Drug & Alcohol
Services and Supporting People was underspent by £0.4m in 2020/21, primarily as a
result of variations on activity based contracts. Savings of £0.3m have been taken in the
2021/22 financial year and these are expected to be fully achieved with no variance for
the current financial year.

7.8

In 2020/21, the Adults Joint Commissioning budget underspent by £0.3m mainly as a
result of a reduction in projected spend on a combination of section 75 payments made
to the CCG and on block/spot purchase contractual arrangements with the voluntary
sector. A number of these contracts are currently under review in 2021/22.

Public Health
7.9

The Public Health division is forecasting an underspend is £0.3m for general fund
services. There is an overall forecasted overspend of £2.8m, where £3.1m of these costs
relate to Covid-19 activity. Within the overall position, the forecasted underspend of
£0.3m is on sexual health services. This reflects reduced activity and lower payments to
out-of-borough clinics. As lockdown eases, it is expected that activity levels will increase
at which point the forecast will be reviewed.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 144
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Communities, Leisure and Partnerships
7.10

The Communities, Leisure and Partnerships service is forecasting a balanced budget
position by the year-end for non covid activity. The estimated Covid-19 related costs of
£2m is expected to be covered by the Covid-19 government grant income.

7.11

The Leisure Management budget was overspent by £1.9m last year which was all
treated as Covid-19 related and therefore covered by government grant income. The
pandemic led to the forced termination of the previous leisure contract and creation of a
new contractual arrangement with Greenwich Leisure Ltd (GLL). The new contract is an
open book arrangement with GLL taking a percentage on income for management and
overheads and the net costs of the service being bourne by the Council. The sum of
£1.2m had originally been set aside in Corporate Provisions to cover the 2021/22
contract costs. However, it has now been decided that the costs of the GLL contract will
be treated as a Covid-19 related cost pressure for 2021/22 and will therefore be offset
against a combination of government grant funding and the remaining balance of Leisure
Relief grant funding received from the Sports Council of £0.2m. Officers are in the
process of agreeing first quarter profit & loss accounts with GLL, but are currently
assuming that £1.2m will be sufficient to cover this year’s contract costs.

7.12

Bereavement Services income for the cemeteries and crematorium in the 2020/21
financial year showed a significant income surplus against budget of £0.6m which
resulted primarily from the excess deaths due to the coronavirus pandemic. The current
year has seen mortality rates fall back to more normal levels as the impact of the
pandemic has eased and despite charge the charge increases that were implemented
on 1st April 2021 officers are currently projecting an income shortfall of £0.1m for
2021/22. In addition, there is a small staffing pressure in Bereavement Services resulting
from the need to cover for a member of staff on long term absense and a further
pressure on the projected contribution to London Borough of Southwark under the
Coroners’ Court Consortium. Overall, there is a £0.2m non covid pressure across the
service.

7.13

Ths budget pressure on Bereavement Services is being offset by other service
underspends across the Division. Additional income of £0.1m is projected to be
generated by Greenscene at Beckenham Place Park from a combination of Car Parking
charges and Events. In addition, there are staffing underspends totalling £0.1m across
the Community Development and Community Safety Services as a result of staff
vacancies.

Culture, Learning and Libraries
7.14

The Culture, Learning and Libraries division is forecasting a balanced budget by the
year-end on non covid activity. The estimated Covid-19 related costs of £0.2m is
expected to be covered by the Covid-19 government grant income.

7.15

The delivery of the Borough of Culture Programme has been highlighted as an area of
potential risk across both the 2021/22 and 2022/23 financial years. The Council has
been awarded £1.35m from the Greater London Authority (GLA) to deliver the London
Borough of Culture for 2022. The programme will be delivered across both the 2021/22
and 2022/23 financial years with full delivery commencing in Jannuary 2022. In addition
to the GLA grant funding, the Council is expected to make a one-off contribution of
£0.5m from earmarked reserves and is also aligning £0.2m of existing budgets to the
delivery of the programme. In addition there is also a £1m fundraising target from other
sponsors and funders – of this sum £0.1m has been secured and there have been
applications submitted to strategic funders who supported previous boroughs of culture
for £0.65m. There is an additional £0.2m of applications submitted pending decisions
and other prospects in the pipeline. There will also be earned income from ticket and
other sales that will contribute to the match funding of the programme. Despite the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 145
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

positive outlook, until all the match funding has been fully confirmed and agreed there
remains a potential financial pressure for the council.
7.16

The Libraries Service was subject to staffing savings of over £0.3m for 2021/22 and a full
reorganisation is currently being undertaken with a mid-year implementation date.
Despite a delayed implementation, it is expected that the staffing saving will be fully
achieved in 2021/22 due to the high level of vacancies currently being held within the
service. There are potential redundancy costs arising from the restructure that may need
to be covered from the service budget of up to £0.2m, but it is anticipated that these can
if necessary be covered from managed underspends against operational budgets.

Strategy and Performance
7.17

The Strategy, Partnership and Improvement division is forecasting a balanced budget
position by the year-end.

8. Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm
8.0

The Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm Directorate is forecasting a year-end
balanced budget position for general fund services as at the end of July 2021. This is
after the application of £4.8m of government grant income which is currently held to fully
offset Covid-19 costs incurred by the directorate. This is the same position as reported at
the end of May with a £0.2m increase in covid related costs. The overall Directorate
position is shown in the table below.
Table 6 – Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm (HRPR) Directorate
Service Area

Net
budget
2021/22

Forecast
as at
31 July
2021

Forecast
Variance
(Under)/
Over
Spend
2021/22

£m

£m

£m

Strategic Housing

£m

£m

3.5

5.4

1.9

1.9

0.0

0.0

Public Realm

17.7

19.9

2.2

2.6

(0.4)

(0.4)

Regeneration

0.0

0.6

0.6

0.2

0.4

0.4

Planning

0.7

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0
21.9

0.0
26.7

0.0
4.8

0.0
4.8

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

Reserves and Provisions
Total

8.1

Forecast
Forecast
Forecast
Outturn Outturn Non Outturn Non
Covid-19
Covid-19
Covid-19
related
related
related
Variance
Variance
Variance
2021/22
July
May
2021/22
2021/22

The following sections provide a summary of the cost of Covid-19 and the revenue
forecast by division, including a summary of directorate risks and pressures and any
actions being taken by way of mitigation.
Cost of Covid-19

8.2

The overall forecasted impact of Covid-19 on base budgets for expenditure and income
in Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm is £4.8m (£4.6m in May). The Covid-19
pressures are summarised as follows:
Table 7 – Covid-19 Pressures for the HRPR Directorate
Service

Area

Forecast
Outturn
As at 31 July
2021
£m

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 146
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Strategic Housing
Public Realm

Regeneration
Planning

Housing Needs
Parking
Refuse Collection
Street Management
Street Markets
Building Control
Economy & Partnerships
Planning

Total

1.9
1.9
0.3
0.1
0.3
0.1
0.1
0.1
4.8

Strategic Housing
8.3

The Strategic Housing division is forecasted to end the year with a balanced budget after
applying government funding to cover the forecast overspend of £1.9m, entirely due to
Covid-19.

8.4.

There is an increase in the number of people in nightly paid accommodation, 745 at the
start of April 2021 rising to 784 at the end of July. The increase in numbers has put
additional pressure on the service in terms of landlord payments and HB limitation
recharges, with a current potential overspend of £0.4m. The team is working to address
any anomalies in recharges and rents and therefore no overspend is being reported. If
numbers continue to rise however, a forecast overspend may become unavoidable.

8.5.

The HB limitation recharge is set against the housing division where benefits paid to a
recipient is in excess of the HB caps and limits. For the last few years, this recharge has
been in the region of £4.5m to £5.0m or approximately 35% of HB paid. The Council
covers some of this cost through the use of grants. It should be noted that the current
limitation recharge forecast for 2021/22 is in the region of £7.2m, which is some £1.7m
above the 2020/21 recharge levels. Whilst some of this increase was expected due to
increased renal charges for PSL/PMA units it appears higher than originally forecasted
or anticipated. This has not been fully brought into the forecast yet as the level of
recharges are currently being investigated.

8.6.

Pressures are continuing to be monitored within the service regarding incentive
payments to landlords of circa £1.5m for which there is no budget, as well as bad debt
for nightly paid accommodation, numbers of units acquired for Privately Managed
Accommodation (PMA) which number 553 units as at 1st April 2021, with no subsequent
reduction in numbers in nightly paid accommodation. This compares to 495 units at the
start of last year.

8.7.

There are still clients being accommodated where the Authority has no liability to house
them. Move-on was limited by the eviction ban, which has now been lifted. However,
whilst the service is starting to instigate evictions, it is creating additional pressure
through challenges and judicial reviews, as well as an increase in clients re-presenting.
This in turn is likely to increase the need for incentive payments to keep clients in the
Private Rented Sector (PRS).
Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund

8.8.

In August 2021, the government launched Wave 1 of the Social Housing
Decarbonisation Fund with a value of £160m. Bids are open to local authorities with their
own housing stock and in partnership with other social housing providers. The deadline
for applications is 15 October 2021 with works to be completed by 31 January 2023. The
funding targets the least energy efficient properties (EPC E F and G) with Registered
Providers expected to contribute a third of total eligible costs.

8.9.

Only local authorities can apply, but the funding will be delivered by registered providers
and they will be expected to meet the match funding requirements. Lewisham's bid is
being developed with Lewisham Homes, Phoenix Community Housing, Hexagon and

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 147
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Peabody. Officers will put in place a legal agreement with each of the housing providers
to cover any liabilities arising from delivery of the bid and enable the Council to enter into
any grant agreement should the bid be successful. As such, there are no direct financial
implications for Council budgets.
8.10.

Lewisham's bid is being supported through the Social Housing Retrofit Accelerator
managed by the Greater London Authority. The current scale of Lewisham's bid is for
120 properties at an average of £10,000 per property and a current total value of the bid
of £1.2m. This figure is subject to adjustment up until the deadline of 15 October 2021
based on discussions with the Retrofit Accelerator and the registered provider partners.

Public Realm
8.11.

The Public Realm division is forecasted to end the year with a net underspend of £0.4m,
after applying government funding to cover the forecast overspend of £2.6m, entirely
due to Covid-19.

8.12.

The Parking Service is forecasting a £1.9m end of year overspend entirely attributable to
Covid-19 and covered by government grant which is being held by the Council. In
addition to this activity, the service is expecting to generate £0.7m net income from
moving traffic contraventions during the year and therefore this will leave the service with
a £0.7m underspend. Ongoing discussions around moving traffic contraventions may
have an impact on the income it generates. This will be closely monitored over the year.

8.13.

The Highways & Transport Services is forecasting a balanced budget position for the
year. There is, however, a risk that the service will not achieve the full income target
associated with TfL LIP funding. This is due to the continued short-term funding
agreements between Government and TfL and how this funding is then distributed to
boroughs. There is currently no TfL LIP funding available beyond 11 December 2021.
The continued short-term funding agreements make longer term resource, project and
financial planning extremely challenging.

8.14.

The Refuse Collection Service is forecasting an end of year overspend of £0.3m, after
applying £0.3m of Covid-19 government grant to cover the loss of commercial waste
income due to Covid-19, as some businesses are yet to resume trading. The £0.3m
overspend is due to ongoing under achieved income targets in commercial waste. The
service is developing an action plan to increase the take up of the service by local
businesses, and as a result, has reduced the forecast under achievable income by 50%
compared to the outturn 2020/21 position. The effect of the action plan will be closely
monitored through the year.

8.12

The Street Management Service is currently reporting a balanced budget position after
applying government grant to cover an overspend of £0.1m relating to staff costs
attributable to Covid-19.

8.13

The Street Markets Service is currently reporting a loss of income of £0.3m entirely
attributable to Covid-19 due to the reduction in service as a result of the social distancing
measures still in place.

8.14

The Strategic Waste Management and Environmental Health services are currently
forecasting a balanced budget.

Regeneration
8.15

The Regeneration Division is forecasted to end of the year with a net overspend of
£0.4m. This is after applying £0.2m of government grant to cover costs attributable to
Covid-19.

8.16

The Building Control Service is forecasting a loss of income of £0.1m entirely attributable
to Covid-19 through reduced demand.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 148
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

8.17

The Economy and Partnerships Service is reporting a balanced budget position after
applying £0.1m of Covid-19 government grant to cover costs of staff working on Covid19 related projects.

8.18

The Capital Programme Delivery Service is forecasting a £0.4m overspend this year.
This pressure comes as a result of a change in the plans around what the Copperas
Street project was due to deliver. The 2020/21 Copperas Street saving of £0.5m has
been adversely affected by a change in corporate priorities. The estimated total income
for this project is currently expected to be in the region of £0.2m in total, however only
£0.1m is forecast to be delivered this year due to a delay in the start of the project.

Planning Division
8.19

The Planning Service is currently forecasted to end the year with a net nil variance after
Covid-19 costs of £0.1m due to staff continuing to work on Covid-19 projects. These
costs have been covered by the government covid grant.

8.20

The service has seen an improvement in income generation compared to last year with a
recovery in the number of planning applications and pre-application advice. If the current
trend continues, the service is likely to end the year overachieving its income target
resulting in an underspend. This is being closely monitored and improvements will be
detailed in subsequent reports.

8.21

The Government is introducing changes to the planning system which requires the
Council to undertake more up front work to prepare design codes. This additional work is
likely to have resourcing and cost implications for the service over the coming months
and into the next financial year.

9. Corporate Resources Directorate
9.0

The Corporate Resources Directorate is forecasting a year-end overspend of £0.5m as
at the end of July 2021. This is after the application of £2.2m of government grant
income to fully offset Covid-19 costs incurred by the directorate.
Table 8 – Corporate Services Directorate
Service Area

Net
budget
2021/22

£m
Assurance
Financial Services
Executive Office
Public Services
IT & Digital Services
Reserves
Total

9.1

Forecast as
Forecast
at
Variance
31 July
(Under)/Over
2021
Spend
2021/22

£m

2.7
4.7
0.5
17.7
7.6
(0.7)
32.5

2.6
4.6
0.4
20.5
7.8
(0.7)
35.2

£m
(0.1)
(0.1)
(0.1)
2.8
0.2
0.0
2.7

Forecast
Outturn
Covid-19
related
Variance
2021/22

£m
0.0
0.0
0.0
2.1
0.1
0.0
2.2

Forecast
Forecast
Outturn Non Outturn Non
Covid-19
Covid-19
related
related
Variance
Variance
July
May
2021/22
2021/22

£m
(0.1)
(0.1)
(0.1)
0.7
0.1
0.0
0.5

£m
(0.1)
(0.4)
0.0
1.2
0.0
0.0
0.7

The following sections provide a summary of the cost of Covid-19 and the revenue
forecast by division, including a summary of directorate risks and pressures and any
actions being taken by way of mitigation.
Cost of Covid-19

9.2

The overall forecasted financial impact of Covid-19 on base budgets for income and
expenditure in Corporate Resources is £2.2m. These Covid-19 related pressures are
summarised in the following table.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 149
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Table 9– Covid-19 Pressures for the Corporate Services Directorate
Service

Public Services
Public Services
Public Services
IT
Total

Area

Sundry Debt – Delay in ‘Invest to Save’ to improve
debt collection
Revenues Services – Loss of income collected
through enforcement and court fees
Cleaning
Miscellaneous

Forecast
Outturn
As at 31
July
2021
£m
0.5
1.5
0.1
0.1
2.2

Financial Services Division
9.3

The Financial Services division is forecasting a net underspend of £0.1 m. This includes
underspends forecast on Pensions and Payroll supplies and services budgets and
additional income. In addition, the Finance Team is undergoing a major restructuring and
the recruitment to a number vacant posts is yet to get underway.

IT & Digital Service Division
9.4

The IT & Digital Services division is forecasting an overspend of £0.2m on miscellaneous
software and licencing costs of which £0.1m are covid related.

Public Services Division
9.5

The Public Services division is forecasting a net overspend of £2.8m. Of this sum £2.1m
relates to Covid-19 related pressures arising from the closure of courts resulting in loss
of income from court fees, enforcement action, and debt collection. There is also a non
Covid-19 forecast pressure of £0.7m which partly relates to Housing Benefit
overpayments where claimants have not promptly notified the Council of a change in
circumstances, supported accommodation, and pressures arising from work undertaken
into the feasibility of process automation that has indicated that savings may not be
achievable.

Assurance Division
9.6

The Assurance division is forecasting a net underspend of £0.1m mainly due to salaries
underspend arising from a vacancy. The forecast currently assumes a balanced budget
position on Insurance although premium renewal terms are due to be received from
insurers that could result in a budget pressure.

10. Chief Executive Directorate
10.0

The Chief Executive’s Directorate is forecasting a £0.1m overspend by the year-end as
at the end of July 2021. This is after the application of £0.2m of government grant
income to fully offset Covid-19 costs incurred by the directorate.
Table 10 – Chief Executive’s Directorate

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 150
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Service Area

Net
budget
2021/22

Forecast Forecast
as at
Variance
31 July
(Under)/
2021
Over Spend
2021/22

£m
Assistant Chief Executive
Law, Governance &
Elections
Total

£m

£m

Forecast
Outturn
Covid-19
related
Variance
2021/22

Forecast
Forecast
Outturn
Outtutn
Non Covid-19 Non Covid-19
related
related
Variance
Variance
July
May
2021/22
2021/22

£m

£m

£m

7.3

7.4

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

3.9

4.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

(0.1)

11.2

11.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

(0.1)

Cost of Covid-19
10.1

The overall forecasted financial impact of Covid-19 on base budgets for income and
expenditure in the Chief Executive Directorate is £0.2m. These Covid-19 related
pressures are summarised in the following table.
Table 11 – Covid-19 Pressures for the Chief Executive’s Directorate
Service

Legal Services
Communications
Total

Area

Forecast
as at
31 July
2021
£m

Loss of income due to Covid-19
Communications support

0.1
0.1
0.2

Assistant Chief Executive’s Division
10.2

The Assistant Chief Executive’s divison is forecasting covid expenditure of £0.1m in
relation to communications support. There is a nil variance reported for non covid
expenditure.

Law, Governance and Elections Division
10.3

The Law, Governance & Elections division is forecasting a net overspend of £0.2m of
which £0.1m is Covid-19 related and is due to loss of income. There is a £0.1m variance
reported for non Covid-19 expenditure due to additional staffing costs, shortfalls in
income and additional costs in relation to webcasting during the pandemic.

11. Covid-19 and Support received from central government
11.0

The Council has taken measures to support both businesses and residents who are
facing financial hardship as a result of the Coronvirus (Covid-19) pandemic. The table
below provides an overall summary of the additional resources which have been
received by the Council to date to help with this support in 2021/22, as well as any
unspent grant from 2020/21 which was able to be rolled forward for use in 2021/22 or
which may be required to be returned to government in this year.
Table 12 – Government Funding for Covid-19
Funding Description

2020/21
Balance
£m

2021/22
Allocation
£m

Unringfenced Funding
S31 Covid-19 Local Authority Support Grant (Tranches 1 to 5)
Sales, Fees and Charges Income – (Tranche 4)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 151
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

7.844
0

10.021
0

Grand Total – for use in 2021/22
Funding Description

17.865
2020/21
Balance
£m

2021/22
Allocation
£m

Ringfenced Funding
Section 31 – Test, Trace and Contain Grant (3 amounts)
Section 31 – Welfare Support Grant *
Community Champions Fund
Re-opening High Streets Safely
New Burdens Funding
Sport England Leisure Relief Funding
Contain Outbreak Management Fund
Practical Support for those Self Isolating
Local Elections Funding
Total
Total – for use in 2021/22
Sub Total – Services Funding – attributable to BAU
Funding Description

Ringfenced Funding Outside Of Service Expenditure e.g.
DSG or Transfer Payment
Covid Winter Grant
Test and Trace Support Grants1
Rapid Test Fund *
Infection Control Fund
Total
Total – for use in 2021/22
Grand Total
Grand Total – for use in 2021/22

2.263
0.186
0.276
0.272
0
0.167
1.997
0
0
5.161

0
0
0
0
0.291
0.047
2.586
0.184
0.105
3.213
8.374

13.005
2020/21
Balance
£m

13.234
2021/22
Allocation
£m

0.149
0.735
0.224
0
1.108

1.019
0
0
1.017
2.036
3.144

14.113

15.270
29.383



Note: some of those grants rolled forward may have to be returned to Government in 2021/22



Note 1: the support grants were shown as part of the main T&T grant in outturn, these are treated
differently and so shown separately

12.

Revenue Budget Savings for 2021/22

12.0

The financial forecast position is predicated on the successful delivery of savings which
were not achieved last year. These savings, were agreed with a total of £7.5m and will
now need to be implemented or substituted as appropriate in 2021/22. Furthermore,
summary comments being made progress being made on the new 2021/22 agreed
savings of £22.4m and agreed overspend reduction measures for 2021/22 of £5.4m, have
been summarised at appendices 1 and 2, respectively.

13.

Dedicated Schools’ Grant

13.0

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is currently forecasting an in year overspend of £3m.
After taking into account the £5m overspend brought forward from the previous financial
year, the cumulative projection is £8m.
Table 13 – DSG allocation and projection 2021/22

Dedicated schools grant
(DSG): 2021 to 2022

2021 to 2022 DSG allocations, after deductions for academies
recoupment and direct funding of high needs places by ESFA

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 152
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

allocations
Schools
block
(£m)

Lewisham – Cash Position
Projected Spend
Forecast Overspend
(Cumulative)

Central
school
services
block
allocation
(£m)

High needs
block
allocation
(£m)

Early
years
block
(£m)

Total
DSG
allocation
(£m)

-183.55

-4.26

-61.78

-24.17

-273.76

182.50

4.30

71.24

24.20

282.24

-1.05

0.04

9.46

0.03

8.48

Notes
Schools Block underspend agreed with Schools Forum to Transfer to High Needs
Block
Early Years Funding still pending data cleansing from DfE -delayed
due to covid
13.1

Members are asked to note the following:

13.2

At the time of writing, the Early Years Block is provisional, but the Schools Block and
Early Years Block are expected to operate within budget. Further delays have occurred
due to further analysis requests from DfE on Early Years data relating to possible impact
of Covid on January Data.

13.3

It should be noted that the Central Services Block (CSSB) faced a reduction of circa
£0.6m for 2021/22, which supports statutory functions provided by the Local Authority.
As a consequence of effective resource management, approximately £0.3m has been
carried forward from 2020/21, and will largely support pressures from the service. Initial
work is currently being undertaken by officers, which will be carried out with greater
details as the requirements of the Covid-19 response reduce.

13.4

The key area of risk remains the High Needs Block. The Local Authority, in partnership
with the Schools Forum High Needs Working Group, will continue to consider options to
deliver our statutory requirements within this funding envelop level as best possible.

13.5

It should be noted that there has been an increase in funding in the High Needs Block of
£6.8m, plus £1.068m from schools block. Based on the current data, and allowing for an
increase of approximately 200 additional EHCP for the remaining year at £15k a place, it
is anticipated that the overspend will be £3m for 2021/22. In addition to this there
remains a £5m overspend brought forward from 2020/21, providing a revised cumulative
overspend position of £8m. Firmer information on EHCP numbers will be available in late
October following secondary transfer and Further Education applications. The table
notes an increase of 110 EHCP since 1st April 2021.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 153
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Table 14 – Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP)

Phase - EHCPs

Under 5s

Primary

Secondary

Postsecondary

Grand
Total

Movemen
t on year

FY17/18 Used As Base
Line

42

831

769

537

2179

FY18/19

24

889

821

626

2360

181

FY19/20

37

929

887

774

2627

267

FY20/21

74

1027

974

931

3006

379

FY21/22 -Current

80

1168

1002

866

3116

110

Increase on Baseline
Numbers

38

337

233

329

937

90%

41%

30%

61%

43%

Increase on Baseline %

13.6

In addition to the overall increase and the clear pressure arising from 0-5 and post 16
phase, a further pressure is linked to the increase in number of placements that are
placed out of borough. The following table shows the split between ‘in-borough and ‘out
of borough’ placements. There is clear shift in the proportion of placements being made
out of borough which is a key element of pressure on the High Needs Block.
Table 15 – In Borough and Out Borough EHCPs

Borough - EHCPs

LBL

OOB

Grand
Total

FY17/18 Used As Base Line

1559

620

2179

FY18/19

1653

707

2360

FY19/20

1789

838

2627

FY20/21

1953

1053

3006

FY21/22

2028

**1088

3116

469

468

937

Increase on Baseline Numbers

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 154
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Increase on Baseline %

30.1%

75.5%

43.0

**Includes 144 EHCPs not ye with confirmed placing
13.7

To support the pressure on High Needs, the SEN Service has been working closely with
Schools and Schools’ Forum. A mitigation plan has been developed which is
progressing, but will take time to embed and for the benefits to be seen in full.
Furthermore, service demands, in terms of increasing numbers of children with some
complex needs and higher placement costs, continue to rise. Therefore, the current
mitigation plan may reduce the pressure, but not eliminate it fully.

13.8

Lewisham has historically been one of very few local authorities which has underspent
on the DSG – High Needs. With most local authorities overspending, the DfE has
attempted to address the pressure with additional funding allocations in 2019/20,
2020/21 and 2021/22. However, it seems that demand is outstripping the cash available.
It does however remain important that Lewisham continues to consider alternative ways
of providing support to our most vulnerable children within the resources available.

13.9

Partial funding announcement has been made for 2022/23. This confirms a reduction of
£500k in the CSSB. Alongside the partial settlement, the DfE has published a
Consultation document on the National Funding Formula. The document considers the
next steps towards a “hard formula” and the role of Local Authorities alongside the DfE’s
preference of Schools moving to Academy Status. Further detailed work is progressing
on this. However it is important to note that the funding currently received within the
CSSB is at significant risk from 2023/24.

Schools
13.10

14.

With regards to schools, there are currently 12 schools in deficits. Schools are currently
in the process of submitting their budget plans to the Local Authority including deficit
recovery plans where they are not able to balance their budgets over a 3-year time
horizon. The finance team is actively working with all schools to support the longer term
sustainability. Some schools are also facing challenges arising from movement in pupil
numbers. A further pressure on schools for 2021/22 will be supporting the cost of Term
Time Only claims. Negotiations are still being finalised with Trade Unions. Mayor and
Cabinet has agreed to support 50% of the liability, with further funding support of £1m
from schools forum from 2021/22. In 2020/21, there was an underspend of £0.4m which
as agreed with schools forum is intended to provided targeted support to the most
vulnerable schools. A further report will be presented to schools forum later in the year to
agree the principles for allocation.

Housing Revenue Account

14.0

The table below sets out the current budget for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) in
2021/22. At this stage of the financial year, the current forecast is for a small surplus of
£700k. The balanced HRA budget seen in the table includes a budgeted contribution
from reserves of £21.5m, which is to be used to fund the HRA major works and new
supply programme and is included as a part of the 30 year HRA business plan.

14.1

Repairs & Maintenance (R&M) is currently forecast to budget. There was an overspend
of £900k in this area for 2020/21. Lewisham Homes will provide regular updates in this
area for 2021/22 to ensure that spend is close to budget for the financial year.

14.2

The current 30 year HRA financial model has been refreshed, with the final outturn for
2020/21 as well as the latest updates for the general capital programme, revised stock
numbers and reserves allocations incorporated into the plans. Budgets will be updated in
August 2021 to reflect starting stock numbers from 1 April 2021, as well as incorporating
the latest consolidation update for the new supply programme to reflect the latest

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 155
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

position. The revisions to the budgets will be agreed with Lewisham Homes and may
push some of the planned capital and new supply expenditure into 2022/23 due to a reprogramming of works and programme delays due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic.
14.3

It is likely that additional income will be recognised from tenants rents and service
charges due to lower than budgeted void rates. This will be updated in the next
monitoring report. In addition, bad debt impairments charge to the HRA is likely to be
lower than budgeted, and is currently showing a similar pattern to 2020/21 values. It is
too early in the financial year to establish if this will continue for a full year, so will be
constantly monitored and updated next month. Any additional income or underspends in
these areas will be used to compensate for the unexpected movement in other areas or
R&M costs if necessary.

14.4

There is a significant major works income budget of £9.9m, which is based on the
General Capital programme allocation of £70m. However, raising of bills is dependent on
the Lewisham Homes Capital Programme undertaking works which can/are recharged to
Leaseholders. As at 31 July 2021, a total of £81k has been charged to leaseholders.
Further discussions with Lewisham homes indicate that the majority of these bills relating
to prior year works are likely to be raised in the early part of financial year 2021/22.

14.5

Lewisham Homes are currently reporting a full forecast spend of £70m against the
general capital allocations budget of £70m. The final position on the general capital
programme in 2020/21 was and underspend of £9.8m. The unspent resources will be
carried into 2021/22 and added to the £70m allocation. The development team are
currently reporting spend close to budget for the Building for Lewisham (BfL) programme
allocation .
Table 16 – Housing Revenue Account
Expenditure
Budget
2021/22

Service Area

Housing, Regen’ and Public Realm–Housing
Lewisham Homes & Repairs & Maintenance
Resources
Centrally Managed Budgets
Total

£m
16.4
37.4
1.6
94.1
149.5

Income
Budget
2021/22

Net
Budget
2021/22

Final
Outturn
Variance
for
2021/22

£m

£m

£m

(3.6)
0
0
(145.9)
(149.5)

12.8
37.4
1.6
(51.8)
0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0

15. Collection Fund
Council Tax
15.0

As at 31 July 2021, some £55.35m of Council Tax has been collected representing
34.14% of the total amount due for the year. This is below the 35.32% target in order to
reach 95% for the year. At this point last year 33.83% of the total amount due had been
collected.

Table 17 - Council Tax Collection Fund
Cash
Collected
(cumulative

Cash needed
to meet 95%
Profile

difference
between
collected and
95% profile

Current
Year
Collection
Rate%

Required
Collection
Rate to
reach
95%

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 156
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

difference

Previous
Year
Collection
Rate

Apr-21

17,119,083

17,558,893

(439,810)

10.59%

10.87%

-0.27%

9.98%

May-21

29,752,772

30,943,951

(1,191,179)

18.41%

19.15%

-0.74%

17.49%

Jun-21

42,605,074

43,754,273

(1,149,199)

26.31%

27.02%

-0.71%

25.46%

Jul-21

55,350,944

57,265,698

(1,914,754)

34.14%

35.32%

-1.18%

33.83%

Business Rates
15.1

As at 31 July 2021, some £18.18m of Business Rates has been collected representing
32.06% of the total amount due for the year. This is below the 45.61% target in order to
reach 99% for the year. At this point last year 46.35% of the total amount due had been
collected.

Table 18 – Business Rate Collection
Current
Year
Collection
Rate%

Required
Collection
Rate to
reach
99%

difference

Previous
Year
Collection
Rate

(6,563,372)

2.81%

11.87%

(9.06%)

20.40%

19,020,075

(10,305,243)

12.04%

26.28%

(14.24%)

33.44%

13,112,362

20,807,044

(7,694,682)

23.03%

36.54%

(13.51%)

37.56%

18,177,438

25,862,807

(7,685,370)

32.06%

45.61%

(13.55%)

46.35%

Cash
Collected
(cumulative

Cash needed
to meet 99%
Profile

Apr-21

2,038,133

8,601,507

May-21

8,715,032

Jun-21
Jul-21

difference
between
collected and
99% profile

16. Capital Expenditure
16.0

The following table sets out the position on the Capital Programme as at the end of July
2021. It indicates an overall spend of £28.4m, which is 11% of the revised 2021/22
budget of £252.4m.

16.1

Members should note that in most cases the unspent budgets for ongoing capital
projects and programmes will be rolled forward from 2021/22 to the following year,
2022/23. A summary of the major projects to 2023/24 is attached at Appendices 3 and 4.
The Capital Programme budget reconciliation is attached at Appendix 5.
Table 19 – Capital Programme 2020/21 (Major Projects)
2021/22 Capital Programme

GENERAL FUND
Schools - School Places Programme
Schools – Other (Inc. Minor) Capital Works
Highways & Bridges – LBL
Highways & Bridges – TfL and Others
Catford Town Centre
Asset Management Programme
Other AMP Schemes
Broadway Theatre
CCTV Modernisation
Beckenham Place Park ( Inc. Eastern Part)
Catford Phase 1 – Thomas Lane Yard/ CCC
Catford Station Improvements

Revised
Budget
(M&C
Feb 21)

Revised
Budget
Proposed
July 2021

Spend
to
31 July’
2021

Spent to
Date
(Revised
Budget)

£`m

£`m

£`m

%

10.4
1.7
2.5
0.8
0.3
2.8
0.9
4.8
0.5
1.7
0.6
0.3

11.8
9.5
2.6
2.4
1.3
3.9
2.9
5.3
1.1
1.9
0.5
0.4

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 157
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

2.4
0.1
0.0
0.0
0.1
0.1
0.1
0.3
0.0
0.1
0.2
0.0

20%
1%
0%
0%
8%
3%
4%
5%
0%
5%
37%
0%

Lewisham Gateway ( Phase 2)
Disabled Facilities Grant
Private Sector/Discretionary Grants and Loans
Lewisham Homes – Property Acquisition
Achilles St Development
Edward St. Development
Place Ladywell
Deptford Southern Sites Regeneration
Temporary Accomodation - Mayow Rd
Temporary Accomodation - Canonbie Rd
Temporary Accomodation - Sydney Arms
Temporary Accommodation - Morton House
Temporary Accomodation-Manor Avenue
Fleet Replacement Programme
Travellers Site Relocation
Other Schemes
TOTAL GENERAL FUND
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Building for Lewisham Programme
Creekside Acquisition
HRA Capital Programme ( Decent works)
Place Ladywell
Achilles St. Development
Mayow Rd Development
Other HRA Schemes
TOTAL HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME

17.
17.0

18.
18.0

19.
19.0

20.

3.5
2.1
2.1
3.0
1.0
8.4
2.7
0.3
6.6
1.4
3.8
0.1
0.8
3.6
3.6
70.3

3.5
1.3
1.9
3.0
1.0
12.0
2.6
0.3
7.0
1.8
1.0
1.5
1.2
1.6
3.8
6.7
93.8

0.6
0.2
0.2
0.0
0.0
2.8
0.0
0.0
1.4
0.3
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.3
9.1

17%
18%
9%
0%
0%
23%
0%
0%
20%
15%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
4%
10%

48.3
13.9
31.6
15.4
0.4
0.8
3.6
114

41.4
11.4
78.8
1.5
2.8
0.0
22.7
158.6

6.5
1.5
11.2
0
0
0
0.1
19.3

16%
13%
14%
0%
0%
0%
0%
12%

184.3

252.4

28.4

11%

Financial Implications
This report concerns the financial results for the 2021/22 financial year. Therefore, any
financial implications are contained within the body of the report.

Legal Implications
The Council is under a duty to balance its budget and cannot knowingly budget for a
deficit. It is imperative that there is diligent monitoring of the Council’s spend and steps
taken to bring it into balance.

Crime and Disorder, Climate and Environment Implications
There are no specific crime and disorder act or climate and environment implications
directly arising from this report.

Equalities Implications

20.0

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality duty
or the duty). It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or
belief, sex and sexual orientation.

20.1

There are no equalities implications directly arising from this report.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 158
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

21.

22.

Background Papers
Short Title of Report

Date

Location

Contact

Budget Report 2021/22

3rd March 2021 (Council)

1st Floor Laurence House

David Austin

Glossary

Term

Definition

Clinical
Commissioning
Group (CCG)

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) were created following the Health
and Social Care Act in 2012, and replaced Primary Care Trusts on 1 April
2013. They are clinically-led statutory NHS bodies responsible for the
planning and commissioning of health care services for their local area.

Collection Fund

A statutory account maintained by the Council recording the amounts
collected from Council Tax and Business Rates and from which it pays the
precept to the Greater London Authority.

Collection Fund
surplus (or
deficit)

If the Council collects more or less than it expected at the start of the
financial year, the surplus or deficit is shared with the major precepting
authority, in Lewisham’s case this is the GLA, in proportion to the
respective Council Taxes. These surpluses or deficits have to be returned
to the Council taxpayer in the following year through lower or higher
Council taxes. If, for example, the number of properties or the allowance
for discounts, exemptions or appeals vary from those used in the Council
Tax base, a surplus or deficit will arise.

Contingency

This is money set-aside centrally in the Council’s base budget to meet the
cost of unforeseen items of expenditure, such as higher than expected
inflation or new responsibilities.

Council Tax Base

The Council Tax base for a Council is used in the calculation of Council
Tax and is equal to the number of Band D equivalent properties. To work
this out, the Council counts the number of properties in each band and
works out an equivalent number of Band D equivalent properties. The
band proportions are expressed in ninths and are specified in the Local
Government Finance Act 1992. They are: A 6/9, B 7/9, C 8/9, D 9/9, E
11/9, F 13/9, G 15/9 and H 18/9, so that Band A is six ninths of the
‘standard’ Band D, and so on.
This is the ring-fenced specific grant that provides most of the
government's funding for schools. This is distributed to schools by the
Council using a formula agreed by the Schools’ Forum.

Dedicated
Schools’ Grant
(DSG)
General Fund

This is the main revenue fund of the local authority, day-to-day spending
on services is met from the fund. Spending on the provision of housing
however, must be charged to the separate Housing Revenue Account
(HRA).

Gross
Expenditure

The total cost of providing the Council's services, before deducting income
from government grants, or fees and charges for services.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 159
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Term

Definition

Housing Revenue
Account (HRA)

A separate account of expenditure and income on housing that Lewisham
must keep. The account is kept ring-fenced from other Council activities.
The government introduced a new funding regime for social housing within
the HRA from April 2012.

Net Expenditure

This is gross expenditure less services income, but before deduction of
government grant.

Revenue
Expenditure

The day-to-day running expenses on services provided by Council.

23. Report Author and Contact
Selwyn Thompson, Director of Financial Services on 020 8314 6932,
selwyn.thompson@lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 160
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

24. APPENDIX 1 – Summary of agreed revenue budget savings for 2021/22
Ref

Proposal

CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORATE
Staff productivity - arising from
new ways of working better
A-01
collaboration and a return on IT
investment (£3m split council
wide)
Corporate Transport
arrangements (£100k split
A-03
Council Wide) more use of
electric bikes and less spend on
public transport and cars
A-10
Election services
A-09
Support Leadership
Legal, governance service and
A-11
elections review.
Staff productivity - arising from
new ways of working, better
A-01a
collaboration and a return on IT
Round 2
investment (£1m split Council
Wide)
Total for Chief Executive Directorate

2021/22
Agreed
Savings
£’000

2021/22
Achieved
£’000

2021/22
Gap
£’000

Comment:

243

243

0

Achieved

3

3

0

Achieved

55
105

55
105

0
0

340

73

267

Achieved
Achieved
In progress – likely
gap being assessed

81

81

0

827

560

267

Achieved

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE
DIRECTORATE

E-05
F-12
A-12
A-13

A-14
A-16
B-13
C-09

C-30
D-09

A-01
and A01a
A-03

Traded services with schools
Housing - No Recourse to Public
Funds
Rationalising Central Education
Services functions
Children with complex needs
(CWCN) revision
Replace Educational
Psychologist locums through
expanding
the generic EP Team
Reduction of workforce
development budget
Early Years Funding Block
Youth Offending Service (YOS)
redesign
Rationalisation of Business
support across Education
services
Educational Assets
Staff productivity - arising from
new ways of working (including
learning from the Covid 19
pandemic), better collaboration
and a return on IT investment
Corporate Transport
arrangements

50

0

50

300

600

-300

150

150

0

195

0

195

At risk due to timing
of traded service
offer
Achieved – potential
to overachieve
Achieved
At risk
In progress (Delivery
Stage)

200

200

0

50

50

0

54

54

0

152

152

0

Expected to be
achieved in full
Achieved
Achieved
Achieved

70

70

0

300

300

0

1,053

455

598

56

0

56

Page 161

Achieved
In progress – subject
to some aspect of
restructure
In progress

Ref

Proposal

Review discretionary sales, fees
and charges and increase to the
E-03
point of full cost recovery.
Total for Children & Young People
Directorate
COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTORATE
B-04
Smoking cessation service
Recharge OT and housing
B-05
officer costs to the Disabled
Facilities Grant
B-07
Review of Council run events
Reduction in local assemblies
B-10
service
Adult Learning and Day
C-02
Opportunities

E-04

2021/22
Agreed
Savings
£’000

F-01

F-06

Adults with learning difficulties
and 14 - 25yrs transitions costs

B-11

B-12

C-12

2,640

2,031

609

221

221

0

Achieved

250
42

250
42

0
0

Achieved
Achieved

45

45

0

Achieved

50

50

0

Achieved

C-13
C-14
C-15

C-16

0

82

Reduction of Management
overheads for the Social
Inclusion

In progress and
expected to be
delivered in full
In progress –
Likelihood of any
shortfall towards the
year end is being
assessed

3,000

1,000

2,000

760

0

760

In progress
At risk due to the
overall position in
relation to the
funding of Passenger
Services costs
across the Council
In progress

600
300

0
300

600
0

1,000

1,000

0

Achieved

96
25

96
25

0
0

In progress-on track
but with some
potential redundancy
costs of £20k
Achieved

100

100

0

Achieved

150

150

0

Achieved

150

150

0

Achieved

50

50

0

Adult Learning Lewisham - back
office efficiencies
Weight management services
Sexual and Reproductive Health
Services in Primary Care
Substance Misuse Cuts (Public
Health Budget)
Integrated Sexual and
Reproductive Health Services

In progress and
expected to be
delivered in full

10

In house services reductions adults passenger transport

Library and Information Service
Improved usage of BCF Funding
across partners

Comment:

0

Introduce charging for certain
elements of self-funded care
packages

Adult Social Care Demand
management

A-18

2021/22
Gap
£’000

10

82

F-09

2021/22
Achieved
£’000

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 162
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Ref

C-17

C-24
C-28

Proposal

and Recovery Service (SLaM
Lewisham Community Services)
Re-configuration of MH
Supported Housing pay – Social
Interest Group
Culture Team Salaries &
Borough
of Culture
Supported Housing Services

C-29

Crime, Enforcement &
Regulation
Service Restructure

F-24

Adult Social Care cost reduction
and service improvement
programme

A-01
and A01a

2021/22
Agreed
Savings
£’000

2021/22
Achieved
£’000

2021/22
Gap
£’000

Achieved

100

0

100

60
169

60
169

0
0

Achieved
Achieved

In progress and
expected to be
delivered in full

50

50

0

3,849

0

3,849

Staff productivity - arising from
new ways of working (including
learning from the Covid 19
pandemic), better collaboration
and a return on IT investment

A-03

Corporate Transport
arrangements

E-03

Review discretionary sales, fees
and charges and increase to the
point of full cost recovery.

Comment:

In progress

In progress

1,027

1,027

0

In progress and
expected to be
delivered in full

23

23

0

Achieved

In progress and
expected to be
delivered in full

72

0

72

12,271

4,808

7,463

60

40

20

400

0

400

160

160

0

On Track

300

300

0

Achieved

50

50

0

Achieved

100

100

0

Achieved

438

179

259

522

522

0

On Track

7

7

0

On Track

Total for Community Services
Directorate

CORPORATE RESOURCES
DIRECTORATE
Process automation in Revs and
A-04
Bens
Revs and Bens - additional
A-05
process automation
Review the Power of Attorney
B-08
service
Reduction in the discretionary
B-09
award of concessionary fares
Facilities management general
D-03
cost reduction
D-04
Operational estate - security
Catford Campus - Estate
D-06
Consolidation
Staff productivity - arising from
new ways of working, better
A-01
collaboration and a return on IT
Round 1
investment (£3m split council
wide)
A-03
Corporate Transport
and Earrangements AND Review

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 163
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Partly Achieved
In Progress

Partly Achieved

Ref

Proposal

discretionary sales, fees and
charges and increase to the
point of full cost recovery (£250k
split Council Wide)
Staff productivity - arising from
new ways of working, better
A-01a
collaboration and a return on IT
Round 2 investment (£1m split Council
Wide)
Total Corporate Resources Directorate

2021/22
Agreed
Savings
£’000

2021/22
Achieved
£’000

2021/22
Gap
£’000

Comment:

03
Round 1

HOUSING, REGENERATION & PUBLIC
REALM DIRECTORATE
A-07
Housing - Productivity gains

B-05
C-05
C-06

Recharge OT and housing
officer costs to the Disabled
Facilities Grant
Housing needs and procurement
service review
Housing needs and procurement
service review

D-06

Business Rates Revaluation for
the estate
Catford Campus - Estate
Consolidation

D-07

Meanwhile use - Temporary
Accommodation

D-02

E-02

E-07

C-10

Income from building control
Housing – Increased rent for
Private Sector Lease (PSL) and
Private Managed
Accommodation (PMA)

Housing Services Review

174

174

0

2,211

1,532

679

202

202

0

On Track

Achieved
Achieved

175

175

0

50

50

0

77

77

0

Achieved
Achieved
In progress –
Valuation Office still
has a backlog but if
not achieved this will
be covered by other
funds in the service.

40

40

0

236

236

0

25

25

0

Achieved
In progress Accommodation
provided to be
refurbished to suit TA
needs. None are yet
in use by Housing
but savings may still
be made if in use by
August 2021

15

15

0

Achieved
Achieved

300

300

300

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 164
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

0

0

In progess - The
reorganisation
consultation has
been completed &
interviews are in
progress. The
reorganisation will
identify the full two
years savings
requirement, but is

Ref

Proposal

2021/22
Agreed
Savings
£’000

2021/22
Achieved
£’000

2021/22
Gap
£’000

300

0

E-11
F-17

Environmental Enforcement –
Use of Civil Enforcement
Officers
Road safety enforcement

F-20

Emission based charging for
Short Stay Parking

F-21
Road Safety Enforcement
A-01 &
A-01a
Productivity (Additional)
Total for Housing, Regeneration &
Public Realm Directorate

100
250

100
250

0

120

0

250

0

969

0

3,109

3,109

0

28

28

0

120

250

Comment:

not likely to be
implemented until the
end of the 3rd Qtr of
2021/22. Any
shortfall may be
covered by use of
additional grant
In progress - The
start of this saving
has been delayed so
a full year effect is
unlikely, however any
shortfall should be
covered by income
from Moving Traffic
Contraventions
In progess and
expected to be
delivered in full
In progess and
expected to be
delivered in full
In progess and
expected to be
delivered in full
Achieved

969

Cross-Cutting
B-07

Review of Council run events

E-01 /
E-01a

Improved Debt collection

750

750

0

E-08 /
E-08a

Contract Efficiencies – inflation
management

750

750

0

1,528

1,528

0

22,586

13,568

9,018

Total for Cross-Cutting
GRAND TOTAL

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 165
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

In progess and
expected to be
delivered in full
In progess and
expected to be
delivered in full
In progess and
expected to be
delivered in full

APPENDIX 2 – Summary of agreed overspend reduction measures for 2021/22
Ref

Proposal

2021/22
Agreed
reduction
£’000

2021/22
Achieved
£’000

2021/22
Gap
£’000

260

0

Comment:

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE
DIRECTORATE
B-02

Strategic recharging

600

340

C-01

Redesign of the CYP Joint
Commissioning service.

140

140

C-03

Reduction in the use of agency
social workers.

215

C-07

Review Short breaks provision.

65

E-06

Reduce care leaver costs

F-02

Children Social Care Demand
management

F-04

Special Guardianship Order
payments

F-05

VfM commissioning and contract
management - CSC

250

0

250

F-10

In house Early Help service

200

200

0

F-11

Front door arrangements in CYP

50

0

50

A-17

Care leaver accommodation /
housing costs

500

398

102

C-21

Early Help and Prevention
Recommissioning

200

35

180

65

0

587

(387)

In progress - possible
risk of achieving full
saving in 2021/22
Achieved

Potential risk to
delivery. This is
currently being
assessed
Expected to achieve in
2021/22, however
potential future risk
from contract awards
Over achieved

Over Achieved
500

60

770

0

(270)

60

At risk –savings
supporting future
demand management
At risk

Achieved

C-22

Reduction in LBL contribution to
CAMHS service

C-23

Reduction in the Health Visiting
contract

In progress - but has
risk
In progress

Achieved
170

170

0

250

146

104

350

350

0

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 166
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

In progress - Part
complete. Alternative
options being
developed (part-year
effect will be achieved
in 2022/23)
Achieved

Ref

Proposal

F-19

Reduction in specialist legal
advocacy and assessments for
CYP proceedings

2021/22
Agreed
reduction
£’000
500

250
F-23

2021/22
Achieved
£’000

2021/22
Gap
£’000

485

In progress- under
review as demand led

15

0

250

3,686

614

Transport Board –
undertaking review.
Actions will take time
to embed, also risk of
demand pressure

Home to school transport

Total for Children & Young People
Directorate

4,300

Comment:

COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTORATE

E-10

Increase funeral charges

C-26

Reducing leisure spend –
temporary closure of the Bridge

Total for Community Services
Directorate

250

120

130

355

355

0

605

475

130

In progress Achievement is partly
dependent on death
rate in 21-22 and the
impact on income
levels. Will be
reviewed during the
financial year.
Achieved - The Bridge
LC currently closed
with no plan to reopen
in 21-22.

CORPORATE RESOURCES
DIRECTORATE
A-08

Reduction in paper usage

35

35

0

C-08

IT - mobile telephony review

80

80

0

E-09

Realising further benefits from
the Oracle Cloud Solution and
exploiting its functionality as a
fully integrated enterprise
resource planning solution.

Total Corporate Resources Directorate

100

0

100

215

115

100

300

300

0

300

300

0

5,420

4,576

844

Achieved
Achieved
Not Achieved –
currently under review,
and potential risk to
delivery

HOUSING, REGENERATION & PUBLIC
REALM DIRECTORATE
C-11

Reduced dependency on
agency staff within Highways
and Transportation Services

Total for Housing, Regeneration &
Public Realm Directorate
GRAND TOTAL

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 167
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Achieved

APPENDIX 3 – Update on Capital Projects and Programmes
Schools
Schools – School Places Programme


Primary place demand has levelled off recently across London and the priority for
school place delivery has shifted mainly to Special Educational Need and Disability
provision. Four schemes are currently in development and delivery, to conclude in
2024. They include:
o

Works to Ashmead Primary in Brockley to expand from one to two forms of
entry. Works commenced in April 2019 and were substantially completed in
March 2021, with the handover of the new building. The project delivered a new
standalone block adjacent to Lewisham Way, improved landscaping within the
site and a new entrance and enhanced public realm area to the South of the
site. Final refurbishment and remodelling works within the existing school
building are due to be completed over the summer holidays this year.

o

Greenvale School, in Whitefoot ward, is Lewisham’s community special school
for children and young people between the ages of 11 and 19 years who have
significant learning difficulties. A new satellite facility to accommodate an
additional 93 students will be constructed on the site of the former Brent Knoll
building in Perry Vale. Construction works began earlier this year, and are due
to be completed in February 2022.

o

New Woodlands, in Downham Ward, is a special school which supports
children from 5 to 16 who have Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH)
special educational needs. The school recently began admitting Key Stage 4
students, and works to expand the facility took place over the summer holidays
2019, ensuring that the school could provide a full curriculum. The works
included minor remodelling and refurbishment of the existing building, provision
of a new food technology practical room, and improvements to existing
landscaping and external play areas. The final works including boundary
treatment were completed in October 2020, and the final account has recently
been agreed.

o

Watergate is Lewisham’s primary special school for children between the ages
of three and eleven years who have severe learning difficulties, located in
Bellingham Ward. Approval has been granted to expand the school through the
construction of a new teaching block on the existing site, and a new set of
feasibility studies are due to be commissioned this year.

Schools – Minor Works Capital Programme
The School Minor Works Programme (SMWP) is an ongoing programme of minor
capital works to existing community school buildings, primarily relating to
mechanical/electrical infrastructure and building fabric needs. The programme is grant
funded by central government and has been consistently delivered on budget.

Highways & Bridges
The Council continues to invest resources in maintaining its 397km of highway borough
roads, most notably through its annual programme of carriageway and footway
resurfacing works. In previous years the budget for highways has allowed 70 roads (or
part of a road) to be resurfaced each year. Works are usually directed to those roads
in the worst condition and categorised as “Red” – lengths of road in poor overall
condition and in need of immediate further engineering assessment with a planned
maintenance soon.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 168
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

The 2021/22 carriageway and footway programme is being planned to ensure that it is
being spent in the most effective way and addresses the most pressing issues. Full
expenditure will be achieved.
The Council also carries out ongoing responsive carriageway maintenance works that
remedies localised hazards and defects caused through accidents and deterioration of
the asset from wear, age, excavations and failures.
The replacement of the span for the Sydenham Park footbridge continues to be
planned and designed and active discussions are being held about the footbridge’s
span structural design, access arrangements, method of construction, risk
management and approvals with key stakeholders, such as Network Rail,
underway. The Council in its client capacity, is working closely with its principal
consultant to secure a delivery plan agreement with Network Rail. Subject to a Network
Rail track possession agreement, the earliest that the replacement span could be
delivered is September 2022.

Asset Management Programme
Funding from the Asset Management Programme (AMP) has continued to support
reactive and much needed capital works across the operational corporate estate. This
has included fabric works such as roof replacement and mechanical works; including,
boiler replacements and lift repairs across the estate of approximately 90 buildings
and sites. A full condition survey of the corporate estate was completed in 2020 and
is helping define the future investment need of the estate, the Asset Review, and
underpin the use of the AMP capital programme funding for future years. A
comprehensive Corporate Estate Maintenance Programme starts in 2021-22 (with
some urgent health and safety works already underway).

Broadway Theatre
Investment in the Broadway Theatre in Catford will address the urgent health and
safety, mechanical and electrical, DDA and compliance requirements within the
building, along with the overdue upgrade/refurbishment of identified areas throughout
the building. The works will ensure the building is fit for purpose, meets current
regulations and is compliant to function as a public venue. Improvements will also
enable the Theatre to attract wider audiences and hirers and expand its delivery of
events and shows.
The theatre plays an important part in the Catford Town Centre Masterplan which
seeks to regenerate the town centre including providing housing, retail, open space
and a civic heart for the town centre, with the theatre, a crucial part of that.
Investment in the theatre takes forward the commitments given in the Capital
Programme to invest in key parts of the Council estate in Catford as an early and
certain commitment to the emerging Catford Masterplan.
The project is in design stage with works due to start in late 2021, with a view to
completing in late 2022 and re-opening for a grand finale for the Borough of Culture
year.

CCTV Modernisation
This project involves updating the Council’s CCTV infrastructure. Progress this year
includes updating control room equipment that has now been changed out for new
control systems, workstations and monitors.
Eurovia are now in the process of installing new IP cameras on our private fibre
network and to date they have installed 19 IP cameras and connected them to the
system.
Once this is complete they will start work on upgrading the analogue microwave
network over to the new IP wireless network. This involves installing new transmitters

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 169
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

and receivers, network switches, cabling etc and then connecting the new cameras
on this network and link back to the control team.

Beckenham Place Park
The restoration of Beckenham Place Park (to the western side of the railway) has
now been completed. The listed stable block is now home to the new park café and
environmental education centre, and the long anticipated restored landscape, with its
reinstated lake, is being enjoyed by thousands of local people.
The stable yard itself will become an arrival and visitor’s hub, as new tenants take up
occupation of the cottages over the next year.
The new play facilities are much loved, as part of the restored pleasure grounds, and
the previously derelict Gardener’s cottage is now fully restored and re-purposed as a
hub for volunteer activity in the park, in the midst of the new community garden.
Open water swimming now takes place on the lake, and visitors will be encouraged to
explore the breadth and nature of Lewisham’s largest park on new paths and trails.
Early consultation and design work has now started on the eastern side of the park.
An options appraisal is also being prepared for M&C to try and secure a future for the
Mansion.

Catford Town Centre
Architect’s Studio Egret West have now completed work with officers to develop a
framework plan to help guide the regeneration of the Town Centre. The framework
aims to form the basis of any future developments for the Town Centre and involved
input from Viability Assessors, Construction Programme Advisors and an independent
Planning Consultant. The Masterplan will be used as an evidence base for the
emerging Local Plan.
Work is also continuing with TfL on the proposal to realign the South Circular A205
through the Town Centre. GLA Housing Infrastructure Funding (HIF) in the sum of
£10m has been secured on condition that the road is delivered by TfL with officers
currently seeking an extension due to the impact of Covid19 upon the programme
resulting from the furlough of staff in 2020. Subject to an approved design, early work
is expected to start in the first quarter of 2023/24. Meanwhile, the engagement activity
of Team Catford has continued to build on the programme of social engagement
started in 2016. The Team is expected to continue to support projects currently being
delivered an Catford and beyond.
The draft Framework plan was presented to Mayor & Cabinet in September 2020.
Approval was obtained to enter into a process of of non-statutory public consultation
that took place between November 2020 and February 2021.
Funding from the Asset Management Programme (AMP) has continued to support
reactive and much needed capital works across the operational corporate estate. This
has included fabric works such as roof replacement and mechanical works including
boiler replacements and lift repairs across the estate of approximately 90 buildings
and sites. More recently, the programme has funded some works to the Civic Suite,
Registry Office and some essential works as part of the main Laurence House
refurbishment programme. A full condition survey of the corporate estate has recently
been completed. A programme of work has now been compiled to help address the
investment needs of the estate.

Lewisham Gateway
Lewisham Gateway Phase 2 is a major £252m regeneration project, located between
Lewisham Town Centre and the DLR, rail station and bus interchange. It has been
designed as a high-density mixed use development representing contemporary
sustainable urban living.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 170
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

This project is the second phase of the development with Phase 1 already having
delivered 362 new homes, alongside new shops and restaurants, a public park with
children’s play space and access to the rivers, plus major infrastructure improvements
which include the removal of the Lewisham northern roundabout and the
implementation of a new highways system.
Phase 2 has secured £13.5m in GLA Housing Infrastructure Funding and a further
£9,558m in S.106 contributions to secure 106 affordable homes. Overall the scheme
will provide 530 PRS units, 119 co-living units, a cinema, gym, retail and co-working
space.

Disabled Facilities Grant
This grants assists the boroughs disabled residents by funding essential adaptations
which enable them to remain independent in their own home.
In addition to the spend to date, there is further committed expenditure that has been
approved by the s75 board to cover the project staffing costs of the Occupational
Therapists, Housing Assistance Team, Health and Housing Coordinator as well as
help with the cost of hoarding clearance/treatment of residents within the borough,
who are found to be suffering with hoarding issues.
The team have 220 open DFG cases of which 86 are approved and with surveyors,
representing a committed value of approximately £314,000. The remainder are at
application stage. The total of spent and committed DFG funds currently totals almost
1.1m.

Private Sector Grants And Loans
Discretionary grants assist the boroughs vulnerable residents to maintain their
properties. The grants also assists landlords and potential landlords in bringing their
properties up to an acceptable rentable standard on condition they grant 5 year
nomination rights to the Council.
There are currently 184 open discretionary cases in the pipeline, 80 of which are
approved, with surveyors and have a committed value of approximately £360,000, in
addition to the reported spend to date. A further £160,000 will be earmarked towards
discretionary project staffing costs.
The team are exploring ways to shorten the lengthy process times and working
collaboratively with partners and internal teams to ensure the allocated 21/22 budgets
are spent and fully committed by the end of this financial year.

Lewisham Homes – Property Acquisition
This funding supports the delivery of the Lewisham Homes acquisitions programme
that secures properties for temporary accommodation for homeless households,
making a saving on the Council’s spend on bed & breakfast accommodation.

Achilles Street
Residents on the Achilles Street Estate have voted for the redevelopment of the
estate to go ahead. Work is underway to carry out due diligence and the procurement
of the design team has completed with estate residents. The scheme will deliver new
homes for all existing residents as well as a significant number of new council owned
homes for social rent.

Edward Street
Edward St will provide 34 new high-quality temporary accommodation homes for local
families in housing need. The tender and contractor appointment has been completed
following Mayor and Cabinet approval. The manufacturing of the homes is ongoing in
the factory.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 171
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Place Ladywell
Following the M&C approval for PLACE Ladywell to remain in situ, the next step is to
carry out the required refurbishment works to ensure the building is compliant with
current fire safety standards in conjunction with the LH SLAM team.
PLACE refurbishment Project meetings are taking place fortnightly. The programme
for the high risk balcony and walkways works has been received and the feasibility
fee proposal has been received for the installation of the PV panels.

Deptford Southern Sites
The three Deptford Southern Sites – Frankham Phases 1 and 2, Frankham Phase 3
and Amersham Vale form an estate regeneration scheme being delivered in
partnership with Peabody. Good progress is being made.
Frankham Phase 1 and 2 is under construction and will deliver 79 social homes.
Frankham Phase 3 which is due to start construction in 2023 will deliver 38 social rent
homes. Residents from Phase 3 are able to move into the Phase 1 and 2 homes
where they wish to. Amersham Vale is also under construction and will deliver 24
social homes. The homes at Amersham Vale are due to be completed this year.

Temporary Accomodation - Mayow Rd
To deliver at pace new temporary accommodation (TA) and supported living (SL)
accommodation in Lewisham through the demolition and re-development of Mayow
Road Warehouse. This will deliver 32 Units (6 SL Units & 26 TA Units). TA will be self
contained family sized units for homeless families occupying poor quality B&B/nightly
paid 6 of the 32 units are for supported living and these units need input during
design, construction and pre-occupation from LBLs ASC commissioning team and the
NHS - meetings and dialogue ongoing. Osborne are delivering a schools project for
LBL across the road from the LH site - both site teams are in communication and
there are weekly meetings arranged which are attended by both contractors, LH and
LBL. Site is located close to an occupied LH block (Heathwood Point) and the
disruption/nuisance caused by day to day activity on site will need to be managed.
s105 consultation will be required to allow Higgins to increase their site compound
area accommodation (to be located behind works site adjacent to fence with Mayow
Park). The SL units will be for residents with challenging learning difficulties and /or
autism. This is being delivered in partnership with NHS and colleagues in ASC.

Temporary Accomodation - Canonbie Rd
To deliver at pace new temporary accommodation (TA) in Lewisham through the
demolition and re-development of 118 Canonbie Road. This will deliver 6 Units. TA
will be self contained family sized units for homeless families occupying poor quality
B&B/nightly paid accommodation.
Programme is currently 6 weeks in delay. 4 week delay due to boundary issues which
have now been resolved and a further 2 week delay as LH would not be able to take
handover close to Christmas. This means the completion date has slipped to early
January 2022. Other than these delays the project is progressing well.

Temporary Accomodation - Sydney Arms
The Sydney Arms site is up and running. The site has capacity for 16 low-medium
support homeless individuals and we currently accommodate 16 rough sleepers
there. The first individuals moved on to the site in March 2021
We received £2.3m in funding for the site, consisting of £2.1m in capital funding for
refurbishment of the site. This funding has been fully drawn down.
We also received £200,000 for recruitment of a Rough Sleeper Navigator to assist the
cohort by developing bespoke support programmes for each individual housed at the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 172
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

accommodation. That position has been appointed and is anticipated to be in post in
July 2021. Funding for this post will be drawn down quarterly until Q3 2024-25.

Residential Portfolio Acquisition – Hyde Housing Association
The acquisition of a portfolio currently comprising 120 residential properties from
Hyde Housing Association, as per a report to Mayor & Cabinet on 13 March 2019.
The Council completed on the acquisition of a portfolio of homes from Hyde Housing
Association earlier this financial year. Hyde Housing Association have offered the
option of further acquisitions. The Council are currently considering this option and
carrying out due diligence in relation to this.

Temporary Accomodation Conversions – Morton House
Morton House was, until recently, let to the Salvation Army. The property became
surplus to requirements and was offered to the Council to purchase, as it was
considered highly suitable to meet the Council’s temporary housing accommodation
need. The site was acquired by the Council in July 2020 for circa £3.5m
Refurbishment works to the building are expected to cost around £1.2m in total. The
project is due to be tendered in June with works commencing in August and
completing by the end of March 2022

Building for Lewisham Programme
The Building for Lewisham (BfL) supersedes the Housing Matters Programme. In
January 2020, the Mayor and Cabinet approved recommendations to advance and
expand the Council’s housebuilding programme to meet the corporate objectives set
for the period between 2018 and 2022.
This Programme will deliver a significant proportion of new council housing for the
borough. Funding has currently been agreed for the continuation of the former New
Homes Better Places programme and for a series of additional infill sites. In addition,
funding for feasibility and preparation of planning and tender information for major
strategic projects at Lady well, Achilles Street Estate and Catford has been allocated
as well as funding for design and planning stage work for sites across the borough.
The Council, via its development agent, Lewisham Homes, is also investigating
acquisition opportunities on land and sites from the market. These schemes may offer
an opportunity to deliver more homes on an expedited timescale.
The current consolidation of the BfL programme notes funding for over 1,500 new
homes across a mix of tenures. This has been modelled over a 40 year period and
has been inflation-adjusted accordingly. However, the assumptions used represent
an over-programming of developments and not all developments modelled will
necessarily come forward. Therefore, this represents the most budget-intensive
scenario. The financial and programme risk associated with the BfL programme will
be monitored closely and mitigations implemented accordingly. However, should any
significant changes to this budget be required, approval via Mayor and Cabinet will be
duly sought.
The programme is supported by grant funding from the GLA via the Building Council
Homes for London Programme. This provides £37.7m at a rate of around £100k per
social unit. In addition to this the Council have secured funding from the GLA through
their Small Sites Small Builders Fund, Housing Capacity Fund and Accelerated
Construction Fund. The NHS have also provide grant support for Supported Housing.
In addition to this, the Council will continue to subsidise the programme with the use
of Right to Buy 1-4-1 receipts. The Council have also bid for further grant funding
from the GLA and are waiting for the outcome of the negotiated bidding round at
present.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 173
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

HRA Capital Programme
Lewisham Homes are responsible for ensuring council owned stock under their
management is brought up to and maintained to a decent homes level, covering both
internal and external enveloping works. Lewisham Homes are leading on the delivery
of the decent homes programme (under delegated powers) in consultation /
agreement with the Council.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 174
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

APPENDIX 4 – Capital Programme Major Projects 2021 / 2024
Major Projects over £1m

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

Total

£m

£m

£m

£m

GENERAL FUND
Schools - School Places Programme

11.8

2.4

14.2

Schools – Other (Inc. Minor) Capital Works

9.5

0.2

9.5

Highways & Bridges – LBL

2.6

2.5

5.1

Highways & Bridges – TfL and Others

2.4

0.1

2.5

Catford Town Centre

1.3

0.3

Asset Management Programme

3.9

2.5

Other AMP Schemes

2.9

Broadway Theatre

5.3

CCTV Modernisation

1.1

1.1

Beckenham Place Park ( Inc. Eastern Part)

1.9

1.9

Catford Phase 1 – Thomas Lane Yard/ CCC

0.5

2.6

Catford Station Improvements

0.4

1

Lewisham Gateway ( Phase 2)

3.5

Disabled Facilities Grant

1.3

1.3

Private Sector Grants and Loans

1.9

1.9

Lewisham Homes – Property Acquisition

3.0

3.0

Achilles St Development

1.0

Edward St. Development

12.0

3.4

5.0
6.4
2.9

1.7

7.0

3.1
0.1

1.5

4.8

8.3

3.6

4.6
12.0

Place Ladywell

2.6

Deptford Southern Sites Regeneration

0.3

0

2.1

2.4

Temporary Accomodation - Mayow Rd

7.0

1.1

0.1

8.2

Temporary Accomodation - Canonbie Rd

1.8

0.3

Temporary Accomodation - Sydney Arms

1.0

Temporary Accomodation - Morton House

1.5

Temporary Accomodation - Manor Avenue

1.2

Fleet Replacement Programme

1.6

Travellers Site Relocation

3.8

Other Schemes

6.7

1.3

93.8

16.9

14.9

125.3

Building for Lewisham Programme

41.4

56.4

57.2

155.0

Creekside Acquisition

11.4

2.0

HRA Capital Programme ( Decent works)

78.8

42.7

41.8

163.3

Place Ladywell Development

1.5

43.4

27.7

72.6

Achilles St. Development

2.8

1.0

21.6

25.4

Mayow Rd Development

0.0

TOTAL GENERAL FUND

2.6

2.1
1.0

0.1

1.5
1.2

0.8

0.8

3.2
3.8
8.0

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

Other HRA Schemes

TOTAL PROGRAMME

13.4

0.0

22.7

4.0

4.0

30.7

158.6

149.5

152.3

460.4

252.4

166.4

167.2

586.0

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 175
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

APPENDIX 5 – Capital Programme Revised 2021/22 budget

APPROVED CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET- 21/22

£`m

M&C – February, 2021 as per Budget Report

184.3

Underspends carried-forward from 20/21

6.1
190.4

New Schemes Post Budget Report
Schools Minor Works Programme 2021
TfL Programme 21-22
Riverside Youth Club Development Project
Temporary Accomodation- Manor Conversion
Asset Review - development and site appraisals
Asset Review - miscellaneous assets
CYP - CSC Young Supported Housing
Leisure strategy and associated sites - The Bridge Leisure Centre /
Bellingham Leisure centre
Commercial Estate Investment

4.2
0.4
1.3
1.2
0.1
0.1
0.9
0.6
0.1
8.9

Increase in HR- Schemes Post Budget Report
General Capital & Decent Homes Programme
Reprofiled Schemes
Reprofiled HR Schemes
Holbeach Road Improvement Works
Achilles Street - Development ( Design Work)
Aids & Adaptations
Old Town Hall - Repairs & Refurb.
Edward Street Development (PLACE / Deptford )
Catford Town Centre - Phase 1
Laurence House Customer Service Centre and Library
Refurbishment
Broadway Theatre - Works
Revised Capital Programme Budget 21/22

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 176
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

38.8
9.60
-0.30
2.40
-0.10
0.80
0.30
0.90
0.50
0.20
14.30
252.4

Agenda Item 8
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 x Part 2
Key Decision
Date of Meeting
Title of Report

06/10/21
Introduction of a new Housing Allocations Policy

Originator of Report

Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing

x

x

Ext.

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Signed:
Cllr Paul Bell Cabinet Member for Housing
Date: 28th September 2021
Signed :

Fen Beckman

Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing Services
Date: 28th September 2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 177

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\1\8\ai00030816\$5v2udmdf.doc

Date

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet

Introduction of a new Housing Allocation Policy
Date: 6 October 2021
Key decision: Yes.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributors: Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing Services

Outline and recommendations
Mayor and Cabinet are asked to approve the implementation of the Allocations Policy at
Appendix 1.

Mayor and Cabinet are asked to delegate authority to the Executive Director for Housing,
Regeneration and Public Realm to agree the date on which the new policy will take effect.

Page 178

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
11 November 2020

Proposed changes presented to Mayor and Cabinet, with
recommendations to consult

18 November 2020

Proposed changes presented to Housing Select Committee

27 November 2020
– 14 March 2021

Public consultation

7 June 2021

Consultation report presented to Housing Select Committee

16 September 2021 Draft policy presented to Housing Select Committee

1. Summary
1.1.

This report provides a summary of the process that has been followed to date including
the consultation, responses to the consultation and how this has informed drafting of
the policy.

1.2.

It also contains a summary of the key changes that are proposed to the policy.

1.3.

The proposed Allocations Policy is included as Appendix 1.

2. Recommendations
2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are asked to approve the implementation of the Allocations Policy
at Appendix 1.

2.2.

Mayor and Cabinet are asked to delegate authority to the Executive Director for
Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm to agree the date on which the new policy
will take effect.

3. Policy Context
3.1.

Section 166a of the Housing Act 1996 requires local housing authorities to have a
policy in place for determining priorities and procedures to be followed in allocating
housing.

3.2.

The Allocation Policy must set out the Council’s policies relating to the allocation of
social housing and the procedures and processes used by officers to implement those
policies.

3.3.

Priority for accommodation must be given to the groups who fall within the statutory
reasonable preference categories, namely:

3.3.1. people who are homeless (within the meaning of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996)
3.3.2. people who are owed a duty by a local housing authority
3.3.3. people occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing, or otherwise living in
unsatisfactory housing conditions
3.3.4. people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds
3.3.5. people who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the authority, where

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 179
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves or to others) .
3.4.

The latest Allocation Policy was published in April 2017.

3.5.

The contents of this report are consistent with the Council’s policy framework. It
supports the achievements of the Corporate Strategy objectives:

3.5.1. Tackling the housing crisis – Everyone has a decent home that is secure and
affordable.
3.6.

The contents of this report support the achievement of the following Housing Strategy
2020-26 objectives:

3.6.1. Preventing Homelessness and meeting housing need.
3.7.

The contents of this report also support the achievement of the following
Homelessness Strategy 2020-22 objectives:

3.7.1. Support people to access a stable and secure home.

4. Background
4.1.

The Allocation Policy was reviewed extensively in 2012, in response to the Localism
Act 2011 and the Code of Guidance on Allocations June 2012.

4.2.

In 2017 further changes were made in response to increasing demand for social
housing and rising homelessness levels and the Allocation Policy was supplemented
by an Annual Lettings Plan. Over time it has become clear that amendments to the
allocations policy are needed to ensure that it reflects current priorities, and to ensure
that applicants with most acute need are prioritised.

4.3.

There are now over 10,000 households on the housing register. It would take over nine
years to provide social homes to everyone on the housing register if the number of
available homes stays the same, and if no more households are added to the register.
It is therefore likely that many of those on our register will never move into social
housing.

4.4.

Over recent years, the number of social housing properties available for letting has
been steadily decreasing and on average we let around 1000 properties. In 20/21
financial year we achieved 791 social housing lets, the lowest number of lets in
Lewisham ever (most likely as a result of less moves taking place during the Covid-19
pandemic).

4.5.

The lack of supply is also exacerbating the level of need in the borough. Increasing
numbers of households are in need of larger family homes for instance, however the
number of larger houses available is very small. As at August 2021 there were 336
families in need of a five-bedroom property and only seven of this size were let in the
previous two financial years. The below table illustrates this, and the lets vs need for
other house sizes over the last two financial years:

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 180
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Bedroom

Let in 19/20

Let in 20/21*

Number on the register
in housing need as at
August 21

1 bedroom

624

414

1876

2 bedroom

305

246

3613

3 bedroom

171

112

3259

4 bedroom

27

13

1001

5 bedroom

1

6

336

*There may be small undercount due to some administration processes still being completed when producing this
report, from lets that took place towards the end of the FY 20/21

4.6.

Over the past years, there has been a significant rise in the number of homeless
households who require temporary accommodation. As of August 2021 2,600
households are in temporary accommodation arranged by the Council, an increase of
736 compared to March 2017, and an increase of 1,511 compared to when the
allocations policy was last reviewed in full in 2012. TA cost the council £2.1m in
2020/21.

4.7.

In light of the above, further analysis was undertaken in 2020 and a number of changes
to the Allocation Policy were proposed. These changes aimed to ensure that the
housing allocation scheme more accurately reflects the rehousing priorities for the
borough.

4.8.

Based on the current housing landscape, and demand in Lewisham, the priorities for
the Allocations Policy are:

4.9.



Reducing the number of homeless households who are living in unsuitable and
costly temporary accommodation;



Reducing under occupation and severe overcrowding ;



Supporting independent move-on for single vulnerable households who are
currently housed in supported and semi-independent accommodation;



Supporting those who are fleeing violence



Supporting the regeneration of designated housing estates.



Delivering on our corporate responsibilities, including in our role as a corporate
parent and in relation to members of the armed forces who are in housing need.

The report presented to Mayor and Cabinet in November 2020 sought approval for a
12 week public consultation on the proposed changes to the Allocations Policy, to
consult on:

4.9.1. changes to the banding structure
4.9.2. changes to band allocation for several primary rehousing reasons
4.9.3. introducing a new ‘smart letting’ approach to maximise the number of properties
available to let
4.9.4. reducing the ‘three offer’ rule to ‘two offer’ rule
4.9.5. updating the bidding process
4.9.6. reviewing how large properties are let
4.9.7. delegating powers

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 181
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

4.10.

Approval was given and a public consultation has taken place. A detailed summary of
the consultation was presented to Housing Select Committee on 7th June 2021.1 The
consultation and the comments from Housing Select Committee have been reviewed in
detail and used to inform the proposed Allocations Policy set out in Appendix 1.

5. Consultation summary
5.1.

The full consultation report is available at Appendix 2. Key details are summarised in
this section.

5.2.

The proposals were drafted as a set of questions for the purpose of consultation and
are outlined below:
 Do you agree that we should consider placing rehousing reasons in priority
bands as outlined in Table 1?
 Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by
three bed' group?
 Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with
additional need priority' group?
 Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so
that you can bid for multiple properties each week?
 Do you agree that we should reduce the 'Three Offer' rule to a 'Two Offer' rule
for eligible groups?
 To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should
consider operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?
 Do you agree that we should not include adult children for the new
'overcrowded by three band'?
 Do you agree that we should consider moving 'overcrowded by one bed' to a
new Band 4 priority group?

5.3.

A public consultation on the proposed changes to the councils Allocations scheme was
launched on the 27th November 2020 to run for 12 weeks until the 14th February 2021.

5.4.

In responses to representations that were made by some respondents, and
recognising the ongoing impact of COVID-19, the council extended the deadline for
responses until the 14th March 2021.

5.5.

The consultation was hosted on Lewisham’s website using the online consultation
portal Citizen Space. A dedicated council inbox was also made available for
respondents should they wish to make direct representations or to provide additional
commentary to their consultation response.

5.6.

The consultation was promoted widely including:
 Online/Social Media: Promotions via the Lewisham Council website
including an alert banner at the top of all Housing pages, Twitter promotion, and
notifications published on the Homesearch page;
 Direct Communication: Two texts sent directly to residents in Hostels and a
text to all residents in Temporary Accommodation, an email to all residents at
Lewisham Homes, direct contact with TMOs, email to all residents on the
housing register, individual consultation sessions with residents in supported
housing;
 Partner engagement: Contact with all major RPs in Lewisham, request that

1

https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6517&Ver=4

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 182
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

RPs publicise with their residents and online, engagement with representative
groups and forums across Lewisham;
 Internal Council Communication: Included in the Chief Executive Briefing,
Yammer posts published, Email tag-lines promoting the survey, direct contact
with key internal partners and an intranet feature;
 Focus Groups: Two focus groups were held, targeted particularly towards
underrepresented groups, and promoted via representative partner agencies;
 Meetings: Attendance at the Homelessness forum, session with RPs, and
two public meetings advertised through partner agencies, and held with
interested parties.
5.7.

Paper consultations and translations in other languages were available upon request.
Those whose first language was not English and wanted to input their views were able
to send an email with their details and their chosen language, following which contact
was made to collect their views in their desired language. This was communicated to
residents throughout the consultation and was translated into a number of languages
on the front page of the online consultation.

5.8.

Respondents who emailed the inbox directly were invited to complete the online survey
and were advised that their comments would be considered in the consultation
response.

6. Summary of findings
Response rate and demographics of respondents
6.1.

Over 1,000 residents participated with the consultation either through the completion of
the online survey, attending a focus group session or providing their comments via a
dedicated email inbox.

6.2.

942 residents responded through the online survey of which 804 (85%) were Lewisham
residents.

6.3.

Full detail of who responded to the consultation can be found in section 5 of the
consultation report at Appendix 2. A high level summary is below.

6.3.1. Over 50% of all respondents are either currently in social housing or are in
temporary accommodation.
6.3.2. A substantial majority of all respondents (69.7%) are female.
6.3.3. Respondents from a wide range of ethnicities completed the questionnaire. 39% of
all respondents were black and 31.2% were white.
6.3.4. Over 16% of respondents have a disability.
6.3.5. Almost 70% of respondents identified as straight or heterosexual.
6.3.6. More respondents identified as Christian than any other religion or belief, with
45.9% of all respondents identifying as such.
6.3.7. 0.7% of all respondents stated that their gender identity was different to the gender
they were assigned at birth.
6.3.8. Over 5% (50) respondents were either pregnant at the time of completing the survey
or had been pregnant within the last 6 months.
6.3.9. Almost 17% of respondents have caring responsibilities.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 183
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Responses to the questions: qualitative data
6.4.

Over 50% of all respondents agreed with the following questions:
 Do you agree that we should consider placing rehousing reasons in priority
bands as outlined in Table 1?
 Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by
three bed' group?
 Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with
additional need priority' group?
 Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so
that you can bid for multiple properties each week?
 Do you agree that we should reduce the 'Three Offer' rule to a 'Two Offer' rule
for eligible groups?
To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should
consider operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?

6.5.

More residents disagreed than agreed with the following proposals:
 Do you agree that we should not include adult children for the new
'overcrowded by three band'?
 Do you agree that we should consider moving 'overcrowded by one bed' to a
new Band 4 priority group?

6.6.

The following proposals had 60%+ in agreement: Smart Lettings; Homelessness with
additional priority; and multiple bids.

6.7.

The following proposals had agreement between 50% and 60%: new o/c by 3 bed
rehousing reason; and two offer rule.

6.8.

The following proposals had agreement between 30% and 40%: Creating a new band
4; not including adult children for the new 'overcrowded by three band.'

6.9.

A full overview of the responses broken down by respondent demographics can be
found in the full consultation response.

Responses to the questions: qualitative/free text data
6.10.

There were 2,228 written responses to the proposals that the council included in the
consultation. Some of the recurring themes that arose across the proposals are
captured in the below bullet points:

6.10.1. Consideration should be given to those who have been waiting for social housing
the longest;
6.10.2. Consideration should be given to prioritising those with multiple rehousing reasons;
6.10.3. Written responses were broadly supportive of practical initiatives to improve the
bidding process however stressed a demand that the policy be clearer;
6.10.4. Many respondents advocated for the prioritisation of families where there were
physical or mental health needs;
6.10.5. A number of written responses advocated against the proposed change to introduce
a new band 4, due to the negative impact that this change would have on those
households who are overcrowded.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 184
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

7. Proposed new allocations policy
7.1.

The outcome of the consultation has now been considered in detail, and further
analysis conducted of the potential impact of the proposed changes including a
detailed Equalities Analysis Assessment attached as Appendix 3.

7.2.

Following this review a number of changes are now proposed. These can be
summarised broadly into major changes which affect large numbers of applicants
and/or represent a substantive change in how the allocations scheme operates, and
minor changes which include items such as changing phrasing, updating job titles,
reflecting case law and statute and similar. The below section also highlights those
proposed changes that were consulted upon and are not being progressed, and the
rationale behind this decision.

7.3.

Having considered a wide range of possible options and reviewed all the information
available, the council is confident that the proposed policy is the right approach for
Lewisham. The proposed policy ensures that those households in the most need will
be prioritised for social housing, whilst introducing measures to increase the number of
homes available in general and mitigating against the impact of proposed changes on
certain groups.

7.4.

A summary of the substantive changes that have been made to the policy is available
in Appendix 4.

Major changes that are being included
7.5.

All questions included in the public consultation related to proposed major changes to
the policy which would either affect large numbers of households or would represent a
substantive change in the operation of the policy. The below changes are all included
in the newly proposed Allocations Policy.

7.6.

Changing the banding: This change covers the introduction of a new:

7.6.1. ‘Overcrowded by 3 bed’ rehousing reason placed in Band 2,
7.6.2. ‘Overcrowded by 2 bed’ being placed in Band 3 and
7.6.3. ‘Overcrowded by 1 bed’ being placed in Band 4.
7.6.4.

‘Homeless with additional need’ rehousing reason placed into Band 2, with
Homeless households not meeting this criteria remaining in Band 3.

7.7.

These changes reflect the council’s intention to ensure that those with the most
pressing need are prioritised for accommodation, including those who are most
chronically overcrowded and homeless households that have additional need.

7.8.

52% of respondents to the consultation agreed with the proposed changes to the
banding structure and 32% did not agree. Some of the comments provided by
respondents focussed on the potential impact on overcrowded households but also on
the positives of an approach that considered need in addition to rehousing reason.

7.9.

The council recognises these concerns regarding overcrowding and it is proposed that
the new allocations policy includes these changes with some caveat to help mitigate
the impact for the ‘Overcrowded by 2 bed’ and ‘Overcrowded by 1 bed’ categories
which is discussed in paras 5.18-5.20.

7.10.

Introduction of an ‘Overcrowded by 3 bed’ rehousing reason: This change allows
for households that are overcrowded by 3 bedrooms according to the bedroom
standard to be assessed as such and placed into Band 2.

7.11.

Analysis conducted by officers highlighted that there was a significant cohort of
households within the current ‘Overcrowded by 2 bed or more’ rehousing reason that in
fact were very severely overcrowded. The inclusion of this change reflects the councils

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 185
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

focus on tackling the most severe overcrowding by ensuring this group have a high
priority.
7.12.

58% of respondents to the consultation agreed with this change and 30% did not
agree. Some of the comments provided by respondents to this proposal concerned the
potential impact on other overcrowded households who would be moved down as a
consequence, or suggested that this cohort should be placed into band 1.

7.13.

The council recognises some of the concerns raised around the impact on other
overcrowded households which is discussed further in paras 5.18-5.20. The council do
not feel it appropriate that this group be placed into Band 1, as this is the band
reserved for households who are experiencing an emergency situation and need to
move urgently or those who are vacating a property that can be used for someone with
a pressing need.

7.14.

It is proposed that the new allocations policy includes a new rehousing category of
‘Overcrowded by 3 bed or more’ which will be placed into Band 2.

7.15.

Moving Overcrowded by 1 bed households into a new Band 4: This change would
mean that all households assessed as ‘Overcrowded by 1 bed’ according to the
bedroom need calculation the council use would be placed into a new Band 4 on the
Housing Register.

7.16.

47% of respondents to the consultation did not agree with this change and 38% did
agree with it. Some of the additional text provided by respondents to this proposal
reflected that it would mean many households who have been waiting on the housing
register for some time would wait longer still, and noted that overcrowding to any extent
is a challenge for households. Respondents expressed concerns regarding the impact
this would have on the wellbeing of residents and many suggested the council should
consider an alternative approach.

7.17.

Having reviewed the comments made and considered alternatives, the council is
proposing an amendment to this measure. This amendment reflects on the need for
consistency with the broad approach set out in the consultation whilst also reflecting
extensively on those issues raised throughout our engagement with residents and
other stakeholders.

7.18.

To mitigate against the impact of moving Overcrowding by 1 bed into a new band 4 the
council proposes an additional consideration of whether the household is statutorily
overcrowded in addition to being overcrowded by the bedroom need calculation the
council use. The council would also include households that are statutorily
overcrowded but that are not overcrowded according to the bedroom standard on the
housing register.

7.19.

The proposed approach means that overcrowded households meeting the following
criteria would be placed in bands as per the table below.
Criteria Met

Band

Overcrowded by 3 beds or more

2

Overcrowded by 2 beds & statutorily overcrowded

2

Overcrowded by 2 beds & not statutorily overcrowded

3

Overcrowded by 1 bed & statutorily overcrowded

3

Overcrowded by 1 bed & not statutorily overcrowded

4

Statutorily overcrowded but not overcrowded using the
bedroom standard

4

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 186
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

7.20.

The council is satisfied that this strikes the balance between ensuring that the
Allocations policy prioritises those groups that are most in need whilst reflecting on the
concerns raised by respondents.

7.21.

Creation of a Homeless with additional need rehousing reason: This proposal
would introduce a ‘Homeless with additional need’ rehousing reason and place those
households meeting the criteria into Band 2. Homeless households who did not meet
the criteria establishing additional need would be remain in Band 3.

7.22.

The proposal to introduce this new rehousing reason reflects the pressing need that
the council has to support households that are homeless into permanent
accommodation. In creating a new group, the council is seeking to ensure that certain
homeless households who have additional needs that substantially impact their
housing experience are prioritised for social housing.

7.23.

66% of respondents to the consultation agreed with this change and 18% did not
agree. Some of the additional text provided by respondents to this proposal suggested
that some consideration of medical need would be appropriate in determining
additional need, or that the council should prioritise households with multiple additional
needs.

7.24.

To determine additional need in this circumstance the council asked an additional
question in the consultation. This set out a range of options that the council might
reasonably deploy including using the existing Location Priority Policy, Private Rented
Sector Offer (PRSO) Policy, a combination of the two or some other approach.

7.25.

The Private Rented Sector Offer policy sets out the instances by which the council
would not consider a PRSO to be appropriate. In such circumstances a household
would be considered to have additional needs which mean a tenancy in the private
rented sector would not be suitable.

7.26.

The Location Priority Policy sets out the criteria by which the council would prioritise
households being placed into temporary accommodation for placements that become
available near the borough. Households awarded an in-borough priority are most likely
to have substantial needs that require them to be accommodated in, or as close to,
Lewisham as possible.

7.27.

57% of those who responded to the consultation questions on homelessness with
additional needs believed that a combination of both policies would be most
appropriate. 20% felt that the Location Priority Policy alone was most appropriate, 11%
that some other approach was preferable and 6% that the PRSO policy alone was best
placed to determine additional need. A further 6% did not provide an answer to the
question on how best to determine additional need.

7.28.

It is proposed that the new allocations policy includes a new rehousing category
‘Homeless with additional need’ which will be placed into Band 2. The households
eligible for this category will be those who have the highest priority under the Location
Priority Policy or have been determined to be unsuitable for a PRSO under the PRSO
policy.

7.29.

Changing the ‘Three offer rule’ to a ‘Two offer rule’: This proposal would mean that
all groups that are presently eligible to decline three offers before their application is
suspended would only be able to decline two offers in future.

7.30.

This proposal reflects on the scale of demand and the need to ensure that properties
are let as soon as they are ready. Where applicants reject offers this causes a delay in
letting the property as it means it must go through the advertisement and shortlisting
process again. In reducing the number of offers that applicants are entitled to, the
council is looking to facilitate the more prompt letting of homes, and to encourage
residents to only bid for properties they are willing to live in.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 187
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

7.31.

The council recognises that sometimes applicants reject offers for valid reasons that
they were not aware of at the time of bidding. The policy has provision for such
applicants and these will not be amended.

7.32.

54% of respondents to the consultation agreed with this proposal and 32% did not
agree. Some of the additional text provided by respondents to this proposal include a
concern that the residents may be unfairly penalised if a property is found to be
unsuitable, reflecting on the choice that is on offer and the scarcity of social housing
more generally and the need to ensure prompt letting.

7.33.

It is proposed that the council amends the policy so that all priority rehousing reasons
that presently permit three offers are permitted two offers in future.

7.34.

The introduction of ‘Smart Lettings’: This proposal seeks to ring-fence up to 20% of
properties per annum to households that are in social housing. The resultant void
would then be prioritised for a household that is living in temporary accommodation or
the private sector.

7.35.

This proposal sought to address the substantial decline that the council has seen in the
number of social lets available in recent years. By prioritising a number of properties for
those already in social housing, the council is able to create churn, with the properties
that are vacated becoming available for other households in housing need. This churn
leads to additional properties becoming available for those in need and is an effective
way of increasing the number of social lets available to those on the housing register.

7.36.

64% of respondents to the consultation agreed with this proposal and 15% did not.
Some of the additional text provided by respondents to this proposal dwelt on the
additional priority that was already being given to those in social housing in the first
instance, or the possibility that this might be used to increase the number of larger
homes that might be available.

7.37.

It is proposed that the council includes a commitment to ‘Smart Lettings’ in the new
Allocations Policy, and also include those identified to move on from Supported
Housing amongst those prioritised for the subsequent voids, due to the considerable
pressures faced by this service.

Major changes that are not being included
7.38.

All of the questions included in the public consultation were based on proposed major
changes to the policy affecting large numbers or representing a substantive change in
the operation of the policy. The proposals set out below are not being included in the
new Allocations Policy for the reasons set out below.

7.39.

Excluding non-dependents over 21 from the ‘Overcrowded by 3 bed’ rehousing
reason: This change would mean that the council would not include non-dependent
household members over the age of 21 when assessing whether someone would be
eligible for the ‘Overcrowded by 3 bed’ rehousing reason.

7.40.

49% of respondents to the consultation did not agree with this change and 35% did
agree with it. Some of the additional text provided by respondents to this proposal
reflected on the lack of alternative accommodation for those that would be excluded
under this approach, and also noted that these were still household members and it
could have a considerable knock-on impact.

7.41.

Having reviewed the responses from the consultation and considered the potential
impact of this proposal against its merits, the council is not proposing that this
approach is pursued. As such it is not included within the updated policy.

7.42.

Allowing multiple bids per week: The system is presently configured to only permit
one bid per applicant per week. This proposal would allow applicants to bid for a
number of properties per week should they wish.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 188
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

7.43.

This proposal sought to increase the choice available to residents on the housing
register. It has been noted that residents would often like to bid for more than one
property per week but are restricted from doing so by the current policy.

7.44.

91% of respondents to the consultation agreed with this changed and 4% did not
agree. A wide range of free text comments reflected on the additional choice this would
give to residents, although there were also comments noting that any actual process
would need to be clear and fair.

7.45.

Having entered into dialogue with the system provider it is clear that this solution
cannot be implemented at this time. As such, the policy will continue to allow one bid
per applicant per week as it presently does.

7.46.

The council remains committed to working with the system provider and housing
providers to achieve this aim and will continue to explore this with a view to future
implementation should it become possible.

Minor changes
7.47.

In addition to the major changes detailed above, the council is proposing a number of
minor changes. These are summarised below and set out in detail at Appendix 3.

7.48.

These changes include changing the parts of the policy where job titles or schemes
have changed or no longer exist, as well as changes such as removing rehousing
reasons that have been subsumed into another category.

7.49.

They also include amendments to ensure compliance with statutory requirements or
recent case law that affects the provision of the service, and to improve transparency
with regards to the operation of some parts of the Allocations Policy such as the
Emergency Housing Panel.

7.50.

Some minor changes may have been made in addition to those listed in the Appendix
but where these had no material impact on the content they have not been recorded.

8. Implementation
8.1.

To ensure that the policy is implemented as efficiently as possible, officers are working
closely with colleagues and partners on the establishment and delivery of an
implementation programme.

8.2.

This work is being conducted against a background of a service-wide restructure in the
Housing Services directorate, as well as the recent implementation of a new integrated
housing system and the ongoing impact of the pandemic on service demand and
delivery.

8.3.

To ensure that intensive preparation can be concluded before the policy is
implemented, Mayor and Cabinet will be asked to delegate authority to determine the
commencement date to the Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public
Realm, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing.

8.4.

Amendments to the allocations system will be required to bring the new policy into
effect. This includes amendment to the bands, additional fields to allow for new data to
be captured and changes to the primary rehousing reason and band for many
applicants.

8.5.

Officers will develop a comprehensive communications plan to inform housing register
applicants about changes to the housing register. This will explain why changes have
been made and set out how to make representations should they believe the change to
be incorrect.

8.6.

Staff and partners have been engaged throughout this process. Detailed briefings will
be provided to officers on the new approach, and training will be provided to ensure a

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 189
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

smooth transfer.
8.7.

The implementation plan will include the development of new protocols concerning the
assessment of statutory overcrowding to ensure this is properly assessed and
accounted for.

9. Next Steps
9.1.

These changes represent a substantive change in the way that the Council allocates
social housing. It is critical that this policy works for our residents and delivers against
its objectives.

9.2.

The proposed Allocations Policy uses the Location Priority Policy and PRSO Policy in
determining the band that homeless households will be placed into. The council has
committed to a review of these policies and will bring these forward to Mayor and
cabinet for approval before the new Allocations Policy takes effect.

9.3.

Officers will continue to closely monitor the policy after its implementation. This will
allow any issues that arise to be addressed promptly. Officers will also continue to
monitor allocations to ensure that the policy is delivering against its objectives. An
annual outturn report will be presented to Housing Select Committee for scrutiny.

10.

Financial implications

10.1.

As has been previously narrated and outlined in this report, the current housing issues
experienced both nationally and in the borough are putting severe pressure on the
council’s housing allocations and budgets. There are significant costs associated with
housing generally, including managing the allocations service, managing the provision
of council housing and providing services to those experiencing homelessness or the
threat of homelessness.

10.2.

All of these are affected over time by the demand for housing. The allocations policy is
the means by which that demand is allocated to existing properties. As such, changes
to the plan do not have direct financial implications.

10.3.

The changes to the allocations policy set out in the report are expected to assist in
managing those pressures and assist in officers making the best use of the resources
available to them.

11.

Legal implications

11.1.

The allocation of housing by local housing authorities is regulated by Part 6 of the
Housing Act 1996 (HA 1996). A local housing authority (LHA) must comply with the
provisions of Part 6 when allocating housing accommodation (section 159(1), HA
1996). However, subject to this compliance, authorities may otherwise allocate housing
in any manner they consider appropriate

11.2.

Section 166A (1) of the HA 1996 provides that every LHA must have an allocation
scheme for determining priorities between qualifying persons and as to the procedure
to be followed

11.3.

Section 166A (2) through to (14) sets out which sets out the procedure to be followed
when allocating housing accommodation

11.4.

Section 166A (13) Before adopting an allocation scheme or making an alteration to
their scheme reflecting a major change of policy, a local housing authority must
(a). send a copy of the draft scheme, or proposed alteration, to every private registered
provider of social housing and registered social landlord with which they have
nomination arrangements [s159(4)] , and

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 190
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

(b). afford those persons a reasonable opportunity to comment on the proposals
11.5.

The Localism Act 2011 received royal assent on 15th November 2011. The 2011 Act
introduces a number of significant amendments to Part 6 of the 1996 Act. Of particular
relevance here are the following provisions: Section 160ZA replaces s.160A in relation
to allocations by housing authorities. Social housing may only be allocated to
‘qualifying persons’ and housing authorities are given the power to determine what
classes of persons are or are not qualified to be allocated housing (s.160ZA(6) and
(7)).

11.6.

The statutory guidance on social housing allocations is entitled “Allocation of
accommodation: Guidance for Local Authorities in England and was revised in June
2012 Authorities are obliged to have regard to this guidance when devising and
implementing their schemes.

11.7.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the
equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age,
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

11.8.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:

11.9.



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. It is
not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of
opportunity or foster good relations.

11.10. The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance
on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
11.11. Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the
technical guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/adviceand-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
11.12. The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:


The essential guide to the public sector equality duty



Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making



Engagement and the equality duty



Equality objectives and the equality duty



Equality information and the equality duty

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 191
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

12.

Equalities implications

12.1.

An Equalities Analysis Assessment has been completed and is included at Appendix 3.

13.

Climate change and environmental implications

13.1.

There are no anticipated climate change and environmental implications.

14.

Crime and disorder implications

14.1.

There are no anticipated crime and disorder implications.

15.

Health and wellbeing implications

15.1.

The Allocations Policy gives preference to residents with medical need (classified in
terms of Exceptional medical need, High medical need and Low medical need).

15.2.

Those in Exceptional medical need are expected to remain at the most urgent level
(Band 1) and therefore should experience no significant impact as a result of proposed
changes.

15.3.

Those in High medical need are expected to remain at the second level of need (Band
2). Changes proposed to this band have been recommended in order to ensure those
in the most need are able to access social housing. Numbers within this band are
expected to remain relatively stable or even decrease, therefore any impact on people
with High medical need is anticipated to be positive.

15.4.

Those in Low medical need are expected to remain at the third level of need (Band 3).
Currently this cohort are grouped with households overcrowded by one bedroom.
Changes proposed include overcrowded by one bedroom being moved to a new Band
4 with lower priority, thereby decreasing the size of Band 3 significantly. Therefore any
impact on people in Low medical need is anticipated to be positive as the likelihood of
them being awarded social housing will increase.

15.5.

Implications for residents with disabilities have been fully explored within the Equalities
Analysis Assessment.

16.

Appendices

16.1.

Appendix 1: Proposed Allocations Policy

16.2.

Appendix 2: Consultation Report

16.3.

Appendix 3: Equalities Analysis Assessment

16.4.

Appendix 4: List of changes to the allocations policy

17.

Background papers

17.1.

Current 2017 Allocations policy – approved by Mayor and Cabinet in 2017.

17.2.

Housing Allocation Policy review paper – presented to Mayor and Cabinet 11
November 2020.

17.3.

Housing Allocation Policy Consultation Report - presented to Housing Select
Committee 7 June 2021.

17.4.

Introduction of a new Housing Allocation Policy – presented to Housing Select
Committee 16 September 2021.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 192
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

18.

Glossary

Term

Definition

Allocations

Term used by social landlords to describe the process of
identifying properties and letting them to people, who then
become their tenants.

Annual lettings plan

A plan drawn up by a social landlord covering the various
groups that the landlord intends to let properties to over the
year. It also sets targets and monitors procedures.

Choice-based lettings

Based on the Dutch style of advertising and letting homes,
aiming to give a more customer-focused approach to the
letting of social housing.

Supported Housing

Accommodation for people with specific care needs.
Residents are ‘supported’ in their accommodation by paid
staff. Tenures can cover people in various groups, such as
older people, people with learning disabilities, or those with
needs around addiction and homelessness services.

Under-occupation

When the tenants in a property are not fully occupying it.

19.

Report author and contact

19.1.

Fenella Beckman, Director of Housing, 020 8314 8632;
Fenella.Beckman@lewisham.gov.uk

19.2.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for Corporate Resources:
Tony Riordan, principle accountant, 020 8314 6854, Tony.Riordan@lewisham.gov.uk

19.3.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law, Governance &HR
Leonard Tribe, Senior Lawyer; 020 8314 7820, Leonard.Tribe@lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 193
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Lewisham Housing Allocation Policy
Reviewed TBC

Page 194

1

ADDRESS DETAILS
LOCAL HOUSING OFFICES
Lewisham Homes
Laurence House
1 Catford Road SE6 4FN
Tel: 0800 028 2028
Open: Monday–Friday 9am-5pm except Wednesday’s 10am-5pm
https://www.lewishamhomes.org.uk/contact-us/
Brockley PFI
Ground Floor, 111 Endwell Road
Brockley SE4 2PE
Tel: 020 7635 1200
Open: Monday–Friday 9am–5pm
brockley.customerservice@pinnaclegroup.co.uk
Housing Options Centre
Laurence House
Catford Road SE6 4RU
Tel: 020 8314 7007
HousingOptionsEnquiry@lewisham.gov.uk
Allocations & Lettings Service
Tel: 020 8314 7007
Housing Applications Enquiries
LewishamFindYourHomeApplications@lewisham.gov.uk

Page 195

2

Contents
1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 5
1.1

Introduction to Lewisham’s Allocation Policy ...................................................................... 5

1.1.1

How long will I have to wait for a home? ...................................................................... 5

1.1.2

What sort of properties are available to applicants? ..................................................... 6

1.1.3

What sort of tenancy will I have in an allocated property? ............................................ 6

1.2

Your options........................................................................................................................ 6

1.2.1

Your options if you are homeless or at risk of homelessness ....................................... 7

1.2.2

Your options if you are hospitalised.............................................................................. 8

1.2.3

Your options if you are suffering domestic abuse ......................................................... 8

1.2.4

Your options if you are suffering harassment and anti-social behaviour ...................... 8

1.2.5

Options for single people .............................................................................................. 9

1.2.6

Options for young people ............................................................................................. 9

1.3

What properties are excluded from this policy? .................................................................. 9

1.4

Equality and diversity ........................................................................................................ 10

1.5

Who can you contact for advice, or to make a complaint? ................................................ 10

1.6

What to do if you disagree with our decisions ................................................................... 10

2 The Allocation Policy ................................................................................................................... 11
2.1

Who can join the Housing Register? ............................................................................. 11

2.1.1
2.2

Ineligible because of immigration status ..................................................................... 11

Disqualification from the Housing Register or from receiving an offer .............................. 12

2.2.1

If you have significant financial resources .................................................................. 13

2.2.2

If you do not have a local connection to Lewisham .................................................... 13

2.2.3

One Offer Policy ......................................................................................................... 14

2.2.4

Two Offer Policy ......................................................................................................... 14

2.2.5

Disqualification from an offer for rent arrears ............................................................. 15

2.2.6

Unacceptable behaviour ............................................................................................. 15

2.2.7

No priority ................................................................................................................... 15

2.2.8

Reinstatement in exceptional cases ........................................................................... 15

2.2.9

Incomplete housing applications ................................................................................ 16

2.3

What happens if you are ineligible or disqualified from the Housing Register? ................. 16

2.4

Who can be included on your application? ....................................................................... 16

2.4.1

What happens to other people currently living with me? ............................................ 17

2.4.2

Family members who are currently living elsewhere .................................................. 17

2.5

Priority Bands ................................................................................................................... 18

2.5.1

Summary of the Priority Bands ................................................................................... 18

2.5.2

Band 1: Emergency Priority ........................................................................................ 19

2.5.3

Band 2: High Priority .................................................................................................. 21

Page 196

3

2.5.4

Band 3 – Medium Priority ........................................................................................... 25

2.5.5

Band 4: Low priority .................................................................................................... 26

3. How the Policy is applied ........................................................................................................... 27
3.1

Applying to the Housing Register .................................................................................. 27

3.1.1

How can you apply to join the Housing Register? ...................................................... 27

3.1.2

Telling the truth........................................................................................................... 27

3.1.3

Use of information you supply .................................................................................... 28

3.1.4

Processing your application ....................................................................................... 28

3.1.5

Keeping your application up to date ........................................................................... 29

3.1.6

Medical assessments ................................................................................................. 29

3.1.7

The Emergency Housing Panel .................................................................................. 30

3.1.8

How to bid .................................................................................................................. 31

3.1.9

Clients matched to properties ..................................................................................... 31

3.2

How do we decide which Band your application should go into? ...................................... 32

3.3

How do we decide which application takes priority? ......................................................... 32

3.3.1

Property size .............................................................................................................. 33

3.3.2

Statutory Overcrowding .............................................................................................. 35

3.3.3

Starred Decant Priority ............................................................................................... 35

3.4

Homes that may be offered first to specific groups of applicants ...................................... 35

3.4.1 Specialist accommodation for elderly or disabled persons or other special groups ....... 35
3.4.2

Allocation of Houses................................................................................................... 36

3.4.3

Local/Annual Lettings Plans ....................................................................................... 36

3.4.4

Direct lets ................................................................................................................... 37

3.4.5

Chain Lettings ............................................................................................................ 37

3.4.6

Smart lettings ............................................................................................................. 37

4. Reviewing this policy .................................................................................................................. 37

Page 197

4

1. Introduction
Introduction to Lewisham’s Allocation Policy

1.1

This Allocation Policy determines who is eligible for social housing in Lewisham and the priority they
should receive. Eligible applicants are placed on a “Housing Register”, and their priority is
determined based on their current housing situation.
Priority is awarded by placing applicants in Priority Bands. The Bands are:
Band 1: Emergency Priority
Band 2: High Priority
Band 3: Medium Priority
Band 4: Low Priority.
The higher the Band, the quicker an applicant can expect to be offered a property to move into.
Unless exceptional circumstances apply, within Bands those who have been in that Band or on the
Housing Register the longest will be prioritised first.
Everyone on the Housing Register has a reason for wanting to move, but in general we can only
offer homes to those in the greatest need. We must comply with the law, which says that we must
give “reasonable preference” to certain groups of people.
Our overall objectives in designing this updated Allocation Policy have been to make sure that it is
fair, efficient, flexible, and responds to the housing needs of the borough.
This Allocation Policy has been written to comply with the provisions of Part 6 of the Housing Act
1996 as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002 and the Localism Act 2011. It also takes into
account the Code of Guidance on Allocations June 2012 as revised, most recently in July 2021,
Supplementary Guidance December 2013 Providing social housing for local people, March 2015
Right to Move and November 2018 Improving Access to Social Housing for Victims of Domestic
Abuse. It has been drafted in line with the Council’s Housing Strategy and Tenancy Strategy, the
London Housing Strategy and in accordance with the Council’s equality duties.
1.1.1 How long will I have to wait for a home?
In Lewisham, there are many more people who need or who want to move than there are homes
available for them to move to. There are over 10,000 households on the Housing Register, which is
growing year on year, but the number of properties available to let is around 1,000 per year.
We operate a Choice Based Lettings Scheme called Lewisham FindYourHome. Choice Based
Lettings means that applicants can express an interest in the homes they wish to be considered for.
However, in reality, the shortage of housing is so severe that applicants who are restrictive about
their choices may not be able to find the housing they need. In some circumstances we will directly
allocate properties to those groups we consider to be in most urgent need.
How long you will have to wait for a property will depend on a number of factors, including:



The priority you are allocated on the Housing Register
The size of the property you require

Page 198

5



The location and the type of property you are looking for.

The Council will periodically update the Lewisham FindYourHome page with details of how long
applicants may be required to wait.
1.1.2 What sort of properties are available to applicants?
Lewisham Council and our Housing Association partners have agreed to offer all our available
homes to people registered on the Housing Register. We will also use this policy to let privately
rented homes where landlords choose to work with us, and other Housing Association properties
over which we acquire nomination rights. In this policy, we refer to the landlords who work with us
in this way as our “Partner Landlords”. If you have indicated on your application form that you are
interested in Housing Association properties, you may also receive an offer from a Housing
Association who is not in partnership with us, but with whom we have nomination rights.
1.1.3 What sort of tenancy will I have in an allocated property?
If you are allocated a tenancy or nominated for a Housing Association tenancy, this is likely to be a
probationary or introductory tenancy (sometimes also called a “starter tenancy”) to begin with.
Unless steps are taken to end it within the probationary period, usually a year, this will be converted
into a full secure or assured tenancy after the probationary period.
Under the Localism Act 2011, local housing authorities and Housing Associations are able to grant
fixed term tenancies called “flexible tenancies” instead of the traditional “lifetime tenancies”.
Lewisham’s aim is to retain full security of tenure where possible. If flexible tenancies are allocated,
Lewisham’s aim is that these should be for a minimum of 5 years, and that lifetime tenancies would
continue to be granted to the over 65’s and people with serious permanent physical or mental
vulnerabilities. Where a fixed term tenancy is given to a family with children we would aim to see the
length of tenancy match the 21st birthday of the youngest child.
1.2

Your options

You are strongly recommended to consider all possible options for your future housing. Even if you
are awarded a high priority under this Allocation Policy, other options may still meet your needs
more quickly. Our Housing Advisors will discuss this with you.
Options include:
- Privately rented housing. You can contact local lettings agents and use local
newspapers to find privately rented properties.
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/housing/get-housing-support/renting.
-

Low cost home ownership. There are schemes to help you to buy a home of your
own. If you are in regular employment, you may be eligible for one of these schemes.
There are income limits, so you need to look at www.housing.org.uk for more
information. They include properties built especially for low cost home ownership and
properties available on the open market.
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/housing/get-housing-support/affordable-ways-tobuy-a-home.

Page 199

6

-

Homefinders UK. This platform allows applicants to bid for social housing elsewhere in
the UK provided they meet the relevant criteria.

-

Staying where you are now but getting help to make the property more suitable
for your needs. If your property is in a poor state of repair or you are having problems
with your landlord we may be able to help. Please contact the Environmental Health
residential team at:
pshe@lewisham.gov.uk; or healthandsafety@lewishamhomes.org.uk if you live in a
Lewisham Homes property. You may also be eligible for grant assistance to help you
remain where you are. Please contact the team at gateway@lewisham.gov.uk; or
housingassistance@lewisham.gov.uk for more details.

-

A mutual exchange. This is where an existing social housing tenant agrees to swap
homes with the Council’s consent. There are rules about the size of home you can move
to. If you are an existing tenant you should consider registering for a mutual exchange
even if you need a different size property to the one you are in now. Further information
can be found at:
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/housing/information-for-socialhousing-tenants/moving-house-if-you-are-a-social-housing-tenant/swap-your-homewith-another-social-housing-tenant.

-

Fresh Start. This scheme helps households who want to relocate to different parts of the
country find accommodation in the private sector. It is particularly aimed at those on the
Housing
Register
that
are
overcrowded
or
homeless.
https://lewisham.gov.uk/organizations/fresh-start.

-

Seaside and Country Homes. This scheme offers mobility to people living in Council
and Housing Association homes in Greater London looking to move to seaside and
country towns. It is open to single Londoners aged over 60, or couples where at least one
partner is aged over 60. https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing-andland/council-and-social-housing/seaside-and-country-homes

-

Reciprocal arrangements - Safer London scheme. This scheme helps move tenants
who have an urgent need to move to another local authority to ensure their or a member
of the households safety. https://saferlondon.org.uk/places-housing-and-communities.

-

Housing Moves. The Mayor’s Housing Moves scheme enables Council or Housing
Association tenants of London’s boroughs to be considered for vacancies in another
London borough. http://www.housingmoves.org.

Our officers or your landlord will advise you on options that may be suitable for you. They can also
give you general advice about how realistic your chances of being offered a Council or Housing
Association home might be. It is very difficult to tell you how long you may have to wait for a property.
1.2.1 Your options if you are homeless or at risk of homelessness
If you are already homeless, or think you may be going to lose your home, you should contact the
Council’s Housing Options Service. It is important that you talk to us as soon as possible – we may
be able to help you to keep your current home, or help you to avoid becoming homeless.

Page 200

7

If you do become homeless, you may face a long period of time in temporary accommodation
before being housed. The Council will work with you to find longer-term housing, either in the
private sector or in social housing.
For advice about your housing options, please contact your landlord and/or the Allocations &
Lettings Service on 020 8314 7007.
If you think you may become homeless, you should contact the Council for advice at the earliest
opportunity. The earlier you contact us the more chance we have of helping you to avoid becoming
homeless. You can call the Housing Options Centre (HOC) on 020 8314 7007 or apply for
assistance through our website.
1.2.2 Your options if you are hospitalised
If you are in hospital, prison or another institution you can still apply for housing. The Council
offers assistance to tenants who are in hospital to help them to retain their housing options when
they are discharged. Further information on this topic is provided in section 2.5.3 (Former Council
or Partner Landlord tenants leaving institutions).
The Council also has arrangements in place to assist those who cannot return to their home after
a stay in hospital, because it is no longer suitable for their needs. This includes people who
require adapted housing because they have become disabled.
You should contact the Housing Medical Advisor and/or the Community Occupational Therapy
Team to see if your existing accommodation can be made suitable for your needs.
Occupational Therapy Team: info.OTS@lewisham.gov.uk, 020 8314 7777
1.2.3 Your options if you are suffering domestic abuse
If you are suffering from domestic abuse we will work with you to try to identify the best solution for
you. This may include giving you support to remain in your current home and excluding the
perpetrator. If you are experiencing domestic abuse you should seek advice from your landlord,
Refuge or the Housing Options Service.
There are a number of initiatives the Council supports which may enable you to stay in your home.
These include:
 Advice on Agencies who can access to floating support services for victims of domestic
abuse
 Advice on legal remedies such as injunctions
Victims of domestic abuse who cannot remain in their current homes may be awarded Emergency
Priority by a Housing Panel under 2.5.2 below. Applicants who move into refuges may still be owed
the main housing duty under section 193 of the Housing Act 1996 and therefore be exempt from the
residence requirement under 2.2.2 below.
1.2.4 Your options if you are suffering harassment and anti-social behaviour
The Council and its Partner Landlords will not tolerate sexual, racial, homophobic or disability related
harassment.

Page 201

8

Wherever possible, a landlord should seek to resolve issues of anti-social behaviour and
harassment by taking action against the perpetrator, rather than moving the victim. It is however,
recognised that in extreme cases it is no longer safe for the victim to remain in the property. In very
exceptional cases, such as where the police believe that there is a serious danger to you in
remaining in the home, your case can be referred to the Housing Panel to be considered for
Emergency Priority and we may be able to assist you with temporary accommodation or a
permanent home.
1.2.5 Options for single people
The Council is committed to working with partner agencies to promote housing options for single
young people and there are a number of supported housing schemes that may be suitable for your
needs funded throughout the borough. For more information on how to access these schemes
please contact the Housing Options Centre at HousingOptionsEnquiry@lewisham.gov.uk.
1.2.6 Options for young people
There are particular legal and practical difficulties letting accommodation to 16 and 17 year olds,
which have led us to decide not to allocate social housing to persons under 18 years of age. We are
of the view that these difficulties, and the potential problems and costs which they give rise to,
outweigh any reasonable preference a 16 or 17 year old may have for an allocation of
accommodation – up until his or her 18th birthday.
1.3

What properties are excluded from this policy?

This policy covers all Council and Partner Landlord properties, and other properties over which the
Council has nomination rights that are available to let on introductory, secure, assured tenancies,
and includes flexible tenancies and those let under the affordable rented regime (up to 80% of
market rents), except for:
 Statutory rights of succession to a tenancy on the death of the original tenant
 When an introductory tenancy becomes a secure tenancy at the end of the
probationary period
 Where a Court makes a decision about a tenancy (such as an order under the Children Act)
 Where we let a property directly to someone who needs temporary accommodation only. This
may include people who need to move out for a while whilst refurbishment is carried out
(known as a “temporary decant”), but does not include permanent decants
 Where the tenant is returning to the property after refurbishment or improvement
 Properties that are let in conjunction with employment by the Council, such as to caretakers
 Mutual exchanges
 Tenancies granted under section 39 of the Land Compensation Act 1973 or sections 554 and
555 of the Housing Act 1985
 A letting to a person who lawfully occupies a family intervention tenancy
 Properties given to other authorities to advertise via sub regional agreements
 Renewal of a flexible tenancy
The Council participates in pan-London mobility arrangements and accordingly a small number of
the properties that become available to the Council each year will be made available to
transferring tenants from other boroughs under those arrangements.

Page 202

9

The decision as to which of our vacancies will be put forward to the operators of pan-London
mobility for applicants from other boroughs will be made by the Allocations & Lettings Manager in
the Housing Needs Group.
The ultimate decision as to which pan-London mobility applicant will be let the property will be
made by the Allocations & Lettings Manager in the Housing Needs Group.
1.4

Equality and diversity

Lewisham is home to people from a wide range of backgrounds, from many communities. This
Allocation Policy contributes to our aspirations for making Lewisham a good place to live, work and
learn for people of all communities. In our Corporate Strategy 2018-22, we committed to creating
an “Open Lewisham”, making sure that Lewisham is a place where diversity and cultural heritage is
recognised as a strength and celebrated. This means that we are trying to ensure that no section of
the community should be excluded from the benefits and opportunities available, and that we have
regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimization, the need to advance
equality of opportunity and to foster good relations between minority groups and others. We will
operate the Allocation Policy equally to everyone who applies to or is on the Housing Register,
regardless of their race, gender, gender reassignment, disability, age, sexual orientation, martial or
civil partnership status, pregnancy or maternity, religion or belief. We are committed to delivering
quality services to all. An Equality Analysis Assessment was carried out in relation to the Housing
Allocation Policy review in 2021.
1.5

Who can you contact for advice, or to make a complaint?

If you want to join the Housing Register you can do this by referring to our information on the
website, www.lewisham.gov.uk or
http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/housing/find/Pages/Apply-for-social-housing.aspx.
If you are vulnerable (for example you are elderly, have a learning or other disability, or do not have
the ability to read English or another language) and are not presently a social housing tenant, we
can assist you in accessing housing and bidding for properties. The FindYourHome Support Officer
based in the Allocations & Lettings Service assists applicants to engage with the choice based
lettings system and can assist clients with bidding. Please contact the
Allocations & Lettings service for further information on 020 8314 7007 or
FindYourHomeSupportOfficer@lewisham.gov.uk.
If you are a vulnerable applicant who is currently in social housing you should seek assistance from
your landlord.
1.6

What to do if you disagree with our decisions

If we make a decision about your housing application that you do not agree with, you can ask for a
review within 21 days of the decision being notified to you. Your request should be in writing, and
should give us as much information as possible.
You should write to: housingreviews@lewisham.gov.uk.
If you need help in making a request, you can contact our officers or other advice centres, such as
the Citizen Advice Bureau (www.citizensadvice.org.uk)who will be able to assist you in submitting
your review.

Page 203

10

We will give you a response as soon as possible, and aim to reach a decision within 56 days of
receiving your request. We will tell you how we made our decision. A decision will always be
reviewed by someone who did not make that decision. We will tell you who has reviewed the
decision.
There is no right to a review of a decision by a Housing Panel or the Service Group Manager for
Housing Needs and Refugee Services.

2 The Allocation Policy
2.1

Who can join the Housing Register?

Anyone aged sixteen or above can join the Housing Register, unless you are ineligible or
disqualified. You will be ineligible if you are:
A person that the Government says cannot be on the register (this includes people who
are subject to immigration control and do not have permission to be in the UK, or whose
immigration status does not allow them to benefit from government help). These rules
are summarised in section 2.1.1.
However, if you are aged 16 or 17 you will be able to register but you will not be offered a property
until you are 18 years old.
2.1.1 Ineligible because of immigration status
The Government says that in general we cannot allocate housing to persons who need leave to
enter or remain in the UK – and this applies to all persons except British citizens and persons with
a right to reside in the UK under European law.
If you need leave to enter or remain in the UK (regardless of whether or not you have leave) you will
only be eligible to join the Housing Register if you fall into one of the following categories: (A) a
person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee, (B) a person granted Exceptional Leave to
Remain outside of the Immigration Rules which is not subject to a condition of non-recourse to public
funds (Indefinite Leave to Remain), (C) a person who has unconditional and unlimited leave to
remain in the UK, is habitually resident in the Common Travel Area (UK, Channel Islands, Isle of
Man or EIRE) and who (subject to exceptions) is not sponsored, (D) a person who has been granted
Humanitarian Protection, (E) Afghan citizens granted limited leave to enter the UK under paragraph
276BA1 of the Immigration Rules, (F) a person granted limited leave to enter or remain in the UK
on family or private life grounds under article 8 of the European Convention of Human Rights under
paragraph 276BE(1) or 276DG or Appendix FM of the Immigration Rules which is not subject to a
condition of non-recourse to public funds, (G) a person who is habitually resident in the Common
Travel Area, who has been transferred to the United Kingdom under section 67 of the Immigration
Act 2016 and has limited leave to remain under paragraph 352ZH of the Immigration Rules, (H) a
person who is habitually resident in the Common Travel Area and has Calais leave to remain under
paragraph 352J of the Immigration Rules, (I) a person who has limited leave to enter or remain in
the UK by virtue of Appendix EU of the Immigration Rules and is a family member of a relevant
person of Northern Ireland, (J) a person who is habitually resident in the Common Travel Area and
who has limited leave to remain in the UK as a stateless person under paragraph 405 of the
Immigration Rules and (K) a person who is habitually resident in the Common Travel Area and who

Page 204

11

has limited leave to remain in the UK by virtue of Appendix Hong Kong British National (Overseas)
of the Immigration Rules which is not subject to a condition of non-recourse to public funds.
The Government also says that we cannot allocate housing to anyone unless they are habitually
resident in the Common Travel Area, subject to certain exceptions for: persons with rights of
residence under European law, persons who are in the UK as a result of being deported or expelled
from another country and frontier workers and their family members. The Government also says
that we cannot allocate housing to a person whose only right to reside in the UK arises under
European law based on their status as a jobseeker or an initial 3 months’ right of residence, or is a
derivative right of residence based on being the principal carer for a British citizen.
The Council is not allowed to allocate housing to an ineligible person by granting them a joint tenancy
with another, eligible person.
These rules do not apply to a person who is already a secure or introductory tenant or an assured
tenant of accommodation to which they have been nominated by a local housing authority. In that
case, you are free to apply for a transfer regardless of your immigration status.
The above is a summary of the rules contained in legislation. These rules are also subject to change
by statutory instruments issued from time to time.
2.2

Disqualification from the Housing Register or from receiving an offer

We have identified certain groups of applicants to whom we will not normally allocate housing. Such
applicants are either disqualified from being on the Housing Register or are disqualified from
receiving an offer (although they are allowed to be on the Housing Register). We believe this is a
fair approach, given the severe shortage of housing in the borough and the need to reserve scarce
social housing for those groups who the Council considers to be the highest priority.
The Council considers that the factors set out in the grounds for disqualification below will ordinarily
outweigh any reasonable preference to which an applicant is entitled.
We also disqualify certain applicants in accordance with our One Offer Policy, following the refusal
of an offer of housing, as explained below at section 2.2.3.
We also disqualify certain applicants in accordance with our Two Offer Policy, following the refusal
of two offers from the Housing Register, as explained below at section 2.2.4.
In addition, we will disqualify applications for two years where false information has been supplied
in connection with the application, see section 3.1.2 below.
Some grounds of disqualification do not apply to: homeless persons to whom the Council owes the
main housing duty under section 193 of the Housing Act 1996; transfer applications from existing
secure tenants of the Council; or existing secure or assured tenants of our Partner Landlords. These
are specified below.
The effect of being disqualified from the Housing Register is that your application will be cancelled.
During the period of disqualification you will be unable to reapply. When the period of disqualification
comes to an end, if you wish to pursue your application again, you will have to reapply. Your
application will be taken to have been made on the date of your reapplication.

Page 205

12

If you are disqualified but another person in your household qualifies, they may be able to join the
Housing Register. The Council may grant a joint tenancy to you and that other household member,
but we would normally allocate joint tenancies only to the applicant and their spouse or civil partner.
Further details on disqualification from receiving an offer are provided at section 2.2.5 below.
2.2.1 If you have significant financial resources
If you or another member of your household has sufficient financial resources, including assets such
as property, which could be used to resolve your own housing difficulties without the help of the
Council, you will be disqualified from the Housing Register for so long as your household’s income
or assets exceed the limits.
The limits are as follows:
Household gross annual income of £50,000 or more
Household savings or assets of £16,000 or more.
We will also disqualify your application for a period of six months from the date of our decision if we
are satisfied that you, or a member of your household has deliberately foregone income or disposed
of savings or other assets for the purpose of pursuing an application for housing.
This does not apply: to homeless persons to whom the Council owes the main housing duty under
section 193 of the Housing Act 1996; transfer applications from existing secure tenants of the
Council or secure or assured tenants of our Partner Landlords; or leaseholders where the Council
is buying back as part of a decant programme.
2.2.2 If you do not have a local connection to Lewisham
If you do not have a local connection to Lewisham your application will be disqualified for so long
as you do not meet the criteria set out below.
Local connection means that:
- You are currently resident in Lewisham and have been resident for a period of 5 years;
- The Council have accepted that they owe you the main housing duty under section 193
of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002) and you have
been placed in temporary accommodation by the Council;
- You need to move to Lewisham for work, and will suffer hardship if you cannot move:
o You work in Lewisham and need to move in order to enable you to continue working
in Lewisham; or
o You need to move to Lewisham to take up an offer of employment in Lewisham; and
o In either case, the work is not short-term, marginal or ancillary or voluntary work; or
- You give or receive care or support from a family member who is already normally resident
in Lewisham. For further information of what is meant by “giving and receiving care or
support” please see section 3.1.1.
- You and your household are Roma or Irish Travellers and you have not been resident in
Lewisham for a period of 5 years because you adhere to a traditional migratory culture.
- You are a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee and you have not been
resident in Lewisham for a period of 5 years for reasons connected with your status as a
refugee.

Page 206

13

If you have recently left prison or other institution, we will consider whether or not you have a local
connection bearing in mind where you were living before you were imprisoned or institutionalised
and whether you have family and other connections in the Borough.
We will ask you for evidence of your local connection with your application. This may include proof
of residence, evidence from your employer or a social care assessment.
This ground of disqualification does not apply to: transfer applications from existing secure tenants
of the Council or existing secure or assured tenants of our Partner Landlords; applicants nominated
via sub-regional and pan-London agreements; or applications from individuals who:
-

are serving or have served in the regular armed forces within the period of 5 years
preceding their application; or

-

have recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled to reside in accommodation provided by
the Ministry of Defence following the death of that person’s spouse or civil partner where
the spouse or civil partner has served in the regular forces; and their death was
attributable (wholly or partly) to that service; or

-

are serving, or have served, in the reserve forces and who is suffering from a serious
injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to that service.

2.2.3 One Offer Policy
Certain categories of applicants are covered by the Council’s One Offer Policy. They are set out in
the table at 2.5.1 below.
The Council may bid on your behalf. A bid may be made for any property, provided that it is suitable,
taking into account the Council’s size standards and any medical recommendation.
Whether officers bid on your behalf or you bid for yourself and the bid is successful, or a direct offer
is made to you (see section 3.4.4 below), you will receive one offer of a suitable property. If you are
successful on multiple bids, you will need to accept an offer on one property first before refusing the
other offers.
If an applicant refuses an offer under the Council’s One Offer Policy, and that offer is upheld as
suitable on review, their application will be cancelled, they will be disqualified for a period of 12
months, following which they will need to make a fresh application (see 2.2 above).
2.2.4 Two Offer Policy
All applicants who are not subject to the One Offer Policy are subject to the Two Offer Policy, except
Decants awarded Starred Decant Priority: see section 3.3.3.
If an applicant fails to attend a viewing, accept an offer or sign a tenancy agreement of two
successive properties offered to them under this Housing Allocation Policy, they will be disqualified
for a period of 12 months.

Page 207

14

2.2.5 Disqualification from an offer for rent arrears
It is a policy of the Council to reduce the amount of rent arrears owed by Council tenants and tenants
of our Partner Landlords. If you or a member of your household owe the Council or one of our
Partner Landlords either current or former tenant rent arrears you can bid for accommodation from
the Housing Register but your rent account balance must be zero before any offer of accommodation
will be made. The Council’s view is that the rent arrears will generally outweigh any priority for
rehousing you may have. You will not be able to receive offers while you are in rent arrears, unless
an offer is allowed on an exceptional basis under 2.2.8 below. If you feel your rent account is
incorrect or your level of arrears has changed, you should contact your landlord to review this and
you will need to submit clear evidence to satisfy us as to the correct level of arrears.
2.2.6 Unacceptable behaviour
If your or any member of your household has been guilty of behaviour within the last two years
serious enough for a local authority or Housing Association landlord to have obtained a possession
order, you will normally be disqualified from the Housing Register.
Your behaviour or the behaviour of a member of your household must have been sufficiently serious
for us to consider that you are unsuitable to be our tenant. If you have a demoted tenancy with the
Council, because your secure tenancy has been ended due to you, or a member of your household,
causing anti-social behaviour, you will not normally qualify. However, in either case you can seek to
persuade the Council that in the particular circumstances of your case you are suitable to apply for
rehousing despite the unacceptable behaviour. You can re-join the Housing Register following a
demotion order when your secure tenancy is reinstated. However, your application date will be the
date you reapply.
2.2.7 No priority
If your application is assessed as not coming within any of the Priority Bands stated at 2.5 below,
your application will be disqualified and removed from the Housing Register. This is to ensure that
the Council makes efficient use of its resources and prioritises those households with the most acute
need for housing.
2.2.8 Reinstatement in exceptional cases
In exceptional cases, the Council will reinstate a disqualified application despite the existence of
one or more grounds of disqualification or make an offer to an applicant disqualified from receiving
an offer despite the existence of rent arrears.
In order to be reinstated, an applicant must apply to the Housing Needs and Refugee Services
Manager (contact details are provided at the beginning of this policy). They may reinstate the
application or allow an offer only if satisfied that there are exceptional circumstances which justify
reinstatement.
There will be no further review of the decision of the Housing Needs and Refugee Services Manager
to refuse to reinstate a disqualified application, or to allow an offer to be made to an applicant
disqualified from receiving an offer.

Page 208

15

The effect of a decision to reinstate a disqualified application on the grounds of exceptional hardship
will be that the application is treated as having been made on the date it was originally made, not
the date on which it was reinstated.
The reinstatement of a formerly disqualified application is no guarantee that, if the applicant is
nominated to another landlord, that landlord will accept the nomination.
2.2.9 Incomplete housing applications
If an online housing application is not completed within 16 weeks of initial entry it will be deleted
from the Housing Register and applicants will need to submit a new application.
2.3

What happens if you are ineligible or disqualified from the Housing Register?

If we decide that you are not eligible or disqualified from the Housing Register, we will tell you why.
You can ask us to review the decision. How we carry out a review of a decision is detailed in section
1.6 above.
2.4

Who can be included on your application?

We normally refer to the other persons included on your application as your “household”.
If you are homeless person to whom the Council owes the main housing duty under section 193 of
the Housing Act 1996, then who you can include within your household is governed by the same
rules as apply under the Housing Act 1996.
In particular, section 176 states that a homeless person’s household includes: (a) any other person
who normally resides with them as a member of their family and (b) any other person who might
reasonably be expected to reside with them. In cases falling under (b), it is for the Council to judge
who it is reasonable to expect to live with you.
For all other applicants, you can include within your household only members of your immediate
family who are normally resident with you, or who would normally live with you but cannot do so
because your accommodation is not suitable for them, and other people who have a welfare need
to live with you.
We will assess the size of property you require based on who is included within your household
according to these rules.
As an exception to these rules, transfer applicants who are existing secure tenants of the Council
or secure or assured tenants of our Partner Landlords may include within their household anyone
who has been living with them for at least 12 months as a member of their family.
Immediate family means the main applicant, their spouse, civil partner or long-term partner
(including same sex partners), and their children, except where those children are living with a
partner (whether married or not) or have their own children. It does not include your or your partner’s:
parents, grandparents, brothers, sisters, aunts, uncles, grandchildren, nieces or nephews, cousins,
friends or lodgers.

Page 209

16

Other people who have a welfare need to live with you means people who we do not include within
our definition of “immediate family” but who need to live with you in order to give or to receive care
or support from you or a member of your immediate family – see 3.1.1.
People who live with you and fit into one of the above categories but who are ineligible (because
they are subject to immigration control) means people who are part of your household but are
ineligible for an allocation. They may be considered as part of your household in terms of
determining the size of home that you need but cannot be granted a tenancy of that home. Further,
you cannot be assessed as having priority under this Allocation Policy as a result of one or more
ineligible household members who are “restricted persons” within the meaning of Part 7 of the
Housing Act 1996: these persons will be disregarded for the purpose of assessing your priority.
2.4.1 What happens to other people currently living with me?
You can continue to allow other people to live with you, if you choose to do so, unless by doing so
you are making your home statutorily overcrowded, or are breaking the terms of your tenancy or
another legal duty. However, we will not take those people into account in assessing your
application. This may mean that your home is overcrowded, but we do not assess you as being
overcrowded under the terms of our policy.
If you are currently living as part of a larger household we can provide help and advice to the other
members of the household who are not part of your immediate family to find their own
accommodation. This can include referrals to our “Fresh Start” programme for young adults, or
advice on other ways to find private sector accommodation, or it may include applications to the
Housing Register if they are eligible to do so.
This may mean that you do not need to move, or that you need a smaller property than you think.
Your chances of being rehoused are greater if you need a smaller property as we have very few
four, five or six bedroom homes.
2.4.2 Family members who are currently living elsewhere
If you are applying to include family members or other persons who are living abroad, we will not
include those living abroad in your household. They will not be considered for inclusion within your
household until they have arrived in the UK.
If you are applying to be reunited with family members living elsewhere in the UK (anywhere outside
of Lewisham), we will consider including them within your household in accordance with the above
criteria. You should also consider applying to be rehoused where they live, especially if the demand
for housing is lower there.
If you share the residence or care of children with someone else (for example, under a shared
residence order or contact order), we will only include the children as part of your household if you
are the main care provider. We will decide who the main care provider in the first instance is by
looking at who is paid child benefit or tax credits and who the children stay with for the most nights
each week. If this information is inconclusive, we will consider the wider circumstances of the case.
Only one parent can qualify as the main care provider for a child.

Page 210

17

2.5

Priority Bands

If you are eligible and your application is not disqualified, you may make an application to join the
Housing Register.
Your application will be assessed according to the information and evidence provided and placed
into a Priority Band.
You cannot be assessed as having priority under this Allocation Policy as a result of one or more
ineligible household members who are “restricted persons” within the meaning of Part 7 of the
Housing Act 1996: these persons will be disregarded for the purpose of assessing your priority.
2.5.1 Summary of the Priority Bands
The following table provides an overview of the Priority Bands and the rehousing reasons within
each Band.
Band
Band 1: Emergency

Band 2: High

Band 3: Medium

Rehousing reason
Decant

Starred Decant Priority
Discretionary succession
Emergency Priority
Emergency Medical Priority
Former armed forces personnel
with housing need
Leaving Care
Management Discretion Band 1
Occupier no longer requires
specialist unit
Retiring Lewisham Council
employees in tied accommodation
Temporary accommodation lease
ending
Succession - too large a property
Under-occupiers
High medical priority
Former Council or Partner Landlord
tenants leaving institutions
Management Discretion Band 2
Overcrowded by three beds
Overcrowded by two beds and
statutorily overcrowded
Priority homeless with additional
need
Supported housing move on
Priority homeless
Management Discretion Band 3

Page 211

Number of offers
One, but management
offer can be made at
anytime
Not applicable
One
One
One
One
One
One
Two
One
One
One
Two
Two
One
One
Two
Two
One
One
One
One
18

Band 4: Low

Medical priority
Overcrowded by two beds
Overcrowded by one bed and
statutorily overcrowded
Prohibition order
Employed applicant who needs to
live in Lewisham in order to work
Overcrowded by one bed or
statutorily overcrowded

Two
Two
Two
Two
Two
Two

2.5.2 Band 1: Emergency Priority
Applicants in Band 1 have the highest priority. However, other options may still meet your needs
more quickly. Our Housing Advisers will discuss this with you.
Rehousing reason
Decants

Detail
Applicants who:
 have an urgent need to move because their
home is scheduled to be demolished within
the next 24 months; or
 live in a Council or Partner Landlord property
whose home is scheduled to be demolished
within the next 5 years and it is proposed that
in excess of 200 units of accommodation will
be demolished as part of a single phase of
works.
For information on “Starred Decant Priority” see
section 3.3.3.

Discretionary succession

Applicant does not meet statutory succession
criteria but their landlord has presented a case for
consideration to the Council that the applicant is in
need of rehousing.

Emergency priority
Housing Panel

awarded

Emergency Medical Priority

by The applicant has been referred to the Council by
another agency (e.g. police or social services) and
the Housing Panel is satisfied that the applicant or a
member of their household has an urgent need for
rehousing because if they are not rehoused:
o their life will be in serious danger,
o they will suffer from a severe physical or
mental illness,
o the welfare of any child within the
household will be seriously prejudiced, or
o public safety will be severely endangered

Applicants currently admitted to an NHS hospital
who cannot leave hospital because they have no
suitable accommodation elsewhere and as a result

Page 212

19

of a medical condition they require a specially
adapted home. Applicants who meet these criteria
will be granted Emergency Medical Priority on the
recommendation of the Council’s Medical Advisors.
Former armed forces personnel

This applies to:


applicants awarded at least High Priority who
have served in the regular armed forces
within the period of five years before applying
to join the Housing Register;
 applicants awarded at least High Priority
because they are a serving member of the
Armed Forces who need to move due to
serious injury, medical condition or disability
sustained as a result of their service;
 applicants awarded at least High Priority and
who are a bereaved spouse or civil partner of
a member of the Armed Forces leaving
Services Family Accommodation following
the death of their spouse or partner as a
result of their service;
 applicants awarded at least High Priority who
are serving or has served as a member of the
Reserve Forces who need to move because
of a serious injury, medical condition or
disability sustained as a result of their service.
In all the armed forces cases stated above, where
the applicant is awarded High Priority they will be
promoted to Emergency Priority.
Leaving care

Young people who have been looked after by the
Council and for whom the Council has a corporate
parent responsibility. This applies to a “relevant
child” within the meaning of section 23A of the
Children Act 1989 and a “former relevant child”
within the meaning of section 23C of the Children
Act 1989

Management Discretion Band 1

In exceptional circumstances, the Housing Needs
and Refugee Services Manager may in the exercise
of their discretion increase the priority awarded to
your application or vary the type of accommodation
you may be considered for, based on the
exceptional circumstances of your case. They may
only do so where this would be in accordance with
the objectives and spirit of the Allocation Policy.

Page 213

20

Occupier no longer requires specially Applicants who live in specially adapted homes
adapted home
suitable for the needs of disabled people, but who
do not need these adaptations.
By “specially adapted homes” we mean homes
which have full wheelchair access, or which a
Community Occupational Therapist assesses as
having significant adaptations which cannot easily
be removed. This may include sufficient wheelchair
access to be useful to a household with a wheelchair
user.
Retiring Council employees

Temporary
ending

Council employees whose contract of employment
requires
them
to
occupy
their
current
accommodation for the better performance of their
employment duties, but who are now retiring.

accommodation

lease Households in temporary accommodation secured
by the Council who have been in temporary
accommodation for more than 12 months, where the
lease of the property is due to come to an end within
6 months and the Council either does not wish to
renew the lease or is unable to do so and is unable
to secure suitable alternative accommodation.

Under-occupied
property
succession to a large property

or Council or Partner Landlord tenants who are giving
up at least a two bedroom property to move to
accommodation of an appropriate size in
accordance with the Council’s size criteria (see
section 3.3.1) which has at least one less bedroom.
This also applies to Council tenants who have
succeeded to a secure tenancy of accommodation
on the death of the former tenant which is, in the
Council’s opinion, larger than they reasonably
require.

2.5.3 Band 2: High Priority
Applicants in Band 2 are a high priority but may still have to wait some time to be rehoused. Your
chances of being rehoused quickly will increase if you are flexible about where you live and in what
type of property.
Rehousing reason
Detail
Former Council or Partner Landlord This applies for applicants who:
tenants leaving institutions
 Are a former Council or Partner Landlord
tenant
 Were admitted to a hospital, prison or other
residential institution, and

Page 214

21



Within one month after entering the
institution, gave up their tenancy voluntarily

High medical priority

An applicant with a high medical priority as
recommended by the Council’s Medical Advisors.
The Medical Advisors will only recommend High
Priority where they are satisfied that the applicant or
another member of their household has an urgent
need for rehousing because:
 they have a medical condition or disability
which is assessed as affecting their health or
well-being very severely; and
 because of (or in combination with) that
medical condition or disability, their present
housing circumstances are having a
substantial effect on their health or wellbeing.

Management Discretion Band 2

In exceptional circumstances, the Housing Needs
and Refugee Services Manager may in the exercise
of their discretion increase the priority awarded to
your application or vary the type of accommodation
you may be considered for, based on the
exceptional circumstances of your case. They may
only do so where this would be in accordance with
the objectives and spirit of the Allocation Policy.

Overcrowded by three beds

Applicants who are seriously overcrowded in settled
accommodation and require at least an additional
three bedrooms as per section 3.3.1 of this policy.
Settled accommodation does not include, for
example, temporary accommodation secured under
Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996, the Children Act
1989, decant accommodation, a shared house,
HMO or hostel.
If you move into a property where you are
overcrowded, we will look at whether you have
deliberately tried to worsen your housing
circumstances in order to increase your priority on
the register. If we are satisfied that you have
deliberately made your housing circumstances
worse we will reduce your priority to the priority you
would have had before you moved.
If you did not deliberately worsen your housing
conditions, but moved in with others, or others
moved in with you, you will not be entitled to
overcrowding priority until you, or the others as

Page 215

22

appropriate, have resided in the property for a period
of one year.
Overcrowded by two
statutorily overcrowded

beds

and Applicants who are seriously overcrowded in settled
accommodation and require an additional two
bedrooms as per section 3.3.1 of this policy and who
are also statutorily overcrowded as per sections
324-326 of the Housing Act 1985.
Settled accommodation does not include, for
example, temporary accommodation secured under
Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996, the Children Act
1989, decant accommodation, a shared house,
HMO or hostel.
If you move into a property where you are
overcrowded, we will look at whether you have
deliberately tried to worsen your housing
circumstances in order to increase your priority on
the register. If we are satisfied that you have
deliberately made your housing circumstances
worse we will reduce your priority to the priority you
would have had before you moved.
If you did not deliberately worsen your housing
conditions, but moved in with others, or others
moved in with you, you will not be entitled to
overcrowding priority until you, or the others as
appropriate, have resided in the property for a period
of one year.

Priority homeless with additional need

Applicants who, in the opinion of the Council, are:
 Homeless (within the meaning of Part 7 of
the Housing Act 1996); or
 Owed one of the housing duties by any local
housing authority under sections 190(2),
193(2) or 195(2) of the Housing Act 1996 or
are occupying temporary accommodation
provided or arranged by a local housing
authority under section 192(3) of the Housing
Act 1996; and
 Have an additional need.
Additional need is defined as an applicant who
fulfils either or both of the following criteria:
 The applicant has been awarded “in-borough
priority" under the Location Priority Policy;
and/or

Page 216

23



Supported housing move on

Are unable to sustain a tenancy under the
terms of the Private Rented Sector
Discharge Policy.

Residents of ‘supported housing’ schemes ready to
move-on into independent accommodation. You will
only be awarded move-on priority if:
 you are a resident of a Supported Housing
scheme
placed
within
the
Lewisham Supported Housing Pathway, by
the SHIP service;
 ready for independent living;
 and your housing needs are not met by the
private rented sector
The decision to award this priority is taken by the
Single Homeless Intervention & Prevention Service,
in consultation with your support worker.
The Single Homeless Intervention & Prevention
Service will normally only award this priority if your
move into independent accommodation is
supported by the project you are living in. Particular
factors which will count in favour of priority are as
follows:
 You have been consistently engaged in
employment
or
with
education
or
training that is moving you towards
employment. This can include voluntary
work.
 You were a drug or alcohol user but can
demonstrate that you are now abstinent
and have remained abstinent for a
reasonable period.
 You have a physical illness that makes it
more difficult for your needs to be
met in the private sector. For example,
mobility needs for specialist equipment.
 You have severe and enduring mental health
needs or learning difficulties that make it
more difficult for you to obtain or sustain a
private tenancy.
 You have a history of repeated
homelessness
 You have spent a period in supported
accommodation as a 16 or 17 year old but
are now aged 18 or older.

Page 217

24

2.5.4 Band 3 – Medium Priority
Applicants in Band 3 can expect to wait a long time to be rehoused, unless they are looking for
accommodation which is not in high demand. Our Housing Advisors will work with you to consider
other housing options that may be available to you.
Rehousing reason
Priority homeless

Detail
Applicants who, in the opinion of the Council, are:
 Homeless (within the meaning of Part 7 of
the Housing Act 1996); or
 Owed one of the housing duties by any
local housing authority under sections
190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) of the Housing
Act 1996 or are occupying temporary
accommodation provided or arranged by
a local housing authority under section
192(3) of the Housing Act 1996.

Management Discretion Band 3

In exceptional circumstances, the Housing Needs
and Refugee Services Manager may in the
exercise of their discretion increase the priority
awarded to your application or vary the type of
accommodation you may be considered for,
based on the exceptional circumstances of your
case. They may only do so where this would be in
accordance with the objectives and spirit of the
Allocation Policy.

Medical priority

An applicant with a medical priority as
recommended by the Council’s Medical Advisors.
The Medical Advisors will only recommend
medical priority where they are satisfied that the
applicant or another member of their household
has a need for rehousing because they have a
medical condition or disability which is assessed
as seriously affecting their health or well-being.

Overcrowded by two beds

Applicants who are seriously overcrowded in
settled accommodation and require an additional
two bedrooms as per section 3.3.1 of this policy.
Settled accommodation does not include, for
example, temporary accommodation secured
under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996, the
Children Act 1989, decant accommodation, a
shared house, HMO or hostel.

Overcrowded by one
statutorily overcrowded

bed

and Applicants who are overcrowded in settled
accommodation and require one additional
bedroom as per section 3.3.1 of this policy and

Page 218

25

who are also statutorily overcrowded as per
sections 324-326 of the Housing Act 1985.
Settled accommodation does not include, for
example, temporary accommodation secured
under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996, the
Children Act 1989, decant accommodation, a
shared house, HMO or hostel.
If you move into a property where you are
overcrowded, we will look at whether you have
deliberately tried to worsen your housing
circumstances in order to increase your priority on
the register. If we are satisfied that you have
deliberately made your housing circumstances
worse we will reduce your priority to the priority
you would have had before you moved.
If you did not deliberately worsen your housing
conditions, but moved in with others, or others
moved in with you, you will not be entitled to
overcrowding priority until you, or the others as
appropriate, have resided in the property for a
period of one year.
Prohibition order

Applicants living in accommodation where a
Council environmental health officer has issued a
prohibition order which means you are unable to
reside your property.

Employed applicant who needs to live The applicant is currently employed or selfin Lewisham in order to work
employed In Lewisham and the household needs
affordable accommodation in order to assist them
to sustain that employment or self-employment.
Such self-employment will be verified by tax
returns and other business documentation.
Applicants will only qualify if they have been
working for at least 20 months out of the
preceding two years, for at an average of at least
16 hours per week.

2.5.5 Band 4: Low priority
Applicants in Band 4 can expect to wait a long time to be rehoused (i.e. upwards of ten years). Our
Housing Advisors will work with you to consider other housing options that may be available to you.
Rehousing reason
Overcrowded by 1 bed

Detail
Applicants who are overcrowded in settled
accommodation and require one additional

Page 219

26

bedroom as per section 3.3.1 of this policy or
who are statutorily overcrowded as per sections
324-326 of the Housing Act 1985.
Settled accommodation does not include, for
example, temporary accommodation secured
under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996, the
Children Act 1989, decant accommodation, a
shared house, HMO or hostel.

3. How the Policy is applied
3.1

Applying to the Housing Register

3.1.1 How can you apply to join the Housing Register?
Everyone who wants to join the Housing Register has to go through the application process set out
below. This is to make sure that we have the information needed to decide whether you are eligible,
whether your application is disqualified, to assess your priority for housing and to make sure
everyone is assessed on a consistent basis.
You must complete the on-line housing application at
https://www.lewishamfindyourhome.org.uk/choice/. You will be assessed to determine whether
you are eligible and qualify to join the housing register. You may be invited to an interview and we
will ask you for evidence to support your application. This may include proof of residence, proof of
identity, proof of family relationships and evidence to support your request for inclusion in a Band.
We may ask for this evidence when you register or at any point after your application has been
registered. We will check whether the information and evidence we have is up to date before any
offer of accommodation is able to proceed.
You must answer the questions on the form fully and ensure that you provide any evidence
requested.
If you need to live with people outside your immediate family to give or receive care or support, you
must explain in your application why it is necessary for you to do so. We will seek evidence of the
need for care or support, such as being in receipt of a carer’s allowance. If there is a need for you
to live with someone, we can ask the Medical Advisors to assess this.
You may be asked to complete a Medical Form if your application gives rise to medical issues.
If you think you need specialist accommodation, you must tell us this on your application.
3.1.2 Telling the truth
You must tell the truth. It is an offence to obtain, or attempt to obtain, a tenancy by deception. Section
171 of the Housing Act 1996 makes it an offence to knowingly withhold information that we
reasonably require to assess your application, or knowingly or recklessly to provide false information

Page 220

27

in connection with the Housing Register. We will take appropriate action against anyone who gains
a tenancy through knowingly providing false information. This may mean you lose your home.
If you provide false information and we discover this before you have obtained a home we will cancel
your application, disqualify you from the Housing Register for a period of 2 years, and you may be
liable to prosecution.
3.1.3 Use of information you supply
The information you provide in your on-line housing application may be shared with other public
agencies (such as the Department for Work and Pensions and the Police) and Council departments
(such as Housing Benefits and Council Tax) solely to detect and prevent fraud. This is because we
have a duty to protect public funds.
We will share the information you give us with Registered Providers and other housing authorities
for the purposes of housing nominations.
We may need to check that the information you have given us is correct. We will do this in a
variety of ways, which may include speaking to other agencies about your application and also
talking to your current landlord. This may include, but is not limited to, enquiries about your rental
payments and any arrears.
Any medical information you supply may be shared with Council officers in other departments,
where necessary.
By making a housing application to the Council, you consent to the Council using your private
information in the ways described above. Your data will be held in compliance with Data Protection
laws.
3.1.4 Processing your application
There are two stages to verifying your housing application:o 1st stage - we will aim to register your application within 12 weeks of receiving all the
information we require. When we verify your application, we will tell you which Priority Band
you are in, so that you can commence bidding on Find Your Home.
o 2nd stage – prior to any offer of accommodation you will be required to provide supporting
information and evidence to validate your housing application. It is your responsibility to
ensure that all requested information and evidence is available within a reasonable time
(usually 24 hours).
Failure to provide the requested information and evidence in time may result in you not receiving an
offer of accommodation, or any offer that has been made being withdrawn. Your application will
remain suspended until you provide us with the information and evidence that we have requested.
If you have requested priority on medical grounds or priority to be awarded by the Housing Panel, it
may take us up to 6 weeks to complete this assessment. Therefore, in such cases in particular your
initial priority may be amended later, once the result of the assessment is known.
If you do not agree with our decisions, you may ask for a review. This is explained at section 1.6.

Page 221

28

3.1.5 Keeping your application up to date
It is your responsibility to keep your housing application up to date if your circumstances change.
For example, if you have a baby, a partner moves into your home, someone who lived with you
moves out of your home or you change your address, telephone or email address, you are required
to inform the Council about this and to provide supporting evidence.
You will need to review your application and re-register on the housing register on an annual basis.
We will send a reminder to your registered e-mail address to do this. If you do not review and reregister, this may result in you not receiving offers of accommodation, or any offer that has been
made being withdrawn. Your application will remain suspended until you provide us with the
information and evidence that we have requested and if you fail to confirm that you still wish to
proceed with your application, we will cancel it.
You should check your spam and/or junk e-mail regularly in case any e-mail reminders are directed
to these folders.
3.1.6 Medical assessments
If your case gives rise to medical issues, you will have to complete an online medical form. You
should complete a separate form for each person in your household who has a medical need. The
Medical Advisor will consider the information on the form along with any supporting documentation
you provide, and may, if they think they need to, contact your GP, other doctors involved in your
care, or other health, social care or educational professionals to obtain more information.
You should not ask your own doctor or other medical professionals or social workers to write to us.
Our Medical Advisor will contact them if necessary and ask for the information relevant to your
application. Our Medical Advisor will not normally see you or examine you.
If your case gives rise to medical issues and has been referred to a Housing Panel for consideration
of Emergency Priority, the Panel will take into account the recommendation of the Medical Advisor.
It will normally take up to six weeks to obtain a medical assessment.
The Medical Advisor may recommend Emergency, High or Medium Priority on medical grounds (see
2.5.2, 2.5.3 and 2.5.4 above for the criteria applied). A decision not to award Priority does not mean
you do not have any medical needs, but that the Council has assessed your case as not meeting
the criteria set out in this policy.
The Medical Advisor can also make specific recommendations about the type of property you need.
This can include allowing an extra bedroom (see 3.3.1 below). You will only be assessed as needing
a home with a lift, central heating or garden if the Medical Advisor makes this recommendation.
If you are unhappy with the decision reached as a result of the Medical Advisor’s recommendation
you may ask for a review. The outcome of this second review will be final.
If you have additional medical information not considered in the original decision, or your condition
changes, you should ask for a reassessment.

Page 222

29

3.1.7 The Emergency Housing Panel
The Panel will only consider cases where people need to move in an emergency. The Panel will
normally only consider cases which are referred by another agency, including the police,
Lewisham’s Social Care or Health partners, Partner Landlords, the Multi Agency Risk Assessment
Conference (MARAC), the Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangement (MAPPA), the National
Witness Protection Scheme, or other welfare organisations.
The Panel is convened and chaired by the Allocations & Letting Manager, and comprises a minimum
of three people plus the Chair. In the event of split decision the chair has the casting vote.
The Panel will normally be composed as follows:
o Lewisham Council Allocations & Lettings Manager (Chair)
o Lewisham Council Strategy and Policy Representative
o Allocations & Lettings lead officer
o One representative from Health or Social Care
o Two representatives from social housing providers in the borough with whom we hold a
nomination agreement
Each Panel member will have a named substitute who can participate in Panel decisions if the
member is away. The Panel usually meets fortnightly, but can consider cases without meeting if
necessary, by video conferencing or email. Where the situation demands it a decision can be
produced within 5 days.
Other agencies referring a case must send a report and be available to answer queries. Referring
agencies should attend a meeting if there is one, or participate in telephone or email conferencing.
You will not be able to attend the meeting or participate on telephone or email conferencing yourself.
The Panel will take account of recommendations from partners including other panels such as Multi
Agency Public Protection Agreement (MAPPA) or Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference
(MARAC), but does not have to accept the recommendations of such panels.
If you think you may have an emergency need to move, you should contact our Housing Advisors.
If you are a tenant, you should talk to your landlord first. You should seek help with the difficulties
you are experiencing from a suitable agency – police, social services or a specialist welfare agency,
depending on the situation.
To be considered for an award of Emergency Priority on medical or welfare grounds, you will need
a referral from an agency, which gives evidence of your needs, and shows clearly why you should
be considered on an emergency basis.
There is no right to a review of a decision of the Housing Panel.
The Housing Panel has discretion to authorise an offer of a property with the same number of
bedrooms as you have when you approach the Panel, or the number of bedrooms it considers you
require.
If the Panel do not award Emergency Priority, your case cannot be referred back to them unless
your circumstances change significantly. The person referring your case must be able to
demonstrate that your circumstances are substantially worse than when the Panel previously
considered the case.

Page 223

30

3.1.8 How to bid
1. Look on the FindYourHome website, choose a property that you are eligible for and is
suitable for you, then bid for the property.
2. If you cannot use the website, call the Find Your Home bidding line, available 24 hours a
day between Thursday-Sunday, on 0120 477 1656. Provide them your housing application
number, your surname, date of birth and the property reference number.
3. Each advert will give details about the properties available, the landlord, the weekly rent, the
property’s features and whom it is most suitable for. There will be a photograph of the
property, where we have one. However, the photograph may not be of the actual property
but a similar property in the street or block.
4. You need to make your bid for a property by 11:59pm on Sunday.
5. You can ask a friend or relative or any other helper to make bids on your behalf that you’re
eligible for. Your helper will require your name, date of birth and Housing Register number
and the property reference number for the home you wish to request.
6. During a bidding cycle, case officers may submit a “management bid” for a property on your
behalf at their discretion.
7. We send the details of the shortlisted applicants to the landlord of the property in order for
them to make the final decision, in line with the landlord’s lettings policy, on who can view
the property.
8. If you’re shortlisted, you may be asked to attend an interview and/or view the property. You
must bring your supporting documents to this appointment – we will tell you what supporting
documents to bring. Up to three people may view the property, so even if you view a property
you may not be successful if someone with higher priority or an earlier application date
accepts it.
9. If you are the successful applicant, the landlord will contact you to offer you property. The
successful applicant will not be able to continuing bidding for other properties.
10. If you are shortlisted and in position two and three on the shortlist, you will be eligible to bid
for another property the following week.
11. As per the “Two Offer Rule”, some applicants have the right to refuse a property, whether or
not they have refused offers before (see the summary of bands at section 2.5.1). In some
circumstances you’ll have the chance to apply for another property the following week.
12. We encourage you to accept the property that you view. This is because of the long waiting
times for successfully bidding for another property.
13. Bidding each week will maximise your chances of successfully being allocated a property. If
you do not bid frequently, you will have to wait considerably longer.
You can apply to the Housing Register whilst you are in prison. Your date of application will be the
date you apply, but you cannot bid for properties until your release. You are not guaranteed a
property on release and you should seek advice from housing advisors prior to your release.
For some categories of people, we may take extra steps to ensure they are rehoused, even if they
do not bid for themselves. We may bid on their behalf for properties suitable to meet their needs:
see our One Offer Policy at section 2.2.3 above.
3.1.9 Clients matched to properties
If you successfully bid for a property, your application will be matched to that property until the offer
is made and your application and property details are verified. When you are matched to a property

Page 224

31

your application will be suspended and you will not be able to bid for other properties until the
outcome of the offer is determined.
3.2

How do we decide which Band your application should go into?

We will assess the relevant circumstances of your case, and place you in the highest band possible,
according to our Priority Band criteria at section 2.5.
The Band you are placed in will reflect the highest priority that you or your household qualify for.
In exceptional circumstances, the Housing Needs and Refugee Services Manager may in the
exercise of their discretion increase the priority awarded to your application or vary the type of
accommodation you may be considered for, based on the exceptional circumstances of your case.
They may only do so where this would be in accordance with the objectives and spirit of the
Allocation Policy. The Housing Needs and Refugee Services Manager’s decision will be final.
3.3

How do we decide which application takes priority?

For each property, we look at which applicants have expressed an interest or “bid”. For more about
how to bid, see Section 3.1.8.
From those applicants who have expressed an interest, first of all we decide which of those
applicants the property is most suitable for, on the basis of property size.
Within the group of applicants for whom the property is suitable on the basis of size, it will be offered
first to the applicant in the highest Priority Band. If there is more than one applicant within the same
Priority Band, it will be offered first to the applicant within that Band who has been in that Band the
longest. If there is more than one applicant who has the same Band Date we will use the application
date to decide between them except where there is an applicant with Starred Decant Priority (see
3.3.3 below).
For example, first priority will be awarded to any bidder who has been awarded Band 1 priority. If
there is more than one bidder who has Band 1 priority, preference will be given to the applicant who
has had Band 1 status for the longest. In the unlikely event that two bidders have the same date
for award of Band 1 priority, preference will go to the bidder who has been registered on the Housing
Register the longest. If there is no applicant within Band 1, then consideration will be given to
applicants in Band 2, then Band 3 etc.
If you are applying to join the register from Supported Housing, your application date will be deemed
to be the date that you moved into Supported Housing.
Certain properties are advertised with specific criteria attached, as determined by a Local Lettings
Plan or Annual Lettings Plan, or because they are offered as specialist accommodation, such as
sheltered accommodation, or housing available only to certain groups. This will be made clear on
the advertisement. In these cases, priority will be given to applicants meeting the relevant criteria,
even if they are in a lower Band than applicants who do not meet the criteria. If there is more than
one applicant who meets the criteria for the accommodation, the successful applicant will be
selected on the basis of Priority Band and earliest date they entered that Band or application date.

Page 225

32

Before we offer a property, we check again that you are eligible, not disqualified from the Housing
Register and that the property is suitable for your needs.
In limited cases, properties are let directly to applicants without being advertised (see 3.4.4 below).
3.3.1 Property size
You can only bid successfully for accommodation of the right size for your household’s needs, in
accordance with the criteria set out below. You may only bid for a property with an extra bedroom
(i.e. a property with more bedrooms than people who will be living there) if this has been
recommended by the Medical Advisors or you are in Emergency Priority Band 1 with under
occupation priority. The Council may also permit an exception to be made to the usual size criteria
in the case of a Local Lettings Plan or exceptionally based on the decision of the Housing Needs
Manager.
Some landlords operate their own lettings policies with regards to property size and type. This
means that you may be eligible to bid for certain properties in accordance with this policy, but the
landlord may not be able to accept you under their own policy. Where this is the case you will be
notified.
If you have a very large household [4 or more bedrooms], we may agree to allow you to bid for
properties smaller than you need, because the chances of obtaining a very large property are so
small.
How many bedrooms do you need?
In calculating how many bedrooms you need, we will allow you:
 one bedroom or a studio for you and your partner, if you have one
 one bedroom for every two children of the same sex, aged twenty or under
 one bedroom for a child of the opposite sex to another child, if the child is aged over ten
one
 one bedroom for any other person aged twenty-one or over, for these purposes referred to
as an “adult”
This is known as “the bedroom standard” for determining bedroom requirements.
We will only allow bedrooms for people who are entitled to be on your application as part of your
household.
We do not allow an extra bedroom if you are pregnant; you should notify us when the baby is born
as this may entitle you to an extra bedroom.
The Medical Advisor may recommend an extra bedroom on medical grounds.

Page 226

33

1
couple
person

Studio
flat
1 bed
2 bed
3 bed
4 or more
bedrooms

-

X

X

X

X

1 adult or a couple plus
2 adults 1 child 2
2
not
or other childre children
living
adult
n of the of
as a
same
opposite
couple
sex
sexes
aged
under 10

X

X

X

2 children 3
of
children
opposite
sexes, one
or both
aged over
10

4 or
more
childre
n

X

X
X

X
X

Studio flats and 1 bed properties are offered to an individual or a couple
2 bed properties are offered to:
a couple or lone parent with one child; or
with two children of the same sex; or
with two children of the opposite sex aged under 10; or
two adults not living as a couple, e.g. parent and adult son; or individual and carer
3 bed properties are offered to:
a couple or lone parent with 2 children not of the same sex, where one child is over ten
years old; or
with three children;
or with four children under ten years;
or any three adults where none are living as a couple
4 bedroom properties are offered to:
households consisting of a couple or lone parent, with four or five children; or
4 adults where no two are living as a couple as set out above
5 bedroom properties are offered to households with a couple or lone parent, with six
or seven children. Further bedrooms are offered on the basis of one or two children per
bedroom.

You may choose to bid for a property which is smaller than we think you need, but please be aware
that some landlords will not let properties to families larger than the size the accommodation is
designed for, in which case your bid will not be successful.
Our Medical Advisors can recommend allowing an extra bedroom if in the opinion of the Medical
Advisor it is necessary because an adult or child with an illness or disability cannot share a room
with their partner or another child they would normally be expected to share with, on medical
grounds or because they need extra space in the bedroom for three or more bulky items of special
equipment. E.g. wheelchair, hoist or commode.
Homeless cases with an accepted duty under sections 190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) of the Housing Act
1996 or who are occupying temporary accommodation provided or arranged by a local housing
authority under section 192(3) of the Housing Act 1996, who need very large properties may make

Page 227

34

a bid for a property smaller than we assess as suitable for their household’s needs. If this property
is refused, thereafter they will only be able to bid for properties that we assess as meeting their
household’s needs (see 3.3.1)
3.3.2 Statutory Overcrowding
The policy primarily uses the bedroom standard as set out in section 3.3.1 for determining the
bedroom need of households and for establishing whether households are overcrowded or not
and to what extent. However, statutory overcrowding is considered in addition to the bedroom
standard. For the purposes of this policy a household is considered to be statutorily overcrowded if
they are so defined by sections 324-326 of the Housing Act 1985.
Households who are overcrowded by 2 bedrooms and also statutorily overcrowded will be
awarded the priority set out in section 2.5.3 and households who are overcrowded by 1 bedroom
who are also statutorily overcrowded will be awarded the priority set out in section 2.5.4.
Households who do not qualify for any higher priority but are overcrowded by 1 bedroom or
statutorily overcrowded will be awarded the priority set out in section 2.5.5.
3.3.3 Starred Decant Priority
As an exception to waiting time priority as described in section 3.3 above, where the Housing Needs
and Refugee Services Manager is satisfied that there is an urgent management need to move
Decants, which is sufficient to override the usual scheme of priority afforded by this policy, he or she
may award “Starred Decant Priority” to a particular decant scheme or to a particular phase of a
decant scheme within 24 months of the proposed commencement of demolition works. This could
include circumstances in which a decant scheme is not proceeding on target and further delay in
obtaining vacant possession might prejudice the proposed redevelopment.
Applicants within Band 1 with Starred Decant Priority will be given priority over all other applicants
within Band 1. If there is more than one bidder who has Starred Decant Priority, priority will be given
to the applicant who has the earliest scheduled demolition date. If two bidders with Starred Decant
Priority both have the same scheduled demolition date, priority will be given to the applicant who
has had Band 1 Priority status the longest.
3.4

Homes that may be offered first to specific groups of applicants

3.4.1 Specialist accommodation for elderly or disabled persons or other special groups
There are some homes that have been designated for specific groups of people, either because of
age, disability or other defined criteria. When this type of vacancy occurs it will be advertised with
preference to those who meet the designated criteria. This will be specified in the advert and we will
only let the property to a household that meets the designated criteria. If no applicable households
bid, we may contact eligible households to identify an applicant who can make the best use of the
property.
This includes sheltered housing for the elderly and homes suitable for disabled people. It can also
include homes provided by Partner Landlords with a specialist remit, where homes are restricted to
certain groups of people who may be disadvantaged or have special needs.

Page 228

35

Homes adapted for the Disabled
If you have a disability that affects the type of housing you live in (for example, you have a wheelchair
or cannot manage stairs), your application will be assessed by our Medical Advisors, in conjunction
with Occupational Therapists where appropriate. We will only offer you a home which meets your
needs or can be reasonably adapted to meet your needs.
When a disabled adapted home (or one considered suitable for adaptation) is advertised, it will be
clearly identified as such. The shortlist of bidders who meet the criteria will be passed to the
Community Occupational Therapist, who will check whether the property meets the needs of the
highest ranked bidder.
Homes on the ground floor or with gardens which are not suitable for adaptation to full
wheelchair standards
There is a large demand for homes on the ground floor, with gardens or on lower floor levels. This
type of accommodation will be offered to households who the Medical Advisors (in consultation with
the Occupational Therapists where necessary) have recommended should live on the ground floor
or in a property with a garden. This will be indicated on the advert.
3.4.2 Allocation of Houses
Houses with up to three bedrooms will be offered to families with children under 11 years of age, or
applicants who have Emergency Priority on the grounds of under occupation where they are already
living in a house. Houses with four or more bedrooms will not be subject to this rule given the
relatively small numbers of flats with four or more bedrooms in the social housing stock.
3.4.3 Local/Annual Lettings Plans
Where we consider that there is an overriding need to respond to local conditions, we may operate
a Local Lettings Plan. If a property is advertised under a Local Lettings Plan, this will be stated on
the advert for a property and the property will be advertised for applicants satisfying stated criteria.
For example, we may give priority to people who live or previously lived in a regeneration area and
have or had to move for the regeneration to take place, either to give them a “right to return” to the
area or to give them enhanced priority for an allocation elsewhere. The equalities impact of any
Local Lettings Plan will be considered prior to the Council agreeing to it. Local Lettings Plans will
be agreed by the Director of Housing Services.
We may use an Annual Lettings Plan if there are particularly pressing demands for housing in a
specific year. This will be presented to Mayor and Cabinet for approval.
We may also allocate a small number of lettings each year to applicants who need accommodation
in order to assist them to obtain and keep employment in Lewisham or who have made a substantial
contribution to the community. These allocations will be decided by a Panel of Council officers who
will determine who the relevant properties will be allocated to.

Page 229

36

3.4.4 Direct lets
In some cases the Council may make a direct offer of specific accommodation to a person in need
of
that
accommodation
without
advertising
the
property
on
FindYourHome.
This only applies to:
A person to whom the Council owes the main housing duty in section 193 of the Housing Act
1996, who is occupying temporary accommodation secured by the Council under that duty
and the temporary accommodation is suitable for the person and their household’s needs. In
such a case the Council may make a direct offer of a permanent tenancy of the temporary
accommodation.
The Council may make a direct nomination of a person who has a need for supported
accommodation to a Partner Landlord for specific supported accommodation. A person may
be eligible for such a direct offer if assessed as having significant support needs in relation
to the maintenance of their tenancy.
Applicants leaving supported accommodation.
Young people leaving care.
The Housing Panel may decide that a specific property should be matched directly to an
applicant due to their exceptional needs and/or the exceptional urgency of their case.
3.4.5 Chain Lettings
Chain Lettings is a way for us to use a vacant property as part of a chain, in the same way as
estate agents do in the private owner-occupying sector. Each year, we may set a target for the
number of homes to be let to existing Council and Partner Landlord tenants and other priority
groups. Wherever possible, these lets will be part of a chain of moves, and may include mutual
exchanges. In order for chain lettings to work, it may be necessary for us to identify useful vacant
properties and withdraw them from being advertised. Discretion has been given to senior officers
to decide when properties can be removed from the overall lettings scheme to make chains work
so helping more people to move.
3.4.6 Smart lettings
The Council will ring-fence up to twenty per cent of all properties that become available through
Find Your Home during a year. These will be available for transferring tenants. The properties that
are vacated by the transferring tenant will then be ring-fenced for a household in temporary
accommodation, or a household that is ready for move-on from supported housing. This approach
is called “Smart lettings”.

4. Reviewing this policy
Amendments to this policy not reflecting a major change of policy may be made by the Executive
Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm in consultation with the Director of Law,
Governance and HR. Such changes will be reported to Members annually.

Page 230

37

Appendix A

Lewisham Council consultation on proposed changes to the
Allocations Scheme
Consultation Report
Spring 2021

Contents
1. Context – Page 2
2. Background – Pages 2-3
3. Methodology – Pages 3-4
4. Summary of findings – Pages 4-6
5. Consultation Participants – Pages 6-9
6. Consultation Detail – Pages 9-24
7. Additional Comments – Pages 24-31
8. Written Responses – Pages 32-34

Page 1

Page 231

1. Context
1.1. The demand for social housing in Lewisham continues to outstrip supply. There were 7,830
households on the housing register at the end of March 20131, as of March 2021 there were
10,088. The council made 1,562 lets in 2012/13. Since then an average of 1,137 lets per
year have been made – a 27% decrease.
1.2. Over time the nature of this demand has changed. In March 2016 there were 1,750
households in temporary accommodation and seeking social housing through the Housing
Register. By March 2021 this had increased by 42% to 2,486. Over 2,500 households
approach the council for homelessness assistance every year, leading to increased pressure
on ever scarcer homes.
1.3. There is also a disparity between the household need for those requiring social housing and
its availability. The below table sets out social housing lets in 2019/20 against the demand
for this accommodation. Many hundreds of households require larger sized accommodation
yet such accommodation is in scarce supply.
Bedroom

Let in 19/20

Let in 20/21*

Number on the
register in
housing need
as at May 21

1 bedroom

624

414

1830

2 bedroom

305

246

3588

3 bedroom

171

112

3266

4 bedroom

27

13

996

5 bedroom

1

6

334

*There may be small undercount in these figures due to some administration processes still being
completed when producing this report, from lets that took place towards the end of the FY 20/21

1.4. GLA estimates indicate that around 27.4% of all households in Lewisham are social rented,
approximately 32,800 homes.
1.5. The council has 100% nomination rights agreements with most of the major registered
providers in Lewisham. This means that all properties that become available in Lewisham in
the stock of a provider is made available to households in line with the Lewisham Allocations
scheme.
1.6. This combination of scarce social housing, high and growing demand, and access via
nominations agreements means that the Lewisham Allocations scheme is a crucial tool in
resolving housing need.

2. Background
2.1. There have been two updates to the councils Allocations scheme in the past 10 years.
The first was in 2012 in response to the Localism Act 2011 and the introduction of a new
statutory Code of Guidance on Allocations in June 2012. The changes introduced in the
2012 scheme included substantive changes on priority bandings and other areas.

1

Prior to this the Council had a different scheme in place which allowed households not deemed to be in housing need to join the
register and had over 17,700 households on the housing register.

Page 2

Page 232

2.2. The second set of amendments were in April 2017 following Mayor and Cabinet approval
in December 2016. This update made changes to the council’s local connection rules and
provided further clarity on some areas of the scheme, but contained no changes to the
priority given within the scheme.
2.3. As set out in the introduction there has been a significant shift in the nature of demand
and the availability of social housing over this period.
2.4. The Lewisham Housing Strategy 2020-26 reflects on the scale of this challenge and sets
out the strategic principles by which the council will deliver its vision. The strategy
recognises the need for the council to support residents at times of urgent need, and one
of the elements of this is ‘ensuring our social homes are let in the most effective way to
meet housing need’.
2.5. With social housing increasingly scarce and demand increasing it is essential that the
Allocations scheme in operation effectively allocates properties to those in the most need
and maximises the utility of this essential asset.
2.6. Legislation requires that local authorities provide opportunity for those affected to be
made aware of any amendments that might affect them where any major changes are
proposed. In order to meet this requirement the council instigated a formal consultation
based on a range of proposals that are under consideration.
2.7. The proposals set out in the consultation have been developed after careful consideration
of the scale of demand, the availability of accommodation and the strategic direction of
the council. The proposals were drafted as a set of questions for the purpose of
consultation and are outlined below:

Do you agree that we should consider placing rehousing reasons in priority bands
as outlined in Table 1?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by three
bed' group?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional
need priority' group?

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should reduce the 'Three Offer' rule to a 'Two Offer' rule for
eligible groups?

To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider
operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?

Do you agree that we should not include adult children for the new 'overcrowded by
three band'?

Do you agree that we should consider moving 'overcrowded by one bed' to a new
Band 4 priority group?
3. Methodology
3.1. A public consultation on the proposed changes to the councils Allocations scheme was
launched on the 27th November 2020 to run for 12 weeks until the 14th February 2021. In
responses to representations that were made by some respondents, and recognising the
ongoing impact of COVID-19, the council extended the deadline for responses until the
14th March 2021. The consultation therefore ran for a total of 16 weeks.
3.2. The consultation was hosted on Lewisham’s website using the online consultation portal
Citizen Space. A dedicated council inbox was also made available for respondents should
Page 3

Page 233

they wish to make direct representations or to provide additional commentary to their
consultation response.
3.3. The consultation was promoted widely including:








Online/Social Media: Promotions via the Lewisham Council website including an
alert banner at the top of all Housing pages, Twitter promotion, and notifications
published on the Homesearch page;
Direct Communication: Two texts sent directly to residents in Hostels and a text
to all residents in Temporary Accommodation, an email to all residents at
Lewisham Homes, direct contact with TMOs, email to all residents on the housing
register, individual consultation sessions with residents in supported housing;
Partner engagement: Contact with all major RPs in Lewisham, request that RPs
publicise with their residents and online, engagement with representative groups
and forums across Lewisham;
Internal Council Communication: Included in the Chief Executive Briefing,
Yammer posts published, Email tag-lines promoting the survey, direct contact with
key internal partners and an intranet feature;
Focus Groups: Two focus groups were held, targeted particularly towards
underrepresented groups, and promoted via representative partner agencies;
Meetings: Attendance at the Homelessness forum, session with RPs, two public
meetings advertised through partner agencies, and held with interested parties.

3.4. Paper consultations and translations in other languages were available upon request.
Those whose first language was not English and wanted to input their views were able to
send us an email with their details and their chosen language, following which contact
was made with the assistance of Language Line to collect their views in their desired
language. This was communicated to residents throughout the consultation and was
translated into a number of languages on the front page of the online consultation.
3.5. Respondents who emailed the inbox directly were invited to complete the online survey
and were advised that their comments would be considered in the consultation response.
4. Summary of findings
4.1. Over 1,000 residents participated with the consultation either through the completion of
the online survey, attending a focus group session or providing their comments via a
dedicated email inbox.
4.2. 942 residents responded through the online survey of which 804 (85%) were Lewisham
residents.
4.3. Over 50% of all respondents agreed with the following questions:

Do you agree that we should consider placing rehousing reasons in priority bands
as outlined in Table 1?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by three
bed' group?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional
need priority' group?

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should reduce the 'Three Offer' rule to a 'Two Offer' rule for
eligible groups?

To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider
operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?
Page 4

Page 234

4.4. More residents disagreed than agreed with the following proposals:

Do you agree that we should not include adult children for the new 'overcrowded by
three band'?

Do you agree that we should consider moving 'overcrowded by one bed' to a new
Band 4 priority group?
4.5. The below chart sets out the number of respondents who agreed, disagreed, did not know
or didn’t answer each question.
Chart 1 – Summary of responses to the proposals

4.6. The below table sets out the percentage breakdown of responses to each question.
Table 2 – Percentage breakdown of responses to the proposals
Survey Question
Do you agree that we should consider placing
rehousing reasons in priority bands as outlined in
Table 1?
Do you agree that we should consider introducing
a new 'overcrowded by three bed' group?
Do you agree that we should not include adult
children for the new 'overcrowded by three band'?
Do you agree that we should consider moving
'overcrowded by one bed' to a new Band 4 priority
group?
Do you agree that we should consider introducing
a new 'homeless with additional need priority'
group?
Page 5

Agree

Don't
Disagree know

Not
Answered

52.1%

32.0%

13.7%

2.2%

58.3%

30.5%

10.0%

1.3%

35.5%

49.4%

13.5%

1.7%

37.7%

47.1%

13.4%

1.8%

65.6%

17.5%

15.2%

1.7%

Page 235

Do you agree that we should consider changing
how you bid for properties, so that you can bid for
multiple properties each week?
Do you agree that we should reduce the 'Three
Offer' rule to a 'Two Offer' rule for eligible groups?
To increase the number of lettings available, do
you agree that we should consider operating a
'Smart Lettings' system?

91.4%

4.4%

3.2%

1.1%

53.6%

32.2%

12.7%

1.5%

63.6%

15.2%

20.2%

1.1%

5. Consultation participants
5.1. 804 (85%) of the 942 respondents lived in Lewisham borough. The table below sets out
the responses broken down by ward.
Table 3 – Responses by ward
Ward
Constituency
Lewisham West &
Bellingham
Penge
Lewisham East
Blackheath
Lewisham Deptford
Brockley
Lewisham East
Catford
Lewisham Deptford
Crofton Park
Lewisham East
Downham
Lewisham Deptford
Evelyn
Lewisham West &
Forest Hill
Penge
Lewisham East
Grove Park
Not Lewisham
I don't live in Lewisham
Lewisham Deptford
Ladywell
Lewisham East
Lee Green
Lewisham Deptford
Lewisham Central
Lewisham Deptford
New Cross
Lewisham West &
Perry Vale
Penge
Lewisham East
Rushey Green
Lewisham West &
Sydenham
Penge
Lewisham Deptford
Telegraph Hill
Lewisham East
Whitefoot

Respondents

% of total

32
14
68
121
12
43
56

3.4%
1.5%
7.2%
12.8%
1.3%
4.6%
5.9%

66
32
138
19
31
88
99

7.0%
3.4%
14.6%
2.0%
3.3%
9.3%
10.5%

8
14

0.8%
1.5%

81
13
7

8.6%
1.4%
0.7%

5.2. Over 50% of all respondents are either currently in social housing or are in temporary
accommodation. The below table sets out the tenure breakdown of all respondents.
Table 4 – Responses by tenure
Tenure
I am currently staying with family for free
I am currently staying with friends for free
I am in supported housing
I am in temporary accommodation
Page 6

Page 236

% of
Respondents total
33
3.5%
1
0.1%
14
1.5%
192
20.4%

I do not currently have a fixed address
I live in a care facility
I own my home with a mortgage
I own my home without a mortgage
I rent my home privately
I rent my home through a housing association or other social housing
provider
Prefer not to say/Not answered

3
1
57
28
121

0.3%
0.1%
6.1%
3.0%
12.8%

308
184

32.7%
19.5%

5.3. A substantial majority of all respondents (69.7%) are female. The below table sets out the
gender breakdown of all respondents.
Table 5 – Responses by gender
Gender
Respondents % of total
Not answered
79
8.4%
Female
657
69.7%
Male
163
17.3%
Other
4
0.4%
Prefer not to say
39
4.1%
5.4. Respondents from a wide range of ethnicities completed the questionnaire. 39% of all
respondents were black and 31.2% were white. The below table sets out the ethnicity
breakdown of all respondents.
Table 6 – Responses by ethnicity
Ethnicity
Asian - Bangladeshi
Asian - British
Asian - Chinese
Asian - Indian
Asian - Other
Asian - Pakistani
Black - African
Black - British
Black - Caribbean
Black - Other
Mixed - Other
Mixed - White and Asian
Mixed - White and Black African
Mixed - White and Black
Caribbean
Not Answered
Other (Please describe below)
Prefer not to say
White - British
White - Gypsy or Irish Traveller
Page 7

% of
Respondents total
1
0.1%
6
0.6%
2
0.2%
2
0.2%
9
1.0%
5
0.5%
116
12.3%
138
14.6%
102
10.8%
11
1.2%
15
1.6%
4
0.4%
20
2.1%
32
99
28
58
238
1

3.4%
10.5%
3.0%
6.2%
25.3%
0.1%

Page 237

White - Irish
White - Other

12
43

1.3%
4.6%

5.5. Over 16% of respondents have a disability, as set out in the below table. Of those who
have a disability 19.7% have a longstanding illness or health condition, 18.6% have a
mental health condition, 18.6% have a physical or mobility related disability, 11% have a
disability not listed, 4% have a cognitive or learning disability, 3% have a visual or hearing
related disability and the remainder preferred not to say.
Table 7 – Responses by disability
Disability
Respondents
% of total
Not answered
98
10.4%
No
646
68.6%
Prefer not to say
45
4.8%
Yes
153
16.2%
5.6. Almost 70% of respondents identified as straight or heterosexual. 25.1% of respondents
either preferred not to say or did not answer, 2.9% are bisexual, 1.6% are gay or lesbian
and 0.6% identified differently to those options available on the list. The below table sets
out the sexual orientation of all respondents.
Table 8 – Responses by sexual orientation
Sexual Orientation
Respondents % of total
Not answered
138
14.6%
Bisexual
27
2.9%
Gay or lesbian
15
1.6%
Other
6
0.6%
Prefer not to say
99
10.5%
Straight or heterosexual

657

69.7%

5.7. More respondents identified as Christian than any other religion or belief, with 45.9% of all
respondents identifying as such. The below table sets out the religion or belief of all
respondents.
Table 9 – Responses by religion or belief
Religion or belief
Respondents
% of total
Not answered
145
15.4%
Buddhist
7
0.7%
Christian
432
45.9%
Hindu
4
0.4%
Jewish
2
0.2%
Muslim
46
4.9%
None
196
20.8%
Other
20
2.1%
Prefer not to say
90
9.6%
5.8. 0.7% of all respondents stated that their gender identity was different to the gender they
were assigned at birth. 70.6% reported having the same gender as assigned at birth and
the remainder preferred not to say or did not answer. The below table sets out the gender
identity in relation to that assigned at birth of all respondents.

Page 8

Page 238

Table 10 – Responses by gender identity
Gender Identity
Respondents
% of total
Not answered
205
No my gender identity is the
same
665
Prefer not to say
65
Yes my gender identity is
different
7

21.8%
70.6%
6.9%
0.7%

5.9. Over 5% (50) respondents were either pregnant at the time of completing the survey or
had been pregnant within the last 6 months. 72.4% of respondents were not pregnant or
had not been pregnant in the last 6 months and the remainder either did not respond or
preferred not to say. The below table sets out the maternity status of all respondents.
Table 11 – Responses by maternity status
Pregnant or on Maternity Leave
Respondents % of total
Not answered
171
18.2%
I am currently pregnant
23
2.4%
I have been pregnant in the last six
months
27
2.9%
None of the above
682
72.4%
Prefer not to say
39
4.1%
5.10. Almost 17% of respondents have caring responsibilities, as set out in the below table.
Over half of those who had caring responsibilities reported that these were more than 16
hours per week. 14.8% of all respondents (140) receive some form of support for the
unpaid care they provide.
Table 12 – Responses by caring responsibilities
Caring
responsibilities
Respondents
% of total
Not answered
180
No
570
Prefer not to say
34
Yes
158

19.1%
60.5%
3.6%
16.8%

6. Consultation Detail
6.1. This section sets out in detail the responses to the survey broken down by the personal
and household characteristics of the respondent. Where there were a substantial number
of options to select, groups that constituted less than 5% of the total response have been
grouped if appropriate so as to allow meaningful visualisation of the responses.
6.2. The number in brackets at the top of the chart represents the number of respondents who
answered both the personal/household characteristic question and the survey question.
The decimal figures in the axis represent the response rate per individual answer and
group (where 0 would be 0% of respondents from that group and 1 would be 100% of
respondents).

Location
Page 9

Page 239

6.3. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by the location of the respondent. Due to the number of wards in Lewisham
these have been grouped by constituency to allow for clearer visualisation.
Chart 2 – Responses by location – wards grouped by constituency

6.4. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from residents in all areas:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional
need priority' group?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by three
bed' group?

Do you agree that we should reduce the 'Three Offer' rule to a 'Two Offer' rule for
eligible groups?

To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider
operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?
6.5. In each area, more respondents agreed with the proposal to place the rehousing priorities
in the bands as outlined in table 1 in the consultation. However, in Lewisham Deptford this
was less than half (48.9%) with 39.1% in disagreement. In all other areas more than half
of the respondents agreed with this proposal.
6.6. Respondents from all areas except those from outside of Lewisham were more likely to
disagree than agree with the proposal to move overcrowding by 1 bed into a new band 4.
This was most prevalent in Lewisham Deptford where 53.8% of all respondents disagreed
with the proposal.

Page 10

Page 240

6.7. Over 54% of respondents from Lewisham Deptford disagreed with the proposal to
exclude adult children from the proposed overcrowded by 3 bed priority. More
respondents disagreed with this proposal than agreed with it in every other constituency.
Current accommodation
6.8. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by the current accommodation of the respondent.
Chart 3 – Responses by current accommodation

6.9. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from all household types:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional
need priority' group?

To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider
operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?

6.10. The responses diverged more in other areas. Over 70% of respondents not in social
housing agreed with the proposal to introduce a new ‘Overcrowded by three bed group’
whereas only 49% of those in social housing did.
6.11. Social renters were the most likely to disagree (55%) with the proposal to move
overcrowding by one band into a new band 4. Those in temporary accommodation were
slightly more likely to agree to this proposal (44%) than disagree (40%) and only home
owners and those in supported housing agreed by more than 50%.

Page 11

Page 241

6.12. All groups were more likely to agree than disagree with the proposal to place the
rehousing priorities in the bands set out in table 1 in the consultation. However, slightly
less than half of all home owners (49%) and private renters (47%) agreed with this
proposal.
6.13. Private renters (46.7%) and those in other accommodation (39.5%) were the least likely
to agree with the proposal to reduce the three offer rule to a two offer rule, but were more
likely to agree than disagree. All other groups agreed with this proposal by more than
50%.
6.14. Apart from home owners, all groups disagreed more than they agreed with the proposal
to exclude adult children in the proposed new overcrowded by three bedroom priority
reason. 53% of all social renters disagreed with this proposal, as did 50% of those in
supported housing, 48% of private renters and 48% of those in Temporary
Accommodation.
Gender
6.15. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by the gender of the respondent.

Chart 4 – Responses by gender

6.16. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from respondents of all groups:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by three
bed' group?
Page 12

Page 242

6.17. Male (63.5%) and Female (69.1%) respondents were in agreement with the proposal to
introduce a new category of Homeless with additional needs. 50% of those who identified
as other disagreed with this proposal.
6.18. 48.3% of female respondents disagreed with the proposal to move overcrowding by one
bed to band 4. An equal number of male respondents agreed and disagreed with the
proposal (43.5%) as did other respondents (50%).
6.19. The majority of Male (52.5%) and Female (56.4%) respondents agreed to the proposal
to set the rehousing reasons in the banding set out in table 1 in the consultation. 25% of
those who identified as other agreed with this proposal, a further 50% disagreed and 25%
did not know.
6.20. Males (46.9%) were more likely to agree than disagree with the proposal to exclude
adult children from the overcrowded by three bed priority reason. Females were more
likely to disagree to this proposal (50.8%) and 100% of those who identified as other
disagreed with this proposal.
6.21. 55.4% of all females agreed that the three offer rule should be reduced to two offers for
eligible groups, and 52.5% of males agreed with this proposal. 25% of those who
identified as other agreed with this proposal and 50% disagreed.
6.22. Those who identified as other were more likely to disagree (50%) with the proposal to
introduce a ‘Smart Lettings’ scheme than agree (25%). 64.9% of all female respondents
and 69.3% of all male respondents agreed with this proposal.
Ethnicity
6.23. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by the gender of the respondent. Due to the number of different ethnicities
that were represented in the response have been grouped where appropriate and where
the response represented less than 5% of all responses.

Page 13

Page 243

Chart 4 – Responses by ethnicity

6.24. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from respondents of all groups:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by three
bed' group?
6.25. Respondents from most groups were in agreement with the proposal to introduce a new
homeless with additional needs group, with agreement above 50% for every group except
Other (42%).
6.26. The response was much more mixed regarding the proposal to move overcrowded by
one bed into band 4. Respondents who are Black British, Black Caribbean, Black Other,
Mixed or Other all disagreed more they agreed with this proposal. Respondents who are
Asian, Black African, White British or White Other were more likely to agree than disagree
with this proposal.
6.27. Respondents from most groups were in agreement with the proposal to institute the
bandings as set out in table 1 in the consultation, with agreement above 50% for every
group except Other (22%).
6.28. Most groups were more likely to disagree with the proposal to exclude adult children
from the overcrowded by three bed priority reason. Respondents who are Black African
(46.1%), Black British (46.4%), Black Caribbean (56%), Black Other (54.5%), Mixed
(56.3%), Other (70.4%) and White British (45.1%) were more likely to disagree with this
proposal than agree. Respondents who are Asian (52%) or White Other (46.4%) were
more likely to agree with this proposal than disagree.

Page 14

Page 244

6.29. A majority of respondents across most groups agreed with the proposal to reduce the
three offer rule to two offers for eligible groups. Whilst still more likely to agree than
disagree, less than half (42.9%) of respondents who identified as mixed ethnicity agreed
with this proposal, and respondents who identified as Black Other (72.7%) or Other
(39.3%) were more likely to disagree than agree with this proposal.
6.30. Respondents from most groups were in agreement with the proposal to introduce a
‘Smart Lettings’ policy, with agreement considerably above 50% for every group except
Other (35.7%), who were more likely to disagree than agree with this proposal.
Disability
6.31. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by the whether the respondent had a disability.
Chart 5 – Responses by disability

6.32. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from respondents who consider
themselves to be disabled and those who do not:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional
need priority' group?

Do you agree that we should consider placing rehousing reasons in priority bands
as outlined in Table 1?

Do you agree that we should reduce the 'Three Offer' rule to a 'Two Offer' rule for
eligible groups?

To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider
operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?

Page 15

Page 245

6.33. Less than half of respondents who consider themselves to be disabled agreed with the
proposal to introduce a new overcrowded by three bed priority reason (45.4% compared
to 42.1% in disagreement). 62.7% of respondents who do not consider themselves to be
disabled agreed with this proposal.
6.34. Respondents who consider themselves to be disabled were more likely to disagree
(45.0%) than agree (39.1%) with the proposal to move overcrowded by one bed into band
4. Respondents who do not consider themselves to be disabled were also more likely to
disagree (48.4%) than agree (38.5%) with this proposal.
6.35. Likewise, 48.3% of respondents who consider themselves to be disabled disagreed with
the proposal to exclude adult children from the overcrowded by three bed priority group.
50.5% of respondents who do not consider themselves to be disabled disagreed with this
proposal.
6.36. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by the disability that the respondent has.
Chart 6 – Responses by type of disability

6.37. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from respondents from all
groups:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional
need priority' group?

To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider
operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?

Page 16

Page 246

6.38. Respondents with a mental health condition (45.8%) or another condition not listed
(38.7%) were more likely to disagree than agree with the proposal to introduce an
overcrowded by three bed group. Those with a longstanding illness or health condition
were more likely to agree than disagree with this proposal although less than half (48.1%)
agreed. All other groups agreed with this proposal by more than 50%.
6.39. 80% of respondents with a cognitive or learning disability, 75% with a visual or hearing
related disability, 55.1% with a mental health condition and 51.6% with another condition
not listed disagreed with the proposal to move overcrowded by 1 bed households into
band 4. 57.1% of those with a physical or mobility related disability agreed with this
proposal and slightly more respondents with a longstanding illness or health condition
agreed with the proposal (43.1%) than disagreed with it (41.2%).
6.40. Respondents from all groups were more likely to agree than disagree with the proposal
to place the rehousing reasons in the bands outlined in table 1 in the consultation,
although less than half of those with another condition not listed agreed to this proposal
(40%).
6.41. Over half of respondents with a longstanding illness or health condition (52.9%), another
condition not listed (54.8%), a cognitive or learning disability (70%) or a visual or hearing
related disability (75%) disagreed with the proposal to exclude adult children from the
proposed overcrowded by three bed category. Respondents with a mental health
condition were more likely to agree (50%) than disagree as were those with a physical or
mobility related disability (46.9% agreement).
6.42. Respondents from all groups were more likely to agree with the proposal to reduce the
three offer rule to a two offer rule for eligible groups, although less than half of those with
another condition not listed (48.4%) were in agreement and 49% of those with a physical
or mobility related disability were in agreement.
Sexual Orientation
6.43. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by the sexual orientation of the respondents.

Page 17

Page 247

Chart 7 – Responses by sexual orientation

6.44. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from respondents from all
groups:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional
need priority' group?

To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider
operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?
6.45. Respondents who identify as gay or lesbian were more likely to disagree (46.7%) with
the proposal to introduce an overcrowded by three bed category than to agree (40%) with
this proposal. Over 50% of respondents in all other groups agreed with this proposal.
6.46. Over half of those who identify as bisexual (51.9%) or gay or lesbian (53.3%) disagreed
with the proposal to move overcrowded by 1 bed into band 4. Respondents who identified
as straight or heterosexual were more likely to disagree (47.3%) with this proposal than to
agree with it (38.2%). More than half of those who identified as other agreed with this
proposal.
6.47. 57.1% of respondents who identify as gay or lesbian disagreed with the proposal to
place the rehousing reasons in the bands outlined in table 1 in the consultation. 50% of
those who identify as bisexual agreed with this proposal and more than half of those who
identify as other or as straight or heterosexual agreed with this proposal.
6.48. 50% of those who identify as other disagreed with the proposal to exclude adult children
from the determination for overcrowded by three beds, with the remaining 50% agreeing.
Page 18

Page 248

All other groups were more likely to disagree than to agree with this proposal, although
less than half of those who identify as straight or heterosexual disagreed to it (48.5%).
6.49. More than half of respondents who identify as gay or lesbian (53.3%) disagreed with the
proposal to reduce the three offer rule to a two offer rule for eligible households. 50% of
those who identified as other agreed with this proposal and 50% disagreed. All other
groups were more likely to agree than disagree with this proposal although less than half
of those who identify as bisexual (40.7%) agreed.
Religion or Belief
6.50. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by the religion or belief of respondents.
Chart 8 – Responses by religion or belief

6.51. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from respondents from all
groups:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by three
bed' group?
6.52. Half of the respondents who identify as Jewish agreed with the proposal to introduce a
new homeless with additional need priority group with the other half disagreeing. Over
half of the respondents in other groups agreed with this proposal.
6.53. Respondents who identify as Christian (47.5%), Jewish (100%), Other (45%) or having
no religious belief (48.5%) were more likely to disagree with the proposal to move
overcrowding by one bed into band 4 than to agree to it. Respondents who identify as
Buddhist (100%), Hindu (75%) or Muslim (46.7%) were more likely to agree to this
proposal than to disagree with it.

Page 19

Page 249

6.54. Half of the respondents who identify as Jewish disagreed with the proposal to place the
rehousing reasons in the bands outlined in table 1 in the consultation, with the remaining
50% responding that they did not know. Over half of the respondents in other groups
agreed with this proposal.
6.55. 65% of those identifying as other and 50.8% of those identifying as having no religious
belief disagreed with the proposal to exclude adult children from the calculation of
households overcrowded by three beds or more. Those who identify as Christian were
more likely to disagree (47.4%) with the proposal than to agree with it (36%). Equal
amounts of respondents who identify as Buddhist or Hindu agreed and disagreed with the
proposal. 37.8% of respondents who identify as Muslim agreed with the proposal and
31.1% disagreed.
6.56. Half of the respondents who identify as Hindu agreed with the proposal to reduce the
three offer rule to a two offer rule for eligible households, with the remaining half of
respondents who identify as Hindu disagreeing with this proposal. 50% or more of
respondents from all other groups agreed with this proposal.
6.57. Half of the respondents who identify as Jewish agreed with the proposal to introduce the
‘Smart Lettings’ policy, with the remaining half of respondents who identify as Jewish
disagreeing with this proposal. 50% or more of respondents from all other groups agreed
with this proposal.
Gender Identity
6.58. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by gender identity.
Chart 9 – Responses by gender identity

Page 20

Page 250

6.59. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from respondents from both
groups:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by three
bed' group?
6.60. 42.9% of respondents whose gender identity is different to that assigned at birth agreed
with the proposal to introduce a new homeless with additional need category and 42.9%
disagreed. 69.5% of those whose gender identity is the same as that assigned at birth
agreed with this proposal.
6.61. Respondents from both groups were more likely to disagree with the proposal to move
those who are overcrowded by 1 bed into band 4. 71.4% of those whose gender identity
is different to that assigned at birth disagree with this proposal and 47% of those whose
gender identity is the same as that assigned at birth agree with this proposal.
6.62. Less than half of respondents whose gender identity is different to that assigned at birth
(42.9%) disagreed with the proposal to place the rehousing reasons in the bands outlined
in table 1 in the consultation, however even fewer (28.6%) agreed with the proposal. More
than half of those whose gender identity is the same as that assigned at birth agreed with
this proposal.
6.63. 71.4% of respondents whose gender identity is different to that assigned at birth
disagreed with the proposal to exclude adult children from the calculation for households
overcrowded by three bedrooms or more. 47.8% of those whose gender identity is the
same as assigned at birth disagreed with this proposal and 36.5% agreed.
6.64. Respondents from both groups were more likely to agree with the proposal to change
the three offer rule to a two offer rule for eligible households, however less than half of
those whose gender identity is different to that assigned at birth agreed with this proposal
(42.9%).
6.65. 42.9% of respondents whose gender identity is different to that assigned at birth
disagreed with the proposal to introduce a ‘Smart Lettings’ policy with 28.6% in
agreement. 69% of those whose gender identity is the same as assigned at birth agreed
with this proposal.
Maternity
6.66. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by maternity status.

Page 21

Page 251

Chart 10 – Responses by maternity status

6.67. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from respondents from all
groups:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional
need priority' group?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by three
bed' group?

Do you agree that we should consider placing rehousing reasons in priority bands
as outlined in Table 1?

To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider
operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?
6.68. Respondents who are currently pregnant were more likely to disagree (50%) with the
proposal to move overcrowded by one bedroom into band 4. Those who are not currently
pregnant and have not been in the past six months were also more likely to disagree
(47.1%) with this proposal. Those who have been pregnant in the last six months were
more likely to agree with this proposal than to disagree with it although less than half were
in agreement (46.2%).
6.69. 50% of those who are not pregnant and have not been pregnant in the last six months
disagreed with the proposal to exclude adult children from the calculation for an
overcrowded by three bed house. Those who are currently pregnant were more likely to
agree (43.5%) than to disagree (34.8%) with this proposal, as were those who had been
pregnant in the last six months (37% agree, 22.2% disagree).

Page 22

Page 252

6.70. Less than half of respondents who are currently pregnant agreed with the proposal to
reduce the three offer rule to a two offer rule for eligible groups, although they were more
likely to agree with this proposal (43.5%) than to disagree with it (34.8%). Over half of
respondents in the other groups agreed with this proposal.
Caring responsibilities
6.71. The chart below shows the breakdown of responses to all of the questions in the survey
broken down by maternity status.
Chart 11 – Responses by caring responsibilities

6.72. There was broad agreement to the following proposals from respondents from all
groups:

Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that
you can bid for multiple properties each week?

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional
need priority' group?

Do you agree that we should reduce the 'Three Offer' rule to a 'Two Offer' rule for
eligible groups?

To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider
operating a 'Smart Lettings' system?
6.73. Respondents in both groups were more likely to agree with the proposal to introduce a
new overcrowded by three bed group, however slightly less than half of those with caring
responsibilities agreed with the proposal (46.5%) with 44.6% disagreeing.
6.74. 57.8% of respondents with caring responsibilities and 44.3% of those without caring
responsibilities disagreed with the proposal to move overcrowded by one bed households
Page 23

Page 253

into band 4. 29.2% of those with caring responsibilities and 41.9% of those without caring
responsibilities agreed with this proposal.
6.75. Both groups were more likely to agree with the proposal to place the rehousing reasons
in the bands outlined in table 1 in the consultation, however slightly less than half of those
with caring responsibilities (49.4%) agreed with this proposal.
6.76. More than half of respondents with caring responsibilities disagreed with the proposal to
exclude adult children from the calculation for overcrowded by 3 bed (56.8%) and 47.2%
of those without caring responsibilities disagreed with this proposal (38.3% of those
without caring responsibilities agreed).
Homelessness with additional need
6.77. Respondents were asked for their views on the approach the council should take with
regards any proposed homeless with additional needs category.
6.78. The majority of those who responded to this question agreed that using some
combination of the council’s location priority policy and private rented sector discharge
policy was the appropriate approach. A substantial minority of respondents felt that just
using the location priority policy would be the best approach. A smaller number of
respondents proposed using just the private rented sector discharge policy or another
approach.
7. Additional comments
7.1. There were 2,228 written responses to the proposals that the council included in the
consultation. Some of the recurring themes that arose across the proposals are captured
in the below bullet points:

Consideration should be given to those who have been waiting for social housing
the longest;

Consideration should be given to prioritising those with multiple rehousing reasons;

Written responses were broadly supportive of practical initatives to improve the
bidding process however stressed a demand that the policy be clearer;

Many respondents advocated for the prioritisation of families where there were
physical or mental health needs.
7.2. Comments on each question have been assessed to better understand their general
direction and the comments for each proposal have been analysed in detail and are set
out below.
7.3. The below chart sets out the general themes of the comments in response to the banding
structure proposal.

Page 24

Page 254

Chart 12 – Comments on the proposed banding structure

7.4. The most prevalent theme was a concern regarding the impact of the proposed banding
on households that are overcrowded. This can be seen in more detail in response to the
specific proposal regarding households that are overcrowded by one bed. A number of
residents felt that more clarity was required on this proposal whilst others felt that there
needed to be nuanced approaches that prioritised households with children of different
genders or those with medical need.
7.5. An example of a typical response is given below.

7.6. The below chart sets out the general themes of the comments in response to the proposal
to introduce a new overcrowded by three bedroom rehousing reason.

Page 25

Page 255

Chart 13 – Comments on the proposed overcrowded by three bed rehousing reason

7.7. The most prevalent theme was a concern regarding the impact of the proposed change
on overcrowded households. Many respondents commented that overcrowded by 3 bed
should be placed into band 1.
7.8. An example of a typical response in support of the proposal, and a typical response in
opposition to the proposal, are included below.

7.9. The below chart sets out the general themes of the comments in response to the proposal
to exclude adult children from the calculation for overcrowded by three bed households.
Page 26

Page 256

Chart 14 – Comments on the proposal to exclude adult children from the calculation for
overcrowded by three bed households

7.10. More respondents disagreed with this proposal than agreed with this and there are a
wide range of comments in response. The most prevalent theme was a concern that there
is not enough affordable housing to accommodate residents as it is and so excluding
individuals from any application would exacerbate this issue. Many respondents also felt
that it was not appropriate to exclude adult children from the household as they are still
part of the family.
7.11. Examples of typical responses to this question are included below.

Page 27

Page 257

7.12. The below chart sets out the general themes of the comments in response to the
proposal to move overcrowded by one bed into band 4.
Chart 15 – Comments on the proposal to move overcrowded by one bed into band 4

7.13. More respondents disagreed with this proposal than agreed with this and there are a
wide range of comments in response. The most prevalent theme was a concern was that
this was not fair and would result in many households waiting for longer than they already
have. There were also strong concerns expressed that overcrowding is an issue and
needs resolving regardless of how many rooms the household is overcrowded by, and
reflecting on how household composition is not sufficiently taken into account in this
approach.
7.14. Examples of typical responses to this proposal are included below.

7.15. The below chart sets out the general themes of the comments in response to the
proposal to include a homeless with additional need category and how to establish
additional need.

Page 28

Page 258

Chart 15 – Comments on the proposal to include a homeless with additional need
category and how to establish additional need

7.16. Where respondents had commented on how best to account for additional need in a
homeless with additional need category, the comments primarily focussed on including
medical need in that assessment and on the importance of prioritising those with multiple
needs. A number of respondents reflect on concerns that the PRS policy of the council
and felt that this would cause homelessness.
Examples of some of the range of responses are included below.

7.17. A substantial majority of respondents were in support of the proposal to allow multiple
bids per property per week. There were some comments from housing providers
regarding the technicalities of how this might operate. An example of this is included
below:

Page 29

Page 259

7.18. The below chart sets out the general themes of the comments in response to the
proposal to reduce the three offer rule to a two offer rule for eligible groups.
Chart 15 – Comments on the proposal to reduce the three offer rule to a two offer rule for
eligible groups

7.19. The most prevalent themes amongst those who commented were that there was a risk
in reducing the amount of offers that households are eligible for as households often turn
out to be unsuitable upon inspection, and a concern that some households are only
eligible for one offer only.
7.20. A typical response is included below.

Page 30

Page 260

7.21. The majority of respondents agreed with the council proposal to introduce a ‘Smart
Lettings’ policy to generate increased churn for residents on the housing register.
7.22. 45 respondents who opposed this approach made comments reflecting a concern that
households already in social housing were being prioritised for housing under this
approach.
8. Written responses
8.1. An email inbox was highlighted so that respondents and organisations who wanted to
email in could do so. Throughout the consultation period 40 emails were sent to this inbox
that expressed some view on the consultation. The extent and detail of these written
contributions varied, however the key themes are captured below alongside the views of
those who contributed at virtual meetings and those who engaged directly in phone
consultation with officers.
Do you agree that we should consider placing rehousing reasons in priority bands as
outlined in Table 1?
8.2. A number of responses reflected that they were in broad agreement with the proposals in
the scheme. Some residents expressed agreement with the banding given the increased
priority it would give to some in temporary accommodation, and agreed with the rationale
for many of the priority rehousing groups remaining the same.
8.3. There was feedback that it may be required to provide additional clarity on what each
group entailed and how someone might qualify for it. A number of contributions also
stressed the importance of factoring in multiple needs, and to ensure that households with
children were given the highest possible priority.
8.4. The council received some responses from partner organisations that expressed some
concerns around the proposed banding. One registered provider suggested that whilst
they understood the rationale behind the approach, they felt that the introduction of a
band 4 would create unrealistic expectations of rehousing amongst those clients in that
band. Another response highlighted a concern around the use of the bedroom standard
solely as a mechanism for determining overcrowding and raised the possibility of a more
nuanced approach which factored in statutory overcrowding.
8.5. Some written responses from residents and some contributions in the virtual meetings
reflected on the length of time it currently took for those on the register to be successful in
bidding and noted that these proposals would exacerbate that for some groups, raising
fears that they might be on the housing register for longer than they already had been.
Page 31

Page 261

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by three bed' group?
8.6. Generally, respondents who wrote in expressed agreement with this proposal where it
was explicitly referenced. Respondents recognised the impact of such severe
overcrowding and felt it appropriate that some priority was given.
8.7. Respondents did however express some concerns around the proposed overcrowding
approach more generally, which is largely addressed under other questions. The
concerns in relation to the adoption of this rehousing reason were that the proposed
bandings for various groups had a negative impact on other overcrowded households.
Do you agree that we should not include adult children for the new 'overcrowded by three
band'?
8.8. Written responses generally disagreed with the proposal to exclude adult children from
the proposed overcrowded by three bed category.
8.9. Responses from partner organisations reflected on the confusion that might arise where a
household that is assessed as overcrowded by three beds has a child who turns 21 and
then they are no longer assessed as such. Other responses from partner organisations
suggested that this might not be lawful if applied to homelessness.
8.10. One partner response that suggested some agreement with this proposal did stress that
it would require very careful consideration. This response noted that there is a chance
that such households might evict adult children in these circumstances and thus have a
perverse negative affect on the councils approach elsewhere.
Do you agree that we should consider moving 'overcrowded by one bed' to a new Band 4
priority group?
8.11. There was strong disagreement in the written responses to the proposal to move
overcrowded by one bed into a new band 4 category.
8.12. Responses from partner organisations raised concerns about the wide range of
overcrowding that can exist within the overcrowded by one bed range and the very
challenging circumstances that all overcrowded households live in. Many expressed
concern that such a large number of households would be de-prioritised in this approach.
8.13. A number of partners expressed a preference that some consideration be given to the
inclusion of statutory overcrowding in any calculation of overcrowding. Others added that
the scale and prevalence of overcrowding in Lewisham and the impact on particular
groups warranted a more substantive consideration in the proposed scheme. It was
recommended that the council undertake a comprehensive equalities analysis
assessment before considering this option.
8.14. Many written responses from residents noted that they had been on the housing register
for some time and had been unsuccessful in applying for a property despite actively
bidding. They added that this proposal would have a substantial impact on the possibility
that they might ever secure housing.
8.15. A small number of responses reflected positively on this approach, one example noting
that if the council deemed this the correct approach then it was appropriate to do so and
that the framing of band 4 as a low priority group would help residents to better
understand their likelihood of success.

Page 32

Page 262

Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional need
priority' group?
8.16. Respondents broadly welcomed the proposal to introduce a new ‘homeless with
additional need’ priority, and agreed with the council’s intention to find a better way to
support homeless households through the register.
8.17. However, there was some concern regarding the proposed mechanisms for doing so.
Some partner organisations felt that the options outlined (using the location priority policy,
the private rented sector discharge policy, or a combination of the two) were defined too
narrowly or in such a way that did not sufficiently prioritise homeless households within
the proposed group. There was a concern expressed that this might restrict access to this
group for many homeless households meaning longer times in temporary accommodation
or increased use of the private rented sector discharge policy.
8.18. Many respondents felt that those with medical needs should be given priority within this
cohort, and more generally that medical need plus other housing need should be a
determining factor in increased priority.
Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that you can
bid for multiple properties each week?
8.19. This proposal was widely support in written responses and in the virtual meetings that
were held with residents.
8.20. Respondents on the whole felt that this approach gave applicants a much greater
amount of choice when selecting their properties and took away the need to think
tactically about where they might place their bid. There was a sense that this might also
lead to a decrease in rejections of offers.
8.21. Some comments expressed the need for this to be very carefully considered so as not to
create an extensive administrative burden that would undermine the principle of the
approach. Similarly it was noted that whatever approach was implemented would need to
be very clearly explained and as straightforward as possible to minimise the issues that
might arise from multiple selections.
Do you agree that we should reduce the 'Three Offer' rule to a 'Two Offer' rule for eligible
groups?
8.22. There was a mixed response to this proposal from the written responses and virtual
meetings that were held.
8.23. At the virtual meetings that have been held, a number of residents noted that properties
are often found to be unsuitable upon inspection and that this proposal might be to the
detriment of those households who reject properties that are unsuitable and thus are only
left with one further offer. There was concern as to how rejections would be considered in
this approach so as not to penalise those who are offered unsuitable properties.
8.24. Other responses reflected on the appropriateness of this proposal given the lack of
social housing that is available and the need to ensure properties are let as quickly as
possible. A partner organisation noted that this proposal was well aligned with the multibid approach, as residents should and can in future apply for any number of properties
and so it is perhaps more appropriate that residents bid for properties they definitely
would like.

Page 33

Page 263

To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider operating
a 'Smart Lettings' system?
8.25. Respondents were broadly in agreement with the principles set out in the ‘Smart
Lettings’ proposal although some concerns were raised.
8.26. Many respondents felt that this proposal would benefit a wide range of groups on the
register and generate additional churn, which was welcomed. One of our partner
organisations suggested that the percentage of properties allocated through this approach
could be set even higher to maximise this approach.
8.27. Some responses however did note that this might be perceived as benefiting those
already in social housing to the detriment of others, and allowing some households to
‘jump the queue’.

Page 34

Page 264

Equality Impact Assessment
Table 1
Author

Jack Skelly

Directorat Housing
e
Date
16/08/21
Service
Housing
1. The project or decision that this assessment is being undertaken for
Allocation Policy review 2021
As per the Housing Act 1996, every local authority in England must have an Allocation Policy to determine
prioritisation and procedure for allocating housing accommodation.
The policy is a way of distributing a small number of homes as fairly as possible, while using the resources
available to us as efficiently as possible, retaining flexibility to respond to fluctuations in demand from
different client groups, preventing homelessness and offering choice to applicants where we can. This
policy underpins the service’s work under Housing and Homelessness strategies.
The Council has been in the process of reviewing the Allocation Policy in order to ensure it continues to
operate as efficiently as possible. In November 2020, the Council launched a public consultation on its
proposed major changes to the policy. These proposed changes to the policy are detailed in the Mayor and
Cabinet report.
The consultation ran between 27 November 2020 and 14 March 2021 – 16 weeks in total. The Council
engaged with around 1,000 people during this time. The consultation was hosted on Lewisham’s website
using the online consultation portal Citizen Space. A dedicated council inbox was also made available for
respondents should they wish to make direct representations or to provide additional commentary to their
consultation response.
942 individuals responded through the online survey of which 804 (85%) were Lewisham residents.
Following the consultation, the Council agreed to remove its proposal to not include adult children in a new
overcrowded by 3 bedroom rehousing reason.
Over 50% of all respondents agreed with the following questions:


Do you agree that we should consider placing rehousing reasons in priority bands as outlined
in Table 1?



Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'overcrowded by three bed' group?



Do you agree that we should consider introducing a new 'homeless with additional need
priority' group?



Do you agree that we should consider changing how you bid for properties, so that you can
bid for multiple properties each week?



Do you agree that we should reduce the 'Three Offer' rule to a 'Two Offer' rule for eligible
groups?



To increase the number of lettings available, do you agree that we should consider operating a
'Smart Lettings' system?

More residents disagreed than agreed with the following proposals:


Do you agree that we should not include adult children for the new 'overcrowded by three
band'?



Do you agree that we should consider moving 'overcrowded by one bed' to a new Band 4
priority group?

Further information on the consultation can be found in the consultation report, available here.
2. The protected characteristics or other equalities factors potentially impacted by this
decision

Page 265

☒ Age

☒ Race

☒ Gender

☒ Gender
reassignment
☒ Carer status

☒ Maternity and
pregnancy
☒ Disability

☒ Marriage and civil
partnership

☒Other,
Gypsies and
traveller

☒ Religion or
☒ Sexual orientation
belief
The Allocation Policy denotes the way social housing is allocated to residents on the social housing
register. There are currently over 10,000 households on the register and so there is a potential impact on
all of the protected characteristics and other equalities factors outlined above.
The policy organises those on the social housing register into rehousing reason groups. These groups are
then allocated one of four “Band Priorities”. The Band Priority determines how long an applicant to the
register is likely to wait before successfully bidding for a property.
The new policy introduces new rehousing reason groups. It also reorganises certain groups from one band
to another, and introduces a new Band Four. This is likely to impact the length of time some applicants will
be on the housing register before successfully bidding for a property.
We believe the proposed amendments could have an impact on many protected characteristics and, in
particular, on:
-

Age;
Religion;
Ethnicity;
Disability;
Gender;
Household type; and
Gypsies and travellers

Full details of the anticipated impacts and mitigations are found in the “impact summary” table below.
3. The evidence to support the analysis
The key data used for this assessment is the service-user profile – i.e. those applying for social housing.
Much of this information is provided as part of a housing application and has been sourced from the inhouse system.
Applicants, however, are not required to enter data on protected characteristics in their service-user profile.
Therefore the council has limited data on the protected characteristics of applicants, so we are unable to
provide a detailed assessment of the impact of re-allocating groups, or forecast the impact with a
significant degree of confidence.
It should be noted that the housing service has recently implemented a new integrated housing system. In
time, and with a re-registration process proposed as part of the policy review, our data quality should
improve over time.
Sources
Analysis has been undertaken into the profile of applicants from the below sources:
- Those who were on the Housing Register as at September 2020;
- Homelessness applications from April 2018 – August 2020, in order to establish the impacts of
suggested banding changes to homeless applicants on the housing register; and
- Segments of data on clients already housed within our own stock to establish impacts of policy
changes on this cohort.
Where key data is not available this has been clearly stated, alongside the action that will be taken to
minimise any potential negative impact.
The analysis
Age

Page 266

Housing
register
Age band
18-25
26-35
36-40
41-50
51-60
61+
Grand Total





%
5%
22%
16%
27%
18%
12%
100.00%

Homelessness
applications
Age Range
Less than 18
18-25
26-35
36-40
41-50
51-60
More than 60
Grand Total

%
0.8%
21.4%
27.9%
12.5%
19.4%
12.4%
5.5%
100.00%

The most represented age bracket in the social housing register is 41-50.
The most represented age bracket in homelessness applications is 26-35.
The number of homelessness applications from young people aged 18-25 is significantly higher
than the prevalence of this group on the housing register.
The consultation did not collect data on age range.

Ethnicity
Housing register
Ethnicity
(blank)
English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British
African
Caribbean
Not disclosed
Any other White background
Any other Black/ African/ Caribbean
background
Any other ethnic group
White and Black Caribbean
Any other Asian background
Any other mixed/ multiple ethnic background
Chinese
Irish
White and Black African
Indian
Bangladeshi
Pakistani
White and Asian
Arab
Grand Total
Homelessness applications
Ethnicity
Black African
Black Caribbean
White British
Other Ethnicity
Refused to declare
White Other

%
70.3%
8.0%
6.0%
5.6%
2.2%
2.0%
1.2%
1.2%
0.8%
0.8%
0.5%
0.4%
0.3%
0.2%
0.2%
0.2%
0.2%
0.1%
0.0%
100.00%

%

Page 267

23.50%
23.34%
20.82%
6.62%
6.04%
6.01%

White & Caribbean
Black Other
White & Asian
Other Mixed
Indian
Arab
White & African
Chinese
Pakistani
Bangladeshi
White Irish
Gypsy/Irish Traveller
Other Asian
Grand Total




The data regarding the ethnicity of applicants on the general housing register is limited, with more
than 70% of those not disclosing their ethnicity. Most applications to the general housing register
are made online so a large number of applicants are choosing not to disclose this data.
We do, however, hold high quality data about the ethnicity of residents who make an application of
homelessness, as this is collected by officers from the applicants. This is shown in the second table
above.
This shows that over half of homeless households from the past year have been from Black, Asian
and Minority Ethnic households.

Ethnicity (Lewisham Homes tenants)
Black African
Other Ethnicity
Refused to declare
White & Other
Other Mixed
White & African
Bangladeshi
White & Caribbean
White & Asian
Pakistani
Indian
Arab
White Irish
White Other
Black Other
Chinese
Other Asian
Black Caribbean
White British



4.31%
2.48%
2.27%
1.15%
0.74%
0.70%
0.64%
0.53%
0.40%
0.30%
0.08%
0.05%
0.02%
100.00%

Proportionally overrepresented in
overcrowded cohort
17.40%
2.00%
2.00%
0.50%
0.50%
0.40%
0.20%
0.10%
0.10%
0.00%
-0.10%
-0.10%
-0.20%
-0.20%
-0.50%
-0.50%
-0.60%
-8.50%
-12.70%

The above table is an assessment of overcrowded households within our own stock (Lewisham
Homes) compared to the total number of households in that cohort. The percentages demonstrate
whether particular ethnicities are over or underrepresented in the overcrowded cohort.
The numbers show that people of Black African origin are disproportionately represented in the
overcrowded cohort.

Page 268



With regards to the consultation:
o 39% of all respondents were black and 31.2% were white.
o Respondents who are Black British, Black Caribbean, Black Other, Mixed or Other all
disagreed more than they agreed with the proposal to move overcrowded by one bed in to
band 4. Respondents who are Asian, Black African, White British or White Other were more
likely to agree than disagree with this proposal.
o The majority of respondents were in favour of the rest of the changes that are being
implemented.

Maternity
 A small number of applicants on the housing register (less than 2%) are listed as pregnant.
 In the consultation:
o respondents who are currently pregnant were more likely to disagree (50%) with the
proposal to move overcrowded by one bedroom into band 4. Those who are not currently
pregnant and have not been in the past six months were also more likely to disagree
(47.1%) with this proposal. Those who have been pregnant in the last six months were more
likely to agree with this proposal than to disagree with it although less than half were in
agreement (46.2%).
o Less than half of respondents who are currently pregnant agreed with the proposal to
reduce the three offer rule to a two offer rule for eligible groups, although they were more
likely to agree with this proposal (43.5%) than to disagree with it (34.8%). Over half of
respondents in the other groups agreed with this proposal.
o The majority of respondents agreed with the remaining changes that are being
implemented.

Language spoken
 We do not have data on language spoken in the data extract; however Lewisham’s Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment 2019 suggests that there are over 170 languages spoken in Lewisham.
Communications on policy changes will need to be sensitive to people’s language needs, as will
our working processes and customer service delivery.
 Paper consultations and translations in other languages were available upon request. Those whose
first language was not English and wanted to input their views were able to send us an email with
their details and their chosen language, following which contact was made with the assistance of
Language Line to collect their views in their desired language. This was communicated to residents
throughout the consultation and was translated into a number of languages on the front page of the
online consultation.
Gender
 Almost a quarter of applicants on the housing register are female. This is most likely because there
are more single women with dependent children accepted onto the register (as dependent children
is indicative of a priority need).
 57.8% of homeless applicants in the extract analysed were female.
 With regards to the consultation:
o 48.3% of female respondents disagreed with the proposal to move overcrowding by one
bed to band 4. An equal number of male respondents agreed and disagreed with the
proposal (43.5%) as did other respondents (50%).
o 55.4% of all females agreed that the three offer rule should be reduced to two offers for
eligible groups, and 52.5% of males agreed with this proposal. 25% of those who identified
as other agreed with this proposal and 50% disagreed.
o Those who identified as other were more likely to disagree (50%) with the proposal to
introduce a ‘Smart Lettings’ scheme than agree (25%). 64.9% of all female respondents and
69.3% of all male respondents agreed with this proposal.
o Male (63.5%) and Female (69.1%) respondents were in agreement with the proposal to
introduce a new category of Homeless with additional needs. 50% of those who identified as
other disagreed with this proposal.
o The majority of Male (52.5%) and Female (56.4%) respondents agreed to the proposal to
set the rehousing reasons in the banding set out in table 1 in the consultation. 25% of those

Page 269

o

who identified as other agreed with this proposal, a further 50% disagreed and 25% did not
know.
There was broad agreement regarding the other policy changes.

Gender identity
 1.48% of applicants on the housing register have identified as transgender
 There is no data for gender identity within homeless applicants.
 With regards to the consultation:
o 42.9% of respondents whose gender identity is different to that assigned at birth agreed with
the proposal to introduce a new homeless with additional need category and 42.9%
disagreed. 69.5% of those whose gender identity is the same as that assigned at birth
agreed with this proposal.
o Respondents from both groups were more likely to disagree with the proposal to move
those who are overcrowded by 1 bed into band 4. 71.4% of those whose gender identity is
different to that assigned at birth disagree with this proposal and 47% of those whose
gender identity is the same as that assigned at birth agree with this proposal.
o Less than half of respondents whose gender identity is different to that assigned at birth
(42.9%) disagreed with the proposal to place the rehousing reasons in the bands outlined in
table 1 in the consultation, however even fewer (28.6%) agreed with the proposal. More
than half of those whose gender identity is the same as that assigned at birth agreed with
this proposal.
o Respondents from both groups were more likely to agree with the proposal to change the
three offer rule to a two offer rule for eligible households, however less than half of those
whose gender identity is different to that assigned at birth agreed with this proposal (42.9%).
o 42.9% of respondents whose gender identity is different to that assigned at birth disagreed
with the proposal to introduce a ‘Smart Lettings’ policy with 28.6% in agreement. 69% of
those whose gender identity is the same as assigned at birth agreed with this proposal.
Disability
 Over 16% of applicants on the housing register have declared a disability.
 As at August 2020, there were 149 households on the housing register awaiting accessible social
housing. 109 of these households were already in social housing not currently suitable for their
needs. At least 15 were in temporary accommodation.
 Less than 1% of homelessness applicants in the extract declared a disability; however this relates
to lead applicant only.
 With regards to the consultation:
o Less than half of respondents who consider themselves to be disabled agreed with the
proposal to introduce a new overcrowded by three bed priority reason (45.4% compared to
42.1% in disagreement). 62.7% of respondents who do not consider themselves to be
disabled agreed with this proposal.
o Respondents who consider themselves to be disabled were more likely to disagree (45.0%)
than agree (39.1%) with the proposal to move overcrowded by one bed into band 4.
Respondents who do not consider themselves to be disabled were also more likely to
disagree (48.4%) than agree (38.5%) with this proposal.
o There was broad agreement from respondents regarding the other changes that are being
implemented.
Household type
Minimum
bedroom
need
%
0
1
2
3
4
5

0.24%
17.00%
38.73%
33.83%
7.75%
1.88%

Page 270

6
7
8
9
Grand Total







0.40%
0.12%
0.04%
0.01%
100.00%

Household type is not collected in housing register data; however the minimum number of
bedrooms required gives us an idea of the sizes of the households. Almost three quarters of
households waiting for social housing need a minimum of 2 or 3 bedrooms.
As expected, larger households are more likely to be affected by overcrowding. 635 households
within the Council’s own stock (Lewisham Homes) are overcrowded by more than one bedroom.
Almost three quarters of these households have 5 or more occupants, suggestive of families with
more children or multi-generational households.
812 households within our own stock are overcrowded by 0.5-1 bedroom. Almost half of this cohort
are a household of 6 occupants.
According to the 2014-based CLG household projections, the number of households with children
is expected to increase by around 6,300 over the period 2018–2033.
With regards to the consultation:
o Over 70% of respondents not in social housing agreed with the proposal to introduce a new
‘Overcrowded by three bed group’ whereas only 49% of those in social housing did.
o Social renters were the most likely to disagree (55%) with the proposal to move
overcrowding by one band into a new band 4. Those in temporary accommodation were
slightly more likely to agree to this proposal (44%) than disagree (40%) and only home
owners and those in supported housing agreed by more than 50%.
o Private renters (46.7%) and those in other accommodation (39.5%) were the least likely to
agree with the proposal to reduce the three offer rule to a two offer rule, but were more likely
to agree than disagree. All other groups agreed with this proposal by more than 50%.

Religion
Religion
Not disclosed
Christian (all denominations)
None
Muslim
Any other religion/belief
Prefer not to say
Buddhist
Hindu
Sikh
Jewish
Grand Total








%
58.33%
23.93%
9.82%
5.43%
0.82%
0.74%
0.45%
0.41%
0.03%
0.03%
100.00
%

Religion, overcrowded by 2 bed+
Not disclosed
Christian (all denominations)
Muslim
None
Any other religion/belief
Prefer not to say
Buddhist
Grand Total

%
46.77%
28.67%
13.98%
9.50%
0.72%
0.18%
0.18%
100.00
%

Over 50% of housing register applicants have not disclosed a religion.
Out of the remaining applicants, almost a quarter have identified as Christian. The next most
prevalent declaration is ‘no religion’, followed by Muslim.
When looking at households on the register that are overcrowded by 2 bedrooms or more, those
who are Muslim are overrepresented (almost 14% even though they account for only 5.4% of the
overall register), suggesting that any changes to policy relating to overcrowding may have a
disproportionate affect on this group.
Religion data is not available for over 75% of Lewisham Homes tenants.
For homelessness applications, religion data is held on less than 10% of clients, so meaningful
analysis is not possible.
With regards to the consultation:

Page 271

o

o
o

o
o

Respondents who identify as Christian (47.5%), Jewish (100%), Other (45%) or having no
religious belief (48.5%) were more likely to disagree with the proposal to move
overcrowding by one bed into band 4 than to agree to it. Respondents who identify as
Buddhist (100%), Hindu (75%) or Muslim (46.7%) were more likely to agree to this proposal
than to disagree with it.
Half of the respondents who identify as Jewish disagreed with the proposal to place the
rehousing reasons in the bands outlined in table 1 in the consultation, with the remaining
50% responding that they did not know.
Half of the respondents who identify as Hindu agreed with the proposal to reduce the three
offer rule to a two offer rule for eligible households, with the remaining half of respondents
who identify as Hindu disagreeing with this proposal. 50% or more of respondents from all
other groups agreed with this proposal.
Half of the respondents who identify as Jewish agreed with the proposal to introduce the
‘Smart Lettings’ policy, with the remaining half of respondents who identify as Jewish
disagreeing with this proposal.
There was broad agreement with the remaining policy changes.

Carer status
 There is no data for carers within the housing register or homelessness applications.
 With regards to the consultation:
o 57.8% of respondents with caring responsibilities and 44.3% of those without caring
responsibilities disagreed with the proposal to move overcrowded by one bed households
into band 4. 29.2% of those with caring responsibilities and 41.9% of those without caring
responsibilities agreed with this proposal.
o There was broad agreement with the remaining policy changes.

Sexual orientation
 Over half of applicants on the housing register have not disclosed their sexual orientation.
 44% have identified as straight / heterosexual.
 Less than 1% have identified as gay, lesbian, bisexual or other.
 With regards to the consultation:
o Respondents who identify as gay or lesbian were more likely to disagree (46.7%) with the
proposal to introduce an overcrowded by three bed category than to agree (40%) with this
proposal. Over 50% of respondents in all other groups agreed with this proposal.
o Over half of those who identify as bisexual (51.9%) or gay or lesbian (53.3%) disagreed with
the proposal to move overcrowded by 1 bed into band 4. Respondents who identified as
straight or heterosexual were more likely to disagree (47.3%) with this proposal than to
agree with it (38.2%). More than half of those who identified as other agreed with this
proposal.
o 57.1% of respondents who identify as gay or lesbian disagreed with the proposal to place
the rehousing reasons in the bands outlined in table 1 in the consultation. 50% of those who
identify as bisexual agreed with this proposal and more than half of those who identify as
other or as straight or heterosexual agreed with this proposal.
o More than half of respondents who identify as gay or lesbian (53.3%) disagreed with the
proposal to reduce the three offer rule to a two offer rule for eligible households. 50% of
those who identified as other agreed with this proposal and 50% disagreed. All other groups
were more likely to agree than disagree with this proposal although less than half of those
who identify as bisexual (40.7%) agreed.
o There was broad agreement with the remaining policy changes.
Income
 By definition, all applicants on the housing register are on low incomes and / or in receipt of housing
benefit or Universal Credit.
Other - Gypsies and Travellers


The local connection rule in section 2.2.2 of the policy is capable of having an indirectly
discriminatory effect on refugees, who
will find
it harder to satisfy the requirement of 5 years'
Page
272

residence in borough for reasons which are connected to their immigration status. This group will
predominantly comprise people from ethnic minorities. Therefore, in order to avoid any
discriminatory effect, an exception has been inserted into the policy for refugees who have not
been resident in Lewisham for a period of 5 years for reasons connected with their status as a
refugee.
“You and your household are Roma or Irish Travellers and you have not been resident in Lewisham
for a period of 5 years because you adhere to a traditional migratory culture.”

4. Impact summary
A full impact is provided in the impact summary table, below.
5. Mitigation
Mitigations are provided in the impact summary table, below.
6. Service user journey that this decision or project impacts
If you think you may become homeless, you should contact the Council for advice at the earliest
opportunity. The earlier you contact us the more chance we have of helping you to avoid becoming
homeless. You can call the Housing Options Centre [HOC] on 020 8314 7007 or e-mail HOC at
HousingOptionsEnquiry@lewisham.gov.uk.
If you want to join the housing list you can do this by referring to our information on the website
www.lewisham.gov.uk or http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/housing/find/Pages/Apply-for-socialhousing.aspx.
For advice about your housing options, please contact the Allocations and Lettings Service on 020 8314
7007 or LewishamFindYourHomeApplications@lewisham.gov.uk.
If you are vulnerable (for example you are elderly, have learning or other disability, or do not have the
ability to read English or another language) we can assist you in accessing housing and bidding for
properties. The Homesearch Support Officer, based in the Allocations and Lettings Service, assists
applicants to engage with the choice based lettings system and can assist clients with bidding. Please
contact the Allocations and Lettings Service for further information on 020 8314 7007 or
LewishamFindYourHomeApplications@lewisham.gov.uk.
Single Homelessness Intervention and Prevention (SHIP): The Council is committed to working with
partner agencies to promote housing options for single young people and there are a number of supported
housing schemes that may be suitable for your needs funded throughout the borough. For more
information on how to access these schemes please contact the SHIP service at SHIP@lewisham.gov.uk
or 020 8314 7007.
Consultation contact: Jack Skelly – jack.skelly@lewisham.gov.uk
Signature of
Head of Service
For further information please see the full Corporate Equality Policy.

Page 273

Table 2 – Equality Impact Assessment summary
Purpose of this document: This table lists the proposed major changes to the Allocations Policy, and indicates any protected characteristic group that may
be positive or negatively impacted by the proposed change. The impacts have been assessed and potential mitigation explored.
The Council has limited data on the protected characteristics of applicants. Therefore we are unable to provide a detailed assessment of the impact of reallocating groups, or forecast the impact with a significant degree of confidence.

# Section

New policy

1 Allocation
Scheme,
2.5.12.5.5

1. The new banding will be:

Page 274

1.
2.
3.
4.

Band 1: Emergency
Band 2: High
Band 3: Medium
Band 4: Low

2. The following band changes will be
introduced:
1. Homeless with additional
need will be moved to
“High”;
2. We will use the Private
Renter Sector Discharge
Policy and Location Priority
Policy to determine whether
an applicant is homeless
with additional need.
3. Current cohorts within “High”
band will be placed in
“Medium” band (unless
otherwise stated);
4. Medical High moved in to
“High” (instead of “Medium”);

Protected characteristic
groups potentially
impacted by change
1. Disability
2. Religion
3. Household type
4. Age
5. Ethnicity
6. Gender

Assessment of impact

Mitigation

1. Placing rehousing reason groups in
different Band Priorities, compared to
the 2017 Policy, is likely to impact the
length of time they will be on the
housing register before securing a
property.

1. We are introducing an
“overcrowded by three”
rehousing reason in Band
Two. This will allow some
larger households to move
more quickly than they are
currently able.

2. The Counsel has limited data on the
protected characteristics of applicants.
Therefore we are unable to provide a
detailed assessment of the impact of
re-allocating groups, or forecast the
impact with a significant degree of
confidence.
3. We anticipate, however, that the
proposed policies may impact in the
following ways:
1. Moving “overcrowded by two” in to
Band 3: Medium Priority, and
“overcrowded by one” to Band 4:
Low Priority, may impact those
with “religion”, “household type” or
“ethnicity” protected
characteristics. Individuals with
these characteristics are more
likely to have larger households
than the national average, and so

2. The introduction of a
statutorily overcrowded
measurement, which will be
used in conjunction with an
overcrowded bedroom
measurement in determining
applicants’ overcrowding
severity, will mean that some
households are promoted
where overcrowding is
particularly acute.
Households that are
statutorily overcrowded and
not overcrowded as per the
bedroom standard will now
be able to join the housing
register in Band 4.
3. Communications on policy
changes will need to be
sensitive to people’s

5. Supported Housing Move
On moved to “High” (instead
of “Medium”)
6. We will introduce a new
overcrowding policy. If you
are both overcrowded by
one or two bedrooms and
statutorily overcrowded, you
will be promoted to a higher
band. Households who are
statutorily overcrowded but
not overcrowded as per the
bedroom standard will be
able to join the housing
register in Band 4.

Page 275

E.g. overcrowded by 1 bed
and statutorily overcrowded
will be in “Band 3: Medium”
priority.
7. We will introduce an
“overcrowded by 3 bed”
cohort in “High”;
8. All previous “Band 3 Priority”
will remain in “Band 3
Medium Priority” except for:
 Overcrowded by 1
bed, which will be
placed within “Low”
priority.

be experiencing overcrowding.
Individuals of Black African
ethnicity are disproportionately
represented in the overcrowded
cohort. Placing this rehousing
reason in Band 3 is likely to
increase the time an applicant will
wait in order to successfully bid for
social housing.
2. Implementing the banding
structure may allow those with a
disability to move more quickly
within the “medical high” rehousing
reason, which will be placed within
Band Two.
3. The changes may allow younger
applicants to move more quickly
within the “Supported Housing
Move On” rehousing reason, which
will be placed within Band Two.
4. The changes may allow individuals
with specific “ethnicity”, “gender”
and “age” characteristics to move
more quickly within the “Homeless
with additional need” rehousing
reason, which will be placed within
Band Two. This is because the
data shows that:
 a disproportionate number of
homelessness applications are
from Black African and Black
Caribbean ethnicities;
 a high number of applicants are
aged between 26 and 35;
 The number of homelessness
applications from young people
aged 18-25 is significantly higher

language needs, as will our
working processes and
customer service delivery.
4. Officials will monitor lets that
are offered and keep data on
protected characteristics to
ensure groups are not
discriminated against.
5. The Council operates a
number of services,
including Allocations and
Lettings service and Housing
Options service, which
provide advice to residents
about their housing options.
These can be contacted by
phone or online and can
provide guidance on what
housing options are viable
for applicants with a range of
characteristics
6. The Council provides help
for those who wish to access
housing or bid for properties
on the housing register that
are vulnerable (e.g. those
who are elderly, have a
disability or do not have the
ability to read English or
another language)
7. The Council also runs a
number of social care
pathways (e.g. the young
persons’ pathway) and other
support initiatives (Single
Homeless Intervention and
Prevention service) to

2 Allocation
Scheme

1. We propose ring-fencing properties,
whereby Council ring-fences a
percentage of properties to enable
transfer of tenants (“smart letting”).

1.
2.
3.
4.

Disability
Age
Religion
Ethnicity

2. We will ring-fence up to 20% of
properties to residents who are both
currently in social housing and on
the housing list, so that they are
able to move to a house more
suited to their need.

2. Smart letting may improve the
likelihood of individuals with “disability”
characteristics successfully bidding for
a property, as scarce properties that
are suitable for those with disabilities
may be let using this system. 16% of
applicants on the housing register
have declared a disability. As at
August 2020, there were 149
households on the housing register
awaiting accessible social housing.
109 of these households were already
in social housing not currently suitable
for their needs. At least 15 were in
temporary accommodation.

Page 276
3 Allocation
Scheme,
2.2.

1. We will change the “Three Offer”
rule to a “Two Offer” rule for the
number of properties that can be
refused.

than the prevalence of this group
on the housing register; and
 57.8% of homeless applicants in
the data extracted were female.
1. Smart letting will prioritise initially
transferring applicants but overall the
impact of the policy will be neutral as
the properties that are released from
the transferring tenants will go to nontransferring applicants.

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Disability
Ethnicity
Religion
Age
Household type
Gender

1. Reducing the number of offers for
“overcrowded by two” and
“overcrowded by one” to One Offer,
may impact those with “religion”,
“household type” or “ethnicity”
protected characteristics. Individuals
with these characteristics are more
likely to have larger households than
the national average, and so be
experiencing overcrowding who will
have a reduced number of refusals for
properties. Individuals of Black African
ethnicity are disproportionately

support specific homeless
cohorts.

1. Officials will monitor lets that
are offered via the ‘smart
lettings’ scheme and keep
data on protected
characteristics to ensure
groups are not discriminated
against.
2. Communications on policy
changes will need to be
sensitive to people’s
language needs, as will our
working processes and
customer service delivery.

1. The Council provides help
for those who wish to access
housing or bid for properties
on the housing register that
are vulnerable (e.g. those
who are elderly, have a
disability or do not have the
ability to read English or
another language)
2. The Council operates a
number of services,
including Allocations and
Lettings service and Housing

represented in the overcrowded
cohort.
2. Reducing the number of offers for
those with specially adapted homes,
“medical high” and “medical low”
rehousing reasons may impact
individuals with “disability” who will
have a reduced number of refusals for
properties.

Page 277

3. Implementing the reduced number of
offers may impact individuals with
specific “ethnicity” and “age”
characteristics to, as this will reduce
the number of refusals those with
“Homeless with additional need” and
“homeless without additional need”
rehousing reasons can make. This is
because the data shows that:
1. a disproportionate number of
homelessness applications are
from Black African and Black
Caribbean ethnicities;
2. a high number of applicants are
aged between 26 and 35;
3. The number of homelessness
applications from young people
aged 18-25 is significantly
higher than the prevalence of
this group on the housing
register; and
4. 57.8% of homeless applicants
in the data extracted were
female

Options service, which
provide advice to residents
about their housing options.
These can be contacted by
phone or online and can
provide guidance on what
housing options are viable
for applicants with a range of
characteristics
3. Officials will monitor lets that
are offered via the ‘smart
lettings’ scheme and keep
data on protected
characteristics to ensure
groups are not discriminated
against.
4. The Council also runs a
number of social care
pathways (e.g. the young
persons’ pathway) and other
support initiatives (Single
Homeless Intervention and
Prevention service) to
support specific homeless
cohorts.
5. Communications on policy
changes will need to be
sensitive to people’s
language needs, as will our
working processes and
customer service delivery.

Appendix 3: Summary of change to Allocations Policy
Purpose of this document: To provide a summary of proposed changes to the Allocation Scheme and the April 2017 document.
#

Section

1

Allocation
Scheme,
2.5.12.5.5

Previous version (where applicable) & change
-

-

Page 278

Introduction of new banding as follows:
1. Band 1: Emergency
2. Band 2: High
3. Band 3: Medium
4. Band 4: Low
These changes can be summarised as follows:
1. Current rehousing reason within “High”
band will be placed in “Medium” band
(unless otherwise stated);
2. Medical High moved in to “High” (instead
of “Medium”);
3. We propose introducing an “overcrowded
by 3 bed” rehousing reason in “High”;
4. All previous “Band 3 Priority” will remain
in “Band 3 Medium Priority” except for:
 Overcrowded by 1 bed, which will
be placed within “Low” priority.

Rationale
-

The reasons for this new banding structure are:
1. To create a banding system that responds to
housing need within the borough given the high
demand for social housing and the scarcity of
social housing available.
2. Overcrowded by 3 bed – This proposal
recognises that overcrowding is now more severe
than ever within the Borough. We estimate that
around 160 applicants within Lewisham are
overcrowded by three beds or more. At present
they will wait many years before being allocated
accommodation, and it is appropriate to increase
their priority given the high level of housing need
they are in. The likelihood of this group receiving
those properties is low given the scarcity of large
properties available on the social housing
register.
3. Overcrowded by 1 bed – this group will be moved
to a new band 4 to reflect the moving of
overcrowded by 2 bed to band 3 medium.
Changes have been introduced to account for
statutory overcrowding alongside the bedroom
standard in overcrowded by 2 bed and
overcrowded by 1 bed applicants. Statutorily
overcrowded households who are not
overcrowded as per the Bedroom Standard will be
able to join the housing register in band 4.
4. Medical high - we believe that the housing need
of these applicants is sufficient enough to warrant
the continued allocation of high priority to this
group.

2

3

Allocation
Scheme,
2.5.3.

-

Allocation
Scheme,
3.4.6.

-

-

Page 279

-

4

Allocation
Scheme,
2.2.4

-

Homeless with additional need will be moved to
“High”;
This will be determined based on Location Priority
Policy and Private Rented sector policy

Introduction of a “smart letting” scheme. The ringfencing up to 20% of available properties to
someone already living in social housing (a
transfer applicant) who is in need, and made sure
that the property they vacate is ring-fenced to
someone living in the PRS / Temporary
Accommodation (non-transfer applicant).
This policy has been proposed as it represents an
opportunity to solve more housing need with the
resources we have. Aside from building new
social homes, this is a key way for us to make
best use of the available social housing with the
resources we have. For each property, we could
solve two households’ needs, whilst also
maintaining equitable access to the available lets.
This will be subject to a review after 12 months
Changing the Three Offer rule to a two offer rule

1. Introducing a new homeless with additional need
priority will ensure the Council is able to respond
to homeless applicants who have a need
identified through the location priority policy to
remain within the Borough, or for whom other
tenures such as the private rented sector are
untenable.
2. Substantial agreement for this approach with 66%
in agreement with the proposal and 57% agreeing
that using the Location Priority Policy and the
Private Rented Sector Discharge Policy was the
right approach.
-

This smart letting approach will enable the Council to
resolve housing needs for multiple households. This
policy has been proposed as it represents an opportunity
to solve more housing need with the resources we have.
For each property, we could solve two households’ needs,
whilst also maintaining equitable access to the available
lets.

We believe that a ‘Two Offer’ policy is reasonable, given that:
1. that there is a need for the Council to let properties as
quickly as possible;
2. that there is an administrative burden for officials for
those who refuse offers; and
3. that the resident has bid for the property and indicated
preference for that property.

5

How the
Policy is
applied, 4

-

6

Front
page &
contents

-

We propose adding delegated powers for officers
to implement minor changes to the policy, so that
they do not have to go to Mayor and Cabinet for
approval of future minor changes.
Title updated to “Housing Allocation Policy”
Updates made to contact details for officers.
Contents – section numbers and titles updated.

Whole
document
Whole
document
Introducti
on, 1.1
Introducti
on, 1.1

-

Updated terminology.

-

7
8
9
10

Page 280

11
12

Introducti
on, 1.2
Introducti
on, 1.2

-

This would mean officials can be more flexible and
responsive to changes.

-

Allocation Policy is more accurate about what the
document is
Contents and contact details reflect current service
Terminology throughout document is consistent
Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Phone numbers, emails and links to check and
updated.
Introduction has been rewritten.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

-

References to the numbers on the housing
register and the number of lets available
amended. Information relating to other strategic
documents updated.

-

To ensure the wording is clearer, this has been updated
and the purpose of the policy needs is now simpler.
Ensure consistency and accuracy.

List of housing options checked and updated.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

-

Para 10 (“Our officers or your landlord will…”) –
reworded.

-

Wording has been updated to make this clearer.

-

-

13

Introducti
on, 1.2

-

Para 13 – “you should liaise with the Housing
Medical Officer and the Community Occupational
Therapy Team” – updated.

-

Wording has been made clearer and communication
channels provided.

14

Introducti
on, 1.2

-

Para 14 – “There are a number of initiatives the
Council supports…” – checked and updated.

-

Ensure accuracy of service provision.

15

Introducti
on, 1.2
Introducti
on, 1.2.3

-

Para 15 – updated in line with Council policy.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

-

Additional detail included regarding domestic
abuse

-

Provide clarity on the councils approach to those suffering
domestic abuse and alignment with corporate priority.

16

17

Introducti
on, 1.3

-

Properties excluded section has been checked
and updated.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

18

Introducti
on, 1.4
Allocation
Scheme
policy,
2.1.1
Allocation
Scheme,
2.2.2

-

Strategic framework updated.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

-

Section reviewed and updated.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

-

Updated to reflect Equalities Analysis
Assessment.

-

Ensure conclusions of the EAA are properly accounted for
in the policy.

21

Allocation
Scheme,
2.2.2

-

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

22

Allocation
Scheme,
2.2.2

-

Paragraph 2 – “Housing Panel and Supported
Housing priority cases are allowed to bid for
themselves” deleted as to ensure alignment with
rest of the policy.
Inclusion of Roma or Irish Travellers and
Refugees as categories exempt from local
connection rules.

-

Ensure compliance with case law.

23

Allocation
Scheme,
2.4

-

Section - What happens to other people currently
living with me?’ - Reviewed and Updated.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy.

24

Allocation
Scheme,
2.5.12.5.5
How the
Policy is
applied,
3.1.1
How the
Policy is

-

A number of changes made to reflect proposals
outlined. Inclusion of tables setting out the
scheme in general and then providing detail as to
each band and the groups within that band.
Online housing application link updated.

-

Bring into effect the changes outlined in the proposals.
Ensure consistency and accuracy.
Provide a clearer and easier to understand summary of
the Allocations Policy.
Ensure consistency and accuracy.

Additional wording to reflect council approach to
data governance.

-

Ensure compliance with GDPR.

19

20

Page 281

25

26

-

-

applied,
3.1.3
27

28

29

Page 282

30

31

How the
Policy is
applied,
3.1.5
How the
Policy is
applied,
3.1.7
How the
Policy is
applied,
3.3

-

Detail added regarding requirement that residents
must review their application and re-register on
the housing register on an annual basis.

-

Administrative efficiency.

-

Additional sentence included stating that panel
has discretion to offer bed size or any larger bed
size.

-

Ensures transparency.

-

-

Clarification of position.

How the
Policy is
applied,
3.4.3
Reviewin
g this
Policy
section of
policy, 4

-

Clarification added :
1. If you are moved to a new, higher band,
your list date will move to the date you
were moved to the new band
2. If you are moved to a lower band you will
keep your original list date.
Local Lettings and annual lettings plan
paragraphs have been merged.

-

Ensure consistency and accuracy and a simpler
document for residents to understand. Option to pursue
such approaches has been retained.

Amendment of the wording to allow non-major
policy changes to be made by ED for HRPR in
consultation with Head of Law.

-

Ensure flexibility and ease of making minor changes to
the policy thus allowing the policy to operate as effectively
as possible.

-

Agenda Item 9
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Full Council
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Date of Meeting

Title of Report

Part 1

Part 2

X

X

Key Decision

6th October 2021

Small Sites SPD

Originator of Report
Director of Planning
At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

X
X
X
X
X
X
N/A
N/A

No

Signed:
Cllr Paul Bell Cabinet Member for Housing
Date: 23/09/2021

Signed:
Emma Talbot Director of Planning
Date: 15/09/2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action

Date

1

Page 283

Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)

2

Page 284

3

Page 285

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet Report

Small Sites Study
Supplementary Planning Document
Date: 6 October 2021
Key decision: Yes
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: All wards within London Borough of Lewisham
Contributors: Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration & Public Realm

Outline and recommendations
Following the public consultation held between 19th March to 7th June 2021 on the
draft Small Sites Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), this report sets out the
representations received and where applicable the amendments made in response.
Mayor and Cabinet is recommended to approve the SPD for adoption.
.

Page 286

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
30th April 2019

Local Plan update to Sustainable Development Select
Committee reporting on the Housing Capacity Fund Grant from
the GLA.

27th -29th July 2020

Early stage presentation to Ward Councillors

14th December 2020

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening
responses received

Winter 2020

Pre-Production Consultation led by consultants

3rd March 2021

Draft document presented to Sustainable Development Select
Committee for comment.

10th March 2021

Draft Document presented to Mayor and Cabinet and approval
sort for Public Consultation

19th March – 7th June
2021

Public Consultation

13th September 2021

SDSC committee review of Adoption ready draft, meeting with
Cllr Krupski to discuss final comments

1. Summary
1.1.

This report recommends Mayor and Cabinet approve the Small Sites SPD for adoption.
If adopted the SPD will supplement the council’s suite of statutory Development Plan
Documents. The SPD will provide detailed advice and guidance to support policy
implementation and ensure that high quality design is achieved in the delivery of small
site development. The Vision document and appendices are background documents to
the SPD and do not form part of this request to adopt the Small Sites SPD.

1.2.

The report also sets out the representations received during the public consultation
held between the 19th March and the 7th June 2021 and outlines how officers have
considered these representations and where appropriate how the document has been
amended in response.

1.3.

Further to this, the report outlines why there is a need for guidance on small sites,
summarises the contents of the SPD and provides detail on the nature of consultation
undertaken.

1.4.

The SPD for adoption has been considered by the Sustainable Development Select
Committee who have fed back their comments via Cllr Krupski in a meeting held on
13th September 2021.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 287
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

2. Recommendations
2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:
a) Note the representations received and the amendments to the SPD made
following public consultation. In order to assist with this, a version of the SPD
with highlighted changes can be found in appendix 6 of this report.
b) Note that Sustainable Development Select Committee have reviewed the final
draft of the SPD and in a meeting held on 13th September 2021 confirmed they
were happy with the document and the changes that have been made. They
highlighted a number of grammatical amendments that have now been updated
and reminded officers of the agreed additions to the Appendix to the SPD which
have been included and can be seen in Appendix 3 of this report.
c) Approve the adoption of the Small Sites SPD.

3. Policy Context
3.1.

Planning Policy

3.1.1. Both the London Plan and Lewisham’s Local Plan contain planning policy in relation to
small sites. The specific adopted policies are set out below. These are the adopted
policies that the SPD relies upon in policy terms. In addition the SPD seeks to provide
further guidance in relation to these policies to support the development of small sites.
3.1.2. Policy H2 within London Plan (March 2021) by the Greater London Authority (GLA)
states:
‘Boroughs should pro-actively support well-designed new homes on small sites (below
0.25 hectares in size) through both planning decisions and plan-making in order to:
1) significantly increase the contribution of small sites to meeting London’s
housing needs
2) diversify the sources, locations, type and mix of housing supply
3) support small and medium-sized housebuilders
4) support those wishing to bring forward custom, self-build and community-led
housing
5) achieve the minimum targets for small sites set out in Table 4.2* as a
component of the overall housing targets set out in Table 4.1.*
*these tables correspond with the GLA’s housing targets mentioned in
paragraph 4.2 of this report.’
3.1.3. The GLA’s Good Quality Homes for All Londoners Housing Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG) is a suite of documents giving further guidance on the London Plan.
Module B Pre-consultation Draft: Small Housing Developments, Assessing Quality and
Preparing Design Codes focuses on small sites. It states:
‘Good growth across London requires high quality residential development at all scales
of delivery. Londoners living in existing communities deserve to experience the benefits
of growth and change irrespective of its scale. Community support for intensification of
existing neighbourhoods through conversion, extension, additional development on

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 288
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

underused land, and demolition and redevelopment on brownfield land, will only be
achieved at scale if boroughs enable character-specific, good quality design and
construction. Where borough planning policy and design guidance is clear and up to
date, development on small sites can realise the incremental growth needed within
existing neighbourhoods, whilst offering developers and communities increased sight
of and certainty about planning outcomes.*


Guidance relates to the following policies within the London Plan (March
2021): Policy D1: London’s form, character and capacity for growth, Policy
D2A: Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities, Policy D3:
Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach, and D4:
Delivering good design (Policy H2: Small Sites).’

3.1.4. Lewisham’s current Development Management Local Plan (DMLP) adopted on the 26
November 2014 is the base from which the Small Sites guidance is written. DM Policy
33 gives general principles for development on certain sites:
a.
b.
c.
d.

Infill Sites
Backland Sites
Back Gardens
Amenity Areas

3.1.5. With the exception of Back Gardens the policy gives general principles for possible
development on these types of sites. The Small Sites SPD gives guidance and
clarification on these.
3.2.

Council strategies

3.2.1. The Council’s Corporate Strategy (2018-2022) outlines the Council’s vision to deliver
for residents over the next four years. Building on Lewisham’s historic values of
fairness, equality and putting our community at the heart of everything we do, the
Council will create deliverable policies underpinned by a desire to promote vibrant
communities, champion local diversity and promote social, economic and
environmental sustainability. Delivering this strategy includes the following priority
outcomes that relate to the adoption of the Small Sites SPD:




Tackling the Housing Crisis – Providing a decent and secure home for everyone;
Building an Inclusive Economy – Ensuring every resident can access highquality job opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive
local economy; and
Making Lewisham greener- Everyone enjoys our green spaces and benefits from
a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local environment.

3.2.2. Lewisham’s Housing Strategy (2020-2026), includes the following themes that relate to
the adoption of the Small Sites SPD:


Delivering the homes that Lewisham needs;



Preventing homelessness and meeting housing need;



Improving the quality, standard and safety of housing;



Supporting our residents to live safe, independent and active lives; and



Strengthening communities and embracing diversity.

3.2.3. The Small Sites SPD addresses the above by providing guidance on developing and
building more homes in the borough. It also provides advice on creating greener more

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 289
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

sustainable and better quality developments that can help to improve our local
neighbourhoods.

4. Background
4.1.

The work on the Small Sites SPD has been funded by the GLA’s Homebuilding
Capacity Fund to increase the delivery of new homes within the borough whilst
ensuring that they are suitably located and of the highest design quality.

4.2.

In the current London Plan (March 2021) Lewisham has an overall ten year target of
16,670 new homes of which 3,790 are forecast from small windfall sites (0.25 hectares
or below). This would require 379 homes to be delivered through small sites each year
within the borough. The fundamental aim of this SPD is to help Lewisham achieve this
target.

5. Final Small Sites SPD Summary
5.1.

The Small Sites SPD gives guidance on developments on sites under 0.25 hectares to
enable them to deliver a higher number of better quality well designed homes.

5.2.

The SPD aims to encourage the delivery of small sites to:


Deliver more homes, including those that are genuinely affordable;



Ensure that Lewisham hits its annual housing targets and meets the
government’s Housing Delivery Test;



Ensure Lewisham continues to receive significant income from New Homes
Bonus;



Diversify who is delivering Lewisham’s housing supply to make it more
resilient – Lewisham is currently heavily reliant on large strategic sites;



Encourage local builders and developers to build within Lewisham thus
stimulating the local economy and creating local jobs;



Increasing density/critical mass within Lewisham’ suburbs to help support local
centres; and



Help co-ordinate the delivery of infrastructure within the south of the borough
through the collection of CIL and S106.

5.3.

The SPD is intended as design guidance that informs applicants of best practices
helping to de-risk the planning process and to guide first time applicants.

5.4.

The document aims to reach a wider audience than previous planning documents in
relation to small sites developments, with language and diagrams to support less
experienced developers and landowners whilst also directing local and experienced
developers with constrained and complex sites.

5.5.

The SPD is split into three main chapters; Guidance, Toolkits and Site Types, with sub
headings as follows:
1) Guidance


Context of the document



Planning Policy Areas (including Conservation Areas)



Permitted Development

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 290
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports



Development Flowchart



Design and Access Guide



Small Sites Sustainability

2) Toolkits


Design Principles



The Good Design Toolbox



The Green Toolbox



The Inside Out Toolbox



The Placemaking Toolbox



Advantages of developing own land



Advantages of developing in a group



Working with green space



Mixed Use Developments



Sustainability



Heritage

3) Site Types


Type Selection



Infill development



Backlands



Other Types

5.6.

The SPD is the second of three documents. The first, the Small Sites Vision
(Development Strategy Document), sets out the vision and context of small sites in
Lewisham. See Appendix 2

5.7.

The third document shown as Appendix to the SPD has background information to the
SPD, alongside high resolution maps, updated ward boundaries and a list of the local
Amenity Societies as correct at point of adoption. See Appendix 3 for this document.

5.8.

If adopted the Small Sites SPD will supplement the council’s suite of statutory
Development Plan Documents. The SPD will provide detailed advice and guidance to
support policy implementation and ensure that high quality design is achieved in the
delivery of small site development. The Small Sites Vision document and appendices
are background documents to the SPD and do not form part of this request to adopt
the Small Sites SPD.

5.9.

Alongside the adoption of the SPD officers are currently in the process of curating a
website that will be launched in the autumn to aid the accessibility of the guidance.

6. Pre-production Consultation
6.1.

The consultants appointed to support this work have carried out consultation
throughout the production of the draft SPD. The consultation webpage used to date
can be found at https://lewisham.smallsites.london/.

6.2.

This web presence gathered almost 60 responses from a range of people and
organisations including homeowners, residents, self-builders, small developers and

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 291
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

architects. Alongside this, the consultants set up a selection of group discussions with
Architects, Developers, Housing Associations, and the team at Community Led
Housing supported by the Mayor of London.
6.3.

Throughout the production of this work the consultants held a selection of discussions
with LBL planning officers including those from Development Management, Housing,
Conservation, Highways, Trees, Sustainability and Policy.

6.4.

SPDs do not require Sustainability Appraisals but may in exceptional circumstances
require a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) if they are likely to have
significant environmental effects that have not already been assessed during the
preparation of the Local plan or other development plan documents.

6.5.

A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) screening has therefore been
undertaken on the Small Sites SPD. It demonstrates that any effects resulting from
higher tier planning documents including the ‘parent policies’ relevant to this SPD have
already been considered and assessed by a separate full SEA through the
Development Plan process. Screening was completed at the end of October 2020 with
time given until early December for statutory consultees to respond.

6.6.

Having received no objections from the statutory consultees, the planning service have
determined that an SEA is not required. This is based on the fact that the SPD does
not propose any new policies, or the amendment of existing adopted policies, and will
not allocate resources or direct other higher level plans and programmes.

6.7.

The SEA Screening Report is shown in Appendix 4.

7. Public Consultation Summary
7.1.

At its meeting on 6th March Mayor and Cabinet approved the draft SPD for public
consultation.

7.2.

The requirements for consultation on Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD’s)
were updated within the December 2020 Addendum to the Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI) to align with statutory requirements. However, as the work for this
SPD commenced prior to this Addendum being adopted, officers carried out
consultation that aligned with our previous Statement of Community Involvement –
including a minimum of six weeks of public consultation.

7.3.

The Public Consultation ran from 19th March until the 7th June 2021

7.4.

We received a large number of comments from both the General Public,
Neighbourhood and Amenity Societies and built environment professionals. All
responses have been collated, themed and responded to by Lewisham officers, a
breakdown of which is shown in 7.8. A detailed summary of the changes made can be
found in Section 8 of this report with the responses tracker in appendix 5 of this report.

7.5.

The Small Sites SPD was consulted on three main platforms:


Lewisham.gov.uk website



Citizen Space Consultation Platform



Commonplace (from 7th May)

7.6.

Alongside this it was tweeted about every other week through the Council’s social
media platforms and people were notified through the local press, highlighted
alongside planning’s regular notifications.

7.7.

Three virtual town hall meetings were held which were recorded and posted on
Lewisham’s YouTube channel. They can be accessed there or via the Common Place

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 292
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Online Events page:

7.8.

7.9.



Event 1 - Agents, Architects, Developers and Construction
Professionals, held Tuesday 18th May: 4.30pm - 6.30pm via Zoom Link.



Event 2 - Amenity societies, heritage and community groups, held
Thursday 20th May: 5.30pm- 7.00pm via Zoom Link.



Event 3 - Virtual Town hall Open to the Public, Tuesday 25th May:
5.30pm - 7.00pm via Zoom Link.

The consultation reached a large number of consultees including:


Statutory Consultees, as defined by Planning



Amenity Societies, as defined by Planning



‘Seldom Heard’ groups email list, as defined by Planning



Commonplace Subscribers; Over 500 emails were sent out to
subscribers interested in new Lewisham Planning and Development
consultations. The Commonplace Dashboard confirms:
o

1568 Visitors

o

349 Contributions

o

116 Respondents

o

59 News Subscribers



Citizen Space which received 28 individual responses directly.



Via email we received a further 9 detailed responses including statutory
consultees and 13 detailed responses from our Neighbourhood and
Amenity Societies.



The full list of comments and responses can be found in Appendix 5
which shows a total number of 437 Individual Themed comments
which have been responded to by the Lewisham Strategic Planning
Team many of which have been taken on board and adjustments made
to the SPD accordingly.

Comments will be responded to and shared with the public via Appendix 5 in this
Mayor and Cabinet report and also via Citizen Space and the Council Website.

8. Changes From Draft Document
8.1.

There are a large number of formatting changes, together with a small number of more
significant changes to the guidance.

8.2.

The full list of comments and responses including the document changes can be found
in Appendix 5. The main changes are listed below.
Summary of substantial changes

8.3.

Terminology –Comments about unclear terminology have been addressed by changing
particular phrases, making them clearer and more applicable to a wider audience.

8.4.

Heights, Massing and Layouts – Guidance has been added regarding window levels
and heights which adds further clarity to infill developments, especially those
neighbouring historic buildings.

8.5.

Garden Land – Wording in this section has been amended to align closer with the
current adopted policy to make it clearer that building on garden land in a perimeter

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 293
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

block typology will be resisted.
8.6.

Vertical Intensification – This section has been substantially reviewed and amended to
respond to concerns raised from the consultation. Due to the potential impact of
vertical intensification on the character of an area and on immediate neighbours the
guidance has been amended to provide general principles and makes clear that preapplication advice should be sought for these types of applications and that any
application must be accompanied by a robust baseline analysis.

8.7.

Collective Development – Following comments received during the public consultation
officers reviewed this section against existing policies and concluded that it should be
removed from the SPD.

8.8.

Conservation –Various sections that relate to Lewisham’s historic character and
Conservation Areas have been amended to ensure they are more robust and make
sure applicants understand the relationship between this SPD and adopted Character
Appraisals, which are also SPDs.

8.9.

Stakeholder acknowledgement – Reference to Amenity Societies, Heritage Societies
and other neighbourhood groups within stakeholder engagement. It is acknowledged
that the draft document omitted reference to neighbourhood groups as valuable, local
stakeholders. This error has now been rectified and the SPD encourages applicants to
consult neighbourhood groups, including amenity and heritage societies. A list of
Lewisham’s constituted neighbourhood groups has also been provided within the
appendix of the SPD, shown in Appendix 3 of this report.

8.10.

Figures – The figures in the document now include a greater variety of architectural
styles as examples of good development

8.11.

Biodiversity - This section has been updated to include further guidance on Bat and
Swift boxes and point to existing guidance on the topic that will help applicants meet
the net increase in biodiversity that we expect to see on each site.

9. Financial implications
9.1.

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. The SPD will be
published electronically on the Council’s website and only limited hard copies will be
produced, these being funded from within the agreed Planning Service budget.

9.2.

All costs for the development of the SPD and the consultation have been funded by the
GLA Homebuilding Capacity Fund.

10.

Legal implications

10.1.

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 sets out
the main steps in the procedure for the production and adoption of planning
documents, as explained in the report. The Council has complied with its statutory
duties under the Regulations and as required under its Statement of Community
Involvement as detailed above.

10.2.

The report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken in the preparation of
the SPD and the opportunities for people to make representations to the council.

10.3.

This SPD has the legitimate aim of providing guidance in the preparation of planning
applications for small sites within the council’s area.

10.4.

Section 9D of the Local Government Act 2000 states that any function of the local
authority which is not specified in regulations under subsection (3) is to be the
responsibility of an executive of the authority under executive arrangements. The Local
authorities (Functions and Responsibilities (England) Regulations 2000 specifies that

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 294
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

certain functions relating to Development Plan documents are by law the responsibility
of the Council. No specific reference is made to the preparation of an SPD in the
Regulations and as it is not a Development Plan Document it is therefore an executive
function
10.5.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

10.6.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:


Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act.



Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.



Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not.

10.7.

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed at 12.4
above.

10.8.

The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the
impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are
potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from
case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances.

10.9. Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This
includes steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The
guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it,
as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The
statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at:
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codespractice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technicalguidance
10.10. The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:
1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
3. Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 295
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

4. Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities
5. Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities
10.11. The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required,
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources
are available at:

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sectorequality-duty-guidance#h1

11.

Equalities implications

11.1.

The Council’s Comprehensive Equality Scheme for 2016-20 provides an overarching
framework and focus for the Council's work on equalities and helps ensure compliance
with the Equality Act 2010.

11.2.

The Small Sites SPD does not have any direct equalities implications.

12.

Climate change and environmental implications

12.1.

As outlined in the SEA Screening Opinion, there are no direct environmental impacts
arising from this report. See Appendix 4 for report.

13.

Crime and disorder implications

13.1.

There are no direct implications relating to crime and disorder issues.

14.

Health and wellbeing implications

14.1.

There are no direct implications relating to health and wellbeing issues.

15.

Background papers

15.1.

Development Management Local Plan
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/adopted-local-plan/developmentpolicies/development-policy-documents

15.2.

The Publication London Plan March 2021
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf

15.3.

Good Quality Homes for All Londoners Housing SPG Consultation Draft October 2020
https://consult.london.gov.uk/good-quality-homes-for-all-londoners

15.4.

Sustainable Development Select Committee report dated 30th April 2019. Reference
Local Plan Update to the Council’s award of funds from the Homebuilding Capacity
Fund can be found at paragraph 9.3 in the report here:
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=5561&
Ver=4

15.5.

Sustainable Development Select Committee dated 4th March 2021 asked for feedback
and comments on the draft document prior to consultation. Those comments were
taken to Mayor and Cabinet. The Report, comments and Minutes can be found here at
point 4:
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6314&

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 296
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Ver=4
15.6.

Mayor and Cabinet dated 10th March 2021 asked for approval to start a public
consultation with the draft document. The Report, comments and Minutes can be found
here point 445:
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=6122&
Ver=4

16.

Glossary

16.1.

Glossary of some key terms used in the report. There is a more detailed glossary of
terms within the design guidance itself.

Term

Definition

Small Site
Supplementary Planning
Document
Genuinely Affordable Homes

SPD
GLA
16.2.

A potential development site of 0.25 Hectares or less (roughly
1/3 of a football pitch) as defined by the GLA in the London
Plan.
A guidance document produced to aid planning’s direct
management officers that gives guidance to help applicants
adhere to policies within the adopted local plan.
Homes that meet the average household earnings for
residents of a certain area, in the borough of Lewisham this is
deemed as Social Rent or London Affordable Rent.
Supplementary Planning Document
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/adoptedlocal-plan/spds
Greater London Authority

See further terms:
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-londonplan/london-plan-annexes/annex-six-glossary
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-2-glossary

17.

Report author and contact

17.1.

David Syme, David.syme@lewisham.gov.uk

17.2.

Tom Atkinson, Thomas.atkinson@lewisham.gov.uk

17.3.

Monique Wallace, Monique.wallace@lewisham.gov.uk

18. Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for
Corporate Resources
19.

Shola Ojo Principal Accountant, Corporate Resources

19.1.

02083147778 - Shola.Ojo@lewisham.gov.uk

20. Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law,
Governance and HR
20.1.

Joy Ukadike, Senior Planning Lawyer

20.2.

02083146908 – Joy.Ukadike@lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 297
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

21.

Appendices

21.1.

Appendix 1 – Small Sites SPD FINAL Document PDF

https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/adopted-localplan/spds/small-sites-spd
21.2.

Appendix 2 – Small Sites Vision – Development Strategy Document PDF

21.3.

Appendix 3 – Small Sites Study – Appendices PDF

21.4.

Appendix 4 – SEA Screening Report Word Document

21.5.

Appendix 5 - Consultation Comments Tracker (EXCEL)

21.6.

Appendix 6 – Highlighted changes on the Small Sites SPD PDF

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 298
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 10
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Mayor
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Part 1 x Part 2 x Key Decision
Date of Meeting
Title of Report

06/10/21
Broadway Theatre Works – delegated authority

Originator of Report

Petra Marshall

x

Ext. 47034

At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm
that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

No

x
x
x
x
x
x

Signed:
Cllr André Bourne Cabinet Member for Culture, Jobs and Skills (job share)
Date: 22.09.21

Signed:
Tom Brown, Executive Director for Community Services
Date: 17/09/2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action
Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)
To be Referred to Full Council

Page 299

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\3\1\8\ai00030813\$evmn1s54.doc

Date

KEY DECISION*
*Double click here and delete this rectangle if the report is not a key decision.

Mayor and Cabinet
Report title: Broadway Theatre Works – Approval for delegated
authority to Executive Director for Community Services to award the
contract to a suitable Main Contractor for refurbishment works
Date: 6 October 2021
Key decision: Yes
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: Rushey Green
Contributors: Executive Director for Housing, Regeneration and Public Realm; Executive
Director for Community Services; SGM Capital Programme Delivery; Director of Law,
Governance and HR; Group Finance Manager

Timeline of engagement and decision-making


11 March 2020 – Mayor & Cabinet approval to procure suitable Main Contractor for
works (based on lower budget)



12 March 2020 - Director of Corporate Resources approval to directly call off the
services of Purcell from the Fusion 21 Framework to provide Lead Consultant
services for the project (based on lower budget)



Overall Capital Programme budget approved by Mayor & Cabinet on 7 October 2020
and 14 July 2021



13 January 2021 – Mayor & Cabinet approval to tender a Principal Contractor (based
on increased budget) and to continue to utilise Lead Consultant services via
Framework Agreement

Page 300

Outline and recommendations
This report gives an update on progress with the Broadway Theatre refurbishment project
and seeks permission to delegate authority to the Executive Director for Community Services
to award the contract to a suitable Main Contractor to undertake the works.

1.

Summary

1.1

This report provides an update on progress with the Broadway Theatre refurbishment
works, which seeks to deliver the urgent health and safety, mechanical and electrical,
disability access and compliance requirements within the building, along with the
overdue upgrade/refurbishment of identified areas throughout the building. The works
will ensure the building is fit for purpose, meets current regulations and is compliant to
function as a public venue. Improvements will also enable the Theatre to attract wider
audiences and hirers and expand its delivery of events and shows.

1.2

The report seeks permission to delegate authority to the Executive Director for
Community Services to award the contract to a suitable Main Contractor to undertake
the works. This is to enable the appointed Contractor to prepare and get on site as
quickly as possible. Due to the complexity of this project, and the desire to re-open before
the end of Borough of Culture 2022 year, and the tightness of the programme, any gain
that can be made in time is critical.

2.

Recommendations

Mayor and Cabinet is recommended to:
2.1

Approve delegated authority to the Executive Director for Community Services to award
the contract to a suitable Main Contractor to undertake the refurbishment works.

3.

Policy Context

3.1

The contents of this report support the Council’s Corporate Strategy 2018-2022 priorities,
particularly “Building an inclusive local economy: Everyone can access high-quality job
opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local economy”.
The strategy outlines the desire to develop the evening and night time economy focusing
on arts and music spaces, cafes and restaurants to help bring our town centres to life.

3.2

The contents of this report also support the Council’s regeneration strategy: ‘People
prosperity and place' which sets out Lewisham Council’s vision for the future of the
borough. It sets out how the Council, with its private and public sector partners, will work
to transform the borough through physical, social and economic regeneration. The
strategy specifically sets out a vision for the provision of high quality town centres that
meet the needs of the community.

3.3

Catford Town Centre is embarking on a major regeneration and redevelopment
programme that will see new housing, retail, leisure and open space facilities. The
Council has evidenced a strong commitment to Catford through its leadership of the
Catford Masterplan programme over a sustained period. One principal that the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 301
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Masterplan will set out is the aim of securing a Phase 1a Delivery programme which will
set out a series of early actions and investments that can be made to demonstrate and
secure ‘early wins’, but within a clear strategic framework. Investment in the theatre will
allow the building to remain compliant and improve its appeal and accessibility to
potential hirers and audience members. This refurbishment of the Broadway Theatre will
help retain its iconic status in Catford.
3.4

On 11 February 2020 Lewisham was awarded London Borough of Culture for 2021 by
the Mayor of London, Sadiq Khan. The bid focused on Lewisham’s proud history of
activism, harnessing the power of art and culture to make long-lasting social change.
The prestigious award will see Lewisham receive £1.35 million to stage an ambitious,
year-long programme of cultural events celebrating the wealth of creative talent in the
borough and delivering lasting social change. The Covid-19 pandemic has delayed the
Borough of Culture year to 2022.

3.5

In addition replacement of the electrical wiring, and new heating and domestic water
systems is consistent with the Council’s energy policy, which was agreed at Mayor and
Cabinet in July 2014, and more recently the Council’s commitment to the borough being
carbon neutral by 2030 and development of a Climate Change Action Plan.

4.

Background and progress of project

4.1

The Broadway Theatre, which is Grade II listed, sits in the heart of Catford town centre,
and has been owned and operated by the Council since it was built in 1932. The Theatre
has multiple spaces within the complex, but primarily there are two active performance
spaces: the Main Theatre and the Studio. It is a valued resource to the community
offering a mix of music, comedy, theatre and dance. However, in recent years the theatre
has been showing its age, with some essential maintenance works overdue and other
improvements required to allow the theatre to attract high quality performances and
hirers. The theatre also provides limited access to those with disabilities, and is not fully
compliant with its licensing requirements.

4.2

Mayor & Cabinet approved officers to procure a suitable Main Contractor to undertake
the works in January 2021. The package of works include:











4.3

Electrical re-wire of the building
New fire alarm system
Emergency lighting replacement
Installation of internal / external CCTV cameras to enable full compliance with current
premises licensing requirements.
Various DDA improvements including platform lift to enable access to basement
studio and improvements to accessible WCs
New heating and domestic water system
Upgraded rigging, projector and sound system
Replacement of circle seating
Redecoration and repair to particular identified areas within the building
Localised external works including installation of windows on 3rd floor and electronic
billboards

Officers have been working with a multi-disciplinary consultant team, led by experienced
heritage architects Purcell. This has included design and technical drawings, gateway
cost estimates and regular re-evaluation of the scope, opening up works to understand
the make-up of the building and where services run, drainage and asbestos surveys,
planning permission and building control, and stage 1 tender.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 302
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

4.4

The project team and multi-disciplinary consultant team have put a lot of time and effort
into the design and planning stage of this project to ensure the specification for tender is
accurate, detailed and comprehensive. This will reduce the risk of unknowns once the
project gets to site, which could impact budget and programme.

4.5

A two-stage process is being used to appoint a Principle Contractor to undertake the
refurbishment works at the Broadway Theatre. Stage 1 of the process involved the
Council inviting contractors, via the London Tenders Portal, to submit a Standard
Selection Questionnaire (SSQ) to provide specialist heritage refurbishment works to the
Grade II listed Broadway Theatre on the terms and conditions set out in the invitation to
tender (ITT) and the SSQ. Section 6 (Technical and Professional Ability) of the SSQ was
evaluated and scored in order to short-list tenderers who demonstrated experience and
knowledge of working in a grade 2 listed heritage building.

4.6

The Council received 17 bids at Stage 1 and have shortlisted 5 bidders who met the
minimum scoring criteria for Section 6. All demonstrated excellent examples of previous
projects which were relevant to this project – working in heritage listed buildings, working
in theatres and other performance spaces, and working across the breadth of scope of
this project. These 5 bidders have now been invited to submit a full tender submission
as part of Stage 2.

5.

Delegated authority

5.1

This report seeks permission to delegate authority to the Executive Director for
Community Services to award the contract to a suitable Main Contractor to undertake
the works.

5.2

The reason behind this request is to enable the appointed Contractor to prepare and
get on site as quickly as possible. The intention is to re-open the theatre towards the
end of 2022 to allow a Borough of Culture finale to take place in the newly opened and
refurbished space. The project is highly complex and working to a very tight
programme and so in order to maximise the time available for the contractor to have on
site, delegated authority to approve the contract award is sought so approval can be
given swiftly and as soon as a Main Contractor is recommended.

5.3

It should be noted that the decision will still be subject to scrutiny, but the latter stages
of procurement can be completed in parallel with and subject to this.

5.4

It should also be noted that the programme of works on site will not be known until the
tender returns come in and a Main Contractor is appointed. This may be longer than
expected, and once on site there may be unforeseen delays. However, as stated
above, the fullness of the preparatory work up to RIBA stage 4 is seeking to minimise
this uncertainty as much as possible.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 303
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

6.

Financial implications

6.1

The expected cost of the works are set out in the Part 2 report.

6.2

The cost of the works and associated project costs will be met from the budget set aside
for the Broadway Theatre within the overall capital programme budget, the details of
which are set out in the Part 2 report.

7.

Legal Implications

7.1

Approval has been given by Mayor and Cabinet to procure this Categoty A works
contract for the Broadway Theatre project in a report dated 11th March 2020 and 13th
January 2021. The reports outlined the procurement process. A report to the Executive
Director for Community Services dated 13th September 2021 approved the the 5
tenderers selected to proceed to stage 2 of the restricted procedure for the procurement
of the works contract, and officers are preparing to proceed with stage 2 of the
procurement process. The Contract Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015 have been satisfied thus far and the procurement strategy going
forward is compliant.

7.2

As a Category A contract, it would be for Mayor and Cabinet to take a decision on
whether the decision to award this is to be delegated to the Executive Director for
Community Services for the reasons outlined in the report.

7.3

The award of works contract would be a key decision and must be included in the Key
Decsion Plan.

8.

Equalities implications

8.1

Failure to deliver the urgent works around health and safety and compliance, and the
premises licence agreement requirements for CCTV could result in the need to
permanently close the theatre. This would severely impact upon the community who rely
on the theatre and for the services they provide.

8.2

It is expected that the works will have a positive impact on staff, hirers, visitors and
patrons. Moreover the improvements made around disabled access will be of a a
significant advantage to less abled patrons and take positive steps towards meeting the
requirements of the Equality Act 2010.

9.

Climate change and environmental implications

9.1

The Council’s sustainability objectives and commitment to carbon management will be
addressed in the tender specification and contract documentation.

9.2

It is expected that some elements of the refurbishment will support the council’s drive to
be carbon neutral by 2030, for example the upgrading of the current heating system, a
new BMS and the use of LED lighting and motion sensors on lighting will result in lower
electricity use and associated revenue savings on running costs.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 304
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

10.

Crime and disorder implications

10.1

The requirement to install CCTV both inside and outside as part of the premises licence
will enhance customer and public safety.

11.

Health and wellbeing implications

11.1

The proposed works will improve the front and back of stage and office environment
within the theatre, particularly around the heating and lighting systems, and will have a
positive impact on health, mental health and wellbeing of the staff working in and visitors
using the building.

11.2

Health and safety during the design and construction phases will be tested through the
Method Statements within the tender process, and monitored whilst the Main
Contractor is on site.

12. Social Value implications
12.1

The Broadway Theatre works project will deliver social value to the London Borough of
Lewisham by working with colleagues in the Local Labour, Sustainability and
Procurement teams to set targets in line with the Council’s strategic aims and objectives
for the contract. The Lewisham Sustainability policy and social value tool will be used.

12.2

A section of the tender evaluation for Quality will be based on the social value
commitments contractors make in their method statement. The weighting given to the
social value element of the method statement will be agreed with Procurement and be
in line with the Council’s Social Value Policy.

12.3

The employment, skills and economy social value targets will be agreed and managed
by the Local Labour Business Scheme (LLBS) team who will ensure that apprenticeship,
jobs and business opportunity targets are met.

13.

Background papers
None

14.

Report author and contact

14.1

Petra Marshall, Senior Programme Manager, 020 8314 7034.

15.

Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for
Corporate Resources

15.1

Peter Allery, peter.allery@lewisham.gov.uk , Group Finance Manager, 020 8314 8471

16.

Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law,
Governance and HR

16.1

Stephanie Fleck, stephanie.fleck@lewisham.gov.uk, Principal Lawyer, 020 8314 9968

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 305
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 11
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Full Council
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Date of Meeting

Title of Report

Part 1

X

Part 2

X

Key Decision

6th October 2021

A21 Development Framework

Originator of Report
Director of Planning
At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

X
X
X
X
X
X
N/A
N/A

No

Signed:
Cllr Paul Bell Cabinet Member for Housing
Date: 23/09/2021

Signed:
Emma Talbot Director of Planning
Date: 15/09/2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action

Date

1

Page 306

Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)

2

Page 307

3

Page 308

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet Report

A21 Development Framework
Date: 6 October 2021
Key decision: Yes
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: Lewisham Central, Rushey Green, Catford South, Whitefoot, Downham
Contributors: Head of Strategic Planning, Director of Planning

Outline and recommendations
The purpose of this report is to seek approval to consult on the A21 Development
Framework.
Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:
a) Consider any comments received from the meeting of Sustainable
Development Select Committee held on 15th September 2021; and
b) Approve the content of the draft A21 Development Framework for public
consultation.

Page 309

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
30th April 2019

Local Plan update to Sustainable Development Select
Committee reporting on the Housing Capacity Fund Grant from
the GLA.

Autumn 2020

Early stage discussion with Ward Councillors

Nov/Dec 2020

Pre-Production Consultation led by consultants

15th September 2021

Draft document presented to Sustainable Development Select
Committee for comment.

1. Purpose
1.1.

The purpose of this report is to seek approval to consult on the A21 Development
Framework.

2. Summary
2.1.

The A21 Development Framework will set a high level trajectory for change along the
study corridor, assisting officers and other stakeholders by setting out the Council’s
high-level aspirations for new development in terms of its massing, layout, and
potential functions and uses. As well as outlining high level landscape, public realm
and transport improvements for the corridor.

2.2.

Members are minded to note that as a Framework document the A21 Development
Framework will not be part of the council’s statutory Development Plan and will
therefore not carry weight as a Development Plan Document (DPD) or Supplementary
Planning Documents (SPD). However it may be a material consideration for planning
decisions.

2.3.

The requirements for consultation on policy documents were updated with the
December 2020 Addendum to the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) to align
with statutory requirements. Whilst the Framework will not be formally adopted as an
SPD we will however carry out public consultation requirements in line with those
requirements set out in the SCI addendum for SPD documents. This requires a
minimum of 4-week public consultation on the draft.

2.4.

This report also outlines the consultation carried out on to date on the project,
summarises the contents of the draft Framework and provides detail on the nature of
the proposed consultation.

3. Recommendations
3.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:
a) Consider any comments received from the meeting of Sustainable
Development Select Committee held on 15th September 2021; and
b) Approve the content of the draft A21 Development Framework for public
consultation.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 310
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

4. Policy Context
4.1.

Planning Policy
London Plan March 2021

4.1.1. The London Plan forms part of Lewisham’s Development Plan and sets out the spatial
strategy for Greater London over the next 20-25 years. The document also sets out the
Mayor’s vision for Good Growth – growth that is socially and economically inclusive
and environmentally sustainable.
4.1.2. Good Growth Policies include:







GG1 Building strong and inclusive communities
GG2 Making the best use of land
GG3 Creating a healthy city
GG4 Delivering the homes Londoners need
GG5 Growing a good economy
GG6 Increasing efficiency and resilience

4.1.3. Policy H1 Increasing housing supply - sets the ten-year targets for net completions for
each local planning authority. Lewisham’s target is 16,670 new homes over ten years
or 1,664 per annum. This represents a significant increase from our previous annual
housing target of 1,385.
Lewisham’s adopted Local Plan
4.1.4. Lewisham’s current spatial strategy in its adopted Core Strategy Development Plan
Document (June 2011) identifies the northern section of the A21 from Lewisham town
centre to Catford town centre as a Regeneration and Growth Area. It also identifies a
large section of the A21 to the South as an Area of Local Regeneration.
Spatial Policy 1
Lewisham Spatial Strategy
1. All new development will need to contribute positively to the delivery of the
vision for Lewisham (see Section 4) and the strategic objectives (see Section
5).
2. The Lewisham Spatial Strategy will be achieved by applying the following
spatial policies, which identify the type and quantity of development acceptable
across the borough:
a. Regeneration and Growth Areas covering key localities within
Lewisham, Catford, Deptford, New Cross/New Cross Gate (Spatial
Policy 2, Section 6.2.1)
b. District hubs covering the District town centres of Blackheath, Forest
Hill, Lee Green and Sydenham, and their immediate surrounding
residential neighbourhoods (Spatial Policy 3, Section 6.2.2)
c. Local Hubs covering Brockley Cross, Hither Green, and Bell Green
(Spatial Policy 4, Section 6.2.3)
d. Areas of Stability and Managed Change for the remaining areas of the
borough (largely residential) including a Local Regeneration Area
focusing on parts of Whitefoot, Downham and Bellingham wards,
including Downham District town centre and Southend Village, Bromley

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 311
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Road (Spatial Policy 5, Section 6.2.4)
Lewisham’s draft Local Plan
4.1.5. The A21 is identified in the draft Local Plan Regulation 18 stage “Main Issues and
Preferred Approaches” as a strategic corridor for intensification and change with many
new site allocations located along its route.
4.1.6. Policy OL1 Delivering an Open Lewisham (spatial strategy) states:
A. The Council will work positively and alongside local communities and
community groups, public and private sector stakeholder, development industry
partners and the wider public to realise the Vision for Lewisham, and to deliver
the strategic objectives for ‘An Open Lewisham as part of an Open London’ by:
…… d. Facilitating new development along the north-south A21 corridor…
4.1.7. This higher level policy then informs policies within Part Three of the plan - Lewisham’s
Places:



LCA4 A21 Corridor – Central Area
LSA4 A21 Corridor – South Area

4.1.8. The A21 Development Framework responds in a proactive manner to these policies
and others by providing a high level vision for the A21, underpinned by a series of
objectives to achieve the vision, a development framework to shape its physical form
and guidance for the implementation of these objectives.
4.2.

Council strategies

4.2.1. The Council’s Corporate Strategy (2018-2022) outlines the Council’s vision to deliver
for residents over the next four years. Building on Lewisham’s historic values of
fairness, equality and putting our community at the heart of everything we do, the
Council will create deliverable policies underpinned by a desire to promote vibrant
communities, champion local diversity and promote social, economic and
environmental sustainability. Delivering this strategy includes the following priority
outcomes that relate to the principles within the A21 Development Framework:




Tackling the Housing Crisis – Providing a decent and secure home for everyone.
Building an Inclusive Economy – Ensuring every resident can access highquality job opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive
local economy.
Making Lewisham greener- Everyone enjoys our green spaces and benefits from
a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local environment.

4.2.2. Lewisham’s Housing Strategy (2020-2026), includes the following themes that relate to
the Framework:






Delivering the homes that Lewisham needs
Preventing homelessness and meeting housing need
Improving the quality, standard and safety of housing
Supporting our residents to live safe, independent and active lives
Strengthening communities and embracing diversity.

4.2.3. The A21 Development Framework addresses the above by providing guidance on
developing new homes in the borough – many of which will be genuinely affordable
which respond positively to the differing character along the corridor. The document

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 312
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

also provides advice on high level landscape, public realm and transport
improvements, creating greener more sustainable development and helping to improve
our local town centres.

5. Background
5.1.1. The Council made a successful bid to the Greater London Authority (GLA)
Homebuilding Capacity Fund to fund the following three projects:





Housing Growth Team – funding to create a dedicated, multi-disciplinary team within
the council to speed up and expand on our ambitious programme of delivering new
council housing for the borough.
A21 Development Strategy – funding to produce a placemaking strategy for the
central spine of the borough from Lewisham Town Centre to Bellingham and
Downham. The study will look at options to improve public transport accessibility,
walking and cycling, improvements to green infrastructure, improvements to local
centres and businesses along the route as well as looking at potential development
sites.
Small Sites SPD – funding to produce a placemaking strategy for the boroughs
suburban housing within Downham and Bellingham. The study will explore how design
led, suburban intensification could support the improvements to neighbourhood
centres, green spaces and other community infrastructure as well as delivery much
needed new homes.

5.1.2. Between November 2019-January 2020 the Council held a competitive tender process
for the A21 Development Framework using the GLAs Architectural Design and
Urbanism Panel (ADUP) framework. Muf art/architecture were awarded the contract in
January 2020.
5.1.3. Unfortunately the COVID pandemic had a significant impact on the Muf art/architecture
resourcing with key personnel directly affected by the pandemic. Despite the Council
being responsive to this and agreeing a number of extensions to the project
programme Muf art/architecture were unable to deliver the necessary outputs to a
sufficient quality as outlined within the project specification. As such both parties
agreed, given the extraordinary circumstances that the best way to move forward
would be to terminate the contract and allow the Council to move forward with
alternative options.
5.1.4. As a result of the work completed by Muf art/architecture the council had a robust
baseline analysis, some good initial public consultation work and the initial outputs of a
robust framework approach.
5.1.5. Following this the Council agreed with the GLA to extend the funding deadline and
allow the Council to appoint an alternative consultant to complete the project with the
remaining budget. The funding deadline for the Homebuilding Capacity Fund was due
to expire at the end of March 2021.
5.1.6. The extension to the funding was agreed with the GLA on the basis of:
a)
b)

That these were extraordinary circumstances and not within the control of the
council
That a revised brief would be issued to reduce the scope of the project to deliver a
development framework instead of an SPD thus ensuring the work could be
delivered within the limited budget available

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 313
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

c)
d)

The project timeline for completion would be very compact to avoid prolonging the
delay as much as possible beyond the original end of March 2021 deadline.
Ensuring that any procurement process would be as swift as possible to meet the
demands of the above.

5.1.7. A single Tender Action was approved in March 2021 and Hawkins Brown who had
come 2nd in the original A21 Framework tender process were appointed to complete
the project.
5.1.8. Following the publication of the committee calendar a further extension to the funding
was agreed with the GLA based on an assumption that the project will be successfully
completed by the end of the calendar year. If that does not take place and no
alternative agreement is reached with the GLA, the Council may need to fund the
delivery of the project itself. This is currently unbudgeted. Officers will continue to
liaise closely with the GLA to mitigate any risk of this happening.
5.1.9. Members should also not that during the project TFL design staff working on the
project definition of the A21 were furloughed and unable to feed into the project
through its duration. The A21 is a Red Route and ownership, management and
maintenance lies with TFL. Following ongoing budget pressures TFL confirmed that
they can only work on committed/funded projects and were unable to commit
resources to the A21 project. As such the project scope was revised accordingly and
whilst the Development Framework sets out initial thoughts and aspirations for the reconfiguration of the road and junctions it cannot be tested thoroughly at this stage
without partnership working with TFL. This could be picked up at a later date with
agreement from TFL.

6. Pre-production Consultation
6.1.

During the Baseline stage the then appointed consultants Muf architecture carried out
consultation at an early stage of the A21 Development Framework. This included:








Telephone/Video Conference Calling
o Strategic and Third Sector organisations – Organisations with a stake in the
development of the A21 corridor such as TFL, Phoenix Housing and the
RCIG Catchment Partnership were invited to on-line meetings to align the
ambitions of the Framework with existing and emerging directives.
o Ward Councillors – Councillors from all wards within the study area were
contacted, those from Lewisham Central, Rushy Green and Whitefoot
provided detailed feedback using this opportunity to highlight areas of
concern including issues around housing, the environment, traffic difficulties
and the need for amenities were emphasised.
Email questionnaire
o On completion of the baseline research, the emerging framework was made
public via Lewisham Council’s website and an email questionnaire was sent
to an extensive list of Lewisham-based community organisations and
businesses along the A21 Corridor.
Critical Friends
o The design team shared baseline findings for critical review with local
organisations recognised to take an active role in local history, the
environment and those concerned with cycling and walking
Commonplace website
o Public consultation was held on the baseline research and emerging ideas
for the Framework. The website attracted 2,251 visitors, with 54 responses
on specific issues within the corridor.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 314
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

6.2.

Please refer to A21 Baseline Study (Appendix 2) for further details

6.3.

Throughout the production of this work the consultants held a selection of discussions
with LBL planning officers including those from Development Management,
Conservation, Highways, Trees, Sustainability and Policy.

7. A21 Development Framework Summary
7.1.

The A21 Development Framework provides a high level strategic vision for the A21
study area, underpinned by a series of objectives to achieve the vision, a development
framework to shape its physical form and guidance for the implementation of these
objectives.

7.2.

The site study stretches from Lewisham Town Centre in the north to the borough
boundary with Bromley in the south. In order to avoid duplication and any potential
confusion the A21 Development Framework does not provide further guidance for
areas covered by the Catford Framework or Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan.
Lewisham Hospital is also excluded from the scope of this study.

7.3.

The Framework is split into four main chapters; Introduction and Vision, Overarching
Guidance, Character Area Frameworks, Site Guidance:
1) Introduction and Vision


Project introduction



Using the document



Vision statement – Capturing the overarching intention of the A21
Development Framework



Guiding principles – Addressing the many opportunities of the corridor
as a whole. They are a set of specific thematic objectives that can be
used to measure any proposals for the A21 area.

2) Overarching Guidance - Provides overarching guidance that applies to all plots
that front the A21


Overview



Building heights



A distinctive public realm



Architectural character



Air Quality

3) Character Area Frameworks – The study area is divided into a series of 7
distinct character areas. Each Character Area Framework describes the
principal tactical moves that will strengthen that area’s function and
distinctiveness.


Lewisham Town Centre



Ladywell Village



Lewisham Park, Hospital and Greens



Rushey Green and Catford



Bellingham

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 315
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports



Southend



Downham Centre

4) Site Guidance – Guidance pertaining to individual sites is provided in two forms.
Topological Guidance covers a variety of conditions within the character areas,
and are organised by site type and scale of intervention. The potential
development site section comprises indicative concept schemes and capacity
studies indicating design principles and potential number of homes.


Typological Guidance



Site Capacity Studies

7.4.

The A21 Baseline Study precedes and forms the evidence base for this framework and
underpins this document’s recommendations. Both documents should be read with
reference to each other. See Appendix 2

8.

Consultation

8.1.

Subject to approval, the consultation process will run for four weeks and will involve:

8.2.



Consulting (by digital mail-out) specific Consultation Bodies, General
Consultation Bodies and Other Consultees (to the extent that the Council
considers the proposed subject matter affects that body). This would include
specific community groups and local organisations.



Ensuring that the Development Framework and the other material required to
support it are accessible on the Lewisham website, and posted to selected
online forums and groups to access as many Lewisham residents as possible.
The Framework and other material will be accessible at suitable libraries should
Covid restrictions allow.



In addition to the above we will aim to consult as broadly as possible with the
community by arranging online virtual sessions to discuss and comment on the
guidance.

After the 4 week consultation period, all representations received will be considered
and a final version of the Framework will be prepared for consideration at a future
meeting of Sustainable Development Select Committee and reported for adoption by
Mayor and Cabinet.

9. Financial implications
9.1.

The Framework and supporting documents will be published electronically on the
Council’s website and only limited hard copies will be produced, these being funded
from within the agreed Planning Service budget.

9.2.

The cost of developing the Framework is funded through the GLA’s Homebuilding
Capacity Fund, and the GLA has confirmed its agreement to carry forward funding in
order to complete the project by the end of the calendar year.

9.3.

There is a small risk that the Council will have to cover costs of approximately £45k if
the project isn’t completed by the end of the calendar year. The service is liaising
closely with the GLA to mitigate this risk.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 316
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

10.

Legal implications

10.1.

The Council must comply with their Addendum to the Statement of Community
Involvement which sets out how the authority will consult and engage with individuals,
communities and other stakeholders

10.2.

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 sets out
the main steps in the procedure for the production and adoption of planning
documents, as explained in the report.

10.3.

Section 9D of the Local Government Act 2000 states that any function of the local
authority which is not specified in regulations under subsection (3) is to be the
responsibility of an executive of the authority under executive arrangements. The Local
authorities (Functions and Responsibilities (England) Regulations 2000 specifies that
certain functions relating to Development Plan documents are by law the responsibility
of the Council. No specific reference is made to the preparation of a Development
Framework in the Regulations and as it is not a Development Plan Document it is
therefore an executive function.

10.4.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

10.5.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:


Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act.



Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.



Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

10.6.

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed at 12.4
above.

10.7.

The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the
impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are
potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from
case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances.

10.8. Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This
includes steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The
guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it,
as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The
statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at:
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 317
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

practice

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-acttechnical-guidance
10.9.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:

1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
3. Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities
4. Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities
5. Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities
10.10. The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required,
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources
are available at:

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sectorequality-duty-guidance#h1

11.

Equalities implications

11.1.

The Council’s Comprehensive Equality Scheme for 2016-20 provides an overarching
framework and focus for the Council's work on equalities and helps ensure compliance
with the Equality Act 2010.

11.2.

The A21 Framework does not have any direct equalities implications.

12.

Climate change and environmental implications

12.1.

There are no direct environmental impacts arising from this report.

13.

Crime and disorder implications

13.1.

There are no direct implications relating to crime and disorder issues.

14.

Health and wellbeing implications

14.1.

There are no direct implications relating to health and wellbeing issues.

15.

Conclusion

15.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:
a) Consider any comments received from the meeting of Sustainable
Development Select Committee held on 15th September 2021; and
b) Approve the content of the draft A21 Development Framework for public
consultation.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 318
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

16.

Background papers

16.1.

Development Management Local Plan
https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/adopted-local-plan/developmentpolicies/development-policy-documents

16.2.

The Publication London Plan December 2020 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-wedo/planning/london-plan/new-london-plan/publication-london-plan

16.3.

Good Quality Homes for All Londoners Housing SPG Consultation Draft October 2020
https://consult.london.gov.uk/good-quality-homes-for-all-londoners

16.4.

Sustainable Development Select Committee report dated 30th April 2019. Reference
Local Plan Update to the Council’s award of funds from the Homebuilding Capacity
Fund can be found at paragraph 9.3 in the report here:
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=5561&
Ver=4

17.

Report author and contact

17.1.

David Syme, David.syme@lewisham.gov.uk

18. Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for
Corporate Resources
18.1.

Shola Ojo Principal Accountant, Corporate Resources, Shola.Ojo@lewisham.gov.uk

19. Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law,
Governance and HR
19.1.

Joy Ukadike, Senior Planning Lawyer, Joy.Ukadike@Lewisham.gov.uk

20.

Appendices

20.1.

Appendix 1 – A21 Development Framework

https://lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/adopted-localplan/spds/a21-development-strategy

20.2.

Appendix 2 – A21 Baseline Study

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 319
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Mayor and Cabinet
Comments of the Sustainable Development Select Committee on the
A21 development framework
Date: 6 October 2021.
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1.
Ward(s) affected: All
Contributor: Sustainable Development Select Committee

Outline and recommendations
This report informs the Mayor and Cabinet of the comments and views of the
Sustainable Development Select Committee, arising from discussions on the A21
development framework.
Mayor and Cabinet is asked to consider the Committee’s comments and ask the
relevant officers to provide a response.

1. Summary
1.1.

On Wednesday 15 September 2021, the Sustainable Development Select Committee
considered a report from officers on the A21 development framework (link to the
agenda for Sustainable Devleopment Select Committee on 15 September 2021) The
Committee reflected on the contents of the report – and received a presentation from
officers. Following questions to officers, the Committee agreed to refer its views to
Mayor and Cabinet.

2. Recommendation
2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet is asked to consider the Committee’s comments and ask the
relevant officers to provide a response.

3. Sustainable Development Select Committee views
3.1.

The Committee commends the work carried out by officers. The Committee recognises
the calibre and high quality of the work carried out and it recommends that the
development framework is adopted.

3.2.

The Committee recommends that consideration be given to the future options for the
framwork to be strengthened through its adoption as a supplementary planning

Page 320

document.
3.3.

The Committee believes that officers should continue to work with Transport for
London in order to ensure that collaboration, coordination and funding are made
available to support the develpoment of cycling and walking infrastruture along the
A21.

4. Financial implications
4.1.

There are no direct financial implications arising from the implementation of the
recommendations in this report. However, there may be implications arising from them
implementation of the Committee’s recommendations. These will need to be
considered as part of the response.

5. Legal implications
5.1.

The Constitution provides for select committees to refer reports to the Mayor and
Cabinet, who are obliged to consider the report and the proposed response from the
relevant Executive Director; and report back to the Committee within two months (not
including recess).

6. Equalities implications
6.1.

The Equality Act 2010 (The Act) legally protects people from discrimination in the
workplace and in wider society. It replaced the previous anti-discrimination laws with a
single act, making the law easier to understand and strengthen protection in certain
situations. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion
or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

6.2.

The Act also imposes a public sector equality duty. This means that in public bodies, of
which this Council is designated, they must consider all individuals in carrying out their
day-to-day work when shaping policy, in delivering services and in relation to their own
employees. It also requires public bodies to:


Have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination



Advance equality of opportunity



Foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities

6.3.

The Council recognises diversity is one of its strengths and is committed to creating a
more inclusive community. Therefore, having due regard to the Act, is confirmation of
the Council’s commitment to eliminating all forms of discrimination against any group
within the community and to actively promote an equality of opportunity and positive
community partnership.

6.4.

The delivery of the Council’s equalities objectives is to be achieved through the
delivery of all of the Council’s strategies, plans and procedures. As such, all select
committees and other scrutiny bodies, when planning their work and scrutinising items,
bear in mind the delivery of the Council’s equality objectives.

6.5.

Scrutiny tries to make sure that its work reflects the diversity of Lewisham’s
communities and that the views of residents are fairly represented in scrutiny
processes. Any recommendations arising from scrutiny work support the Council’s
corporate strategy and reflect the needs of local residents

6.6.

There may be equalities implications arising from the implementation of the
Committee’s recommendations – these will need to be considered in the response.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 321
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

7. Climate change and environmental implications
7.1.

There are no direct climate change or environmental implications arising from the
implementation of the recommendation in this report. However, in February 2019
Lewisham Council declared a Climate Emergency and proposed a target to make the
borough carbon neutral by 2030. The declaration tasked the Sustainable Development
Committee with scrutinising the Council’s emerging plans. All reports considered by the
Committee should acknowledge this.

8. Crime and disorder implications
8.1.

There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from the implementation of
the recommendations in this report. There may be implications arising from the
implementation of the Committee’s recommendations – these will need to be
considered in the response.

9. Health and wellbeing implications
9.1.

There are no direct health and wellbeing implications arising from the implementation
of the recommendations in this report. There may be implications arising from the
implementation of the Committee’s recommendations – these will need to be
considered in the response.

10.

Report author and contact

10.1.

If you have any questions about this report then please contact: Timothy Andrew
(Scrutiny Manager) timothy.andrew@lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 322
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 12
Chief Officer Confirmation of Report Submission
Cabinet Member Confirmation of Briefing
Report for: Full Council
Mayor and Cabinet
Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts)
Executive Director
Information
Date of Meeting

Title of Report

Part 1

Part 2

X

X

Key Decision

6th October 2021

DNA re-designation

Originator of Report
Director of Planning
At the time of submission for the Agenda, I confirm that the report has:
Category

Yes

Financial Comments from Exec Director for Resources
Legal Comments from the Head of Law
Crime & Disorder Implications
Environmental Implications
Equality Implications/Impact Assessment (as appropriate)
Confirmed Adherence to Budget & Policy Framework
Risk Assessment Comments (as appropriate)
Reason for Urgency (as appropriate)

X
X
X
X
X
X
N/A
N/A

No

Signed:
Cllr Paul Bell Cabinet Member for Housing
Date: 27/09/2021

Signed:
Emma Talbot Director of Planning
Date: 23/09/2021
Control Record by Committee Support
Action

Date

1

Page 323

Listed on Schedule of Business/Forward Plan (if appropriate)
Draft Report Cleared at Agenda Planning Meeting (not delegated decisions)
Submitted Report from CO Received by Committee Support
Scheduled Date for Call-in (if appropriate)

2

Page 324

3

Page 325

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet

DNA re-designation

Date: 6th October 2021
Key decision: Yes
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: Evelyn, New Cross and Brockley
Contributors: Emma Talbot, Director of planning

Outline and recommendations
This report sets out the background and timeline for the Deptford Neighbourhood Action
forums designation and production of its Reg 14 neighbourhood plan, provides a detailed
summary of the re-designation consultation and outlines officer’s key considerations in
assessing the re-designation of the forum.
Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:
a. Refuse the application for the re-designation of Deptford Neighbourhood Action
forum.
b. Direct officers to work with community groups within the neighbourhood area to
establish whether a viable neighbourhood planning or masterplanning process
can be established to incorporate the views of all community groups and the
general public.

Page 326

Timeline of engagement and decision-making
17th February 2016 – Deptford Neighbourhood Action forum and area are designated by
M&C
Autumn 2019 to early 2021 – Regulation 14 public consultation held by the forum
12th February 2021 – Re-designation application submitted
18th March to 6th May 2021 – Public consultation on re-designation application held
.

1. Summary
1.1.

Deptford neighbourhood Action neighbourhood forum (the forum) are a community
organisation based primarily in the Evelyn ward of London Borough of Lewisham who
have been formally designated as the qualifying body for the purposes of
neighbourhood planning.

1.2.

The forum was formally designated by Mayor and Cabinet for a 5 year period on 17th
February 2016 in accordance with;


Section 65F (5) of the Town and Country planning Act 1990 as applied to
section 38A of the planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004,



Localism Act (2011)



Neighbourhood Planning Regulations (2012) “the Regs”

1.3.

The forum have progressed the neighbourhood plan to Reg 14 public consultation
stage and have received 198 representations relating to the draft plan. During the Reg
14 consultation the forum are required to engage with local residents, business
owners, council officers, members of the public, land owners and statutory consultees.

1.4.

As the 5 year designation of the forum lapsed in February 2021 an application was
made to formally re-designate the forum and therefore retain their status as the
qualifying body for the purposes of neighbourhood planning within the designated
neighbourhood area.

1.5.

The Council held a 6 week public consultation from 18th March 2021 to 6th May 2021 on
the re-designation application to identify what level of support there was within the
designated neighbourhood area regarding the re-designation of the forum.

1.6.

The public consultation on the re-designation application had 34 respondents. 17
respondents were supportive of the re-designation of the forum and 17 respondents
objected to the re-designation.

1.7.

The results of the consultation are considered to be highly unusual compared to similar
forum re-designation consultations held by the council for the reasons set out below at
paragraph(s) 5.9 – 5.11. Officers are also concerned regarding the nature of the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 327
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

objections outlined in Section 5. In response to these concerns and prior to any
decision on the re-designation being made Council officers asked the forum to respond
to the points raised and provide supporting evidence where appropriate. See Section 6.
1.8.

Having considered the representations received during the re-designation consultation
and the further evidence provided by the forum it was concluded that the decision to redesignate the forum could not be delegated to officers and should be made by Mayor
and Cabinet given the level of objection and seriousness of some of the issues raised.

1.9.

This report therefore sets out the background and timeline for DNAs designation and
production of its Reg 14 neighbourhood plan, provides a detailed summary of the redesignation consultation and outlines Officer’s key considerations in assessing the redesignation of the forum.

2. Recommendations
2.1.

Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:
a. Refuse the application for the re-designation of Deptford neighbourhood Action
forum for the reasons set out in paragraphs 8.1 and 8.2. .
b. Direct officers to work with community groups within the neighbourhood area to
establish whether a viable neighbourhood planning or masterplanning process can
be established to incorporate the views of all community groups and the general
public.

3. Policy Context
Planning
3.1.

The forum were designated by the Council as the qualifying body, pursuant to the
provisions of61F(5) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as applied to
neighbourhood plans by section 38A of the planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, to
lead the neighbourhood planning process including the drafting of a neighbourhood
development plan

3.2.

A neighbourhood area was designated by the Council in which the forum would be
responsible for neighbourhood planning matters pursuant to the provisions of Section
61G and 61I (1) of the Town and Country planning Act 1990 as applied to section 38A
(12) of the planning and compulsory Purchase Act and Reg 5 of the Neighbourhood
Planning (General) Regulations 2012.

3.3.

The re-designation of the forum is subject to the same statutory requirements found in
3.1.

3.4.

The forum had, before their formal status had “lapsed” undertaken a public consultation
on their draft neighbourhood plan as required by Reg 14 of the Neighbourhood
Planning (General) Regulations 2012.

Corporate strategy
3.5.

The Council’s Corporate Strategy (2018-2022) outlines the Council’s vision to deliver
for residents over the next four years. Building on Lewisham’s historic values of
fairness, equality and putting our community at the heart of everything we do, the
Council will create deliverable policies underpinned by a desire to promote vibrant
communities, champion local diversity and promote social, economic and
environmental sustainability.

3.6.

neighbourhood planning contributes to the following corporate priorities:


Open Lewisham – Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all where we
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 328
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports






Tackling the Housing Crisis – Providing a decent and secure home for everyone;
Building an Inclusive Economy – Ensuring every resident can access highquality job opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive
local economy; and
Making Lewisham greener- Everyone enjoys our green spaces and benefits from
a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local environment.

4. Background
4.1.

In August 2015 the forum submitted applications to the Council to designate both a
neighbourhood forum and neighbourhood area. Both applications although separate in
process can be submitted and decided on simultaneously.

4.2.

In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 an initial
statutory 6 week public consultation on the forum and area applications was held by
the Council from 7th October 2015 to 19th November 2015 and received 25
representations.

4.3.

Due to what was considered a low response rate, Council Officers decided to
undertake a second period of public consultation between 11th December 2015 – 22nd
January 2016 where a further 10 representations were received.

4.4.

The initial neighbourhood area boundary extended into a small area within the Royal
Borough of Greenwich (RBG) for which the forum would be responsible for
neighbourhood planning matters. A separate application for both the area designation
and forum designation was not approved by RBG as they concluded that “many of
those responding felt that they were already part of a community with strong
associations in Greenwich, that was quite separate and distinct from the community
represented by Deptford neighbourhood action”

4.5.

The forum and area designations excluding the area in RBG were formally approved
by Lewisham Council through M&C on the 17th February 2016. The forum designation
would run for a total period of 5 years and the area designation would last indefinitely,
however the boundary of the area designation could be subject to alteration through a
renewed application process.

4.6.

From the period of forum designation to the 17th February 2021 the forum exercised
their statutory right as the qualifying body responsible for neighbourhood planning
matters within the designated area and began drafting a neighbourhood plan.

4.7.

The forum held a number of workshops designed to develop the neighbourhood plan’s
aims and objectives as well as enlisting a consultant to assist with drafting the planning
policies that would make up the neighbourhood plan.

4.8.

In autumn of 2019, the forum began a Reg 14 public consultation on the draft
neighbourhood plan by inviting members of the public to submit representations on the
draft plan directly to the forum. The consultation ended in early 2021 and was held
over an extended period due to restrictions caused by the General Election in 2019
and the Covid-19 pandemic.

4.9.

The forum designation lapsed on the 17th February 2021 triggering the requirement for
the group to re-apply to be formally re-designated by the council as a neighbourhood
forum. The group cannot progress any further in the neighbourhood planning process
without this re-designation.

5. Re-designation consultation
5.1.

On the 10th February 2021 shortly before the forum designation lapsed the forum
applied to the London Borough of Lewisham (LBL) to propose the re-designation of the
neighbourhood forum.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 329
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

5.2.

Officers started to formally discuss the re-designation process with the forum via an email on the 10th December 2020 by confirming that the application would need to follow
the same process as the initial forum designation application. A link to the council’s
neighbourhood planning webpage was provided where the application and further
information could be found.

5.3.

An e-mail was received from the forum on the 8th January 2021 requesting that the
application process be simplified due to the plan objectives, constitution and
neighbourhood area remaining unchanged throughout the initial 5 year forum
designation. Officers responded on the 11th January 2021 confirming that this was a
statutory requirement and could not be simplified

5.4.

Officers then received an e-mail titled Re-designation of DNA on the 10th January 2021
containing a forum members list. The body of text in the e-mail stated “please forward
this to Dir of Planning for the DNA re-designation’. This membership list contained 149
names some of who had previously notified the council that they did not give
permission for their details to be used as members of the forum. This list also included
council officers, a Member of Parliament and members of the London Assembly.

5.5.

On the 21st January 2021 officers received an e-mail stating that the aforementioned
membership list was sent in error and a new membership list of 169 names was
provided with the names of the MP, London assembly members and council officers
removed. The names of the residents who had previously stated they did not give
permission for their details to be used were still on this membership list.

5.6.

Officers were made aware of the possibility of a competing application from a
neighbouring organisation, but guaranteed to the forum that they would be given an
opportunity to apply for re-designation unchallenged from competing organisations if
their application was received by the Council before the 17th February 2021.

5.7.

The formal application for the re-designation of the neighbourhood forum was received
by the Council on the 10th February 2021 with a list of 28 DNA members who had given
their explicit permission for their details to be given in support of the re-designation
application. This was deemed by officers to have met the requirements for a forum redesignation application.

5.8.

The consultation period for the forum re-designation took place over a statutory 6 week
period from 18 March 2021 to 6 May 2021. This list was provided on the 11th March
2021 and when assessed by Council Officers the application was judged to have met
the requirements set out in Regulation 9 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012.

Consultation Activities undertaken by the council
5.6.







The consultation activities were carried out in accordance with the Neighbourhood
Planning Regulations and the Councils Statement of Community Involvement.
Including:
Consultation questionnaire on Lewisham Councils Citizen Space
E-mail sent informing statutory consultees
E-mail sent informing residents of the designated area supported by the ward
assembly data base
Copy of application published via the forums Council webpage
Notification sent to Local ward Councillors

Summary of representations
5.7.

The application questionnaire asked the respondent if they supported or objected to
the re-designation of the forum and if the respondent had any comments to support

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 330
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

their decision.
5.8.

The consultation reported a total of 34 respondents which included residents, ward
Cllr’s, business owners and community groups. 28 representations were made through
the citizen space questionnaire and 6 representations via e-mail.

Submissions and outcome of forum designation application consultation



5.9.






34 respondents
17 support (1 representation referred to supporting the re-designation if the boundary
was altered)
17 objections (2 representations referred to supporting the re-designation if the area
boundary is altered but were listed as objections in the questionnaire)
The number of representations submitted (34) during this consultation represents a low
turnout compared to similar forum re-designation consultations held in the borough
over the previous 2 years. The responses received for similar designation/redesignation consultations being:
78 responses - Grove Park neighbourhood forum
55 responses - Lee neighbourhood forum
67 responses – Hopcroft neighbourhood forum
102 responses – Sydenham Hill Ridge neighbourhood forum

5.10.

The results of the consultation on the re-designation application for Deptford
neighbourhood Action neighbourhood forum show that 50% of all respondents support
the re-designation and 50% of respondents are in objection.

5.11.

The results of the consultation are unusual compared to similar re-designation
consultations held by the council. In context, the previous 3 re-designation
consultations held by the council have shown a clear intention of support from the local
community:




5.12.

Grove Park – 78 respondents with 75 supporting and 3 objections
Lee Green – 55 respondents with 51 supporting and 4 objections
Hopcroft – 67 respondents with 65 supporting and 2 objections
Below provides an overview of the representations received during the re-designation
consultation. It outlines the reasons for the support/objection and should be noted that
some representations highlight a number of themes within the submission. All
comments are provided in full in the schedule of comments (appendix 1)

Supporting Comments





Seven (7) responses in support of the re-designation are in favour for the need for
resident representation within the area. It is noted these consultees felt that the
Council are not listening to residents and are not delivering for the needs of residents
within the designated neighbourhood area and see the forum as an appropriate body to
do this through.
Four (4) comments that support the re-designation specifically reference the draft
neighbourhood plan and acknowledge that it provides a positive vision for the area.
One (1) comment referred to the work that had taken place during the drafting of the
neighbourhood development referring specifically to the regulation 14 consultation that

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 331
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports





had been recently co-ordinated by the forum and stated that the plan’s polices will
make a positive difference to everyone living and working in the area.
One (1) comment in support of the re-designation clarifies that their support is subject
to a boundary change believing that the neighbourhood area as currently designated is
too big and could compromise the work carried out by neighbouring
amenity/community groups.
One (1) councillor who responded to the consultation supported the re-designation of
the forum.

Comments of objection










Similarly, two (2) comments that object to the re-designation of the forum do so again
due to the size of the designated neighbourhood area and suggest in their comments
that if the area was modified they would indeed support the re-designation of the
forum.
Ten (10) comments that object to the re-designation refer to the suggestion that there
is a feeling within the community that the group are unrepresentative of the area and
the views of many of the communities that exist within the area with some comments
referring to volunteers within the forum not living in the designated area.
Eleven (11) of the objections also highlight the feeling that the designated
neighbourhood area is too large. Modifications to the neighbourhood boundary would
normally not be considered during a forum re-designation application consultation,
however due to the proportion of representations highlighting this as an issue, officers
feel that some consideration should be given to this issue.
Two (2) comments submitted as objections stated that the forum have been abusive to
residents/council officials and also noted two (2) incidents of a residents name being
used without permission in the original forum and area designation in 2016.
Six (6) Councillors from Evelyn, Brockley and New Cross wards submitted comments
to the consultation with five (5) submitting objections to the re-designation of the
neighbourhood forum. The objections submitted by Councillors reflect the objections
received from other consultees highlighting the size of the designated area being too
big and there being limited engagement activities from the forum to the wider
community.

6. Additional supporting information
6.1.

The results of the consultation were presented to the Director of Planning who is the
delegated officer responsible for decisions on neighbourhood planning matters that do
not require decision through a cabinet referral as noted in the Lewisham Council
constitution 2021.

6.2.

Through discussions with the Director of Planning, officers highlighted their concern at
the outcome of the public consultation and it was decided that an opportunity would be
provided to the group to submit additional supporting information that would alleviate
the issues and concerns regarding the objections that were submitted.

6.3.

On the 25 May 2021 e-mail correspondence was sent to the group highlighting the
feedback received as a result of the consultation and also highlighting the officers
concerns regarding the feedback received. Including:


The consultation turnout which was low compared to similar consultations held
in the borough such as the Grove Park, Lee and Hopcroft forum re-

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 332
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

designations;

6.4.

6.5.



The high number and proportion of objections to the re-designation. Again this
is very unusual compared to similar consultations (as above);



5 out of 6 local councillors who responded to the consultation objected to the
re-designation. Again this is very unusual compared to similar consultations (as
above); and finally



The nature of the comments from objectors such as a lack of inclusive
engagement across all communities, the neighbourhood area being too large,
abusive behaviour, a lack of activity and presence online and finally allegations
of resident’s names being used in member’s lists who had not given their
permission.

Officers therefore requested that the group provide the following evidence as
supporting information to their application.


An overview of how the forum has actively and inclusively engaged with all
communities across the area including details of consultation events in the 5
year period that the 5 year plan has been in preparation



Provide details of DNA meetings including AGMs with attendance lists,
Agendas, Minutes and where these can be found online



The number of members of DNA who actively participated in the preparation of
the plan.

The group subsequently submitted numerous e-mails containing their additional
supporting information (appendix 2), this included the following:

Photographs of a Design Code Meeting for Convoys Wharf
6.6.

Images of the forum working group meeting to discuss Design Codes for Convoys
Wharf. The production of Design Codes is supported by funding through the technical
support programme via Locality.

Photographs of a Vietnamese Cultural Day March 2016
6.7.

Images of a Vietnamese Cultural Day held in 2016 that the forum supported and
funded through their Locality funding.

Photographs of DNA Market Stall, Deptford Market 29th July 2017
6.8.

Images of a consultation event held by the forum at Deptford Market. The images
show members of the public voting on what issues they would like to address through
the plan by placing green balls into a box with a particular issue highlighted on it. There
was no confirmation of how many residents attended this session.

Image of a tweet promoting the Reg 14 consultation
6.9.

An image of a tweet sent via the Voice4Deptford twitter account on the 17th April 2021
informing followers that the Reg 14 consultation has been completed and to encourage
support for the re-designation

A set of slides titled “DNA re-designation further evidence”
6.10.

31 presentation slides including photographs of physically printed e-mails that were
sent to Council officers, the DNA neighbourhood plan steering group and registered
forum members covering a period from 2017 -2021. It is difficult to determine the
context of these e-mails as they are not organised under any particular theme and in
some cases are pixilated making it difficult to determine their content, however they
appear to include information on events, internal correspondence between members of
the forum and some correspondence with consultants and other organisations.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 333
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

28 e-mails supporting the re-designation of the forum
6.11.

Officers received an additional 28 e-mails that were sent directly to the forum that
supported the re-designation of the forum. Out of the 28 additional e-mails:


9 representations made had already submitted a response through the councils
formal consultation with 1 respondent submitting on 3 separate occasions



1 representation was submitted by London Assembly member, Len Duvall



1 representation was submitted by a resident who lived outside the
neighbourhood area



1 representation was made by the forum’s University of Westminster contact

6.12.

The process of how the Council should receive representations was clearly stated to
the forum from the outset of the consultation. The additional 28 submissions were not
brought forward by the forum until the request of additional information was made by
Council officers and were therefore not included in the results of the original redesignation consultation.

6.13.

It should also be noted that the forum stated they received 198 representations during
their Reg 14 consultation on the draft plan which would be used to modify the current
version of the plan.

6.14.

At the time of drafting this report the forum sent further additional supporting
information to officers stating that they had a total of 140 registered members in the
forum. A YouTube video was also received by officers that provided a visual and oral
presentation of the forums aims and objectives that have been set out in the
neighbourhood plan which at the time of drafting this report had 201 views. Officers
have included all available additional supporting information sent by the forum as of the
8th September 2021 and if any further additional supporting information is received
before this report dispatches it will be added as an addendum to the report.

7. Considerations
7.1.

When examining the redesignation of the forum officers have considered the following:

Does the re-designation of the forum have public support?
7.2.

The results of the re-designation consultation held by the Council were inconclusive
showing a 50/50 split between objection and support. Compared to similar redesignation applications held by the council this is a highly unusual result. Previous redesignation application consultations in the borough have been supported by 93 -97%
of those who have submitted a representation.

7.3.

The consultation was also subject to a low turnout with 34 representations made. As
noted in 5.8 this is a lower turnout than similar re-designation consultations held by the
Council from the previous 2 years.

7.4.

The forum did provide the Council with 28 additional e-mails showing support for the
forum’s re-designation, 9 of which had submitted representations through the formal
Council consultation. The e-mails in support were submitted directly to the forum and
not the Council and were only provided when additional evidence was requested by
Council officers after the consultation had closed and results reported.

7.5.

Council officers are also aware through formal and informal discussions with their
members that a number of prominent community groups in the neighbourhood plan
area, including the Brockley Society, Deptford Folk and EVEREST (a group of tenant
associations) have stated they do not support the forum. Officers are aware however
that in the last few months the forum have reached out to Deptford Folk and Everest to
try to establish a positive working relationship between the groups.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 334
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

7.6.

Furthermore of the Councillors who responded to the consultation 5 of the 6
Councillors within the neighbourhood plan area objected to the re-designation.

7.7.

Officers received evidence at the time of drafting this report that there were
encouraging signs that that the forum were developing a positive relationship with
neighbouring groups, namely EVERST and have agreed to hold discussions focusing
on the possibility of collaborating in any further drafting of the neighbourhood plan
policies.

Is the forum fulfilling its agreed constitution?
7.8.

The forum published its agreed constitution when the forum was adopted in Feb 2016.

7.9.

The constitution of the forum states their overarching objective as being “to encourage,
empower and enable the involvement of all communities living and working in the
defined neighbourhood area in the preparation, production and implementation of the
neighbourhood Development plan” including an aim to:


Encourage community cohesion and active citizenship”.

7.10.

Officers have found relationships between the forum and neighbouring organisations
are often strained which was discussed in a meeting between officers and
neighbouring community organisations on the 29th October 2018 and have received no
evidence that the forum has sought to address these issues to ensure the process
encourages, empowers and enables the involvement of all communities living and
working in the area. This is further supported through the responses received in the redesignation consultation.

7.11.

Furthermore the Council has received repeated requests from neighbouring
organisations through emails, Council Questions and within the planning teams
Community Group forum meetings to provide a comprehensive vision and masterplan
for the Evelyn area – Creating a masterplan is not achievable through a neighbourhood
plan but it can in principle be supported through planning policies found within a
neighbourhood plan.

7.12.

The forums constitution also outlines the requirements for membership, stating that
“members will apply for membership” to the forum. It was first brought to the attention
of officers on the 17th May 2018 through an e-mail from the Chair of Deptford Folk that
the initial list of 21 or more members that was submitted with the forum application in
February 2016 as a statutory requirement included residents of the area that claim they
did not agree to have their details formally used in this manner.

7.13.

On the 29th October 2018 Council officers attended a meeting at the 2000 Community
Centre in Deptford made up of TRA’s and groups from Evelyn. At this meeting the
residents discussed how they were not supportive of the forum as they did not consult
with the wider community and did not share the same vision for the area as large
sections of the community. Attendees at this meeting also shared experiences of
verbal abuse that was directed at them during community meetings from the forum
members.

7.14.

During the application for the re-designation of the forum in February 2021, a list of
“members” was submitted with the application as a statutory requirement. On this list
were the names of residents who originally informed officers that their details had been
used without permission. The names of Council officers and Councillors were also on
this list who had not given their permission for their details to be used in this manner.

Allegations of verbal and physical abuse
7.15.

It is alleged through the consultation responses that members of the forum have been

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 335
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

verbally and physically abusive towards members of neighbouring community groups
in the area.
7.16.

Whilst this cannot be verified the Council is aware of verbal and physical abuse by
previous members of the forum directed at Lewisham Councillors and staff most
notably during a ward assembly meeting on the 6th November 2018

7.17.

Shortly after this incident the forum secretary/co-ordinator spoke to the neighbourhood
planning officer to inform them that the forum member who was allegedly involved in
the incident on the 6th November 2018 would play no further part in the forums steering
group. Officers note that the member involved still holds a position within the forum
steering group as treasurer as listed on the forum’s website at the time of writing this
report.

Progress on the neighbourhood plan
7.18.

The forum have been designated by Lewisham Council for the maximum 5 year period
from February 2016 – February 2021 as the qualifying body responsible for
neighbourhood planning matters within their designated area.

7.19.

During that 5 year period the forum have produced a draft neighbourhood plan and
undertaken the Reg 14 consultation stage. The Reg 14 consultation is held by the
forum with the aim of receiving representations regarding the draft policies in the plan
by engaging with local residents, business owners, members of the public and
statutory consultees. The planning polices can then be modified by the forum in
response to the representations received at this stage in preparation for submission to
the Council.

7.20.

The forum have reported to the Council that they undertook a very successful Reg 14
consultation receiving 198 representations from residents and statutory consultees
which have assisted in the modification of the draft policies found within the plan.

7.21.

In the drafting of the Reg 14 version of the neighbourhood plan the forum have
engaged with students from the University of Westminster and University College of
London to assist with their evidence base work as well as unlocking additional
technical support packages via Locality, namely the production of design codes for
Convoys wharf.

7.22.

Council officers have provided two sets of detailed comments to the forum relating to
their draft neighbourhood plan. The comments informed the forum that certain
planning polices presented in the draft neighbourhood plan were not considered to be
in general conformity with higher level policies as required as a basic condition of
neighbourhood planning. Having recently gone through the examination process with
Grove Park neighbourhood forum on their neighbourhood plan this was a key issue
with the policies proposed in this plan with the independent examiner making
substantial changes to ensure it met those basic conditions. The plan also included
policies that could not be delivered through the mechanism of neighbourhood planning
and in officers’ views often confused the role of neighbourhood planning with other
Council functions.

7.23.

The forum have previously argued against the detailed comments on the
neighbourhood planning policies, initially through a formal letter received on the 23rd
September 2019 in response to officer comments and again at a face to face meeting
with the forum on the 22nd January 2020.At the time of the forum designation lapsing it
is officer’s view formed from their knowledge and experience of dealing with other
neighbourhood plans that the draft neighbourhood plan would fail in its independent
examination or require considerable alterations.

7.24.

The forum have informed the Council that they are in a position to formally submit their

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 336
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

neighbourhood plan to the Council at the Reg 15 stage. The next stages of the
process would be as follows:


Reg 15 - officers check that all relevant documents are submitted



Reg 16 - Public consultation led by the Council



Agreement of independent examiner



Independent examination



Review of examiner recommendations



Council decision to approve independent examiner recommendations and
agreement to proceed plan to referendum



Decision notice published by council.



Referendum to be held within 56 days of decision notice being published



plan made (if over 50% of votes are in support)

Is the plan area too large?
7.25.

A number of comments from the consultation questioned whether the forum was
representative of all communities within the neighbourhood area and many also
considered the area covered by the neighbourhood plan to be too large.

7.26.

The neighbourhood area covers parts of Brockley ward to the south, parts of New
Cross and the Evelyn ward in its entirety. It consists of the historic high street of
Deptford and Deptford Creekside, several Core Strategy Strategic Sites including
Convoys Wharf, Oxestalls Road and Plough Way, several adopted site allocations
including Tidemill, Creekside Village, Arklow Road. It also includes Deptford High
Street and St Pauls Church and Deptford Creekside conservation areas. It also
includes large areas of Council owned housing.

7.27.

The Lewisham Characterisation Study (2019) outlined the varied and distinctive
character of each of the neighbourhoods represented within the designated
neighbourhood area with New Cross and Evelyn being identified as belonging to the
north of the borough and Brockley to the west of the borough. The study notes that a
key message from the consultation events that supported the drafting of the
characterisation study was that “Deptford is too large and not one place” suggesting
that residents sense of place could not be defined as being represented effectively
within a large homogeneous neighbourhood area.

7.28.

Whilst not significantly larger in terms of its geographical size than the other designated
neighbourhood areas in the borough, it is the largest in terms of population and density
with an eligible electorate of 20,489 residents listed on the electoral register. In context
of population the recent Grove Park neighbourhood plan, had a referendum area with
an eligible electorate of 11,629. This area also represents one of the most complex in
terms of growth and regeneration, urban character, historic legacy and demographic
profile.

8. Conclusion
8.1.

Whilst officers acknowledge the commitment and hard work carried out by the forum to
date Officers are not convinced that the purpose of the forum continues to reflect, in
general terms the character of the neighbourhood planning area under section
61F(7)(a)(iii) of the TCPA 1990 as found through the public consultation held on the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 337
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

forum re-designation application where 50% of the representations made objected to
the re-designation of the forum..
8.2.

Furthermore with competing community groups in the area and strained relationships
between the forum and other prominent groups Officers remain unconvinced that
proceeding with the process will fulfil the forums agreed constitution “to encourage,
empower and enable the involvement of all communities living and working in the
defined neighbourhood area in the preparation, production and implementation of the
neighbourhood Development plan” or to “Encourage community cohesion and active
citizenship” therefore concluding that the forum have not fulfilled the criteria of having
membership drawn from different places in the neighbourhood area concerned and
from different sections of the community in that area as outlined under section
61F(7)(a)(ii) of the TCPA 1990

8.3.

The options that are considered available to the Council through the re-designation
process are:

8.4.



Delay the decision and re-consult on the re-designation of the forum to
establish more definitively if there is widespread public support or not. Whilst this
may address one of the issues outlined above it would not address the others.
Officers are also unconvinced that a further consultation process is likely to change
the views of neighbouring groups and Councillors.



Re-designate the forum and proceed with neighbourhood plan. This will not
address the fundamental concerns outlined above.



Re-designate the forum with the condition that the forum have to work
collaboratively to neighbouring groups and demonstrate effective public
participation. As a community lead process the Council is limited in its legal right
to be involved in the plan making process, making this a difficult option to monitor
and assess the success. Officer’s understanding is that neighbouring groups are
likely to want to revisit fundamental components of the plan like the vision and
policies which may not be palatable to the forum.



Refuse to re-designate the forum and welcome new applications for smaller
more focused areas. Whilst this may address some of the issues outlined above.
It is likely to result in two or more applications which will overlap. As this is
prohibited under the neighbourhood planning Regulations the Council would have
to mediate between the groups and either agree revised boundaries or refuse the
applications



Refuse to re-designate the forum and direct officers to work with all
community groups within the neighbourhood area to establish whether a
viable neighbourhood planning or masterplanning process can be
established to incorporate the views of all community groups and the general
public. It is notable that during the period that the Council has been considering
the re-designation, the forum has reached out to neighbouring groups in a positive
manner. Officers are therefore encouraged that this could be an option that may
see a positive outcome where the community can come together more
successfully. During this period the Council would delay any decisions on
applications for any new Forum applications received within the Neighbourhood
Area.

Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:
a. Refuse the application for the re-designation of Deptford neighbourhood Action
forum for the reasons set out in paragraphs 8.1 and 8.2

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 338
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

b. Direct officers to work with community groups within the neighbourhood area to
establish whether a viable neighbourhood planning or masterplanning process can
be established to incorporate the views of all community groups and the general
public.

9. Financial implications
9.1.

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

10.

Legal implications

10.1

A LPA may designate an organisation or body as a neighbourhood forum if it is
satisfied that the following conditions set out in TCPA 1990, s 61F are met,
(a) it is established for the express purpose of promoting or improving the social,
economic and environmental well-being of an area that consists of or includes the
neighbourhood area concerned (whether or not it is also established for the express
purpose of promoting the carrying on of trades, professions or other businesses in
such an area),
(b)
(i)

its membership is open to—
individuals who live in the neighbourhood area concerned,

(ii) individuals who work there (whether for businesses carried on there or
otherwise), and
(iii) individuals who are elected members of a county council, district council or London
borough council any of whose area falls within the neighbourhood area concerned,
(c)

its membership includes a minimum of 21 individuals each of whom—

(i)

lives in the neighbourhood area concerned,

(ii)

works there (whether for a business carried on there or otherwise), or

(iii) is an elected member of a county council, district council or London borough council any
of whose area falls within the neighbourhood area concerned,
(d)

it has a written constitution, and

(e)

such other conditions as may be prescribed.

10.2 A local planning authority may also designate an organisation or body as a
neighbourhood forum if they are satisfied that the organisation or body meets prescribed
conditions
10.3

A local planning authority—

(a) must, in determining whether to designate an organisation or body as a neighbourhood
forum for a neighbourhood area, have regard to the desirability of designating an organisation
or body—

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 339
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

(i) which has secured (or taken reasonable steps to attempt to secure) that its membership
includes at least one individual falling within each of sub-paragraphs (i) to (iii) of subsection
10.1 (b) above,
(ii) whose membership is drawn from different places in the neighbourhood area concerned
and from different sections of the community in that area, and
(iii)

whose purpose reflects (in general terms) the character of that area,

(b) may designate only one organisation or body as a neighbourhood forum for each
neighbourhood area,
(c) may designate an organisation or body as a neighbourhood forum only if the
organisation or body has made an application to be designated, and
(d) must give reasons to an organisation or body applying to be designated as a
neighbourhood forum where the authority refuse the application
10.4 A designation ceases to have effect at the end of the period of 5 years beginning with
the day on which it is made.
10.5 Therefore whilst the LPA has to consider certain issues in determining whether to
designate a forum it has discretion whether or not to designate the forum as a relevant body. If
it decides not to do so The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 require it to
publish a statement setting out the decision and the reasons for making that decision (“the
refusal statement”) and details of where and when the refusal statement may be inspected.

Those Regulations also sets out the other main steps in the procedure for the
designation of neighbourhood forums, as explained in the report.
10.1.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

10.2.

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to:


Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act.



Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.



Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.

10.3.

It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed at 12.4
above.

10.4.

The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for Mayor and Cabinet,

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 340
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. Mayor and Cabinet must
understand the impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected
characteristics who are potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will
necessarily vary from case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in
all the circumstances.

10.5. Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This
includes steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The
guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it,
as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The
statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at:
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codespractice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-acttechnical-guidance
10.6.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:

1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
3. Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities
4. Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities
5. Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities
10.7.

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required,
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources
are available at:

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sectorequality-duty-guidance#h1

11.

Equalities implications

11.1.

The Council’s Comprehensive Equality Scheme for 2016-20 provides an overarching
framework and focus for the Council's work on equalities and helps ensure compliance
with the Equality Act 2010.

11.2.

Officers have prepared an Equalities Analysis (Appedndix 3) considering the

impact of the above recommendation.
11.3.

It is considered that the recommendation for consideration by Mayor and Cabinet on
the 6th October 2021 on the re-designation of the Forum will have no impact on those
with protected characteristics who are potentially affected by the decision.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 341
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

12.

Climate change and environmental implication

12.1.

There are no direct environmental impacts arising from this report.

13.

Crime and disorder implications

13.1.

There are no direct implications relating to crime and disorder issues.

14.

Health and wellbeing implications

14.1.

There are no direct implications relating to health and wellbeing issues.

15.

Background papers

DNA neighbourhood forum application form 2016 –
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s51877/Annex%202%20DNA%20Neighb
ourhood%20Forum%20Application%20WEB%20August%202017.pdf
Deptford neighbourhood Action neighbourhood area map –
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s41401/Annex%204%20DNA%20Neighb
ourhood%20Area%20with%20borough%20boundary.pdf
DNA neighbourhood forum constitution (included in the forum application) –
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s51877/Annex%202%20DNA%20Neighb
ourhood%20Forum%20Application%20WEB%20August%202017.pdf
Appendix 1 - Schedule of comments for Re-designation consultation May 2021 – attached as
PDF
Appendix 2 - Additional supporting information sent by forum – attached separately
Appendix 3 – Equalities Analysis

16.

Report author and contact
Emma Talbot, Director of planning, Emma.Talbot@Lewisham.gov.uk

17. Comments for and on behalf of the Executive Director for
Corporate Resources
17.1.

Shola Ojo Strategic Finance Business Partner, Corporate Resources,
Shola.Ojo@lewisham.gov.uk

18. Comments for and on behalf of the Director of Law,
Governance and HR
18.1.

Paula Young, Senior planning Lawyer, Paula.Young@Lewisham.gov.uk

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 342
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Appendix 1 Schedule of Comments – Deptford Neighbourhood Action Forum re-designation application

Page 343

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

1

Resident

Object

Members of the DNA do not live in the area
and some have been abusive. They have
reached only a small proportion of the
population of the area and their original
designation was based on fraudulently
adding name to their members list.

Comment noted by officer

2

Resident

Object

I am not seeing the investment into the local
community and I’m not seeing what is being
done to support the young people in the
area. Gentrifying and leaving the others
behind is totally unethical

Comment noted by officer

3

Resident

Object

The neighbourhood area is too large. My
name was used without my consent to
secure the first designation. This
organisation does not include plans from a
number of local organisations which
excludes their ideas from the plan. The
communication and social media is sporadic
and confusing. I do not support the Lenox
Project or Sayes Court Garden project and
these are a major part of the plan.

Comment noted by officer

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

4

Resident

Object

DNA have achieved remarkably little and
reached remarkably few people (140?!) in
the 5+ years they've been operational.

Comment noted by officer

They've received tens of thousands of public
money and appear to have spent most of it
on consultants. Most of the active members
do not live in Deptford and "doing good in
Deptford" appears to be a ethnographic
retirement project or an academic curiosity.

Page 344

Their designated area is far too big and
reflects their hubris rather than their skillset
or ability to deliver. They need to scale
down and they may be able to achieve some
of their aspirations, but this vanity project
shouldn't be supported by public funds any
more.
5

Forum Volunteer
(Neither resident or
Business owner)

Support

Because we have worked hard for 6 years
Comment noted by officer
now to produce the Draft Neighbourhood
Plan and we have just completed Reg 14
consultation - with somewhere in the region
of 180+ responses. The DNA neighbourhood
Plan policies will make a positive difference
to everyone living, and working in the DNA
area.

Page 345

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

6

Resident

Support

Deptford needs a strong voice for our views

Comment noted by officer

7

Resident /Business
Owner

Support

They propose a Deptford that serves the
interests of people, not big developers

Comment noted by officer

8

Resident /Business
Owner

Support

N/A

N/A

9

Resident (does not live
in designated area)

Support

I do support the re-designation as I do agree
with the policies written by DNA. I also
believe a Neighbourhood Forum to be an
effective way for local people to engage
with their neighbourhood politically,
architecturally and socially.

Comment noted by officer

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

10

Resident

Support

The planning in this area of Deptford seems Comment noted by officer
poor, not joined up and views of people who
live and work here dont seem to be listened
to.
A local group of people are needed to feed
views in and highlight areas of concern. I am
not involved with DNA but at the moment
they appear to be the only way we can
influence planning decisions

Page 346

11

Resident

Support

I support the re-designation because the
Deptford Neighbourhood Action Forum will
be best-placed to represent the interests of
local residents and businesses

Comment noted by officer

12

Resident /Works in area

Support

The community needs a voice to maintain
our rights.

Comment noted by officer

13

Volunteer in the
designated area

Support

Because DNA is an established and
respected Neighbourhood Forum, that I
wish to see continued.

Comment noted by officer

Page 347

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

14

Resident

Support

I think they have a positive vision and
planned activities which will be beneficial
for the neighbourhood.

Comment noted by officer

15

Resident

Object

Not necessary.

Comment noted by officer

16

Resident /Business
Owner

Support

N/A

Comment noted by officer

17

Resident /Business
Owner

Support

It is important our community to have a
neighbourhood forum for us to get the best
way to develop and improve our local area a
better quality of life for our residents.

Comment noted by officer

DNA has developed throughout the last 4
years an incredible neighbourhood plan with
policies that reflect equality, fairness and
opportunities for all.

Page 348

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

18

Resident

Support

We don't need so many houses in the area
but more green spaces would be nice.
Especially so close to the river.

Comment noted by officer

19

Volunteer in the
designated area

Support

DNA Deptford Neighbourhood Plan captures
the views of our diverse community and
includes heritage and identities specific for
the location, which is amazing. I am very
happy to support DNA application for redesignation as a Neighbourhood Forum.

Comment noted by officer

20

Resident

Object

The area proposed is too large and covers
far too many communities. I hereby register
my objection.

Comment noted by officer

Page 349

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

21

Resident /Business
Owner

Object

The haven engaged with local people, not
representative of local people. The area are
they proposed is too large, and covers far
too many local communities.

Comment noted by officer

22

Resident

Object

The area they proposed is too large and
covers far too many local communities.

Comment noted by officer

23

Amenity Forum

Object (Support if boundary
is altered)

Although we support the re-designation of
Deptford Neighbourhood Forum we believe
the boundary must be altered.
The present proposed boundary means the
area east of Tanner's Hill down to Lewisham
Way and across to the whole of Brookmill
Road CA and St John's CA will be lost to
Brockley Ward and Brockley Assembly.
It would mean losing the area we defended
as part of the negotiations we concluded
with the Local Government Boundary
Commission and would be contrary to their

Comment noted by officer

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

decision on Brockley Ward boundary.
This area fits less well both historically and
in terms of community activity with the
Deptford Neighbourhood area and should
not be included in it.

24

Chair of amenity forum
(

Support (If boundary is
altered)

Page 350

We support the DNA re-designation in
principle but NOT in so far as the area
proposed for re-designation erodes a key
area of Brockley Ward and thereby
diminishes the operational area of Brockley
Assembly.
In simple terms the area removed slices off
the area east of Tanners Hill down to
Lewisham Way and across to the whole of
Brookmill CA and St John's CA.
It would therefore mean losing the area we
defended as part of the negotiations we
successfully concluded with the Local
Government Boundary Commission and
would be contrary to their recommendation
on the Brockley Ward boundary and the
supportive decision of Brockley Assembly on
11 February 2020.
Accordingly we request that the DNA area
for re-designation be revised.

Comment noted by officer

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

25

Conservation Society
Forum

Object (support if boundary
is altered)

We support the re-designation of the
Deptford Neighbourhood Forum but believe
the boundary should be altered to avoid
confusion and potential problems with
established boundaries. The proposed
boundary change to include east of Tanner's
Hill and the whole of Brookmill Road CA cuts
across the boundaries agreed by the Local
Government Boundary Commission and
contradicts their decision to retain this area
within Brockley Ward.

Comment noted by officer

Page 351

Ref
No.

The Brookmill Road CA fits less well
historically with DNA and in terms of
community activity than it does with
Brockley Ward.
26

Resident

Object

The DNA has never really focused on the
issues important to north Deptford (north
Evelyn Ward) preferring always to give all
the attention to the southern part of the
area they cover.
I myself have attended a couple of meetings
at the beginning and quickly realised that

Comment noted by officer

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)
they weren’t interested in the slightest in
North Deptford.
Their action plan reflects this.

Page 352

Also through the years there has been a
complete lack of engagement with local
residents and organisation which do so
much in the local community (I.e. Evelyn
Parents Forum, Deptford Folk) which proves
that they do not in fact care what the ‘local’
views are and what’s important to residents
of the area. I haven’t myself seen anything
‘concrete’ coming from them and the plan
they’ve created certainly doesn’t reflects
the majority of people’s views who live
locally.
I think they’re completely out of touch with
the community and have created their plan
as a tick box exercise just to get the funding
they need.
For these reasons I completely oppose the
re-designation of this DNA.
Give someone else the chance to take this
on. Someone that can really make a
difference.
Alternatively, considering the Ward changes

Officer comment

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

in 2022, create the opportunity for two
forums to be created - one for the north of
the Ward and one for the south.

Page 353

27

Resident

Support

There is need more specific consultation on
this specific Area .... where most changes
are need it .

Comment noted by officer

28

Resident

Object

I think someone else should be given the
chance to create a neighbourhood forum
this time around. The people that run the
previous forum (current) haven’t been well
received from the community nor do they
represent the views of the majority of
residents in Evelyn.

Comment noted by officer

Their focus has always been more aimed at
Deptford central and not the north of the
ward.
North Deptford has already seen and will
see in the future the majority of the
developments in the area therefore should
either have its own forum or have one that
will represents its interests and those of the

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

community.
The current DNA does neither therefore I
oppose their re-designation.
29

Ward member

Object

I understand Deptford Neighbourhood
Action DNA are applying for re-designation
as a neighbourhood forum. I wanted to
object to their re-designation.

Page 354

Much of the proposed neighbourhood
forum area is in New Cross, the ward I’ve
represented since 2014.
From my experience, DNA’s main focus has
been on opposing the Council’s planned
development at Tidemill which will deliver
over 100 new social homes.
Asides from that, DNA’s engagement with
the local community has been very limited
and I do not feel that they are
representative of our community. I’ve
attended DNA meetings including their AGM
where there were only a handful of people
in attendance.
Members of their steering committee have
been personally abusive towards myself and
other Councillors in person and online.

Comment noted by officer

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment

Given this, I object to DNA’s re-designation,
and I hope that the Council rejects their
application.
30

Ward member

Object

I would also like to object. In addition to
what Cllr
has stated, and I concur
with. The area they wanted to and I believe
still want to designate is far to large and
infringes on areas which do not in mine and
others opinions represent Deptford.

Page 355

The engagement particularly in recent years
have been limited. I feel as a group they
have not engaged with the wider
community as they had done initially and
have become a closed campaigning group.
Therefore veering away from the original
objectives and does not represent the the
rich diversity within the community.
I would like to object to the DNA redesignation as a councillor of which a
majority of the area falls with New Cross
Ward which I have represented since 2014.
I have attended DNA meetings including
their AGM where there were only a handful
of people in attendance, and did not appear
to be representative if the area which they

Comment noted by officer

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)
wish to cover, nor of the very localised area
of Deptford.

Page 356

The area they wanted to and I believe still
want to designate is far too large and
infringes on areas which do not in mine and
others opinions in those areas
represent Deptford. The vast area which
they seek to cover is made up many smaller
communities who do not see themselves
represented by this group at all, have not
been engaged with to gain their views, have
been ignored and feel that they are ‘being
done to’. There has been no recognition that
other areas would or may like to form their
own neighbourhood forum in future.
The engagement particularly in recent years
have been extremely limited, and I include
the years of pre-Covid periods. The group
has not engaged with the wider community
as they had done initially and have become
a closed campaigning group, veering away
from the original objectives and does not
represent the rich diversity within the
community.

Officer comment

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

31

Ward member

Object

Comment (Forum designation)

Officer comment
Comment noted by officer

To avoid unnecessary repetition, I write in
support and in agreement with my fellow
Councillors in both New Cross and Brockley
wards that we object to this proposal from
Deptford Neighbourhood Forum for their
application for the area redesignation. The
proposal should therefore not be accepted.

Page 357

32

Ward member

Support

I support the DNA plan & have copied on
our Assembly Coordinator so that she can
disseminate the consultation to Evelyn local
groups.

Comment noted by officer

33

Ward member

Object

I would like to add my voice to Cllr
objection. She puts the case clearly and
succinctly such that i have nothing to add.

Comment noted by officer

34

Ward member (

Object

I have seen that Deptford Neighbourhood
Action are applying for re-designation as a
neighbourhood forum. I’m writing to you to
express my view that this re-designation
should be rejected.

Comment noted by officer

As you know the area covered by DNA
includes a large part of the north of Brockley
ward. I have been a councillor here since
2016 and have yet to see this group actively

Ref
No.

Respondent

Support/Object or Unclear

Comment (Forum designation)
engage in any community project, concern
or planning application.

Page 358

The only recent contact I have had with
them I believe was last year when they
invited me to a meeting about their
neighbourhood plan. I was very surprised to
learn that they were not aware of the
changes we had implemented to NCIL,
despite widespread engagement in the local
community. The meeting was poorly
attended and did not appear to be well
organised. The only previous contact I have
had with them as I recall was related to their
objection to the Tidemill Development. I
don’t believe that they have ever contacted
me with regards to any issues in Brockley
ward.
.

Officer comment

Equality Analysis Template
Name of proposal
Lead officer

M&C decision on the Re-designation of Deptford
Neighbourhood Action neighbourhood forum
Emma Talbot Emma.Talbot@lewisham.gov.uk

Other stakeholders
Date of Equality
September 2021
Analysis
1. The project or decision that this assessment is being undertaken
for
Deptford Neighbourhood Action neighbourhood forum (the Forum) are a
community organisation based primarily in the Evelyn ward of London
Borough of Lewisham who have been formally designated as the qualifying
body for the purposes of neighbourhood planning.
The forum was formally designated by Mayor and Cabinet for a 5 year period
on 17th February 2016 in accordance with;


Section 65F (5) of the Town and Country planning Act 1990 as
applied to section 38A of the planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004,



Localism Act (2011)



Neighbourhood Planning Regulations (2012) “the Regs”

The Forum have progressed the neighbourhood plan to Reg 14 public
consultation stage and have received 198 representations relating to the draft
plan. During the Reg 14 consultation the forum are required to engage with
local residents, business owners, council officers, members of the public, land
owners and statutory consultees.
As the 5 year designation of the forum lapsed in February 2021 an application
was made to formally re-designate the forum and therefore retain their status
as the qualifying body for the purposes of neighbourhood planning within the
designated neighbourhood area.
The Council held a 6 week public consultation from 18th March 2021 to 6th
May 2021 on the re-designation application to identify what level of support
there was within the designated neighbourhood area regarding the redesignation of the forum.
The public consultation on the re-designation application had 34 respondents.
17 respondents were supportive of the re-designation of the forum and 17
respondents objected to the re-designation.
The results of the consultation are considered to be highly unusual compared
to similar forum re-designation consultations held by the council. Officers are
also concerned regarding the nature of the objections outlined in the Mayor
and Cabinet report. In response to these concerns and prior to any decision
on the re-designation being made Council officers asked the forum to respond

Page 359

to the points raised and provide supporting evidence where appropriate.
Further detail is provided in the Mayor and Cabinet report.
Having considered the representations received during the re-designation
consultation and the further evidence provided by the forum it was concluded
that the decision to re-designate the forum could not be delegated to officers
and should be made by Mayor and Cabinet given the level of objection and
seriousness of some of the issues raised.
A report on the re-designation of the Forum will be considered by Mayor and
Cabinet on the 6th October 2021. The report sets out the background and
timeline for DNAs designation and production of its Reg 14 neighbourhood
plan, provides a detailed summary of the re-designation consultation and
outlines Officer’s key considerations in assessing the re-designation of the
forum. It concludes with recommending the following:


Mayor and Cabinet are recommended to:
a. Refuse the application for the re-designation of Deptford
neighbourhood Action forum for the reasons set out in the Mayor
and Cabinet report.
b. Direct officers to work with community groups within the
neighbourhood area to establish whether a viable neighbourhood
planning or masterplanning process can be established to
incorporate the views of all community groups and the general
public.

This Equalities Analysis considers the impact of the above recommendation.

2. The protected characteristics or other equalities factors potentially
impacted by the decision









Age
Gender
Religion
Ethnicity
Disability/Health
Language spoken
Employment
Education

Given the extent of the designated neighbourhood area all of the above
characteristics have been selected as a large group of people who live in the
area may be impacted by the decision.

3. The evidence to support analysis
Ethnicity

Number of residents

Page 360

% of residents

White - British
White - Irish
Gypsy
Other White
White and Black
Caribbean
White and Black African
White and Asian
Other Mixed
Indian
Pakistani
Bangladeshi
Chinese
Other Asian
Black African
Black Caribbean
Other Black
Arab
Any other ethnic groups

Age group
Age 0 -4
Age 5- 9
Age 10 – 14
Age 15 -19
Age 20 -24
Age 25 -29
Age 30 - 34
Age 35 - 39
Age 40 - 44
Age 45 - 49
Age 50 - 54
Age 55 - 59
Age 60 - 64
Age 65 – 69
Age 70 -74
Age 75 – 79
Age 80 – 84
Age 85 and over
Sex
Male
Female
Total population

4,297
214
12
1,962

25.9
1.3
0.1
11.8

431

2.6

257
118
314
208
78
104
1,074
1,104
3,686
1,491
782
142
329

1.5
0.7
1.9
1.3
0.5
0.6
6.5
6.6
22.2
9
4.7
0.9
2

% Population
7.5%
6.9%
6.7%
4.7%
8.2%
13.4%
12.4%
9.9%
7.2%
6.2%
5.2%
4.2%
2.7%
1.6%
1.2%
1%
0.8%
0.4%

Number
11,106
11,258
22,391

% of population
49.66%
50.34%

Languages Spoken (Top % of population
4)
English
70.74%
French
2.35%

Page 361

Spanish
Portuguese
Other (over 80 spoken
at time of 2011 Census)

1.4%
1.37%
24.14

Religion
Christian
Buddhist
Hindu
Jewish
Muslim
Sikh
Other
No religion
Religion not stated

% of population
52.64%
3.85%
1.59%
0.16%
10.09%
0.14%
0.50%
23.12%
7.87%

Education
No Qualifications
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Level 4
Apprentice
Other

% of population
19.1%
12%
12.7%
10.3%
33.5%
1.1%
11.3%

Employment
Full time work
Part time work
Full time student
Self employed
Unemployed
Retired

% of population
38.4%
11.4%
5.6%
7.4%
8%
5.1%

4. Impact Assessment
The Forum published its agreed constitution when the Forum was adopted in Feb
2016. The constitution of the forum states their overarching objective as being “to
encourage, empower and enable the involvement of all communities living and
working in the defined neighbourhood area in the preparation, production and
implementation of the neighbourhood Development plan” including an aim to:


Encourage community cohesion and active citizenship”.

This open membership means that in principle the re-designation of the Forum has
the potential to have a positive impact, because it means a wide range of local
people can become more closely involved in local planning issues.

Page 362

However, Officers have found relationships between the Forum and neighbouring
organisations over the previous 5 years have been strained with a number of
organisations and Councillors objecting to the re-designation. The Council has
received little evidence that the forum has sought to address these issues through its
previous 5 year period to ensure the process encourages, empowers and enables
the involvement of all communities living and working in the area. This is further
supported through the responses received in the re-designation consultation.
The results of the re-designation consultation held by the Council were inconclusive
showing a 50/50 split between objection and support. Compared to similar redesignation applications held by the council this is a highly unusual result. Previous
re-designation application consultations in the borough have been supported by 93 97% of those who have submitted a representation. Further details can be found in
the Mayor and Cabinet report.
Whilst the Council can provide support and advice it is the responsibility of the Forum
to ensure that it complies with its published constitution. Given the experience of the
previous 5 years there is therefore some uncertainty over the impact of the redesignation of the Forum and whether this would lead to positive outcomes.
Officers are therefore recommending Mayor and Cabinet refuse the re-designation of
the Forum and direct officers to work with all community groups within the
neighbourhood area to establish whether a viable neighbourhood planning or
masterplanning process can be established to incorporate the views of all community
groups and the general public.
It is accepted that there will be an impact on those members of the Forum and those
members of the public who have engaged in the process of developing a draft
neighbourhood plan to Regulation 14 stage. We recognise that this is an area of high
deprivation and a high concentration of BAME residents. However the number of
representations received during the stages of public consultations (198
representations during Regulation 14 consultation) are relatively modest when
compared to the total population within the neighbourhood area. It can therefore be
concluded that the number of residents involved, within those groups that will be
directly impacted by this decision is likely to be small.
Given the above, the decision is not considered to impact on those with protected
characteristics who are potentially affected by it.

5. Mitigation
Officers have considered the options available to the Council through the redesignation process including:


Delay the decision and re-consult on the re-designation of the forum to
establish more definitively if there is widespread public support or not. Whilst this
may provide additional clarity on public support it would not address the other
fundamental concerns outlined in the Mayor and Cabinet report. Officers are also

Page 363

unconvinced that a further consultation process is likely to change the views of
neighbouring groups and Councillors.


Re-designate the forum and proceed with neighbourhood plan. This will not
address the fundamental concerns outlined in the Mayor and Cabinet report.



Re-designate the forum with the condition that the forum have to work
collaboratively to neighbouring groups and demonstrate effective public
participation. As a community lead process the Council is limited in its legal right
to be involved in the plan making process, making this a difficult option to monitor
and assess the success. Officer’s understanding is that neighbouring groups are
likely to want to revisit fundamental components of the plan like the vision and
policies which may not be palatable to the Forum.



Refuse to re-designate the forum and welcome new applications for smaller
more focused areas. Whilst this may address some of the issues outlined in the
Mayor and Cabinet report. It is likely to result in two or more applications which
will overlap. As this is prohibited under the neighbourhood planning Regulations
the Council would have to mediate between the groups and either agree revised
boundaries or refuse the applications

Officers are recommending that Mayor and Cabinet refuse the re-designation of the
Forum and direct officers to work with all community groups within the
neighbourhood area to establish whether a viable neighbourhood planning or
masterplanning process can be established to incorporate the views of all community
groups and the general public. It is notable that during the period that the Council has
been considering the re-designation, the Forum has reached out to neighbouring
groups in a positive manner. Officers are therefore encouraged that this could be an
option that may see a positive outcome where the community can come together
more successfully. During this period the Council would delay any decisions on
applications for any new Forum applications received within the Neighbourhood
Area.

6. Decision/ Result
It is considered that the recommendation for consideration by Mayor and
Cabinet on the 6th October 2021 on the re-designation of the Forum will have
no impact on those with protected characteristics who are potentially affected
by the decision.

7. Equality Analysis Action Plan
We will be engaging with all local community groups within the neighbourhood
area to establish whether a viable neighbourhood planning or masterplanning
process can be established.
We will consult more widely with the public to ensure we have suitable
representation through the process.
We will work with our communities’ team to reach out to our seldom heard
groups on an appropriate way forward.

Page 364

Signature of Emma Talbot

Page 365

Additional Representations Deptford Neighbourhood Action re-designation
Respondent

Representation submitted

re: Support for re-designation of Deptford Neighbourhood Forum and Deptford Neighbourhood Area
Sydenham Hill Ridge
(received 29th September 2021)

I am writing in my personal capacity as Secretary of Sydenham Hill Ridge Neighbourhood Forum (SHRNF), one of
Lewisham’s Neighbourhood Forums, from the establishment of the Forum in October 2018 to 1st June 2021.
Through my time of office as SHRNF Secretary, I found Andrea Carey and the DNA team an inspiration for the work of
SHRNF. The DNA team generously shared knowledge with me how to set up and manage a Neighbourhood Forum in
Lewisham, and spoke encouragingly of Lewisham as a borough which encourages Neighbourhood Forums.

Page 366

It is very important that Neighbourhood Forums be allowed to complete their Neighbourhood Plan; and that
residents, businesses and volunteers in the Neighbourhood Area are not deprived of the right to vote whether to
approve such a Plan or not, due to technicalities within the Neighbourhood Planning process (such as the need to be
re-designated 5 years after formation).
I will be pleased to provide any further evidence you may require of the seriousness with which Andrea and the DNA
team have gone about the work of communicating with other Neighbourhood Forums in Lewisham, and spreading a
message that Lewisham wants to engage with its Neighbourhood Forums, as indeed has been my experience during
my time as Secretary of SHRNF.

Len Duvall, London assembly
member for Greenwich and
Lewisham
(received 26th September 2021)

I want to start by praising the excellent work of Deptford Neighbourhood Action in supporting and encouraging both
the local community in Deptford and the work of the council among this community.
The Draft Neighbourhood Plan submitted here addresses community needs as identified through extensive
engagement with a wide cross section of the community. Faith groups, diverse cultural groups, schools and
marginalised peoples have all played a role in developing the Plan being submitted. Deptford Neighbourhood Action
have also spent time on outreach in key local areas, involving as many different people as possible to ensure this Plan
is a clear reflection of the needs and priorities of Deptford’s local community.

The plan outlines benefits to the local Deptford area and more widely Lewisham. These benefits include:









Ongoing community engagement
Creation of new employment opportunities
Social justice and social integration
Continuing redevelopment of Deptford
Climate change and the circular community
Improved biodiversity and greening
Healthy living
Heritage and identity of Deptford

Page 367

DNA has set the community voice at the heart of its work and is committed to strengthening the role of the
community in local planning issues. The Neighbourhood Plan outlines how this work will continue, with the inclusion
of community groups through the proposed Community Projects. The annual resident and employee ‘State of Health
and Well-Being Deptford’ survey will make sure that local voices continue to feed into the ongoing work of DNA.
Through its prioritisation of local heritage alongside driving improvements to local infrastructure the DNA Plan also
addresses the population growth seen recently in Deptford. With wider growth set to continue, DNA’s neighbourhood
plan ensures this redevelopment will support a stronger community and supports Lewisham’s plans to bring further
regeneration and redevelopment to the area.
Local engagement has developed the Plan, meaning that it now includes innovative ideas to maximise improvements.
The community displayed a real concern for climate change and the role that local communities can play in
decarbonisation and the move to net-zero. The DNA Neighbourhood Plan includes this and proposes how Deptford
can play a role in combatting climate change.
The Green Links network, a map which is available at D4.7, is a key part of this work. It will promote improvements to
the green infrastructure of Deptford, encouraging walking and cycling and improving streetscapes through urban
greening. This builds upon the North Lewisham Links Policy of the council and makes sure that the outlying areas such
as the Silverwood Estate are brought to the fore and community links strengthened.
The plan put forward by DNA reflects the views of the local community. It reflects the concerns of those living in
Deptford and will help Lewisham Council to bring cohesion and a sense of community to an area which has seen

significant redevelopment and population growth. The Plan offers community-led improvements whose objectives
are to make Deptford the best place to live that it can be, as set out by those who know it best.
Lewisham Council is committed to the processes of neighbourhood planning and the work of DNA demonstrates this
commitment too. As such it makes sense to continue with the process and for officers to continue to work with DNA
and the community. As such I urge you to allow the process to continue and for DNA’s Draft Neighbourhood Plan to
move to the next stage.

Deptford Society
(Received 6th Oct 2021)

The Deptford Society is writing in support of the re-designation of Deptford Neighbourhood Action as the approved
body to carry out the finalisation and submission of the Deptford Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 368

We have grave concerns that should the council reject the re-designation of DNA, the considerable amount of effort
by local community volunteers and the public funding that has so far been put into the draft plan will go to waste. This
would not only show a disregard for public funds, but would also undermine and demotivate the communities that the
council claims to want to engage with.
Most importantly it would leave Deptford without any neighbourhood plan for several years at least, and raises
questions about how development of any alternative neighbourhood plan will be funded.
We challenge the claims in the officer's report that DNA has not engaged with the local community; this is not our own
experience as we have been invited multiple times to participate in meetings and planning forums, and have done so
when we have had the resources. Many other local groups have also been represented on these occasions, where
participants have been diverse and engaged.
Our members understand and appreciate the time and energy that DNA has put into developing this draft plan and
can see no valid reason for the re-designation to be refused.

DNA’s report for Mayor & Planning Meeting on 6th October 2021
Reasons for Mayor and Cabinet to Re-Designate Deptford Neighbourhood
Action (DNA), as the Neighbourhood Forum for Deptford we are the qualifying body
to complete the DNA Neighbourhood Plan. Under The Localism Act 2011, the
Forum has brought forward the DNA Neighbourhood Plan (Reg 16) Plan ready to
submit to the Council. This is the last stage of consultation due to be carried out by
the Council prior to the Neighbourhood Plan being examined by an Independent
Planning Inspector.
National planning policy places an emphasis on neighbourhood planning and local
councils facilitating neighbourhood planning.

“When a neighbourhood area is designated a local planning authority
should avoid pre-judging what a qualifying body may subsequently decide
to put in its draft neighbourhood plan or Order. It should not make
assumptions about the neighbourhood plan or Order that will emerge from
developing, testing and consulting on the draft neighbourhood plan or Order
when designating a neighbourhood area.”
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#para088
DNA’s original application and re-application contains:
● A map identifying the Neighbourhood area was agreed with local residents
prior to designation based upon local residents’ views as to the area
they saw as being “Deptford” by those who live and work in the Area.

● A statement supporting our application: Our aim and purpose is to produce a
Neighbourhood Plan with planning policies that will have a positive impact
on the social, economic and environmental well-being of the people that
live, work and visit Deptford.

What is the role of the wider community in neighbourhood planning?
A qualifying body should be inclusive and open in the preparation of its
neighbourhood plan or Order and ensure that the wider community:

● is kept fully informed of what is being proposed
● is able to make their views known throughout the process

Page 369

● has opportunities to be actively involved in shaping the emerging
neighbourhood plan or Order
● is made aware of how their views have informed the draft
neighbourhood plan or Order.

DNA has provided over 300 pieces of evidence to the Council - including a
breakdown of our Reg 14 consultation responses and a detailed report of our
consultation process carried out which clearly demonstrated to the Head of Planning
that DNA has met the requirement of being inclusive and open in the preparation
of the DNA Neighbourhood Plan:
● 10,000 Reg 14 leaflets delivered to homes in the Neighbourhood Area before
Covid-19 (& 600+ between November ‘20-March ‘21)(Our Objectives; list of all the
proposed policies; website and survey details)

●

Launch Event 17th October 2019; and prize draw for survey launched

● 29 Emails communications sent out October 2019- September 2021 to all 144
members, 77 Local Organisations and 14 Politicians keeping people
informed, inviting them to meetings/events/progress updates on the
Neighbourhood Plan.

● Circa £100,000 in LOCALITY Public Funding has been given to DNA for:

1. Neighbourhood Consultancy work (Whole Neighbourhood Plan Area)
2. An AECOM Character and Heritage Study (Whole Neighbourhood Plan
Area) - in conjunction with Deptford Working Histories & Build The Lenox
3. Site Allocation study (Pepys Estate - Evelyn Ward specific) (AR Urbanism)
4. Design Codes for Convoys Wharf site (Pepys Estate - Evelyn Ward
specific) (3 Event based consultations) (AR Urbanism)

● £25,000 Trust for London Grant obtained by DNA in July 2020 - “for the
purposes of completing a neighbourhood plan in Deptford.”

● DNA display and talks given at Brockley; New Cross & Evelyn Ward Assembly
meetings since 2016

Page 370

● Consultations prior to Launch of Draft Reg 14 Plan made with:

1. Children & Young People - Tidemill Academy;

The Vietnamese Association;
Young football players from the Old Ball Park (in Arklow road - we organised
a community meeting & over 30 people attended to tell us what they thought
about plans to build on the Old Ball Park); input from Dave Cotterill
(Salvation Army) & Phil Turner (Second Wave); & Marion Briggs (Alliance
for Childhood), DNA attended the LESOCO Festival of Ideas and have spoken
at Goldsmiths College about Mental Health and Housing.

2. Hard to reach cultural groups - DNA funded

a Vietnamese Cultural event in
March 2016; & supported/spoke at Lewisham Refugee Migrant Network's
event at the Civic Suite in June 2017 for Refugee week; The Afghan and
Asian Association. DNA assisted with and supported the launch of MOSAF
(Museum of Slavery & Freedom)

3. DisabilityDisadvantaged groups/Health & Well-being issues - Andrea
Hughes attended the Health Improvement Forum & community connections
meetings; North Lewisham Community Health and Well-being meetings, NLP
meetings at the Waldron. DNA attended the Council's homelessness Forum &
met with Health Advisers at City Hall, took part in Health Inequalities
consultations at the GLA & discussions about the Health & Wellbeing bid,
Clean Air meeting Corbett Community Library.
4. Parks Groups - DNA has attended meetings & updated people & distributed
leaflets: Lewisham Parks Forum, Deptford Folk, Sayes Court Garden, Friends of
Tidemill Garden, Creekside Discovery Centre, John Evelyn Garden,Twinkle Park
(table at their annual event) Friends of Brookmill Garden; Lewisham Green & Open
Spaces Forum Civic Suite, Crossfields Open Space.

5. General Public consultation/involvement - DNA has held over 20 open public
meetings 2015-2021 (inc AGM’s) PLUS: Deptford Market stall consultation
(June 2017); Riverside Consultation (September 2020); Giffin Square
consultation - (included Homeless people who hang out there) (October 2020);
ETRA Food store consultations; & Fish ‘n’ chip Silwood Consultation in
February 2021.

-

These public meetings have been advertised through emails, flyers and postcards
and took place at: The Albany; Deptford Lounge; CAC 2000; Pepys Resource Centre;
ETRA Community centre; the Pink Palace; & the Olivest Baptist Church & St
Katherine’s Church.

-

DNA have had short exhibition displays at Deptford Lounge & the Lewington
Community Centre; and a long-term display at the Pepys Resource Centre.

Page 371

●

DNA steering committee is multi-cultural: we have two Brazilian, one Italian and one
French steering group committee members including Dr. Mireille Tchapi Lecturer in
Urban Design, planning, & architecture

●

UCL Urban Planning & UCL Urban Design students supported DNA Neighbourhood Plan with
evidence base work from 2016 & 2017 (Used by the Council for the Local Plan)

●

University of Westminster students exhibition was on display at Reg 14 Launch and

previously displayed at the London festival of architecture (12 June 2019-opening of

the exhibition at the University of Westminster)

●

The Timberyard took part in our February 2020 AGM; and DNA organised specific

meetings with Convoys Wharf: 2 on-line meetings zoom with Project Director,
Planning Team & consultation team forty shillings.

●

GLA support for DNA Re-designation from: Len Duvall (who has chaired 4
DNA AGM’s); & Caroline Russell (London List member). GLA members
Caroline Pidgeon, Sian Berry & Nicky Gavron have also shown their support
for our work & DNA took part in a consultation meeting about Neighbourhood
Planning in 2019.

●

With Len Duvall, DNA established the Lewisham Neighbourhood Planning
Network to network, share information and experiences to promote and
support Neighbourhood Planning across Lewisham.

●

DNA have helped promote/taken part in Council consultations in our
Neighbourhood Plan Area and produced a considered response to the Local
Plan and supported Council Heritage meetings. DNA inputted into the London
Plan consultation meetings run by Just Space.

●

Vicky Foxcroft MP, & Len Duvall OBE, as well as Brenda Dacres (initially) all
supported the DNA campaign to have a community collaborative charette to
re-design the Old Tidemill School site to keep the Wildlife Garden at the heart
of this community. (As did GLA members Sian Berry, Caroline Russell &
Caroline Pidgeon)

We received 198 Reg 14 representations from a wide range of residents PLUS Lewisham Council, Tfl,
GLA, Environment Agency, Natural England and Convoys Property Limited. A detailed report was
sent to LBL Planning officers!

●

Lewisham Planning Officers supported: 14/15 DNA Housing Policies; 8/8 Local
Employment Policies; 5/6 Heritage and Identity policies; 9/10 Health & Well-being policies and
5/6 Child-friendly Deptford policies

Page 372

●

DNA used two community engagement consultants who during Covid-19 between November
2020 - March 2021
Danielle Heath

1. 393 phone calls were made - offering support/help to complete the Reg 14 on-line survey and
capturing raw data by hand for those who didn’t have internet access.
2. 210 personalised emails were sent.
3. 56 Texts were sent.
4. 4 group consultations were held - with primary school Latin American parents; with Food
Bank participants at Pepys Resource Hub
5. DNA Youtube film produced (to help residents understand Neighbourhood Planning):
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=AIpfYue44CQ

Rita Edmond - Independent consultant/resident (specifically for the Silwood Estate) - Rita and
two young people (one teenager and one in early twenties engaged to do this piece of work DNA paid for training, provided equipment for the community - laptop and printer and paid
London Living Wage rates to all the consultants involved. We also supported them with their
own bid to the Trust for London to develop their community work.

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

3 sets of phone calls to residents in the Silwood Community
DNA Display at St Katherine’s Church
Outreach consultation to encourage food-bank users (Lewington Centre) to engage with DNA
Outreach work with the Library bus at Silwood engaging young people with DNA
Fish ‘n’ chip lunch with exhibition and survey support
(46 responses were collected from this work on one estate)! DNA had previously tried to
have an event to get residents involved in re-designing the children’s playground area - an
issue we had previously picked up on but L & Q failed to follow up on our efforts to plan this
with them.

Responses to unfair objections, unfounded allegations that have been made against us

Undue emphasis has been placed on the objections without assessing their accuracy or
relevance. The report produced by the Head of Planning is negatively slanted and lacks
objectivity, openness and honesty. For example it lists the objections first and most
damningly allows misleading and incorrect information which has not been shared with DNA
prior to the report being written and circulated - both internally and externally visible to the
public, it has effectively disparaged six years of our work which has all been voluntary.
The Head of Planning has failed to properly consider all the evidence provided to her
by DNA as has been set out above. 28 members names accompanied DNA’s own
application for re-designation including 2 GLA members and 1 Councillor. There have been
further additional letters of support (copied into the Head of Planning and/or the Mayor) from
Deptford Organisations such as Cockpit Arts, Voice4Deptford, Alliance for Childhood,
the Deptford Society, Sydenham Ridge Neighbourhood Forum, an artist from the
Faircharm Trading estate, two other additional residents one of whom has lived in
Deptford since 2000, and Emma Warren who has published work about Deptford and the

Page 373

docks site - totalling 33 individuals plus these additional 4 organisations that the Head
of Planning has deliberately excluded from her report.

The decision of the Head of Planning in her report to recommend refusal is
largely based on a response of 34 people. The report states that this is a low
response compared to other neighbourhood plans.

The low response can arise from two factors.
1. The Council did not reach enough people to get a larger response.
2. There is some factor in Deptford that makes it different from the others.

1. With Deptford being one of the most deprived areas in the country, many
people are focussed on survival and are not tuned in to things like
neighbourhood plans, so without the concerted effort DNA put into outreach
consultation work we would not have had the good response we had to our Reg
14 consultation. Many members of the Deptford Community do not use or have
access to electronic media which seems to be the main method used by the
Council for consultation. DNA and other local groups are aware of this and
hence the methods used such as direct leafleting, phone calls and meeting
people where they are. The results are well documented.

2. There is a particular dynamic between some community groups which the
report refers to but does not fully understand. This has brought about objections
from only 2-3 tribalistic groups (out of about 400) within the Evelyn community.
These objections are not surprising, given this dynamic. DNA has gone a long
way in bringing groups together and in the case of Everest, to integrate their
development plan for Evelyn ward. This offer was made previously to Everest
who have shown an interest since the AGM in early July. Healing the whole
community is beyond the brief of creating a neighbourhood plan and DNA have
always worked in an open way encouraging everyone they meet to get involved
or to participate. We cannot force people who don’t want to engage with us to
do so!
Two of the people who responded stating they are in support of DNA’s
re-designation have not been included as ‘support’. They had reservations about
boundaries relating to Brockley which needs to be discussed by the council and
DNA going forward - the Brockley area of the DNA Area affects only about 5
roads - considered by residents themselves to be ‘in Deptford’ and DNA would
work positively with these groups to resolve any tensions around this particular
boundary issue.
In relation to the Council’s consultation on our Re-designation - DNA have NOT
been given any information about the Council’s engagement strategy and how
much consultation/what methods of dissemination it used to try to obtain views
from local residents and groups to gauge support for the DNA’s re-designation.
From the 34 people who had the time/resources/ability to complete the only

Page 374

on-line Council survey - there are 19 in support and 15 objections, that is
55%:45%, a bigger majority in support that the one that took the country out of
Europe!
And of those 15 objections:
No 1 is libelous and the Head of Planning is showing bias and lack of
honesty/integrity by including these comments: The process of applying for
Designation is to supply the Council with a list of members so that the Council
can contact/assess those people. When DNA made its first application to the
Council in 2016 it supplied a list of members at that time - residents who had
freely and willingly been part of the early meetings and who chose to join us by
signing themselves up as members. It is and continues to be the Council's legal
responsibility to assess the information provided on the application in relation to
members.
No 2 is a criticism of the Council’s planning policies not DNA and should
not have been included!
No 3 incorrectly states that Sayes Court Garden and the Lenox Project are
“a major part of our Plan”. The Head of Planning knows this isn’t the case
and has left this unchallenged.
No 4 - As outlined above, DNA have reached significantly more numbers of
people than we have members and conflating the two is wrong, as not everyone
we meet or engage with has chosen to become a member.
No 21 - DNA have demonstrated to Planning Officers that we have engaged
with people who are representative of local people by engaging with different
ages, cultures, community groups etc.
No 26 & No 28 - Is clearly another false statement that should not have been
included given DNA’s work in the Pepys and Evelyn Estates and the Evelyn
Ward part of the Area has had the benefit of all 4 funded LOCALITY technical
packages - whereas the other parts of the Area have only benefitted from 2!
The statement about lack of engagement is also false and has been left
unchallenged by the Head of Planning in her report despite 300 pieces of DNA
consultation evidence handed in.
No 29/30 - The Ward Cllrs are factually wrong - most of the DNA
Neighbourhood Plan Area is in Evelyn Ward (as it covers the whole of Evelyn
Ward). Our main focus has been on producing a set of Neighbourhood Planning
Policies! There was an opportunity at the Tidemill Site for the Council to work
with the community on a collaborative plan to keep the Wildlife Garden at the
heart of this development as a social focal point, to prevent bio-diversity loss,
and to continue to be the ‘green lungs’ for that part of Deptford - it saddens us
that the Council chose not to support what would have been a WIn:Win for
Council & Community on this site! It was the DNA led campaign that convinced
the Planning Committee to defer this planning application in 2016 supporting
one of our arguments that at that time there was only going to be a total of 12%
social housing! If we hadn’t campaigned for a better deal for the community this
would not have increased to 49%! If this ward member had attended more than
one of our meetings or read the emails that have been sent to them they would
be more aware of the extent of our engagement!
No 29/30, 31 and 33 - DNA believe these objections to be politically motivated.

Page 375

No 34 - Approximately 1/10 of our Area is in Brockley ward and there have
been no concerns or large planning applications in Deptford Broadway/Friendly
street that we have had to contact this Cllr about. We have engaged with
businesses in Deptford Broadway on the Brockley side to obtain their views for
the neighbourhood Plan - E.g. WellBeloved Butchers, Abstractions and
Chaplin’s Barbers. DNA has attended Friends of Brookmill meetings and
meetings at the Leander Community Centre. Of course DNA were aware of
NCIL changes and we had an email exchange with this Cllr on this point
following our Launch. Contrary to her opinion our launch was well organised
with hot food and the University of Westminster exhibition as well as the DNA
exhibition - our Neighbourhood Planning Consultant presented the Reg 14 plan.

The size of the DNA Neighbourhood Plan Area was determined by the Council in
association with DNA. At that time of original designation it was not considered too
large. The comments regarding size in the objections relate mainly to the boundary
issue with Bromley and the Evelyn Ward group who wanted a plan for Evelyn Ward.
This situation has changed. The Evelyn Ward plan is a development plan and work
has been done to integrate it into the neighbourhood plan. It is clear that this would
give more strength and backing to the Evelyn plan. The negative report and
recommendation of the Head of Planning has now caused Everest to step back.
It is also beyond the brief of a planning officer to anticipate the decision of the planning
inspector who will examine our Consultation Statement - this decision is the concern of
the Inspectorate who is independent and not to be judged by the planning office.
This report is biased and unfair to the people who have given support because it
largely ignores them. It is also unjust. DNA deserve better and more respectful
treatment from the Council than this. Re-designation is the only way forward to
avoid losing something quite precious and of great value to the circa 27,000
residents in our Neighbourhood Plan Area who stand to benefit greatly from the
DNA Neighbourhood Planning Policies, as do Lewisham Council who will get
the kudos for it. Having a Neighbourhood Plan for Deptford is the only way to
protect direct democracy regarding land-use planning matters in relation to the
intended changes in planning law. It is highly unlikely that there is another group in
Deptford who can tackle creating a new plan with the same thoroughness and
determination as DNA. Locality who have funded DNA to produce a Neighbourhood
Plan for Deptford regard our Plan very highly and do not envisage that any other group
could produce a better neighbourhood plan for Deptford.
DNA being

a “relevant body” who have met the legislation requirements, believe
that the Council must now exercise its power to (re) designate DNA as the
Neighbourhood Forum for “Deptford”.
If the Mayor & Cabinet decide not to re-designate DNA based on a
negatively-biased officer report and politically motivated objections, then DNA will
have no alternative but to legally challenge the process leading up to this meeting
and the subsequent decision of Lewisham Council.
***********************

Page 376

KEY DECISION

Mayor and Cabinet

Addendum to DNA re-designation
Date: 4th October 2021
This is an addendum to the report titled DNA Re-designation due before Mayor and
Cabinet on 6th October 2021.
In relation to the DNA Re-designation the Council received a response to the M&C report
from Deptford Neighbourhood Action (the forum) on the 06th October 2021. The response
by the forum has been distributed to Cabinet members prior to its meeting. This addendum
provides officers responses to the points raised within the forum’s response. The forum’s
response is not numbered by paragraph therefore this addendum addresses the points
raised in order by themes.

1. The Council’s role in Neighbourhood Planning
1.1.

The Council is aware and understands its role and duties relating to Neighbourhood
Planning and carries these out in accordance with the Localism Act 2011. This
policy basis is outlined in Section 3 of the M&C report. The Council currently has 4
Neighbourhood Forums, with one ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plan. Officers continue to
support neighbourhood planning activities within the borough in an objective and
transparent manner.

2. DNA’S original application and re-application
2.1.

The M&C report Section 4 outlines the forums original application and the contents
of its re-designation application

3. Additional supporting information
3.1.

All of the additional supporting information that was received by the Council at the
time of writing the M&C report was acknowledged in the original report outlined in
section 6.

3.2.

We acknowledge the submission of further additional information provided by the
forum and it is helpful that the forums response provides further clarity to be
considered by M&C.

3.3.

For clarity section 6 of the original report should include the 10,000 Regulation 14
leaflets delivered by the forum and the engagement activities undertaken by the
two community engagement consultants.

3.4.

DNA stated that over 300 pieces of evidence had been submitted to the Council.
Council officers note that the majority of the information provided was done so

Page 377

through a set of slides which included photographs of e-mails which had been
printed out as physical copies as noted in 6.10 of the original report.
3.5.

The M&C report notes in 6.13 that 198 responses were received by the forum
during their Regulation 14 consultation. A consultation statement was received by
the Council on the 21st September 2021 outlining results from a survey and
representations made by statutory consultees.

3.6.

All representations submitted to the re-designation consultation were listed in the
schedule of comments (appendix 1) with the report providing a summary of the
comments in section 5 of the M&C report. After the M&C report dispatched, the
Council received a representation in support of the forum’s re-designation from
another Lewisham neighbourhood forum called Sydenham Hill Ridge.

3.7.

Officers received a representation on the 27th September 2021 in support of the redesignation from Len Duvall London Assembly member for Greenwich and
Lewisham.

3.8.

Officers received a representation on the 6th October 2021 in support of the redesignation of the forum from the Deptford Society.

3.9.

All additional representations as referenced in sections 3.6, 3.7 and 3.8 in this
addendum can be read in full in appendix 4

3.10.

Officers acknowledge the work that has been undertaken through the forum’s
Regulation 14 consultation and have included further additional information relating
to this stage of the drafting of the neighbourhood plan within this addendum.
However the re-designation consultation should be regarded separately to any of
the Regulation 14 engagement activities as it is in itself a different process to a redesignation consultation.

4. Lewisham Planning Officers supporting the plan
4.1.

Whilst officers have continued to support the forum in the production of the plan, it
should be noted that although generally supportive of the intention of the plan,
officers have raised fundamental concerns with regard to specific policies in the
draft plan and whether these policies would meet the basic conditions during the an
independent examination.

5. Response to the objections and allegations
5.1.

The M&C report accurately reflects the representations made during the redesignation consultation. Due to the severity and nature of some of the objections
these are discussed in further detail in Section 5.12 and 7.

5.2.

The M&C report is a transparent and balanced assessment of the information and
views received during the re-designation consultation. Officers strongly reject the
inference that the report is biased.

5.3.

The order of the representations made as found in appendix 1 are in the order in
which they were exported from the online consultation tool. There was no attempt
by officers to prioritise objections for the purposes of the M&C report.

5.4.

As is good practice with all consultations held by the planning policy team, all
representations were presented as received during the consultation. This text was

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 378
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

not edited by officers, however personal information was redacted in line with
GDPR.

5.5.

DNA state that the Head of Planning had “deliberately excluded representations”
from 33 individuals plus 4 organisations from the report however officers are
unclear as to where this information was submitted to. 28 additional e-mails
supporting the re-designation have been referenced in in section 6.11 of the M&C
report but officers are unaware of a further 33 e-mails being received. There was
no attempt to deliberately exclude any information or representations from the M&C
report and all submissions regarding the additional supporting information have
been presented in the M&C report or this addendum.

6. Response to low turnout and consultation representations
6.1.

DNA highlight the fact that a low response rate could have arisen from two factors:


“The Council did not reach enough people to get a larger response”:

6.2.

The Council has outlined the consultation methods used during this consultation in
section 5.6 of the M&C report.

6.3.

Council officers undertook this consultation in accordance with the Neighbourhood
Planning Regulations and with the Council’s adopted Statement of Community
Involvement. At the time of the consultation the Council were unable to provide any
physical promotional material due to the temporary Covid-19 regulations.

6.4.

Whilst officers acknowledge that an exclusively online consultation can act as a
barrier of entry for some sections of the community, the Council’s experience of
online consultation activities during the Covid-19 pandemic has been a largely
positive one, experiencing high levels of engagement most notably during the Local
Plan consultation activities.


“There are some factors in Deptford that makes it different to others”

6.5.

DNA suggest that there are some factors within Deptford that make the area
different to others, particularly around collaborative working between neighbouring
groups. Officers find each neighbourhood area in Lewisham has its own differences
and this should not be considered a sufficient reason for a low response rate during
a re-designation consultation.

6.6.

The response also refers to objections made by groups in the Evelyn area that
were using the consultation for “tribalistic” reasons due to a particular dynamic in
the area. Officers are aware of strained relationships between some groups in the
area, and these strained relationships are a factor that has informed our
recommendation. Whilst DNA are unhappy with these statements the
representations outline the genuine concerns of other groups in the area and the
Council must consider those..

6.7.

DNA acknowledges the EVERST community group. In the M&C report section 7.7
officers note that there were encouraging signs of a possible collaboration between
the two groups. At the time of drafting this addendum officers had received
notification in the form of an email that EVERST have decided not to work with the
forum.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 379
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

6.8.

The response states that 2 representations which objected to the re-designation
during the consultation should be included as supporting the forum re-designation.
The representations in question clearly objected to the forum re-designation on the
condition that the neighbourhood area was too large. Officers are satisfied that the
responses have been categorised correctly.

6.9.

DNA have provided feedback on the objections received from residents, Cllrs and
neighbourhood groups to the forum re-designation. Whilst officers note that DNA do
not agree with the comments made, nonetheless the report provides an accurate
representation of the responses received and the Council must consider those.

6.10.

A summary of the supporting and objecting representations made during the
consultation have been provided in section 5.12 of the M&C report. The summary
includes issues that were raised within the representations that concerned officers
regarding the re-designation of the forum. The comments received during the
consultation are available in full in appendix 1 of the M&C report.

7. Response to the size of the Neighbourhood Plan Area
7.1.

DNA suggest that due to the formal designation of the neighbourhood area the
Council must continue to support the size of the area. It is correct that the
neighbourhood area was agreed by M&C in 2016. However it is a fact that
representations have been made that now object to the size of the area and the
Council must consider those.

8. Conclusions to the response
8.1.

DNA state that the report is “biased and unfair” and the recommendation is based
on a “negatively – biased officer report and politically motivated objections”. The
accusations against officers are serious and refuted in the strongest possible terms.
The recommendations made by officers in the M&C report were based on the
consideration of the forums re-designation application and the responses received
from third parties. It is notable that DNA feel aggrieved by this recommendation but
officers must take into account the representations received and irrespective of
DNA’s views there is not enough evidence of strong public support for the forum’s
re-designation.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve. Page 380
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Page 381
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports

Agenda Item 13
MAYOR & CABINET
Report Title

Exclusion of the Press and Public

Key Decision

No

Item No.

Ward
Contributors

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee)

Class

Part 1

Date: October 6 2021

Recommendation
It is recommended that in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)(England)
Regulations 2012 and under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Act, and the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information

14

Broadway Theatre Works delegated authority (Part 2)

15

Appendices 2 -Deptford Neighbourhood Action (DNA) Neighbourhood Forum
re-designation decision

Page 382

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\1\8\ai00030810\$vrswty2u.doc

Agenda Item 14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 383

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 384

Agenda Item 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 387

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 418

